PERSPECTIVES ON TERRORISM 2334-3745

Volume XVI, Issue 4 August 2022

A JOURNAL OF THE



Table of Contents

Words of Welcome from the Editors
Articles
The Contagion and Copycat Effect in Transnational Far-right Terrorism: An Analysis of Language Evidence4
by Julia Kupper, Tanya Karoli Christensen, Dakota Wing, Marlon Hurt, Matthew Schumacher and Reid Meloy
Rethinking Online Radicalization27 by Joe Whittaker
Terrorism Experts' Predictions Regarding the Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Activities of Violent Non-State Actors41
by Yannick Veilleux-Lepage, Tommy van Steen and Maria-Elena Kisyova
Resources
Counter-Terrorism Bookshelf: 11 Books on Terrorism & Counter-Terrorism-Related Subjects59 Reviewed by Joshua Sinai
A Resources List for Terrorism Research: Journals, Websites, Bibliographies (2022 Edition)64 Compiled and Selected by Judith Tinnes
Recent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects102 Compiled and Selected by Berto Jongman
Announcements
Conference Monitor/Calendar of Events (August 2022 and beyond)
Vacancy: Position of Associate Editor for Conference Monitoring142
About Perspectives on Terrorism

Words of Welcome from the Editors

Dear Reader,

We are pleased to announce the release of Volume XVI, Issue 4 (August 2022) of *Perspectives on Terrorism* (ISSN 2334-3745). Our independent online journal is an Open Access publication of the Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI), Vienna, and the Institute of Security and Global Affairs (ISGA) of Leiden University's Campus in The Hague. All past and recent issues can be found at: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/perspectives-on-terrorism.

Perspectives on Terrorism (PoT) is indexed by JSTOR, SCOPUS, and Google Scholar where it ranks No. 3 of journals in the field of Terrorism Studies. Jouroscope™, the directory of scientific journals, has listed PoT as one of the top ten journals in the category free open access journals in social sciences, with a Q1 ranking. Now in its 16th year of publication, PoT has close to 8,000 registered subscribers and many more occasional readers and website visitors in academia, government and civil society worldwide. The Articles of its six annual issues are fully peer-reviewed by external referees while its Research Notes and other content are subject to internal editorial quality control.

The current issue features three Articles. The first, *The Contagion and Copycat Effect in Transnational Far-right Terrorism: An Analysis of Language Evidence*, by Julia Kupper, Tanya Karoli Christensen, Dakota Wing, Marlon Hurt, Matthew Schumacher and Reid Meloy, shows in great detail how social media provided an eco-system for contagion and the spread of copycat crimes by ten lone actors from the extreme right. The second article, by Joe Whittaker, *Rethinking Online Radicalization*, argues that the distinction between online and offline no longer makes much sense as "most people are either online or in a state of online readiness 24/7." The third article, *Terrorism Experts' Predictions Regarding the Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Activities of Violent Non-State Actors*, by Yannick Veilleux-Lepage, Tommy van Steen, and Maria-Elena Kisyova present findings based on 142 responses to a questionnaire sent out by the authors.

The **Resources** section features, in its CT-Bookshelf, eleven short reviews by our book reviews editor, Joshua Sinai. Our information resources editor, Judith Tinnes, offers in her *Resources List for Terrorism Research: Journals, Websites, Bibliographies* a unique instrument for researchers in the field of (counter-) terrorism studies. Associate Editor *Berto Jongman* contributes another of his wide-ranging surveys of recent online resources on terrorism and related subjects.

In **Announcements**, *Olivia Kearney* presents her regular "Conference Calendar. There is also a job vacancy announcement, since Olivia has moved to another field of research. Finally, the brief **About Perspectives on Terrorism** section lists the people behind the journal and their tasks.

The texts of the current issue of *Perspectives on Terrorism* have been selected and prepared by *Alex Schmid* and *James Forest*, the journal's principal editors, with the help of our Associate Editors. Editorial Assistant *Jodi Moore* handled proof-reading, while the technical online launch of the August 2022 issue of our journal has been in the hands of our Associate Editor for IT, *Audrey J. Vrolijk* (ISGA, The Hague).

The Contagion and Copycat Effect in Transnational Far-right Terrorism: An Analysis of Language Evidence

by Julia Kupper, Tanya Karoli Christensen, Dakota Wing, Marlon Hurt, Matthew Schumacher and Reid Meloy

Abstract

This article corroborates the continued threat of extreme right terrorism by exemplifying textually interconnected links across linguistic evidence composed prior to or during attacks in the United States, New Zealand, Germany, Norway and Sweden. A qualitative content analysis of targeted violence manifestos and live-streams, attack announcements on online platforms, and writings on equipment (e.g., firearms) used during the incidents reveals an emerging illicit genre set that is increasingly consolidated in form and function. The messages accentuate an intricate far-right online ecosystem that empowers copycats and escorts them on their pathway to violence. A definition for targeted violence live-streams is proposed and operational applications are discussed.

Keywords: Far-right terrorism, targeted violence, lone actors, manifestos, live-streams, forensic linguistics

Introduction

During the past decade, several lone-actor terrorists motivated by extreme right-wing ideologies attempted or conducted seemingly unconnected mass casualty events across the globe. The perpetrators—originating from North America, Europe and Oceania-often distributed manifestos just prior to their attacks, and in some instances broadcast their offenses via live-streams. As a common trait, the offenders perceived Western culture as superior, argued for a racially segregated society, and expressed a strong fear of being culturally eliminated through the so-called Great Replacement theory.[1] This menacing conspiracy narrative propagandized by the far-right alleges that white populations are being purposefully and deliberately replaced by a malevolent coalition (i.e., a hidden Jewish cabal and/or democratic elites) with non-white immigrants from the Middle East and Africa. Furthermore, it is claimed that social privileges traditionally associated with (the male) gender, (the white) skin color, (the Christian) religion and (hetero-)sexuality are intentionally diminished to engineer and provoke a white genocide, the extinction of the white race.[2] It is frequently paired with accelerationism, the belief appropriated by the extreme right that the breakdown of liberal democracies and the collapse of the modern progressive world can be accelerated by terrorist actions conducted by lone actors or small groups. One narrative that has been influential in accelerationist ideology and strategy is The Turner Diaries, a novel written and published by the white supremacist William Luther Pierce in 1978. Extremism researcher J.M. Berger has stated that the novel inspired over forty terrorist attacks and hate crimes, including the Oklahoma City bombing in 1995, committed by Timothy McVeigh. [3] Moreover, the notion of accelerationism advocates that terrorizing political tension must be created in order to overhaul institutions and inspire a race war to establish a white-dominated future.[4] This justification of violence is closely connected to "the speed in which social media allows for the amplification and glorification of attacks," with successful assailants often being portrayed as heroes and saints on online platforms—such as the chan cultures—to mobilize supporters and inspire future incidents.[5] Subsequently, the online celebration of lone-actor terrorists has created a subculture of violent copycats—imitators who self-radicalize in cyberspace.[6]

Drawing inspiration from notorious role models is not a new phenomenon in international terrorism, with previous studies and articles having highlighted parallels in extreme ideologies, online radicalization and modus operandi.[7] However, this article examines the contagion and copycat effect in ten contemporary far-right terrorist attacks, investigating the intertextuality and interconnectivity of different types of lan-

guage evidence that was produced among these events. By analyzing the incidents through a genre lens, content patterns across manifestos and live-streams, announcements on digital platforms, and writings on equipment utilized during the attacks are highlighted. Our primary focus is on the communications produced by Anders Breivik, Brenton Tarrant, John Earnest, Patrick Crusius, Philip Manshaus, Stephan Balliet, Hugo Jackson and Payton Gendron. Furthermore, we discuss the historical context of two additional solo operators—Dylann Roof and Robert Bowers—to highlight the importance of shared language, motivation, means and opportunity across the assailants.

All of these attackers are linked by their lone-actor status, which suggests that certain parts of the terrorist cycle are undertaken alone, specifically logistical and tactical elements in preparing for such an attack.[8] This might include later-stage markers on the pathway to violence, such as research, planning, preparation, surveillance and implementation.[9] However, as this article demonstrates, the evolution and interrelatedness of a complex far-right ecosystem of online platforms and narratives influenced our sample of lone offenders. For instance, the *Great Replacement* conspiracy narrative is reflected in the selection of most of their targets, which facilitates the eliminationist doctrine and ideas of Renaud Camus, the developer of the contemporary theory.[10] Nonetheless, this protean meaning can take different forms; some of these perpetrators devolved in their ideology from targeting a particular group that they believed was conspiring to advance the *Great Replacement* to believing that the majority of (non-white) humans are "disgusting," and thus developing a misanthropic mindset.[11] As such, inspired by Brenton Tarrant's manifesto that was filled with elements of that conspiratorial ideology, John Earnest and Stephan Balliet originally planned to attack the Muslim community but later changed their targets to include Jewish individuals.[12]

Table 1: Perpetrators and operational details of their attacks (n = 10)

Name	Date	Location	Target	Manifesto	Q&A	Announcement on online platform	Live- stream	Writings on equipment
Anders Breivik	22 July 2011	Olso and Utøya, Norway	Labor party youth camp and govern-ment building	Yes	Yes	Via emails	YouTube (attempt)	No
Dylann Roof	17 June 2015	Charleston, South Caroli- na, U.S.	Baptist church (Black community)	Yes	No	Personal website	No	No
Robert Bowers	27 October 2018	Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, U.S.	Synagogue (Jewish community)	No	No	Gab	No	No
Brenton Tarrant	15 March 2019	Christchurch, New Zealand	Mosques (Muslim community)	Yes	Yes	8chan	Facebook Live	Previous offenders, names of victims
John Earnest	27 April 2019	Poway, California, U.S.	Synagogue (Jewish community)	Yes	Yes	8chan	Facebook Live (at- tempt)	No
Patrick Crusius	3 August 2019	El Paso, Texas, U.S.	Supermarket (Hispanic community)	Yes	No	8chan	No	No
Philip Manshaus	10 August 2019	Bærum, Norway	Mosque (Muslim community)	No	No	Endchan	Facebook Live (at- tempt)	No
Stephan Balliet	9 October 2019	Halle, Germany	Synagogue (Jewish community)	Yes	Yes	Meguca	Twitch	No
Hugo Jackson	19 August 2021	Eslöv, Sweden	School (non-whites)	Yes	No	Discord	Twitch	Previous offenders, names of victims
Payton Gendron	14 May 2022	Buffalo, New York, U.S.	Supermarket (Black community)	Yes	Yes	Discord	Twitch	Previous offenders, names of victims

The Eslöv School Attack

On 19 August 2021, 15-year-old student Hugo Jackson entered his secondary school *Källebergsskolan* in Eslöv, a small town in the southern part of Sweden. He was clothed in black, wearing a bulletproof vest, a military green helmet with a GoPro camera and stickers of the Swedish flag on his body armor. Equipped with a double-edged knife and two non-functioning handgun replicas, he pulled up his skeleton mask and began playing a carefully crafted playlist, which included World War II and anti-Muslim propaganda music.[13] Before walking into the school to execute his targeted act of violence, the perpetrator started his 21-minute broadcast on Twitch, an online live-streaming platform. In a pre-attack note written in English for his international audience, Jackson laid out his plan:

"I'll try to kill as many as possible in the cafeteria then i'm gonna go for the 7th graders because they won't be able to do shit, just a bunch of midgets running towards me basically. Then I'll just try to get as many as possible by knocking on offices, whoever comes in my way."[14]

After stabbing and seriously injuring a 45-year-old teacher and threatening fellow students and staff, Jackson had second thoughts and discontinued his rampage. When he was confronted by a responding law enforcement officer, he directed one of his forged pistols at him in an attempt to die by suicide-by-cop. However, the policeman fired a warning shot and Jackson eventually surrendered.

The Copycat Effect in Transnational Terrorism

When the investigating authorities entered Hugo Jackson's parental home post-incident, they noticed that the teenager's room was covered in Nazi symbols and writings, including drawings of a swastika, the SS symbol, "1488" and "Drittes Reich".[15] The following quote was scribbled on his bedroom wall: "Hi my name is Anon, and I think the holocaust never happened. Feminism is the cause of decline of the West which acts as a scapegoat for mass immigration and the root of all these problems is the Jew."[16] These words were originally uttered by the German lone-actor terrorist Stephan Balliet in the opening statement of his live-stream during an attempted mass shooting at a synagogue in Halle, Germany, in October 2019. Unable to breach the security doors, he subsequently killed two individuals nearby. Balliet broadcast 35 minutes of his attack and part of his escape on Twitch, the same platform Jackson would use nearly two years later. Furthermore, Jackson said the words "Ah, Scheiße"—the German equivalent of 'oh, shit'—twice in his live-stream, another direct reference to Balliet's recording, who used identical words when experiencing difficulties with his equipment.[17]

The police also discovered a handwritten letter on Jackson's desk, which stated "in memory of [Anders] Breivik (...) and Brenton Harrison Tarrant \heartsuit trying to make life and society better." [18] After seizing his electronics, the investigating authorities located photos and writings of Breivik, Tarrant, Balliet and Patrick Crusius on his computer. The names of these perpetrators form direct links between seemingly isolated terror incidents and document a transnational and digital network of right-wing extremists. [19] The attack was eventually classified as a "racially motivated serious violent crime", as the juvenile offender intended to carry out a terrorist attack inspired by the *Great Replacement* theory, despite being non-white himself. [20]

Background

Fact Patterns of the Other Attackers

On 22 July 2011, Anders Behring Breivik detonated a bomb outside the government quarter in Oslo, Norway, and proceeded to conduct a shooting rampage at a labor party summer camp on Utøya, Norway, killing 77 persons and injuring 319 others. Breivik's attack has been described as a historical change for the online far-right community; he circulated his propaganda to thousands of international extreme-right groups and individual actors in Europe and the United States in the hours leading up to his attack.[21] Moreover, he

had intended to live-stream one specific part of his act on an iPhone and planned to upload the footage to YouTube: the beheading of Gro Harlem Brundtland, Norway's former labor prime minister.[22] His writings have been discussed as the first "do-it-yourself-guide" for solo operators that went viral and received attention beyond far-right circles, giving specific instructions on how to conduct these types of terroristic attacks, with a focus on "if you want something done, then do it yourself."[23] Breivik incorporated several text elements from Ted Kaczynski, the so-called "Unabomber", who was among the first to spread his ideology to a large audience by getting his manifesto printed in various newspapers.[24] Breivik instituted a turning point because "he was sort of a proof of concept as to how much an individual actor could accomplish (...); he killed so many people at one time operating by himself, it really set a new bar for what one person can do."[25] Since then, he has inspired a number of similar acts of terror, some successful, many thwarted.[26]

On 17 June 2015, Dylann Storm Roof killed nine people and injured one, specifically targeting the Black community at the Emanuel African Methodist Episcopal Church in Charleston, South Carolina. At the time of his attack, the online far-right community on 4chan and other imageboards was still ambivalent on whether or not large-scale terrorist attacks would harm the attempts to 'mainstream' the movement, which conventionally deployed humorous and argumentative methods to gain new followers from the mainstream of society.[27] Subsequent to his act, an online hero cult developed around him, calling themselves the "bowl gang" because of Roof's distinct haircut.[28]

On 27 October 2018, Robert Gregory Bowers killed eleven and injured seven people at the Tree of Life synagogue in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; the most serious single act of anti-Semitic violence in the history of the United States. The mass shooting was a turning point in the media coverage and online debate in the above-mentioned imageboard communities, and cemented a shift into pro-violent attacks, although Bowers himself was not an active member of the *chan* community.[29] Instead, he favored the far-right Twitter clone *Gab*, which is where he published his final post with an announcement of the attack, a new modus operandi that would be copied by many: "HIAS likes to bring invaders in that kill our people. I can't sit by and watch my people get slaughtered. Screw your optics, I'm going in."[30] The climate on these fringe forums had changed, with a weakened tactical opposition to acts of violence and an increased glorification of perpetrators.[31]

On 15 March 2019, Brenton Harrison Tarrant killed 51 and injured 40 individuals at two mosques in Christchurch, New Zealand. Tarrant was fundamentally influenced by Breivik in terms of ideology and modus operandi, selecting multiple targets and a variety of weapons, including firearms and explosives.[32] Mimicking Breivik, Tarrant distributed his writings to newsrooms, the prime minister of New Zealand and other recipients. He has since been viewed as the "most influential and important far-right 'martyr' [on social media in the extreme-right sphere], even more so than Breivik who inspired him."[33] The primary cause for this is that Tarrant was the first to successfully live-stream a far-right terror attack to an international audience using *Facebook Live*, which became available in 2016, five years after Breivik's attempt to film his act.[34] Tarrant created a successful formula for subsequent attacks, becoming a catalyst for future incidents around the globe. Baele, Brace and Coan talk of the 'Tarrant effect' with reference to the glorification of his persona on 8chan, which they explain by his direct relationship to the forum and the novelty of his modus operandi, including his announcement of the attack on an imageboard.[35]

On 27 April 2019, John Timothy Earnest killed one and injured three individuals during a shooting rampage at a synagogue in Poway, California. Planning to imitate Tarrant's attack one month prior, he disseminated a manifesto and a link to his live-stream on 8chan. He allegedly failed to broadcast his operation, due to the privacy settings on his Facebook account; a GoPro camera was found in his vehicle after the arrest. [36] Weeks earlier, he had attempted to burn down a mosque in the nearby city of Escondido, California. On 3 August 2019, Patrick Wood Crusius killed 23 individuals and injured 23 during a mass shooting at a Walmart in El Paso, Texas. He also distributed his manifesto on 8chan, stating that he was inspired by Tarrant's writings.

A few days later, on 10 August 2019, Philip Manshaus attempted to storm a mosque in Bærum, Norway,

injuring two, after having killed his step-sister because of her Chinese origin. Aiming to copy Tarrant (and not Norway's native Breivik), he claimed to have been motivated by white supremacy, selected a mosque as a target and announced his violent actions on an imageboard. Manshaus reportedly watched the recording of Tarrant's live-stream but only decided to act after having read his manifesto eight days before he rushed to commit his own attack.[37] Although he did not author a declaration himself, he told investigators that he was directly inspired by Tarrant and frequently visited the *chan* forums where he was radicalized.[38] Manshaus' live-stream malfunctioned, as he was unable to connect his GoPro camera attached to a helmet to the internet; nonetheless, the recording of his thwarted act was later played as evidence during his trial.[39]

As we were in the final stages of authoring this article, another lone-actor terrorist, Payton Gendron, carried out a mass shooting at a supermarket in Buffalo, New York, on 14 May 2022, targeting the Black community. Claiming to be self-radicalized on 4chan within a relatively short time frame, he started "getting serious" in January 2022, three months prior to his act—which might be an example of the pathway of violence becoming a runway to violent action.[40] According to his online diary, he originally planned to carry out the attack on 15 March, the anniversary of Tarrant's act of violence.[41] Gendron claimed in his manifesto that his motivating force was the same fear-instilling conspiracy narrative, declaring that "I carried this attack out so I can influence others into defending themselves from the replacers, becoming infamous was the only way."[42] His operational approach was similar to previous assailants: he selected a public location with a "high percentage" of targets, wore tactical gear for protection, used a semi-automatic assault rifle for effectiveness and live-streamed the event on Twitch with a GoPro camera.[43]

Method

Intertextuality

This study investigates how a new, complex genre set of targeted violence manifestos and live-streams, attack announcements on digital platforms, and writings on equipment has been emerging globally. In order to identify how these varying text types are amalgamated, we firstly assessed their forms and functions through an intertextuality lens. Secondly, we conducted a qualitative content analysis to detect any potential links to previous perpetrators' writings and to establish if patterns in content could have emerged from a contagion or copycat effect. Briggs and Bauman argue that "genre is quintessentially intertextual";[44] intertextuality can be linked through all levels of language, such as lexical items, morphology, syntax, rhetorical structure and thematic content. Intertextuality relies on Bakhtin's observation that all language use is related to both past and future utterances. This allows for an understanding that a text can be "lifted from its originating context (...) and inserted into a new setting." [45]

The primary materials for most of the subjects had been identified during an earlier study authored by this article's first and last authors [46]; the remaining files were obtained via systematic open-source research and through law enforcement and extremism experts' contacts. Several documents were provided to us that have not been released to the public. As all of the data discussed in this article were sensitive in nature, the language evidence was only stored on the first author's laptop. Ethical and legal considerations were reviewed, and found that the majority of data utilized in the study were based upon archival analysis of open-source material. This obviated the need for an IRB review of this effort, as well as consideration of any informed consents.

Illicit Genres and Their Uptakes

When emerging from a targeted violence environment, communications such as manifestos and live-streams can be considered a "socially deviant" or "societally illicit" genre.[47] In contrast to conventional genres—such as editorials or job applications—illicit genres—such as threats of violence and hate speech—are more heterogeneous and have fewer structural elements. However, they can be recognized by their core functions, which are destructive and disruptive, as they tend to "upset society and commonly affect their targets negatively."[48] For instance, Bojsen-Møller et al. have identified that the primary function of threats is the

intimidation of an addressee, which is accomplished by informing the recipient of a future harmful act for which the threatener is responsible.[49] For some subcultures, such as the far-right online ecosystem, an otherwise illicit genre takes on a community-building function when it is embraced as a valid and useful type of expression.[50] This makes the preferred text types of the subculture especially prone to the consolidation of structural elements familiar from other, non-illicit genres. Responses to a genre, whether illicit or not, are called "uptakes".[51] The idea is that a text can be responded to—"taken up"—in myriad ways, and that these uptakes are crucial for the interpretation and the wider impact of the text.

Contagion and Copycat Effect

Meloy has advanced the idea that contagion and copycat should be separated.[52] 'Contagion' refers to an acute period—a hot zone—following a widely publicized mass attack, usually several weeks, and is the imitation of the act.[53] There is an increase in the frequency of targeted violence events before a return to base line.[54] The term 'copycat' refers to a chronic phenomenon, extending over months if not years, and involves the imitation of both the acts and the actors.[55] When aggregated, copycat events become a subcultural script—a prescription for problem-solving via a violent attack—that is most often emulated by young males in the construction of a new, dark identification or self-identity.[56] Subjects will attempt, however, to distinguish themselves from prior attackers through tactical innovations and increasing the number of casualties.

Definition and Functions of Targeted Violence Manifestos

Kupper and Meloy coined the term "targeted violence manifesto" in a recent study on spoken and written leakage, due to the lack of a distinct description of the word "manifesto" in a criminal context. They formulated the following definition:

"A written or spoken communication intended to justify an act of violence against a specific target by articulating self-identified grievances, homicidal intentions, and/or extreme ideologies for committing an attack. Generally composed by a single author before the incident occurs, it sometimes expresses beliefs and ideas to violently promote political, religious, or social changes." [57]

In a subsequent article, Kupper added that manifestos "are often created for and accessible by a public audience in furtherance of inspiring like-minded members and opposing groups to commit similar attacks (i.e., copycats)."[58] Indeed, part of the terror orchestration is to share ideological motivations, operational strategies and tactical advice. The functions of targeted violence manifestos have been previously discussed by Kupper and Meloy; in this article, we extend their definition to include an additional core social function of these types of communications: to signal the author's membership in the intricate digital ecosystem of the global far-right.[59] The manifestos of contemporary extreme right-wing terrorists appear to be a cultural code to claim in-group membership to a force that takes their virtual frustration to the physical world by conducting mass attacks. Unlike, for example, traditional white supremacy movements that interact face to face during meetings, live concerts and other means of social bonding activities, these lone offenders communicate only via virtual forums, whilst seemingly acting on their own orders. Though they self-radicalize online, virtual (and physical) connections to others can play a critical role, such as exchanging ideas with like-minded people in these digital communities.[60] Solitary perpetrators typically decide when and where to attack on their own, which makes them autonomous in that respect. In fact, the majority of lone actors identify with larger movements that advocate "violence-justifying ideologies." [61] This can be at least partially attributed to "the advent of social media; now, fewer attackers feel a need or desire to affiliate with an actual group on the ground when they can be informed and inspired online, especially from the writings of previous attackers."[62]

Moreover, an important subfunction of manifestos is to control the narrative following the event, something that is particularly true of documents that are distributed online or sent directly to mainstream media

outlets prior to the terror attack. Notably, this same function was theorized as one performed by realized threats (but not by non-realized or 'empty' threats) by Hurt, a genre which is closely related to the manifestos analyzed here.[63] If the perpetrator fails to publicly declare his intentions and investigating authorities are unable to single out a clear motivating factor, such as in the case of the 2017 Las Vegas shooting by Stephen Paddock, those left behind may never find closure—and the mystery therein may perpetuate study and interest in the case.

For this article, another crucial enhancement is added to the typical composition of targeted violence manifestos: they occasionally include self-interviews in a question-and-answer (Q&A) format. We believe that the main function of these interviews is a form of self-representation to display awareness of the mainstream society's conception of their fringe views, while offering an opportunity to counter that narrative with their self-prescribed triggers and motivations for the attack. The secondary function appears to be a mockery of the establishment, as the Q&As mirror the well-known interviewing format, with some representing hostile lines of questioning, as might be posed by interrogating law enforcement officers or journalists, but tailored to the attacker's own specific needs. Ostensibly, the idea that journalism can access any kind of information and report news objectively is mocked because—in their minds—everything is relative, and by posing their own questions, they frame the narrative. In addition, these self-interviews reveal the bi-directionality of communicating both to the out-group (i.e., targets and the rest of society) and the in-group (other far-right individuals and movements). It could also mirror the style of digital communication found on mainstream and fringe platforms, such as Twitter or the chan boards, where users engage in conversational dialogues and discussions. Another essential element is that this attractive Q&A format in the manifestos has been readily distributed by the mainstream media, often without fact-checking its content, which reinforces the ideas of these perpetrators even further.[64]

Definition and Functions of Targeted Violence Live-streams

Another crucial digital component of recent far-right attacks has been the online broadcasting of their real-world offenses, which was arguably inspired by "snuff" films that were available for many decades on the black market—videos for sale of killings—and later influenced by jihadist propaganda campaigns. It appears that the filming of violent acts with a GoPro camera originated from "leaderless jihadi" millennials in France; one of the earliest examples is Mohammed Merah, who went on a 10-day killing spree in France in 2012 while recording his attack with this type of equipment.[65] Four years later, Larossi Abballa utilized Facebook Live to address his audience during a lethal attack on two married French police officers in their home while taking their three-year-old son hostage.[66] Follman reported that a 4chan user had posted a message in 2018, inquiring if "(...) anyone ever livestreamed a mass shooting with a GoPro helmet?"[67] Brenton Tarrant answered this call the following year, showcasing the feasibility and lethality of his destructive events while creating a digital template for real-life actions and subsequent acts of far-right violence.

Live-streams in particular make attacks more accessible, as they are portrayed in the first-person shooter perspective and blur the lines between play and reality.[68] Moreover, they can be viewed and replayed by an immediate global audience, with the multimodal, visual aspect not limiting the audience to any particular language user in the same way as written manifestos.

We propose the following definition for *targeted violence live-streams*:

"A real-time transmission of an attempted or executed act of violence over the internet, broadcast to a global audience by the perpetrator who plans to conduct the attack. It is the action component of what is frequently merely theoretical in a targeted violence manifesto."

Live-streaming attacks appears to be a more powerful tool for propaganda than manifestos: echoing the words of the written materials, they are more intimate and bring the operational plans to life. When the live-stream starts, it automatically produces indisputable evidence, not only linking the perpetrator to the act of violence but bridging the gap from the textual desire in the manifesto to actionable encouragement and en-

hanced self-confidence in the real world. The core functions of live-streams can be categorized into external and internal components, with the overarching framework consisting of creating an immediate contagion or a long-term copycat effect. In an attempt to inspire future terroristic acts, the perpetrator mimics combat video games, visualizing the idea of a mass shooter for the next imitator. By acting as a double-edged sword, live-streams target the in-group and out-group of the perpetrator simultaneously. On the one hand, their own community will use the recordings of these videos to preserve the memory of their "heroes" and glorify their actions, while seeing their biased attitudes confirmed and reinforced.[69] On the other hand, they act as psychological warfare for their enemies, causing fear and anxiety in the targeted communities.[70] Posselt has pointed out that hate crimes do not only affect the immediate victims but that the message is communicated "on several levels and to different addressees: to the attacked individual and bystanders, to the social group the individual belongs to and to sympathizers of the offender as well as to society at large."[71]

Furthermore, live-streams are a crucial instrument for disseminating the message of the terrorist without having to rely on the mass media to report on the attack, with recent recordings having spread like wildfire online. At the same time, this strategy creates a visual hook, which ensures that the incident—including its live-stream and manifesto—will go viral and spread horizontally online. Thus, the mainstream reporting is inevitable; notwithstanding, if the media broadcasts snippets or a screenshot of the perpetrators' live actions, their ideas are suddenly exposed to millions of potential copycats. As Macklin and Bjørgo have previously pointed out: "For Tarrant, livestream video was the more important communicative component of his terrorism. It was not a medium for his message. It was the message. The central point of the attack (...) was not just to kill Muslims, but to make a video of someone killing Muslims." [72]

Results

The Circle of Contagion and Copycat

In our sample of perpetrators (n = 10), interconnectivity is noticeable across five stages, corresponding to the pathway of intended violence [73]: during the self-radicalization process, offenders study targeted violence manifestos and live-streams from infamous role models, which inspire them to commit attacks. While planning and preparing for the act, these writings and recordings are utilized as a do-it-yourself guide, providing tips on targets, training and operational intelligence, such as surveillance. During the mobilization stage, the subjects proceed to compose manifestos themselves, which often reference notorious same-genre authors, copying structural components and citing or rephrasing textual elements from previous writings. While implementing the terrorist attack, the assailants announce their planned actions on a digital platform shortly prior to the act, again quoting or rewording the language from previous online postings. In the final phase, the perpetrators broadcast their acts of violence on mainstream online platforms, which often entails a visual display of weapons that reference the names of preceding attackers or victims of opposing attacks. These communication strategies are designed to create an operational manual to incite others to commit additional mass casualty events, while simultaneously demonstrating their inclusion within the far-right online ecosystem. Along with these stages or patterns of movement on the pathway to intended violence, we also see content patterns.

Content Patterns Across Targeted Violence Manifestos

1. Referencing Names of Notorious Same-Genre Authors

Across Brenton Tarrant's manifesto, remarks about Dylann Roof and Anders Breivik were detected two and three times, respectively. The perpetrator also included the names of other far-right inspired attackers that are not included in this study: "I support many of those that take a stand against ethnic and cultural genocide. Luca Traini, Anders Breivik, Dylan Roof, Anton Lundin Pettersson, Darren Osbourne etc." [74] In turn, John Earnest referenced Tarrant eleven and Robert Bowers five times in his writings, exhorting readers to "FIGHT BACK, REMEMBER ROBERT BOWERS, REMEMBER BRENTON TARRANT." [75] Patrick Crusius referenced Tarrant's pamphlet twice, opening his narrative with the words "In general, I

support the Christchurch shooter [Tarrant] and his manifesto."[76] Although Philip Manshaus did not author a statement, his online announcement of the attack referenced Tarrant twice, and Earnest and Crusius once. In addition, he attached a drawing that depicted the three as "chads" to his imageboard posting.[77] Stephan Balliet made one reference to Tarrant's name in his unpublished Q&A guide: "Is there anyone you want to thank? Yes, Brenton Tarrant." [78] Hugo Jackson alluded to Tarrant's name once throughout his manifesto. Payton Gendron referenced Tarrant's name six times throughout his writings, with Breivik, Roof, Earnest and Crusius each mentioned twice, and Bowers and Manshaus once. Copying his "idol" Tarrant, Gendron also included the same names of other extreme-right offenders, merely changing the order of their appearance: "I support many of those that take a stand against ethnic and cultural genocide. Brenton Tarrant, Patrick Crusius, John Earnest, Robert Bowers, Phillip Manshaus, Luca Traini, Anders Breivik, Dylann Roof, Anton Lundin Pettersson, Darren Osborne etc." [79] As these examples of intertextuality and interconnectivity illustrate, previous far-right attackers have a substantial effect on successive perpetrators; similar references have been detected in the writings of school shooters. [80]

2. Copying Structural Components and Citing, Rephrasing or Plagiarizing Textual Elements from Previous Manifestos

John Earnest and Hugo Jackson included direct quotes of Tarrant's manifesto in their scripts: "Tarrant was a catalyst for me personally. He showed me that it could be done. And that it needed to be done. "WHY WON'T SOMEBODY DO SOMETHING? WHY WON'T SOMEBODY DO SOMETHING? WHY DON'T I DO SOMETHING?"—the most powerful words in his entire manifesto" and "For the thousands of European lives" - Brenton tarrant." [81]

However, the most extensive form of copying was noted in Payton Gendron's manifesto: in terms of structure, the author duplicated the Q&A section from Tarrant and continued categorizing the content into different sections on "Blacks", "Jews" and "East Asians", which is homogeneous to Dylann Roof's statement. [82] Gendron also included his "goals"—which are similar to Stephan Balliet's "objectives"—and added neatly organized pictures of his weapons, also imitating Balliet's manifesto:

- Balliet: "1. Prove the viability of improvised weapons. 2. Increase the moral of other suppressed Whites by spreading the combat footage. 3. Kill as many anti-Whites as possible, jews preferred. Bonus: Don't die." [83]
- Gendron: "Kill as many blacks as possible, Avoid dying, Spread ideals." [84]

The closing part of Gendron's manifesto returned to the anatomy of Tarrant's screen, duplicating his "messages to various groups", "general thoughts" and "who is truly to blame?" sections.[85] In terms of lexical borrowing, Gendron copied entire pages from Tarrant's manifesto, with the Anti-Defamation League stating that a comparative text analysis found that 23% of Gendron's writings matched Tarrant's declaration word for word.[86] Occasionally, Gendron revised certain passages to adjust the content to his mission, for instance exchanging "Muslim" with "Black" and "New Zealand" with "United States", as seen here in their respective Q&A sections:

- Tarrant: "Did/do you personally hate muslims? A muslim man or woman living in their homelands?" and "By living in New Zealand, weren't you an immigrant yourself?" [87]
- Gendron: "Did, or do you personally hate blacks? A black man or woman living in their homelands?" and "By living in the United States, weren't you an immigrant yourself?" [88]

3. Including Self-Interviews in a Q&A Format

One of the earliest instances of a self-interview was detected in Pekka-Eric Auvinen's writings in 2007, when the perpetrator of the Jokela school shooting in Finland raised several questions in his script: "What do I hate / What I don't like?", "What do I love / what do I like?" and "How Did Natural Selection Turn Into Idiocratic

Selection?"[89] All interrogatives were accompanied by lengthy answers in his manifesto. In 2011, Anders Breivik created a 64-page self-interview, primarily using the first-person plural pronoun 'we' to appear to be part of a group;[90] it has been reported that he derived the structure for his "mock interview" primarily from celebrity profiles he had studied.[91] Breivik himself stated that "[t]he following interview (...) might be considered irrelevant to many people. However, I decided to add it as I personally would enjoy reading a similar interview with another resistance fighter."[92] Four years later, Christopher Sean Harper-Mercer, the Umpqua Community College shooter from Oregon, included a "frequently asked questions" section in his manifesto, which included the following interrogative and response: "How come you've not had a girlfriend, are you gay? No I'm not gay, girls just didn't want me. As I said before they went for the thug blacks."[93]

In our sample, Brenton Tarrant, John Earnest, Stephan Balliet and Payton Gendron duplicated this format and interviewed themselves in their manifestos, fluctuating between why and yes/no questions. Interrogatives ranged from background information on the authors to motivations and triggers for the attack, rounded off with details on their belief systems and mental health. Balliet's Q&A was not publicly disclosed, as he decided against leaking it with his manifesto. According to investigation files from the *Bundeskriminalamt*, Germany's federal criminal police, the assailant stated that the self-interview would have justified his violent act, which, in his opinion, did not require any justification.[94]

A textual comparison of mock interviews authored by Breivik, Tarrant, Earnest, Balliet and Gendron (*n* = 5) revealed that several interrogative sentences contained identical or similar strings of words across at least one other self-interview, with occasional lexical overlap across all Q&As. Breivik's self-interview contained a total of 73 questions, with Tarrant posing 87 interrogatives to himself. Though Tarrant did not copy any of Breivik's questions directly, six of them are similar in content, such as: "Why do you think it has come to this? What tipped the scales for you?" (Breivik) vs. "Why did you carry out the attack?" (Tarrant).[95] John Earnest's interview contained 20 interrogatives, including two identical ones to Tarrant's pamphlet: "Are you a conservative?" and "Are you a Trump supporter?" [96] Thirteen of Earnest's questions appeared similar to Tarrant's Q&A, and five were original in content. Balliet's self-interview consisted of 23 questions, with a couple of them being identical to Tarrant's: "Who are you?" and "Are you a Racist?" [97] Six of Balliet's interrogatives seem to be unique, whilst the remaining 74% corresponded to previously raised questions by Breivik, Tarrant and Earnest. For instance:

- Breivik: "You know that a large majority of people will end up viewing you as a complete nut right, despite your own and others efforts to justify violence?" [98]
- Earnest: "Are you insane/crazy?" [99]
- Balliet: "Do you think you are crazy?"[100]

Payton Gendron's writings incorporated 67 questions, with 49 of them being an identical match to Tarrant's manifesto (73%), and a further 17 only containing minor edits, such as the addition or deletion of one word. There was one original interrogative in Gendron's statement: "Do you actually believe this garbage?" and one question that was homogenous to Balliet's writings: "Are you a white supremacist?" [101] Below is one example of similar utterances that were observed across all five manifestos:

- Breivik: "But doesn't it worry you that 95% of all Europeans will openly detest you and call you a murderer and a terrorist?" [102]
- Tarrant: "Do you consider it a terrorist attack?" [103]
- Earnest: "Are you a terrorist?" [104]
- Balliet: "Are you a Lone wolf?" [105]
- Gendron: "Do you consider the attack an act of terrorism?" [106]

This analysis illustrates the intertextual links between several manifestos, whose authors copied or para-

phrased questions from foregoing same-genre Q&As. Thus, it can be deduced that Breivik's writings were utilized as a template by Tarrant, whose document was later used by Earnest, whose adaptation in turn was copied by Balliet and subsequently by Gendron. This chain reaction suggests that the authors successfully reached their intended audiences, ultimately inspiring sympathizers, i.e., copycats, to author corresponding communications and conduct similar acts of violence. However, a second consequence, equally important to the communication strategy of a terrorist, is that this type of Q&A format appears to be an effective tool for influencing the media narrative by giving its author "a 'voice' he would be deprived of if he was either killed or apprehended during the commission of his attack." [107]

Content Patterns Across Attack Announcements on Digital Platforms

Minutes prior to their targeted acts, several perpetrators in our sample leaked short messages to announce their violent attacks on imageboards, which appear to have become an assembly point for geographically dispersed extremists. Though the online postings were distributed on various platforms, the audiences of these forums appear to be mostly homogenous, i.e., frequented by the same people.[108] From mid-March to early August 2019, Brenton Tarrant, John Earnest and Patrick Crusius uploaded their communications, including links to their manifestos and live-streams, to the fringe forum 8chan. Crusius' attack took place on 3 August 2019 and caused the website to be taken offline by its internet provider. Due to this, Philip Manshaus posted his notice on the derivative Endchan on 10 August 2019, while Stephan Balliet published his message on the imageboard Meguca on 9 October 2019. According to transcripts of Balliet's court proceedings, it was a "coincidence" that he uploaded his files to this specific platform, which appears unlikely as every other aspect of his attack was meticulously planned.[109] Hugo Jackson sent his original announcement to two friends on the instant messaging social platform Discord and asked them to disseminate his manifesto and live-stream.[110] Although Payton Gendron's published Discord logs indicate that he drafted posts for 4chan and 8chan, he only circulated his materials on Discord itself.

Within our small sample (n = 7), we recognized several common themes across the attack announcements on online platforms:

• 86% (6 out of 7) encouraged users to raise awareness about their attacks by disseminating copies of their manifestos and recordings of their live-streams, while motivating them to create memes.

This promotes an immediate response and reaction by the intended audience, in other words: uptakes.[111] Similar language was detected in the content of Tarrant, Crusius, Jackson and Gendron's announcements:

- Tarrant: "please do your part by spreading my message, making memes and shitposting as you usually do" [112]
- Crusius: "Do your part and spread this brothers! Of course, only spread it if the attack is successful"[113]
- Jackson: "Anyway I want you guys to make edits/shitpost about this thing. And I might also fail but still meme if I do" [114]
- Gendron: "Record everything you can and continue making memes like you already do"[115]

As pointed out in a previous study, the "idea is that a copycat attacker can copy the format and add individual content and ideas (...). The aim is to establish terrorism as a cultural artifact, through meme-like charging. Through music, images, videos, [and] obscure references, the online meme aesthetic is adapted to the real world." [116] It is noteworthy that several of the perpetrators mention memes as a way of communicating to a wider audience. Askanius has described how the extreme right in Sweden produces manuals for meme production with the stated purpose of gaining more followers. [117] The attackers in our sample utilize online platforms as a dual mediator; firstly, to promote and share the offenders' ideologies with in-group members by making post-attack requests and commands. Secondly, by encouraging the distribution of current

and future texts (e.g., manifestos and memes) to be spread beyond the forum and reach out-groups, such as the mainstream society and media. The goal is again two-fold: by reaching a wider audience, the assailants hope to attract more followers, i.e., to widen the in-group, but also to spread fear in possible future victims, i.e., to terrorize members of the out-group.

• 86% (6 out of 7) of perpetrators alluded to live-streaming their attacks and provided links to streaming platforms where the recording was to be broadcast, along with their manifestos and other files.

This illustrates a deliberate cross-media presence, designed to ensure a widespread uptake by followers and mainstream society alike, as the offenders move between different modes connected to their attacks: mobilization—i.e., authoring the manifesto—and implementation—i.e., live-streaming the act.

- Tarrant: "I will carry out and attack against the invaders, and will even live stream the attack via facebook. The facebook link is below, by the time you read this I should be going live. https://www.facebook.com/brenton.tarrant.9"[118]
- Earnest: "Livestream link is below as well as my open letter. Livestream will begin shortly. https://www.facebook.com/john.earnest.96780"[119]
- Manshaus: "stream: stupid shit won't work https://www.facebook.com/philip.manshaus"[120]
- Balliet: "I prefer live testing: https://www.twitch.tv/spilljuice"[121]
- Jackson: "And in about some hours or minutes when this shit releases I will be going live. So Bounce into my stream, sit back and enjoy. (...) https://www.twitch.tv/spectatorsolvent My twitch where the action will be happening." [122]
- Gendron: "I'm going to be carrying out an attack against the replacers, and even livestream it via twitch and discord. (...) Below are my twitch and discord links. https://discord.gg/Z3ATN29ENq https://www.twitch.tv/jimboboiii. Below are copies of my discord transcript and le manifesto, read it if you want." [123]

The effects are comparable to the first point, as intended and unintended audiences will take up the writings and recordings of the targeted attacks, creating planned and unpredicted responses from different readers and viewers.[124]

- 71% (5 out of 7) of authors commented on the potential outcome of the attack (i.e., death) and/or included references to God, heaven or hell.
 - Tarrant: "If I don't survive the attack, goodbye, godbless and I will see you all in Valhalla!"[125]
 - Earnest: "May the LORD Christ be with you all." [126]
 - Crusius: "I'm probably going to die today" [127]
 - Manshaus: "valhall venter"[128]
 - Jackson: "See you all in hell one day." [129]

The far-right has adopted various imagery from the popular Viking culture to create specific narratives around the alleged 'pure' white race to highlight the connection to the old whiteness of the North. The term Valhalla, for example, means 'the great hall of the fallen' and originates in Norse mythology, symbolizing the resting place for heroes who died in combat. Breivik raised the questions "What happened to those Vikings, anyway? Did they drink too much mead in Valhalla?" in his manifesto, while Balliet stated "Repeat until all jews are dead or you prove the existence of Waifus in Valhalla, whatever comes first."[130] A "waifu" is a term from anime culture referring to an attractive female or (dream) wife. Tarrant, subsequently copied in Gendron's manifesto, also made an explicit reference to Valhalla in his pamphlet: "Goodbye, god bless you

all and I will see you in Valhalla," identical wording to his imageboard post.[131] These examples demonstrate the common themes across online platform posts and targeted violence manifestos, as "Valhalla" appears to speak to the in-group audience of dying in martyrdom for a cause, in this case saving the white race. Am & Weimann point out that "dying as the result of a successful terrorist attack is not a key requirement to becoming a martyr for the Far-Right movement—carrying out the attack and being jailed for it is sufficient."[132] But the willingness to fight and die for the cause is critical to the motivation of these attackers and their claims of infamy. The fact that these attacks are waged against unarmed civilians, however, is ignored.

• 71% (5 out of 7) thanked their followers and/or other users of the forum for their support, entertainment and information.

This directly addresses the intended audiences of the platforms and seems designed to cause an immediate reaction. Similar text elements were detected in Tarrant, Manshaus, Jackson and Gendron's posts:

- Tarrant: "Well lads, it's time (...) It's been a long ride and despite all your rampant faggotry, fecklessness and degeneracy, you are all top blokes and the best bunch of cobbers a man could ask for" [133]
- Earnest: "It's been real dudes. From the bottom of my heart thank you for everything. Keep up the infographic redpill threads. I've only been lurking for a year and a half, yet what I've learned here is priceless. It's been an honor" [134]
- Manshaus: "well cobbers it's time (...) it's been fun" [135]
- Jackson: "Well lads, I guess this is it. You are all just top notch people that have been following me." [136]
- Gendron: "Well lads (...) It's been a long ride to get here, I'd like to take this time to thank you guys for the laughs and the shitposts of top-tier quality. (...) Thanks guys G\"[137]

Earnest's red pill theme stems from the incel subculture but originated in the film *The Matrix* where the protagonist is given the choice between consuming a red or a blue pill, with the red pill symbolizing learning the ultimate truth. Within the extremist environment, the red pill truth is connected to "political awakening, rejecting scientific knowledge and democratic processes in favour of a white supremacy worldview." [138] Tarrant also referenced this idea in his manifesto.

• 43% (3 out of 7) of perpetrators encouraged others to commit future attacks.

Thus, they directly engaged with their immediate and intended audiences:

- Crusius: "Keep up the good fight." [139]
- Manshaus: "i was elected by saint tarrant after all (...) if you're reading this you have been elected by me" [140]
- Jackson: "You! Are the chosen one. and one that will maybe see this life. (...) I'm rootin for ya lads"[141]

Reaching out to their primary audience in this way is a necessary step to incite further violence, a purpose which forms part of a larger strategy of fomenting sufficient copycat attacks to destabilize society. It can be argued that the theme of "selecting" subsequent offenders could have been derived from Tarrant's manifesto, which stated that: "But I have only had brief contact with Knight Justiciar Breivik, receiving a blessing for my mission after contacting his brother knights."[142] This in turn referenced a section in Breivik's writings on the Knights Templar and a ritual to become a "Justiciar Knight"—Breivik's reinvention of a holy knighthood—which he referred to throughout his script.[143] In addition, Earnest stated in his document that "Brenton Tarrant inspired me. I hope to inspire many more."[144]

- 43% (3 out of 7) highlight their mobilization and repositioning from online chatter to real-world action.
 - Tarrant: "Well lads, it's time to stop shitposting and time to make a real life effort post. I will carry out and attack against the invaders" [145]
 - Manshaus: "you gotta bump the race war thread irl [in real life]"[146]
 - Gendron: "Well lads I guess it's time to stop shitposting and time to post a real life shitpost. I'm going to be carrying out an attack against the replacers (...) Now it's time for some action" [147]

These communications are the essential components for encouraging real-life attacks from the digital sphere, directed at the immediate and intended audiences (in-groups). As Heine and Magazzini have stated, the "logic of these groups is that you only count for something when you act." [148] Tarrant's strategy proved successful, as the words of his announcement were taken up in Gendron's message, with the latter repeating the wording—and subsequently the actions. While Jackson was unsuccessful in carrying out a mass attack, the inspiration from Tarrant's post is clear in the direct quote he left on his computer keyboard in the form of a handwritten letter: "Well lads, I think it's time to stop shit-posting and make a real life effort post." [149]

Content Patterns Across Targeted Violence Live-Streams

Citing or Copying Textual Elements from Previous Live-Streams or Manifestos

As alluded to in the introduction, the case of Hugo Jackson clearly shows how the genres of extreme right terrorists are taking form in the uptake of previous perpetrators' writings. Firstly, he transcribed the opening lines of Balliet's live-stream on his bedroom wall.[150] Secondly, he said "Ah, Scheiße" twice in his live-stream, a direct reference to Balliet's broadcast.[151] Thirdly, Jackson declared "Subscribe to PewDiePie" in his live-stream, directly referring to Tarrant, who proclaimed "Remember lads, subscribe to PewDiePie" as he was exiting his vehicle during his broadcast shortly before entering the first mosque and committing his mass attack.[152] PewDiePie is the moniker of Swedish online gaming personality Felix Arvid Ulf Kjellberg, one of the most popular YouTubers in the world. Kjellberg has been criticized for amplifying anti-Semitic and racist views in his recommendations of other YouTube channels. This may be the reason Earnest wrote in his document, "I had the help of a man named Felix Arvid Ulf Kjellberg. He was kind enough to plan and fund this whole operation—the sly bastard. Apparently, Pewdiepie hates Jews as much as Pajeets. Who would've known?"[153]

<u>Referencing Names of Notorious Same-Genre Authors or Victims of Opposing Attacks on Equipment used During Attacks</u>

Tarrant wrote the names of several far-right perpetrators on the firearms and magazines he used during his acts of violence, for instance Pavlo Lapshyn, Anton Lundin Pettersson, Alexandre Bissonnette, Darren Osborne and Luca Traini.[154] These names are connected to attacks that were conducted across Europe and North America between 2013 and 2018. Jackson penciled "Stephan Balliet" and "Anton Lundin Pettersson" on the mask he wore during his incident, among some other unintelligible writings.[155] In addition, the phrase "Kebab Remover" was visible on Jackson's mask and on a non-functioning air gun, which is a direct reference to a term utilized by Tarrant in his manifesto: "More recently I have been working part time as a kebab removalist."[156] Gendron wrote Tarrant, Roof, Bowers, Earnest, Breivik and Manshaus' names on the firearms employed during his shooting, and had added the number "2083", the title of Breivik's manifesto.

Furthermore, several perpetrators hailed white victims of other terrorist attacks. Tarrant had marked his rifle with "For Madrid", a reference to the 2004 Madrid train bombings in Spain, which were directed by Al-Qaeda and resulted in 193 fatalities and many more wounded. Tarrant, Jackson and Gendron wrote the name "Ebba Akerlund" on their guns, a reference to a little girl who became a victim during the jihadism-inspired truck attack in Stockholm, Sweden, in 2017. Her name is frequently referenced in the far-right milieu to "seek revenge" for the murder of a white, deaf girl who did not hear the oncoming destructive vehicle.

ISSN 2334-3745 17 August 2022

Gendron included the names of victims who were killed by Black perpetrators, such as Wilhelm Hospel, Tamara Durand, Leanna Owen, James Coolidge and Virginia Sorenson. These individuals lost their lives during the Waukesha Christmas Parade attack in November 2021. Moreover, Gendron's gun included the name Jason Rivera, the New York Police Department officer who died in a shooting in Harlem, New York, in January 2022.

These types of writings appear to have several meanings: they are a glorification of those who attacked in the past, or whose names the perpetrator wants to preserve. Wing identified similar patterns of labeling weapons with personal names when assessing the writings of school shooters, suggesting that it infuses a feature of animacy for an inanimate object, thus enhancing an emotional connection with the weapon(s). [157] It could also be a form of encouragement for the offenders to bring their violent plans to life, following in the footsteps of previous, successful assailants. Lastly, it might be a reminder for the victims that the past influences the present, spreading fear among their communities.

Discussion

Are we taking this global epidemic seriously? Our textual samples demonstrate the interconnectivity of recent far-right attacks and highlight the importance of digital ties formed in the complex extreme-right digital ecosystem, which weave through the stages of radicalization, mobilization and implementation. We see the emergence of a complex genre set of interrelated text types—manifestos, Q&As, online announcements and live-streams—that is becoming increasingly consolidated as a way of spreading a particular subversive and hateful worldview.[158] The objective of these communications is continually bidirectional: they address and encourage a transnational assemblage of online followers by saluting previous attackers and inciting further violence, and simultaneously disseminate hatred of already-marginalized groups, based on their religion, race or ethnicity.

Operational Implications

Interconnectivity in the short term is a cognitive-affective viral contagion: self-propagating, mutating and defeating the "immune" resistance to violence as it is read and rewritten. It might kill its host, i.e., the perpetrator, but the virus ensures that it is transmitted and spread more widely, infecting both the individual and society. The virus actively changes the individual host's thinking and motivation in the process of reading to copying and writing a new manifesto. Comparable to a written motivational interview, the author changes himself while showing us how his beliefs are formed, gestated and grown. He then leads himself down the pathway to violence, spreading the viral contagion to the next victim via both the attack itself and the self-replicating cognition. Moreover, the affected community actively spreads the cognitive contagion widely via repetitive media, leading in theory both to the real division and hatred to manifest in our society, and providing the contagion which motivates the next attack. Fundamentally, this metaphor is in line with Dawkins' original conception of a 'meme' as a "unit of cultural transmission" which, if it catches on, "can be said to propagate itself, spreading from brain to brain." [159]

Operationally, it can be assumed that there is an absence of outside interventions—for instance through threat assessment and management: the host consumes the viral contagion in a friendly environment, in this case the online ecosystem, where there is minimal social resistance to overcome its spread. Subsequently, the viral content moves from perpetrator to perpetrator to replicate an attack and more viral contagion via their own manifestos, arguably creating a new patient zero with every act of violence. Similar to a virus, it retains old patterns (e.g., Breivik's or Tarrant's writings) while adapting and adding newer and better content. The world watches the results, the success of a new viral contagion is obvious, and the attack, political and mediatic responses in themselves spread the infection to a wide array of possible new hosts. Seemingly, the real-world social factors for group belonging and social manipulation in an analog terror group have been replaced by social media and the viral manifestos in the digital groups, i.e., the leaderless cells. The menacing novelty is that the assailants' competition with one another serves to improve both lethality of the viral

contagion and its transmissibility. Our societal immune system attempts to defend against viral hate by condemning, emoting, mourning and spreading outrage, hate and fear while metastasizing the contamination further. We accomplish the terrorists' aims of viral contagion and amplify them as we try to combat them.

Over the longer course, we see copycats emerge who imitate the previous attacker; and when these copycats are aggregated over time, as in this decade of cases, what constellates is a subcultural script that provides rules of behavior and engagement for those who are willing to carry the fight to the "enemy." The enemy in these cases are typically non-white, non-Christian, non-traditional hierarchical, non-cisgender subjects within the out-group who pose an imminent existential threat. Follman has investigated and documented the copycat phenomenon in relation to the Columbine massacre in 1999, and identified >100 cases of individuals over the past twenty years, who carried out or were thwarted in their attacks, which specifically imitated the behaviors of the attackers, Eric Harris and Dylan Klebold.[160] Meloy and Mohandie wrote about this prior to the advent of social media in their work on aggression immersion, and referred to this as both theme consistency and scene specificity through the repetitive viewing of "screen violence"—at that time limited to television and movies.[161]

At a deeper psychological level, both contagion and copycat effects are behavioral markers for identification with the aggression or with the aggressor, respectively. The terms originated in the works of Sándor Ferenczi and Anna Freud and have been reformulated in the context of threat assessment by Meloy et al.[162] It is a largely unconscious identification, with elements of conscious imitation, that suggests both a desire to be like the attacker who has preceded oneself, but also to master the previous attacker with a more innovative strategy or a higher body count, a pathologically narcissistic endeavor with incalculable destructive outcomes. Identification as a proximal warning behavior for targeted violence has been shown to strongly correlate with and in some cases to predict such attacks.[163]

Strategic Prevention and Tactical Reaction

Motivated by violence-justifying ideologies and personal grievances, these subjects have declared war on democracy and pose a real threat to communities around the world. Critical to identifying and mitigating these threats is to understand this very specific kind of violence, which can be accomplished by taking these mass murderers at their word. This group of lone-actor terrorists tell us who they are, whom they hate and why they will kill. We have the necessary intelligence and can model innovative programs to develop the algorithms that will detect these online signals amidst the cyberspace noise, and the multidisciplinary threat assessment teams to then conduct on-the-ground investigations to mitigate such risks. But do we have the political will to advance and fund such work for decades, and legislate for oversight at tech companies? This transnational movement thinks not. However, in a bold move to hold social media companies—such as Facebook and YouTube—accountable for their content, Australia passed a legislation one month after Brenton Tarrant's attack in New Zealand in 2019. It involves significant fines of up to 10% of their annual profits and jail time for their executives if they fail to swiftly remove "abhorrent violent material", including footage of terroristic acts.[164]

Future Research

We acknowledge that the corpus of language evidence is very limited in this study. Future research could involve a textual comparison to far-right online postings from mainstream platforms and fringe forums, as well as visual (e.g., images and memes) or auditory (e.g., music) elements through a semiotics study. It would also be of interest to investigate the eyeball-to-violence ratio in the context of targeted violence manifestos and live-streams that inspire and influence real-world actions: "the ratio between the number of people who have seen terrorist images or manifestos, and the number of those individuals who have subsequently gone on to use terrorist violence." [165] Such work could help contribute to understanding whether or not we have entered the fifth wave of global terrorism. [166]

About the Authors:

Julia Kupper is a forensic linguist and independent researcher based in California, United States. As a consultant, she collaborates with law enforcement agencies and threat assessment teams throughout Los Angeles. As a scholar, she studies targeted violence communications to enhance the mitigation of different types of violent threats.

Tanya Karoli Christensen, PhD, is professor of Danish language at the University of Copenhagen, Denmark, with a specialty in forensic linguistics. She recently led a 3-year research project on the language and genre of threats, delivering a digital, linguistically annotated corpus of threatening messages. She consults regularly on linguistic evidence for police and attorneys and offers training for the Danish police.

Dakota Wing is a PhD candidate in linguistics and applied linguistics at York University, Toronto, Canada. He regularly consults as a forensic linguist and co-maintains ForensicLing.com. His research focuses on police discourse and linguistic ideologies guiding the admissibility of language evidence in court. He has applied discourse analysis methodologies to the writings of school shooters, extremist propaganda and online radicalized communities.

Marlon Hurt, PhD, is an adjunct professor of linguistics at Hofstra University's Master of Arts in Linguistics: Forensic Linguistics program (New York, United States). He also works as an analyst on active legal cases with the Institute for Forensic Linguistics, Threat Assessment and Strategic Analysis under the direction of Dr. Robert Leonard.

Matthew Schumacher, PhD, is a national security psychologist with expertise in conducting intelligence, irregular warfare, counterterrorism and anti-hate operations. Formerly a lieutenant commander in the US Navy, he has 15 years of experience in Los Angeles, Iraq, Afghanistan and Africa in support of MARSOC, NSW, USSOCOM, FBI, DIA and law enforcement agencies. As a psychiatry professor in the military, he led crisis and emergency response teams, taught emergency and deployment psychology, and completed a post-doctoral training in advanced operational psychology at DIA/DEVGRU.

Reid Meloy, PhD, is a forensic psychologist and voluntary clinical professor of psychiatry at the University of California, San Diego. He has been a consultant to the FBI Behavioral Analysis Unit, Quantico, for the past two decades. He is coeditor of the International Handbook of Threat Assessment, 2nd edition (Oxford University Press, 2021), which recently won the Manfred Guttmacher Award from the American Psychiatric Association.

Notes

- [1] Arie Perliger, American Zealots: Inside right-wing domestic terrorism (New York: Columbia University Press, 2020); Karolin Schwarz, Hasskrieger (Freiburg: Verlag Herder, 2020).
- [2] Christian Fuchs and Paul Middelhoff, Das Netzwerk der neuen Rechten: wer sie lenkt, wer sie finanziert und wie sie die Gesellschaft verändern (Reinbek: Rowohlt Polaris, 2020).
- [3] Alexander Alter, "How 'The Turner Diaries' Incites White Supremacists," *The New York Times*, 12 January 2021; URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2021/01/12/books/turner-diaries-white-supremacists.html.
- [4] Zack Beauchamp (a), "Accelerationism: The obscure idea inspiring white supremacist killers around the world," *Vox*, 18 November 2019; URL: https://www.vox.com/the-highlight/2019/11/11/20882005/accelerationism-white-supremacy-christchurch.
- [5] The Soufan Center, "White Supremacy Extremism: The transnational rise of the violent white supremacist movement," The Soufan Center, September 2019; URL: https://thesoufancenter.org/research/white-supremacy-extremism-the-transnation-al-rise-of-the-violent-white-supremacist-movement/. For an overview of the history of the "chans", see Stephane J. Baele, Lewys Brace and Travis G. Coan, "Variation on a Theme? Comparing 4chan, 8kun, and other chans' far-right "/pol" boards," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, vol. 15, no. 1, 2021, pp. 65–80; URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/26984798.

- [6] Beauchamp (a), op. cit.
- [7] See, for instance: Mona Kanwal Sheik and Dino Krause, "Transnational Jihadism: A conflict to be resolved, a movement to implode or an ideology to be countered?" *Perspectives on Terrorism*, vol. 16, no. 1, February 2022; URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-1/introduction.pdf; Graham Macklin and Tore Bjørgo, "Breivik's Long Shadow? The impact of the July 22, 2011 attacks on the *modus operandi* of extreme-right lone actor terrorists," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, vol. 15, no. 3, June 2021; URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-5/benam-and-weimann.pdf; Tore Bjørgo and Jacob Aasland Ravndal, "Extreme-Right Violence and Terrorism: Concepts, patterns, and responses," *International Centre for Counter-Terrorism Policy Brief*, September 2019; URL: https://icct.nl/app/uploads/2019/09/Extreme-Right-Violence-and-Terrorism-Concepts-Patterns-and-Responses-4.pdf; Graham Macklin, "The Christchurch Attacks: Livestream terror in the viral video age," *CTC Sentinel*, vol. 12, no. 6, July 2019; URL: https://ctc.usma.edu/christchurch-attacks-livestream-ter-ror-viral-video-age/; Perliger, op. cit.; Beauchamp, op. cit.
- [8] Paul Gill, Lone-Actor Terrorists: A behavioural analysis (London: Routledge, 2015); Ramon Spaaij, Understanding Lone Wolf Terrorism: Global patterns, motivations and prevention (Springer Science & Business Media, 2011); Joint Counterterrorism Assessment Team, "Counterterrorism Guide," Office of the Director of National Intelligence; URL: https://www.dni.gov/nctc/jcat/index.html.
- [9] Frederick S. Calhoun and Stephen Weston, Contemporary Threat Management: A practical guide for identifying, assessing, and managing individuals of violent intent (San Diego: Specialized Training Services, 2003); URL: https://www.specializedtraining.com/showproduct.aspx?ProductID=74&SEName=contemporary-threat-management.
- [10] Gillian Brockell, "The Father of 'Great Replacement': An ex-socialist French writer," *The Washington Post*, 17 May 2022; URL: https://www.washingtonpost.com/history/2022/05/17/renaud-camus-great-replacement-history/.
- [11] For an overview on the shift from anger to contempt to disgust as predictors in political violence, see the warning behavior "changes in thinking and emotion," in J. Reid Meloy, *TRAP-18 User's Manual Version 1.0* (Multi Health Systems, 2017); URL: https://gifrinc.com/trap-18-manual/; David Matsumoto, Mark G. Frank and Hyisung C. Hwang, "The Role of Intergroup Emotions in Political Violence," *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, vol. 24, pp. 369–373; URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721415595023.
- [12] Stephan Balliet (a), Your F&A Guide (2019), p. 4; John Earnest (a), An Open Letter (2019), p. 5.
- [13] Lunds Tingsrätt, Förundersökningsprotokoll (October 2021) [Lund district court, preliminary investigation report].
- [14] Ibid, p. 76.
- [15] "SS" is an abbreviation for 'Schutzstaffel', the elite paramilitary organization that enforced racial policies of Nazi Germany under Adolf Hitler. "1488" is a numeric hate symbol that is a combination of two popular white supremacist symbols: '14' is short for the "14 words" slogan we must secure the existence of our people and a future for white children. '88' stands for Heil Hitler, as 'H' is the 8th letter of the alphabet.
- [16] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit., p. 159.
- [17] Ibid, p. 592.
- [18] Ibid, p. 163.
- [19] For an overview on the history of lone-actor right-wing terrorism in online spaces, see Cathrine Thorleifsson and Joey Düker, "Lone Actors in Digital Environments," *European Commission*, October 2021; URL: https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/system/files/2021-10/ran paper lone actors in digital environments en.pdf; Lisa Kaati, Katie Cohen and Björn Pelzer, "Heroes and Scapegoats: Right-wing extremism in digital environments," *European Commission*, July 2021; URL: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication/49e2ecf2-eae9-11eb-93a8-01aa75ed71a1/language-en.
- [20] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [21] Perliger, op. cit.; Schwarz, op. cit.; Thorleifsson and Düker, op. cit.
- [22] Macklin and Bjørgo, op. cit.
- [23] Matthew Feldman, "Viewpoint: Killer Breivik's links with far right," BBC, 27 August 2012; URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-19366000; Anders Breivik, 2083: A European Declaration of Independence (2011), p. 1471.
- [24] Schwarz, op. cit.
- [25] Weiyi Cai and Simone Landon, "Attacks by White Extremists Are Growing. So are their connections." *The New York Times*, 3 April 2019; URL: https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2019/04/03/world/white-extremist-terrorism-christchurch.html.
- [26] See, for instance, Aleksandra M. Dmitrieva and J. Reid Meloy, "Troubled Water: Domestic terrorism threat in the U.S. coast

guard and the TRAP-18," *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, 2021; URL: https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000170; Mack Lamoureux, "Swedish Police Say They Thwarted Neo-Nazi Bombing and Mass Murder Plot," *Vice*, 31 May 2022; URL: https://www-vice-com.cdn.ampproject.org/c/s/www.vice.com/amp/en/article/y3va9g/sweden-neo-nazi-mass-murder-plot-arrest.

- [27] Beauchamp (a), op. cit.; Miro Dittrich, personal communication, 17 August 2021.
- [28] Zack Beauchamp (b), "An Online Subculture Celebrating the Charleston Church Shooter Appears to be Inspiring Copycat Plots," *Vox*, 7 February 2019; URL: https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2019/2/7/18215634/dylann-roof-charleston-church-shooter-bowl-gang.
- [29] Dittrich, op. cit.
- [30] Baele et al., op. cit.; Robert Bowers, Gab post, 27 October 2018.
- [31] Dittrich, op. cit.
- [32] Macklin and Bjørgo, op. cit.
- [33] Am and Weimann, op. cit., p. 143.
- [34] Macklin and Bjørgo, op. cit.
- [35] Baele et al., op. cit.
- [36] Blyth Crawford and Florence Keen, "The Hanau Terrorist Attack: How race hate and conspiracy theories are fueling global far-right violence," *CTC Sentinel*, vol. 13, no. 3, March 2020; URL: https://ctc.usma.edu/hanau-terrorist-attack-race-hate-conspiracy-theories-fueling-global-far-right-violence/.
- [37] Macklin and Bjørgo, op. cit.
- [38] Thorleifsson and Düker, op. cit.
- [39] Macklin and Bjørgo, op. cit.
- [40] Payton Gendron (a), Yeah (2022), p. 5; J. Reid Meloy and Jeffrey W. Pollard, "Lone-Actor Terrorism and Impulsivity," Journal of Forensic Science, vol. 62, no. 6, November 2017; URL: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28397251/.
- [41] Payton Gendron (b), Discord logs, 1 March 2022.
- [42] Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 5.
- [43] Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 5.
- [44] Charles L. Briggs and Richard Bauman, "Genre, Intertextuality, and Social Power," *Journal of Linguistic Anthropology*, vol. 2, no. 2, December 1992, p. 147; URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/43102167.
- [45] Adam Hodges, "Intertextuality in Discourse," in *The Handbook of Discourse Analysis*, edited by Deborah Tannen, Heidi E. Hamilton and Deborah Schiffrin, vol. 1. (Oxford: Wiley Blackwell, 2015).
- [46] Julia Kupper and J. Reid Meloy, "TRAP-18 Indicators Validated Through the Forensic Linguistic Analysis of Targeted Violence Manifestos," *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, vol. 8, no. 4, September 2021, p. 179; URL: https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000165.
- [47] Tammy Gales, "Ideologies in Violence: A corpus and discourse analytic approach to stance in threatening communications," *The International Journal of Speech, Language and the Law*, February 2011, pp. 299–302; URL: https://doi.org/10.1558/ijsll.v17i2.299; Marie Bojsen-Møller, Sune Auken, Amy J. Devitt and Tanya Karoli Christensen, "Illicit Genres: The case of threatening communications," *Sakprosa*, vol. 12, no. 1, 2020; URL: https://doi.org/10.5617/sakprosa.7416.
- [48] Bojsen-Møller et al., op. cit., p. 3.
- [49] Ibid.
- [50] Tim Grant, Illicit Genres, conference (Copenhagen, 2018).
- [51] Anne Freadman, "Anyone for Tennis?" in *Genre and the New Rhetoric*, edited by Aviva Freedman and Peter Medway, pp. 43–66 (London: Taylor & Francis 1994); URL: https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/mono/10.4324/9780203393277-12/anyone-tennis-aviva-freedman-peter-medway?context=ubx&refId=c3d783f4-9a73-4159-af5a-6210834a68c8; Anne Freadman, "Uptake," in *The Rhetoric and Ideology of Genre, Strategies for Stability and Change*, edited by Richard M. Coe, Lorelei Lingard and Tatiana Teslenko (Cresskill: Hampton Press, 2002); URL: https://library.villanova.edu/Find/Record/575225/TOC.
- [52] J. Reid Meloy, personal communication, 27 May 2022.
- [53] Sherry Towers, Andres Gomez-Lievano, Maryam Khan, Anuj Mubayi and Carlos Castillo-Chavez, "Contagion in Mass Killings and School Shootings," *PLOS ONE*, July 2015; URL: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0117259.

- [54] J. Reid Meloy, Jens Hoffmann and Bram van der Meer, "The Adult Mass murderer in Europe and North America: The paranoid spectrum from distrust to delusion," *Association of Threat Assessment Professionals 2017*; URL: https://secureservercdn.net/72.167.243.77/66f.213.myftpupload.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/ATAP2017.pdf.
- [55] Mark Follman (a), *Trigger Points: Inside the mission to stop mass shootings in America* (New York: HarperCollins Publishers, 2022); URL: https://www.harpercollins.com/products/trigger-points-mark-follman?variant=39402950131746.
- [56] Meloy, op. cit.; Meloy, Hoffmann and van der Meer, op. cit.; Towers et al., op. cit.; Follman, op. cit.
- [57] Kupper and Meloy, op. cit., p. 179.
- [58] Julia Kupper, "Preventing Attacks Using Targeted Violence Manifestos," FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin, 5 May 2022; URL: https://leb.fbi.gov/articles/featured-articles/preventing-attacks-using-targeted-violence-manifestos?utm_campaign=e-mail-Immediate&utm_content=%5B1406333%5D-%2Farticles%2Ffeatured-articles%2Fpreventing-attacks-using-targeted-violence-manifestos.
- [59] Kupper and Meloy, op. cit., p. 186.
- [60] Bart Schuurman, Lasse Lindekilde, Stefan Malthaner, Francis O'Connor, Paul Gill and Noémie Bouhana, "End of the Lone Wolf: The typology that should not have been," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, vol. 48, no. 8, 2019, pp. 771–778; URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/1057610X.2017.1419554.
- [61] David Webber, Arie Kruglanski, Erica Molinario and Katarzyna Jasko, "Ideologies that Justify Political Violence," *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, vol. 34, August 2020, pp. 107–111; URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2020.01.004.
- [62] Dmitrieva and Meloy, op. cit., p. 13.
- [63] Marlon Hurt, "Pledging to Harm: A linguistic analysis of violent intent in threatening language," *Doctoral dissertation*, Aston University, 2021; URL: https://research.aston.ac.uk/en/studentTheses/pledging-to-harm-a-linguistic-analysis-of-violent-intent-in-threa.
- [64] Patrick Kingsley, "New Zealand Massacre Highlights Global Reach of White Extremism," *The New York Times*, 15 March 2019; URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/15/world/asia/christchurch-mass-shooting-extremism.html.
- [65] Jason Burke, "The Age of Selfie Jihad: How evolving media technology is changing terrorism," *Combating Terrorism Center*, vol. 9, no. 11, November/December 2016; URL: https://ctc.westpoint.edu/the-age-of-selfie-jihad-how-evolving-media-technology-is-changing-terrorism/; Marc Sageman, *Leaderless Jihad: Terror networks in the Twenty-First Century* (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2008).
- [66] Burke, op. cit.; Counter Extremism Project, "Larossi Abballa," URL: https://www.counterextremism.com/extremists/larossi-abballa.
- [67] Mark Follman (b), "The Powerful Impact of Digital Media on Mass Shootings," *Literary Hub*, 8 April 2022; URL: https://lithub.com/the-powerful-impact-of-digital-media-on-mass-shootings/.
- [68] Ben Lee, "Only Playing: Extreme-right gamification," *Centre for Research and Evidence on Security Threats*, 24 August 2021; URL: https://crestresearch.ac.uk/resources/only-playing-extreme-right-gamification/.
- [69] Am and Weimann, op. cit.
- [70] Schwarz, op. cit.
- [71] Gerald Posselt, "Can Hatred Speak? On the linguistic dimensions of hate crime," *Linguistik Online*, vol. 82, no. 3, April 2017; URL: https://doi.org/10.13092/lo.82.3712.
- [72] Macklin and Bjørgo, op. cit., p. 20.
- [73] Robert A. Fein and Bryan Vossekuil, *Protective Intelligence & Threat Assessment Investigations: A guide for state and local law enforcement officials* (Washington, DC: Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice, 1998); URL: https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/179981.pdf; Calhoun and Weston, op. cit.
- [74] Brenton Tarrant (a), *The Great Replacement* (2019), p. 18; Luca Traini committed a drive-by shooting attack on six African migrants, who were all injured, in the city of Macerata, Italy on 3 February 2018. Anton Lundin Pettersson carried out a Swedish school attack motivated by racist sentiments, killing 3 and injuring 1, on 22 October 2015. Darren Osborne drove a van into pedestrians close to a Muslim welfare house in Finsbury Park, London, United Kingdom, on 19 June 2017. He killed 1 and injured 10
- [75] Earnest (a), op. cit., p. 5.
- [76] Patrick Crusius (a), The Inconvenient Truth (2019), p. 1.
- [77] 'Chad' is an incel (involuntary celibate) term that refers to sexually active alpha males.

- [78] Balliet (a), op. cit., p. 4.
- [79] Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 9.
- [80] Dakota Wing, "The Progression of Interpersonal Stances in the Writings of School Shooters," *Master of Arts thesis*, Hofstra University, 2017; URL: https://www.proquest.com/openview/bcc29d777c8ebe9e9beb04a9eb86c942/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&c-bl=18750.
- [81] Earnest (a), op. cit., p. 6.; Hugo Jackson, Innehållet i manifest (2021), p. 1.
- [82] Gendron (a), op. cit.; Dylann Roof, The last Rhodesian (2015).
- [83] Stephan Balliet (b), A Short Pre-Action Report, p. 9.
- [84] Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 57.
- [85] Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 157-159.
- [86] Anti-Defamation League, "Striking similarities between Gendron and Tarrant manifestos," *ADL*, 24 May 2022; URL: https://www.adl.org/resources/blog/striking-similarities-between-gendron-and-tarrant-manifestos.
- [87] Tarrant (a), op. cit., p. 12, 16.
- [88] Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 6, 8.
- [89] Pekka-Eric Auvinen, Natural selector's manifesto, 2007, p. 1.
- [90] Emily Powell, "I Figured That an Under-prepared Attack and a Meh Manifesto is Better than no Attack and no Manifesto': The sharing of agency with past and future mass shooters in pre-crime texts," conference paper (Birmingham: International Association of Forensic Linguists, Aston University, 2021).
- [91] Macklin and Bjørgo, op. cit.
- [92] Breivik, op. cit., p. 1349.
- [93] Christopher Sean Harper-Mercer, My Story (2015), p. 4.
- [94] Bundeskriminalamt, Beschuldigtenvernehmung (November 2019), p. 1–2 [interrogation of accused].
- [95] Breivik, op. cit., p. 1358, 1379; Tarrant (a), op. cit., p. 5.
- [96] Tarrant (a), op. cit., p. 15, 16; Earnest (a), op. cit., p. 7.
- [97] Tarrant (a), op. cit., p. 1, 14; Balliet (a), op. cit., p. 1, 3.
- [98] Breivik, op. cit., p. 1383.
- [99] Earnest (a), op. cit., p. 8.
- [100] Balliet (a), op. cit., p. 5.
- [101] Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 7, 11; Balliet (a), op. cit., p. 2.
- [102] Breivik, op. cit., p. 1383.
- [103] Tarrant (a), op. cit., p. 12.
- [104] Earnest (a), op. cit., p. 7.
- [105] Balliet (a), op. cit., p. 4.
- [106] Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 6.
- [108] Schwarz, op. cit.
- [109] Oberlandesgericht Naumburg, "Bestens vernetzter Einzeltäter? 3. Verhandlungstag," *Zentrum Demokratischer Widerspruch e.V.*, July 2020; URL: https://democ.de/halle/3-prozesstag/#transcript.
- [110] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [111] Freadman, op. cit.
- [112] Brenton Tarrant (b), 8chan imageboard post, 15 March 2019.
- [113] Patrick Crusius (b), 8chan imageboard post, 3 August 2019.

- [114] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [115] Gendron (b), op. cit.
- [116] Frederic Heine and Tina Magazzini, "Radicalisation and Resilience Case Study: Germany," *European University Institute*, September 2020; URL: http://grease.eui.eu/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2020/10/WP4-Report Germany-1.pdf.
- [117] Tina Askanius, "On Frogs, Monkeys, and Execution Memes: Exploring the humor-hate nexus at the intersection of neo-Nazi and alt-right movements in Sweden," *Sage Journals Television & New Media*, vol. 22, no. 2, 2021, pp. 147–165; URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476420982234.
- [118] Tarrant (b), op. cit.
- [119] John Earnest (b), 8chan imageboard post, 27 April 2019.
- [120] Philip Manshaus, Endchan imageboard post, 10 August 2019.
- [121] Stephan Balliet (c), Meguca imageboard post, 9 October 2019.
- [122] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [123] Gendron (b), op. cit.
- [124] Freadman, op. cit.
- [125] Tarrant (b), op. cit.
- [126] Earnest (b), op. cit.
- [127] Crusius (b), op. cit.
- [128] Manshaus, op. cit.
- [129] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [130] Breivik, op. cit., p. 345; Balliet (b), op. cit., p. 10.
- [131] Tarrant (a), op. cit., p. 73; Gendron (a), op. cit., p. 180.
- [132] Am and Weimann, op. cit., p. 143.
- [133] Tarrant (b), op. cit.
- [134] Earnest (b), op. cit.
- [135] Manshaus, op. cit.
- [136] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [137] Gendron (b), op. cit.
- [138] Thorleifsson and Düker, op. cit., p. 11.
- [139] Crusius (b), op. cit.
- [140] Manshaus, op. cit.
- [141] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [142] Tarrant (a), op. cit., p. 18.
- [143] Breivik, op. cit.
- [144] Earnest (a), op. cit., p. 7.
- [145] Tarrant (b), op. cit.
- [146] Manshaus, op. cit.
- [147] Gendron (b), op. cit.
- [148] Heine and Magazzini, op. cit., p. 16.
- [149] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [150] See text reference in introduction; Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.

- [151] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.; Stephan Balliet (d), live-stream, 9 October 2019.
- [152] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.; Brenton Tarrant ©, live-stream, 15 March 2019.
- [153] Earnest (a), op. cit., p. 5.
- [154] Pavlo Lapshyn committed several crimes against Muslims throughout 2013, including a fatal stabbing of one individual and three attempted bombings of mosques in the West Midlands, United Kingdom. Alexandre Bissonnette attacked an Islamic cultural center in Quebec City, Canada, killing 6 persons and injuring 5 others on 29 January 2017.
- [155] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.
- [156] Lunds Tingsrätt, op. cit.; Tarrant (a), op. cit., p. 5.
- [157] Wing, op. cit.
- [158] Amy J. Devitt, "Intertextuality in Tax Accounting: Generic, referential, and functional," in *Textual Dynamics of the Professions: Historical and contemporary studies of writing in professional communities*, edited by Charles Bazerman and James Paradis (London: University of Wisconsin Press, 1991); URL: https://wac.colostate.edu/docs/books/textual_dynamics/textual_dynamics.
 pdf.
- [159] Richard Dawkins, The selfish gene (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1989), p. 192.
- [160] Follman, op. cit.
- [161] J. Reid Meloy, Anthony G. Hempel, Kris Mohandie, Andrew A. Shiva and Thomas B. Gray, "Offender and offense characteristics of a nonrandom sample of adolescent mass murderers," *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, vol. 40, no. 6, 2001, pp. 719–728; URL: https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200106000-00018.
- [162] Sándor Ferenczi, Final Contributions to the Problems and Methods of Psychoanalysis (New York: Basic Books, 1930); Anna Freud, The Ego and the Mechanisms of Defense (New York: International Universities Press, 1936/1966); J. Reid Meloy, Kris Mohandie, James L. Knoll and Jens Hoffmann, "The Concept of Identification in Threat Assessment," Behavioral Sciences & the Law, vol. 33, no. 2, 2015, pp. 213–237; URL: https://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.2166.
- [163] J. Reid Meloy, Alasdair Goodwill, Caitlin Clemmow and Paul Gill, "Time Sequencing the TRAP-18 Indicators," *Journal of Threat Assessment and Management*, vol. 8, no. 1, 2021, pp. 1–19; URL: https://doi.org/10.1037/tam0000157.
- [164] David Cave, "Australia Passes Law to Punish Social Media Companies for Violent Posts," *The New York Times*, 3 April 2019; URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/04/03/world/australia/social-media-law.html.
- [165] Jonathan Hall, "Online Counter-Terrorism: Presentation to Commission for Countering Extremism," *Terrorism Legislation Reviewer*, 25 May 2022; URL: https://terrorismlegislationreviewer.independent.gov.uk/wp-content/up-loads/2022/05/220523-CCE-Online-Counter-Terrorism.pdf.
- [166] David C. Rapoport, Waves of Global Terrorism (New York: Columbia University Press, 2022).

Rethinking Online Radicalization

by Joe Whittaker

Abstract

This article seeks to re-ontologize online radicalization. Individuals becoming terrorists after being exposed to online content have become a prescient concern for academics, policy makers, and journalists. Existing theoretical contributions to the concept have assumed that there are two ontological domains—online and offline—that can be meaningfully separated. This article will draw from several arguments from other fields which critique this position; the contemporary information environment enmeshes the two inseparably. This argument is then advanced to demonstrate that online radicalization is a redundant concept by drawing on empirical research as well as recent case studies of terrorism. Instead, scholars should consider holistic theories which account for a range of other factors beyond online communication technologies.

Keywords: Terrorism; radicalization; social media; extremism

Introduction

The threat of online radicalization has been highlighted as a key policy priority by a range of stakeholders, including: governmental organizations,[1][2] law enforcement,[3][4] and the media.[5] Recent years have seen an increase in data-driven studies on this topic. However, much of the theoretical work is older and focuses on previous iterations of online technologies, as well as on previous terrorist threats. This article addresses this by offering theoretical insights which account for the advancements in communications technologies, drawing from recent research and terrorist case studies. The argument is simple: dichotomizing between "online" and "offline" realms is not ontologically defensible and can lead to missing important factors in radicalization trajectories.

The article consists of three parts: to begin, an overview of the theoretical research on online radicalization is presented, which mostly assumes that the online domain is distinct and separable from the offline. This is followed by a discussion of the work of scholars who challenge this dichotomy (mostly on topics besides terrorism), suggesting that the two spaces are inseparably intertwined. Finally, this argument is applied to recent research and terrorist case studies from the author's existing research[6] to demonstrate why it is both empirically and ontologically unsound to rely on this dichotomy. The use of these case studies—focused specifically on the so-called Islamic State (IS) within the US—are not intended to be representative, but rather used as exposition to demonstrate the ways in which terrorist activities protrude over both domains. The article argues that scholars should attempt to understand the wider information environment rather than fixating solely on one domain. Existing theoretical work, such as Situational Action Theory, as proposed by Wikström and Bouhana[7] offer a more complete picture in understanding how environments affect individuals' norm-based motivations than the theories that focus explicitly on online radicalization.

Just as Borum encouraged readers to "Rethink Radicalization," [8] this article argues that we should reconsider how online radicalization is conceptualized. Borum and others have asserted that the notion of radicalization has become too ambiguous, particularly as it relates to whether it is a process of developing extreme beliefs (i.e., becoming an extremist) or engaging in extreme actions (e.g., committing an act of terror). [9] [10] Although there is substantial merit to these arguments, for the sake of conceptual clarity, this article will adopt a working definition of "radicalization" which focuses on terrorist behaviors as an end point, similar to Borum's "action pathway" understanding: "the process of being involved in terrorism or engaging in violent extremist actions." [11] This does not downplay the importance of adopting extreme beliefs but rather defines the end point as behavioral.

Theorizing Online Radicalization

Since the emergence of the concept of online radicalization, scholars have attempted to theorize the process. Sageman argues there are several differences between acting online and offline, including: anonymity; younger populations; vitriolic views being expressed; easier exit ramps; nonhierarchical structures; and a lack of incentives to evolve.[12] These factors dramatically transformed jihadist terrorism from the early 2000s, in which most terror networks relied on face-to-face interactions between friends. Famously, he argued that "face-to-face radicalization has been replaced by online radicalization."[13]

Neumann offers six dynamics drawn from the academic literature which help to explain online radicalization. [14] The first two relate to exposure to extremist propaganda: *mortality salience* can lead to individuals considering their own death and increase support for violence [15] and videos from conflict zones which portray Muslims suffering which create *a sense of moral outrage*. [16] The third and fourth mechanisms relate to online communities. The Internet can act as a *criminogenic environment* in which deviant behaviors are learned and normalized, [17] which he links to the concept of an "echo chamber". Like Sageman, Neumann points to the proliferation of vitriolic views due to the *Online Disinhibition* effect. [18] The fifth process relates to the interplay between the social and interactive nature of the Internet; individuals *role-play* an idealized version of themselves online which is more zealous and supportive of violence. [19] The final dynamic is simpler; it relates to the Internet's ability to *link up with terrorist structures* and connect individuals with similar interests across great distances and no previous interactions; offering a far larger recruitment pool from previous generations.

Ducol *et al.* derive several potential radicalization dynamics from the social psychology literature, positing factors that differentiate acting online from offline.[20] The Internet may provide an opportunity for individuals to participate in new groups and the anonymity may trigger a process of deindividuation—aligning behaviors with the group and creating a diffusion of responsibility.[21] They also note that online activity may amplify attraction to a specific in-group while increasing hostility toward out-groups, which may trigger a perceived threat to the individual's identity.[22] They argue that selective exposure may create a cognitive bias which promotes polarization, as well as providing an outlet for individuals to express their "true self" by sharing their stigmatized identities with like-minded people.[23][24] Ducol and colleagues also state that online relationships may take longer to build but could result in more intimacy and connection than offline ones.[25] Moreover, individuals tend to seek out homophily, which social media platforms are specifically designed to facilitate, potentially creating an environment in which deviant subcultures can form. These subcultures are aided by secrecy and anonymity that the Internet can provide, as well as offering more settings which are prone to collective dynamics by leading to more agreement amongst members.

Radicalization is conceptualized by Koehler as a process of depluralization from political concepts and values (such as justice, freedom, and democracy) toward a specific ideology. He argues that the Internet is a main facilitator of this process as it provides an ideological pillar with the infrastructure of a radical social movement. It provides cheap and efficient communication where individuals can share crucial information, as well as being a constraint-free space with anonymity in which individuals can become "more" than their offline personas. [26] It also gives a perception of a larger critical mass of the movement, and an opportunity for individuals to directly reflect on the effects on propaganda. Koehler argues that the Internet is the most important space to learn the necessary skills to join offline groups and advance within the social hierarchies and therefore is a major driving factor to establish and foster the development of what he calls "radical contrast societies" which transmit violent ideologies and transmit them into political activism.

Scholars have attempted to "model" the process by sequencing multiple dynamics to explain how they develop into online radicalization. Saifudeen argues that the Internet has unique attributes, noting that it is akin to a buyers' market in which individuals can pick and choose the interactions and communities that best suit them.[27] He uses an analogy of a planetary orbit with five levels: *Scepticism, Validation, Activism, Extremism, Violent Extremism.* The individual remains in the orbit of their chosen online counterculture which reinforces their current mindset while "gravity wells" can pull individuals further inward. Online dynamics

can cause individuals to jump orbits very quickly given the speed of information absorption and resonance in cyberspace. Neo offers a similar approach, positing a five-stage model of *Reflection, Exploration, Connection, Resolution*, and *Operational*.[28] Like Saifudeen, Neo argues that the wide array of ideas available offer many opportunities for cognitive openings to occur and an individual's worldview can be challenged. Moreover, the Internet's anonymity facilitates an environment where an individual can experiment with an array of ideas with little consequence while having limitless access to propaganda. Combined, such exposure can help to frame and prime individuals to a new potential worldview which can exacerbate radicalization.

Drawing from their empirical research into Canadian foreign fighters, Bastug, Douai and Akca propose a four-step model to explain how online radicalization occurs.[29] It begins with the Accessibility and Proliferation of content, such as propaganda or contact with sympathizers. The social and psychological factors— Susceptibility and Predisposition —help to explain why this content may resonate with some audiences. This can move toward Terrorist Mobilization, in which social media plays an active role, which leads to individuals Sharing their own experiences on the Internet, which creates a feedback loop to the beginning by creating more content to be accessed. Weimann and Von Knop propose a model, beginning with the Searching phase in which individuals seek information online to fulfill their personal or spiritual needs, followed by Seduction where they are introduced to radical ideologies.[30] From here, users enter Captivation, which they argue is the most important because users begin to visit blogs, fora, and chat rooms and become attracted to seductive messages. Individuals then become integrated with their online community as part of the Persuasion phase and for most, this is where the road ends. However, only a select few will enter the Operative phase in which they gain access to contacts and materials and could be invited to join a terrorist organization. They suggest that there are several factors which cause the Internet to exacerbate radicalization, including the anonymity of the Internet, the fact that websites cater to alienated diaspora communities, and the acceptance and approval that members gain when interacting in the online milieu.

Offering a post-structuralist model, Torok likens the Internet to a Foucauldian institution in which networked powers operate and radicalize, suggesting that the online environment is a "Castle" which represents self-imposed isolation which individuals enter willingly and breeds ideological homophily.[31] In these environments, radical beliefs and behaviors become normalized and individuals become polarized as they identify as part of an in-group and therefore disparage a targeted out-group. Importantly, social media represents the "battleground" for the hearts and minds of the vulnerable and disaffected as it can replace moderate beliefs with extreme ones.

Several inferences can be drawn from these theories and models. Rather than suggesting a distinct cause-and-effect relationship, the literature suggests potential dynamics—none of which are necessary or sufficient—that may be either exclusive to, or a prominent feature of the Internet. This is analogous with radicalization research more broadly, which highlights the complexity of the process and the diversity from case to case.[32][33][34] Another prominent feature is the lack of theory derived from empirical research. Aside from Bastug, Douai and Akca's model,[35] the above research is derived either from anecdotal data or imported from other parts of social science and has not yet been tested on terrorist populations. This too, is like radicalization research—Jensen, Atwell Seate and James argue that a lack of rigorous empirical testing makes it difficult to judge how well theories work as general explanations of radicalization.[36] Instead, they argue that most theories in the field are supported by anecdotal evidence with nebulous selection criteria.

Theories also purport that engagement with propaganda is an important aspect of online radicalization. Some make this a key component,[37][38][39][40][41] while for others, such as Koehler, Neumann, and Ducol *et al.*, this position is offered with a note of caution, noting that this relationship is unproven.[42][43] [44] The effects of terrorist propaganda on users is still a young field with a dearth of data-driven research. Experimental studies have indicated that individuals may be more likely to engage with, or be persuaded by, extremist propaganda if they have certain characteristics like a preference for hierarchically organized societies with dominant groups within it;[45] display manipulative "Machiavellian" personality traits;[46] engage in subversive online activities such as abuse, harassment, or engagement on problematic platforms;[47] or if uncertainty or existential threat is primed.[48][49] While these studies are valuable as starting points,

experimental research struggles to recreate the complex personal and social dynamics that go into engagement with terrorism.[50] Previous research into terrorism has often assumed that propaganda will resonate and radicalize their audience with little empirical basis, akin to the now discredited "Hypodermic Needle" model of mass communication.[51][52][53]

Most importantly for what follows immediately below, theories and models assume that the online domain is distinct and separable from the offline one. By its nature, theorizing "online radicalization" implicitly suggests that a meaningful dichotomy can be drawn to show how the Internet can provide a markedly different radicalization process. Several scholars refer to the "real world" which may be dynamically connected to the Internet, but is clearly distinct.[54][55][56][57][58] Others do not explicitly use the phrase, but still imply that the two domains can be separated.[59][60] This framing of two distinct ontological realms is, it is argued here, not defensible and results in a narrow understanding of the role of communications technologies in the radicalization process.

Ontological Challenges

In the mid-2000s, Floridi predicted that in the future, the threshold between the online and offline worlds would disappear, noting that the "infosphere"—i.e. the whole information environment, the entities that exist within them, their properties, interactions, processes, and mutual relations—was being re-ontologized because of the convergence between digital resources and tools.[61] He argues that there is no longer a substantial difference between the processor and the processed, causing a gradual erasure of friction between the two ontological domains. Human beings will turn into "inforgs"—connected informational organisms, who exist in the infosphere, which is not merely supported by a material world, but will be interpreted and understood as part of an entire, singular environment, made up of both the processors and processed, online and offline.

The dichotomy of "digital dualism" is challenged by Jurgenson who argues that communications technologies have effectively linked the two domains; both spaces now enmesh to form an augmented reality.[62] Social media supplements, rather than replaces, our offline lives. Offline factors affect our friends, our social location, demographics, and epistemological standpoints, which in turn, affect our posting behaviors. Conversely, social media affects our offline activity; we are conditioned to look for the perfect photo, check-in, or status update, even when we are not logged in (if there is even a state of "not being logged in" in 2022). Jurgenson argues that nothing on the Internet exists outside of longstanding social constructions, but rather we implant these into our new augmented reality. Rey and Boesel advance and develop this into the concept of "augmented subjectivity," noting that both domains are co-produced, and experiences exist over one single, unified reality. Humans are now embodied by organic flesh and "digital protheses"—in which they can perceive, and act in, the world; neither of which can ever be isolated from experience and are inextricably enmeshed.[63] They point to a naturalistic fallacy in which the offline domain is considered as the primordial state, which in turn encourages normative judgment that gives primacy to the "real world" at the expense of digital interactions.

A group of scholars, including Floridi, have described this new hyperconnected reality as "Onlife", arguing that it no longer makes sense to dichotomize between the two domains because communication technologies have become environmental forces that affect self-conception, mutual interactions, as well as concepts of reality and interactions with it.[64] Rather than artifacts operating according to human instructions: "data are recorded, stored, computed and fed back in all forms of machines, applications, and devices in novel ways, creating endless opportunities for adaptive and personalized environments".[65] This has led to four major transformations: a blur between reality and virtuality; an unclear distinction between human, machine, and nature; a reversal between information scarcity and abundance; and a shift from the primacy of stand-alone things, properties, and binary relations to the primacy of interactions, processes, and networks.

We no longer simply "go online". This notion is a relic of the 1990s in which a user needed to make a delib-

erate decision to dial up a modem on a personal computer. Today, mobile data and devices mean that we are online almost all the time. The average person worldwide spends just under seven hours online per day, with 5.2 billion unique mobile phone users accessing the Internet for an average of four hours. Activities are split between messenger apps, social media, streaming videos, and games.[66] However, even when we are not actively online, we are not unplugged given the proliferation of push notifications, in which devices send notifications to users' home screens. This transcends the divide between purposeful and incidental exposure and has been shown to increase Internet usage.[67] Most people are either online or in a state of online readiness 24/7.

One consequence of this blurred information environment is that the distinction between public and private communications has transformed. Thorseth notes that the ubiquity of social media has changed the nature of "public space." Topics that were considered intimate (such as sexual relations or political affiliations) are now disclosed prominently on public platforms.[68] Concepts such as "public" and "private" should be now considered complementary categories, rather than mutually exclusive, which are challenged by communications technologies. The new hyperconnected world has affected our social relations; we used to have few friends with convivial relations who were mostly located near us, but now the social fabric has dramatically evolved, and people are now connected with up to (and beyond) thousands of "friends" or "followers" around the world.[69]

Another significant change is the level of information that is available to individuals within the information environment. Previously, information was considerably much more scarce than it is today and held by gate-keepers (editors of television, print media, etc.). It was also more difficult to access and disseminate than in the contemporary world, and because of the smaller economy of attention, individuals had a large internal capacity to receive it.[70] Today the opposite is true, there is an abundance of information, but we have little capacity to attend to it. Social media companies have attempted to exploit the economy of attention by designing platforms designed to retain users, which has resulted in volatile and piecemeal identities that lack empathy and capacity to read other persons' intentions. Thorseth argues that the information environment has led to wide access to information, but that we lack the capacity to incorporate diverging opinions.[71] She draws on Sunstein's concept of the *Daily Me*, in which individuals only have access to a narrow range of information that coheres to their existing worldview.[72]

This perspective has typically focused on broader sociopolitical issues rather than specifically on political violence. However, some have warned of the risks of this re-ontologized world. Jurgenson argues that it is a flammable space, referring to the Arab Spring and the Occupy Wall Street protests, which highlight the intersection between digital technologies and physical space. [73] He noted that protesters took photos and videos and were able to spread them quickly around the world to a greater audience. Rather than merely shouting in the wind, the content was met by an interested network, which in turn gave the protesters more motivation to continue. Thorseth's discussion of individuals' inability to incorporate diverging opinions briefly touches on the case of the Norwegian white supremacist terrorist attacker, Anders Behring Breivik's manifesto to demonstrate the vast quantity of information available but also a failure to incorporate the perspectives of his targeted out-groups. [74]

Re-Ontologizing Online Radicalization

Several scholars have pointed to a false dichotomy between online and offline radicalization. Gill and colleagues argue that their empirical investigation into terrorists' use of the Internet shows that "there is no easy offline versus online violent radicalization dichotomy to be drawn....Plotters regularly engage in activities in both domains." [75] These findings and sentiments are mirrored by Whittaker, whose research into the online behaviors of US-based Islamic State (IS) terrorists also found that their behaviors were spread over both domains, noting that the "melding of the online and offline environment lends further credence to the argument that it is a false dichotomy." [76] Using the same data set, Herath and Whittaker expanded on this by creating four "ideal type" pathways of terrorist engagement which describe different patterns of online

and offline behaviors. Rather than a simple dichotomy of "online" versus "offline" radicalization, their findings showed that each of the pathways exists on a spectrum.[77] These findings are supported by research conducted by Kenyon and colleagues, who used closed-source data on convicted UK terrorists. They found that although the use of the Internet was increasing, it was not replacing offline interactions—rather individuals tended to operate in both domains.[78]

Research conducted across eight countries by Hamid & Ariza found that of 439 terrorists, the majority (238) were radicalized "mostly offline", while 77 were "mostly online" and 8 were classified as "online asocial radicalization".[79] In their study of lone actor terrorists, Lindekilde, Malthaner and O'Connor highlight that behavioral patterns exist across both domains simultaneously, and as a result are mutually reinforcing. [80] Ducol offers a theoretical approach to radicalization based on Situational Action Theory in which he critiques existing theoretical discussions that assume there are two worlds, "virtual" and "real," that do not affect each other, suggesting instead that theory should conceptualize different "life spheres" in both domains (such as friends, family, social media, websites) that can become intertwined and lead to a cognitive monopoly which can radicalize.[81]

Each of these authors argues that there is a false dichotomy, but they still assume (in some cases implicitly by their coding system) that online behaviors can be meaningfully separated from offline. This section will push these arguments further by demonstrating that many of the behaviors that one might consider belonging to one domain cannot be easily demarcated. Rather than showing that terrorists tend to operate in both, it will, using the arguments laid out in the previous section, re-ontologize the debate and question the utility of considering this simplistic demarcation. To do this, this section will draw on existing empirical and theoretical research, as well as case study examples of terrorists for the purpose of exposition.

The largest existing contribution to this argument is made by Valentini, Lorusso and Stephan, who develop the Onlife thesis to radicalization. They argue that scholars in the field have conceptualized virtual spaces as distinct from the "real world"—which this article has demonstrated above. Rather, in contemporary extremism, such spaces are not clearly defined, and the two domains conflate in unprecedented ways: "radicalization processes evolve, and develop, by integrating elements that pertain to both." [82] They make this argument by discussing an online environmental dynamic—content-sharing algorithms—to demonstrate why scholars ought to rethink this dichotomy. These algorithms draw heavily on factors from both domains, such as online history, and tracked information such as location, recent purchases, and phone calls. Moreover, time spent away from social media platforms and unposted comments also affect how algorithms operate. [83] They also highlight the importance of portable devices, which help platforms to structure accurate information on users, even in the offline domain. They reconceptualize the notion of an "echo chamber"—featured in almost every online radicalization theory above—as an "echo system" which incorporates both domains in a constant and seamless feedback loop with each other. This is in keeping with previous research, which highlights the importance of offline homogenous groups as well as online ones. [84] [85]

Propaganda Engagement

The blurry intersection between online and offline extremist behavior is further exemplified by Baugut and Neumann's interviews with 44 convicted and former German and Austrian Islamists. Their participants consumed propaganda online, then discussed it with their peers and preachers face-to-face. The converse was also true; individuals would have face-to-face discussions at mosques in which peers would recommend content, which they would watch later online.[86] Moreover, participants watched online propaganda with their offline networks, sitting together and watching radical preachers on YouTube and discussing afterward. They were also drawn further into radicalization by the platform's recommendation system. They noted that in their sample, the two modes of communication were strongly intertwined, lending further weight to the notion that there is a false dichotomy.

Terrorist cells in the US have also held "viewing parties" in which they would congregate at co-ideologues' houses and watch radical content together. In a group of would-be travelers to IS in Minneapolis/St. Paul:

"the men would spend hours watching a YouTube channel called Enter the Truth...all slick Islamic State productions, focused on the suffering of Syrian children and the moral corruption of the West." [87] The group would also sit in a circle, swapping devices with each other to share and recommend propaganda. [88] The cell responsible for the attack in Garland (Texas), watched content together, expressing their pleasure while watching execution videos and being visibly excited after the Charlie Hebdo attack. [89] Other small cells displayed similar behaviors, including Jaelyn Young and Mohammed Daklalla [90], Munther Omar Saleh and Fareed Mumuni, [91] Mahmoud Elhasssan and Joseph Farrokh [92], and Sixto Ramiro Garcia and Asher Abid Khan. [93]

These case studies and the interview research by Baugut and Neumann help to demonstrate that engagement with terrorist propaganda is more than a unidirectional relationship in which the content can radicalize its audience like a hypodermic needle injection. Instead, there is a complex information environment that protrudes over both domains. Rather than audiences being passively radicalized by propaganda, content is a topic of conversation or an activity between like-minded friends. After watching IS's video *Healing the Believers' Chests* which depicts the immolation of Jordanian pilot Muath Safi Yousef al-Kasasbeh, several terrorists discussed it and drew justifications from IS propaganda. Arafat Nagi told an unnamed co-ideologue "do to them as they do to you...they drop bombs and burn people," [94] while Terrance McNeil took to Facebook and said "This is what happens when you bomb women and children and get caught. Alhumdullilah I was worried for a while they might let that murderer go." [95] Many others shared the video with their followers, such as Islam Said Natsheh, [96] David Wright, [97] or Khalil Abu Rayyan, [98] while others expressed explicit support amongst their peers. [99] [100] [101] Some of these instances took place online, others took place offline, but they both demonstrate that there is a complex information environment. Rather than mere consumption of propaganda, these cases demonstrate active dialectical engagement.

Terrorists as Prosumers

Online radicalization theories tend to focus heavily on the consumption of radical propaganda. Far less attention is paid to them as "prosumers," who are at the same time *producers* and *consumers* of violent extremist materials.[102] This is also an activity that straddles both domains; terrorists regularly take and upload photographs of themselves for their audience on social media. Jalil Aziz donned military gear, an AR-15, a knife, fingerless gloves, and a balaclava and uploaded it to his contacts on Twitter,[103] while Gregory Lepsky uploaded photos to Facebook holding a semi-automatic rifle and a pistol with the comment "look at these sick photos of me yooo."[104] Others adopted symbols of IS in their uploaded content—e.g., the tawheed gesture, such as Harlem Suarez[105]—or posed with the group's black standard flag.[106][107]

Terrorists also create and share videos for their audiences; Haris Qamar visited several tourist sites around Washington DC with a confidential FBI source to create a video for IS which encouraged lone actor attacks. As they drove past the Pentagon, Qamar shouted "bye bye DC, stupid ass kufar, kill 'em all."[108] Zakaryia Abdin uploaded a video to social media of himself shooting an AK-47 at a local gun range in South Carolina. [109] Other terrorists planned to make videos if their plots were successful, such as Munir Abdulkader and John T. Booker, whose respective plots involved abducting military officers or veterans and executing them on camera.[110][111] Each of these activities was designed to be uploaded and shared on the Internet, yet they fundamentally relied on actors' non-virtual activity in risky or noteworthy places to create the content.

These outward expressions of ideology on public social media platforms seem to be counterintuitive. Research has demonstrated that terrorists who act online are less likely to be successful than those who do not, possibly because they announce their intentions, allowing law enforcement to open investigations against them.[112][113] Understanding these behaviors within the re-ontologized information environment helps to offer a clearer picture. As discussed above, the traditional distinction between public and private has become blurry and individuals negotiate and manage identity for their perceived audiences.[114][115][116] This type of reputation management has been called "staged authenticity"[117] in which individuals create an ultra-pious and zealous jihadist avatar for their audience.[118] These activities are not merely confined to

the online domain; individuals broadcast to their contacts who are often made up of offline networks; chose to take photos in hostile physical spaces; or with terrorist symbols because, as argued above, the infosphere trains users to look for the perfect photo, check-in, or status update in physical spaces.[119]

Understanding Radicalization Environments

If the online and offline domains are ontologically inseparable, then "online radicalization" becomes a redundant concept. As Gill and colleagues argue, we should not fixate on a simple location of radicalization but instead need to "understand the drives, needs, and forms of behavior that led to the radicalization and attack planning and why offenders chose that environment rather than purely looking at the affordances the environment produced."[120] The frame of a binary dichotomy tends to result in the Internet being given radicalizing agency, which overlooks other important factors such as vulnerabilities, stressors, or how online and offline factors combine. For example, in research conducted by Reynolds and Hafez, they tested three hypotheses to best explain the recruitment of German foreign fighters, including ones that emphasise the importance of online radicalization and offline networks.[121] However, as argued above, we must understand that being situated in (and around) radical communities affects propensities to engage online. Offline proximity is an important factor in determining how social media content-sharing algorithms prioritize interactions.[122] Users are more likely to be shown or recommended materials if they come from an individual that is part of their local network.

Therefore, the question should not be "do terrorists radicalize online?" but instead "what role do information environments play in radicalization?" This reframing forgoes an online/offline dichotomy, which is neither empirically nor ontologically defensible. Individuals' environments are made up of interactions that span across both domains in ways which are not easy to separate. One existing framework that is well suited to doing this is Situational Action Theory (SAT) which assesses how an individual's propensity to radicalization (such as their vulnerabilities or stressors) interacts with their environment to affect their norm-based motivations. In other words, why do some individuals see terrorism as an acceptable (and often the *only* acceptable) form of action?[123] SAT does not assume propaganda will influence its audience, nor does it preclude it, but instead attempts to understand why it may resonate with some, but not others, based on the individual and their environment. The theory highlights the importance of socialization within certain settings, regardless of whether they are offline or online.[124] Taking the example of the "viewing parties" discussed above, it is not relevant whether this is an example of online radicalization or not, it merely attempts to understand how environments affect norm-based motivations.

One might reasonably argue that there are practical applications to an online/offline dichotomy, particularly when considering behaviors (such as assessing whether someone has radicalized entirely online or offline) or the benefits and challenges of counter-extremism interventions, such as counter-messaging or signposting toward services. However, it is argued here that there is greater utility in *more* specificity rather than relying on a simplistic dichotomy. Taking a more holistic view also offers an opportunity to attempt to understand the environmental differences between platforms and how they may affect radicalization. Rather than grouping a range of distinct behaviors as "online" (such as posting on Twitter; watching videos on YouTube; communicating visually on Skype; or interacting anonymously on Telegram), these platforms offer entirely different user experiences and have a different set of rules and realities. For example, when comparing political discussions on Facebook and YouTube, Halpern and Gibbs found differences in user deliberation. The former's interconnectedness and lack of anonymity expands the flow of information and allows for symmetrical discussion, while the latter, which is more anonymous and deindividuated, results in less polite discourse. [125] Rather than saying "this terrorist acted online," or "this is an example of an online intervention," there is greater utility in speaking specifically about the affordance of the platform in question.

Conway identified this as a major knowledge gap, suggesting that research should compare the different functionalities of platforms and how extremists exploit them.[126] Presently, we do not know how Twitter users' experience of 280-character posts, public audiences, and algorithmically sorted timelines com-

pares with Telegram's invite-only groups, self-destruct messages, and relative lack of content moderation. Therefore, when groups like IS migrated from the former to the latter,[127] we have little idea of how each platform's environment affected radicalization. If there is an "online disinhibition" effect that could exacerbate radicalization,[128][129] we do not know if platforms do so uniformly. Moreover, research has suggested that platforms' recommendation systems are not uniform when it comes to promoting extremist content,[130] which suggests environmental differences when it comes to algorithmic amplification. Rather than grouping all platforms as "online", it is more analytically useful to understand these user experiences in relation to each other as part of a wider environment. It is possible that there are more differences between some types of online communication than between online and face-to-face communication.

Conclusion

This article has sought to demonstrate that online radicalization is a redundant concept. Academic theories have hypothesized dynamics to explain that acting on the Internet may exacerbate radicalization. The purpose of this article was not to rebut these dynamics; given the weight of evidence, concepts such as disinhibition, echo chambers, or deindividuation could indeed play an important role. Instead, the argument is that it is not analytically useful to dichotomize between an online and offline domain. Not only has existing research shown that terrorist behaviors tend to spill across both, but existing critiques demonstrate that it is not an ontologically defensible position. Many behaviors that would be considered evidence of online radicalization—such as streaming propaganda; posting pictures on Facebook; or being recommended content on YouTube—cannot be easily attributed to a single domain. Rather, terrorists engage in an ongoing socialization process within their environment that often protrudes this simple dichotomy. As noted above, the examples offered were intended merely as exposition and a jumping-off point to explain this critique. Future research should analyze and begin to theorize this ontological framework in a more rigorous way. In particular, it will be fruitful to compare different ideologies who may have different norms when it comes to communications—for example, to assess whether "very online" communities such as incels or QAnon interweave the two domains in a comparable manner.

It seems advisable to avoid theories which attempt to explain how *online* radicalization works, instead focusing on more holistic theories that account for individuals' predispositions, stressors, their engagement with their environment, and systemic level factors. This article proposes that theories such as SAT offer a clearer road to understanding the role of communication technologies in their wider context, rather than focusing merely on the technologies themselves. While policy makers may opt for monocausal explanations of radicalization that fixate on a specific location, holistic theoretical understandings will be a key tool in explaining the complexity of radicalization to decision makers.

About the Author: Joe Whittaker is a lecturer in cyber threats in the Department of Criminology, Sociology, and Social Policy at Swansea University. He completed his joint PhD at Swansea University and Leiden University's Institute of Security and Global Affairs on the topic of online radicalization. He also researches extremism in the context of recommendation algorithms, video games, and counter-messaging. You can contact him via email (<u>i.j.whittaker@Swansea.ac.uk</u>) or follow him on Twitter (@CTProject_JW).

Notes

- [1] HM Government. (2019): "Online Harms White Paper," London: The Stationery Office. URL: https://assets.publishing.ser-vice.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/793360/Online_Harms_White_Paper.pdf.
- [2] Wiktorowicz, Q. (2013): "Working to Counter Online Radicalization to Violence in the United States," White House Blog, URL: https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2013/02/05/working-counter-online-radicalization-violence-united-states.
- [3] Federal Bureau of Investigation. (n.d.): "What We Investigate Terrorism." URL: https://www.fbi.gov/investigate/terrorism.

- [4] Europol. (2018): "TE SAT: European Union Terrorism Situation and Trend Report," The Hague.
- [5] New York Times Editorial Board. (2018): "The New Radicalization of the Internet," *New York Times*, November 24. URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2018/11/24/opinion/sunday/facebook-twitter-terrorism-extremism.html.
- [6] Whittaker, J. (2021): "The Online Behaviors of Islamic State Terrorists in the United States," *Criminology and Public Policy*, 20, pp. 177–203.
- [7] Wikström, P. O. H. and Bouhana, N. (2017): "Analyzing Radicalization and Terrorism: A Situational Action Theory"; in: LaFree, G. and Freilich, J. D. (Eds.) *The Handbook of the Criminology of Terrorism*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, pp. 175–186.
- [8] Borum, R. (2011): "Rethinking Radicalization," *Journal of Strategic Security*, 4(4), pp. 1–6. URL: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/jss/vol4/iss4/1/.
- [9] Horgan, J. (2008): "From Profiles to Pathways and Roots to Routes: Perspectives from Psychology on Radicalization into Terrorism," *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 618(1), pp. 80–94.
- [10] Schuurman, B. and Taylor, M. (2018): "Reconsidering Radicalization: Fanaticism and the Link Between Ideas and Violence," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 12(1), pp. 3–22.
- [11] Borum, R. (2011): "Rethinking Radicalization," p. 2.
- [12] Sageman, M. (2008): Leaderless Jihad: Terror Networks in the Twenty-First Century. Philadelphia: PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- [13] Sageman, M. (2008): "The Next Generation of Terror," Foreign Policy, (March/April), pp. 36-42.
- [14] Neumann, P. (2013): "Options and Strategies for Countering Online Radicalization in the United States," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 36(6), pp. 431–459.
- [15] Pyszczynski, T. et al. (2006): "Mortality Salience, Martyrdom, and Military Might: The Great Satan Versus the Axis of Evil," Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 32(4), pp. 525–537.
- [16] Sageman, M. (2008): Leaderless Jihad, op. cit.
- [17] Sutherland, E. H. (1947): Principles of Criminology, 4th ed. Chicago: Lippincott.
- [18] Suler, J. (2004): "The Online Disinhibition effect," *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 7(3), pp. 321–326.
- [19] Brachman, J. M. and Levine, A. N. (2011): "You Too Can Be Awlaki," The Fletcher Forum of World Affairs, 35(1), pp. 25-46.
- [20] Ducol, B. et al. (2016): "Assessment of the State of Knowledge: Connections Between Research on the Social Psychology of the Internet and Violent Extremism," Canadian Network for Research on Terrorism, Security and Society, (16).
- [21] Spears, R. et al. (2002): "Computer-Mediated Communication as a Channel for Social Resistance: The Strategic Side of SIDE," *Small Group Research*, 33; pp. 555–574.
- [22] Harris, K., Gringart, E. and Deirdre, D. (2014): "Understanding the Role of Social Groups in Radicalisation," 7th Australian Security and Intelligence Conference, Edith Cowan University, Perth, Western Australia, 1–3 December.
- [23] Slater, D. (2002): "Social Relationships and Identity Online and Offline"; in: Lievrouw, L. and Livingstone, S. *Handbook of New Media: Social Shaping and Consequences of ICTs.* London: Sage, pp. 553–546.
- [24] McKenna, K. Y. and Bargh, J. A. (1998): "Coming Out in the Age of the Internet: Identity "Demarginalization" Through Virtual Group Participation," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75(3), pp. 681–694.
- [25] Walther, J. B. (1996): "Computer-Mediated Communication: Impersonal, Interpersonal, and Hyper-personal Interaction," *Communication Research*, 23(1), pp. 3–43.
- [26] Koehler, D. (2014): "The Radical Online: Individual Radicalization Processes and the Role of the Internet," *Journal for Deradicalization*, (1), pp. 116–134.
- [27] Saifudeen, O. A. (2014): "The Cyber Extremism Orbital Pathways Model," RSIS Working Paper.
- [28] Neo, L. S. (2016): "An Internet-Mediated Pathway for Online Radicalisation: RECRO"; in: Khader, M. (Ed.) *Combating Violent Extremism and Radicalization in the Digital Era*. Hershey, PA: Information Science Reference, pp. 197–224.
- [29] Bastug, M. F., Douai, A. and Akca, D. (2018): "Exploring the 'Demand Side' of Online Radicalization: Evidence from the Canadian Context," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*. DOI: 10.1080/1057610X.2018.1494409.

- [30] Weimann, G. and Von Knop, K. (2008): "Applying the Notion of Noise to Countering Online Terrorism," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 31, pp. 883–902.
- [31] Torok, R. (2013): "Developing an Explanatory Model for the Process of Online Radicalisation and Terrorism," *Security Informatics*, 2(6), pp. 1–10.
- [32] Hafez, M. M. and Mullins, C. (2015): "The Radicalization Puzzle: A Theoretical Synthesis of Empirical Approaches to Homegrown Extremism," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 38(11), pp. 958–975.
- [33] Borum, R. (2017): "The Etiology of Radicalization"; in: LaFree, G. and Freilich, J. D. (Eds.) *The Handbook of the Criminology of Terrorism*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, pp. 17–32.
- [34] Jensen, M., Atwell Seate, A. and James, P. (2020): "Radicalization to Violence: A Pathway Approach to Studying Extremism," *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 32(5), pp. 1067–1090.
- [35] Bastug, M. F., Douai, A. and Akca, D. (2018): "Exploring the 'Demand Side' of Online Radicalization," op. cit.
- [36] Jensen, M., Atwell Seate, A. and James, P. (2020): "Radicalization to Violence," op. cit.
- [37] Weimann, G. and Von Knop, K. (2008): "Applying the Notion of Noise to Countering Online Terrorism," op. cit.
- [38] Torok, R. (2013): "Developing an explanatory model for the process of online radicalisation and terrorism," op. cit.
- [39] Saifudeen, O. A. (2014): "The Cyber Extremism Orbital Pathways Model," op. cit.
- [40] Neo, L. S. (2016): "An Internet-Mediated Pathway for Online Radicalisation: RECRO," op. cit.
- [41] Bastug, M. F., Douai, A. and Akca, D. (2018): "Exploring the 'Demand Side' of Online Radicalization," op. cit.
- [42] Koehler, D. (2014): "The Radical Online," op. cit.
- [43] Neumann, P. (2013): "Options and Strategies for Countering Online Radicalization in the United States," op. cit.
- [44] Ducol, B. et al. (2016): "Assessment of the State of Knowledge," op. cit.
- [45] Reeve, Z. (2019): "Engaging with Online Extremist Material: Experimental Evidence," *Terrorism and Political Violence*, pp. 1–34.
- [46] Braddock, K., Schumann, S., Corner, E. and Gill, P. (2022): "The Moderating Effects of 'Dark' Personality Traits and Message Vividness on the Persuasiveness of Terrorist Narrative Propaganda," *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13.
- [47] Braddock, K., Hughes, B., Goldberg, B. and Miller-Idris, C. (2022): "Engagement in Subversive Online Activity Predicts Susceptibility to Persuasion by Far-right Extremist Propaganda," *New Media & Society*.
- [48] Rieger, D., Frischlich, L. and Bente, G. (2013): *Propaganda 2.0: Psychological Effects of Right-Wing and Islamic Extremist Internet Videos*. Köln: Wolters Kluwer.
- [49] Frischlich, L. et al. (2015): "Dying the Right Way? Interest in and Perceived Persuasiveness of Parochial Extremist Propaganda Increases after Mortality Salience," Frontiers in Psychology, 6(August), pp. 1–11.
- [50] Braddock, K. (2022): "Vaccinating Against Hate: Using Attitudinal Inoculation to Confer Resistance to Persuasion by Extremist Propaganda," *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 34(2), pp. 240–262.
- [51] Sageman, M. (2014): "The Stagnation in Terrorism Research," Terrorism and Political Violence, 26(4), pp. 565-580.
- [52] Archetti, C. (2015): "Terrorism, Communication and New Media: Explaining Radicalization in the Digital Age," *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 9(1), pp. 49–59.
- [53] Aly, A. (2017): "Brothers, Believers, Brave Mujahideen: Focusing Attention on the Audience of Violent Jihadist Preachers," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 40(1), pp. 62–76. DOI: 10.1080/1057610X.2016.1157407.
- [54] Weimann, G. and Von Knop, K. (2008): "Applying the Notion of Noise to Countering Online Terrorism," op. cit.
- [55] Neumann, P. (2013): "Options and Strategies for Countering Online Radicalization in the United States," op. cit.
- [56] Torok, R. (2013): "Developing an Explanatory Model for the Process of Online Radicalisation and Terrorism," op. cit.
- [57] Koehler, D. (2014): "The Radical Online," op. cit.
- [58] Neo, L. S. (2016): "An Internet-Mediated Pathway for Online Radicalisation: RECRO," op. cit.

- [59] Sageman, M. (2008): Leaderless Jihad, op. cit.
- [60] Bastug, M. F., Douai, A. and Akca, D. (2018): "Exploring the 'Demand Side' of Online Radicalization," op. cit.
- [61] Floridi, L. (2007): "A look into the future impact of ICT on our lives," Information Society, 23(1), pp. 59-64.
- [62] Jurgenson, N. (2012): "When Atoms Meet Bits: Social Media, the Mobile Web and Augmented Revolution," *Future Internet*, 4(1), pp. 83–91.
- [63] Rey, P. J. and Boesel, W. E. (2014): "The Web, Digital Prostheses, and Augmented Subjectivity," *Routledge Handbook of Science, Technology, and Society* (January 2014), pp. 173–188.
- [64] Floridi, L. (2015): "Introduction"; in: Floridi, L. [Ed.] *The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyperconnected Era*, London: SpringerOpen, pp. 1–7.
- [65] Floridi, L. et al. (2015): "The Onlife Manifesto"; in: Floridi, L.[Ed.] *The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyperconnected Era*, London: SpringerOpen, p. 10.
- [66] Kemp, S. (2021): "Digital 2021: Global Overview Report," *DataPortal*, 27 January. URL: https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2021-global-overview-report.
- [67] Stroud, N. J., Peacock, C. and Curry, A. L. (2020): "The Effects of Mobile Push Notifications on News Consumption and Learning," *Digital Journalism*, Vol. 8(1), pp. 32–48
- [68] Thorseth, M. (2015): "Commentary of the Manifesto"; in: Floridi, L.[Ed.] *The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyper-connected Era*, London: SpringerOpen, pp. 37–40.
- [69] Ganascia, J. (2015): "Views and Examples on Hyper-Connectivity"; in: Floridi, L.[Ed.] *The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyperconnected Era*, London: SpringerOpen, pp. 65–88.
- [70] Broadbent, S. & Lobet-Maris, C. (2015): "Towards a Grey Ecology"; in: Floridi, L.[Ed.] *The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyperconnected Era*, London: SpringerOpen, pp. 111–124
- [71] Thorseth, M. (2015): "On Tolerance and Fictitious Publics"; in: Floridi, L.[Ed.] *The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyperconnected Era*, London: SpringerOpen, pp. 245–260.
- [72] Sunstein, C. R. (2001): Republic.com. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- [73] Jurgenson, N. (2012): "When Atoms Meet Bits," op. cit.
- [74] Thorseth, M. (2015): "On Tolerance and Fictitious Publics," op. cit.
- [75] Gill, P. et al. (2017): "Terrorist Use of the Internet by the Numbers: Quantifying Behaviors, Patterns, and Processes," *Criminology and Public Policy*, 16(1), p. 114.
- [76] Whittaker, J. (2021): "The Online Behaviors of Islamic State Terrorists in the United States," op. cit. p. 195.
- [77] Herath, C. and Whittaker, J. (2021): "Online Radicalisation: Moving beyond a Simple Dichotomy," *Terrorism and Political Violence*.
- [78] Kenyon, J., Bender J. and Baker-Beall, C. (2022): "Understanding the Role of the Internet in the Process of Radicalisation: An Analysis of Convicted Extremists in England and Wales," *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism*.
- [79] Hamid, N. and Ariza, C. (2022): "Offline Versus Online Radicalisation: Which is the Bigger Threat?" *Global Network on Extremism & Technology*.
- [80] Lindekilde, L., Malthaner, S. and O'Connor, F. (2019): "Peripheral and Embedded: Relational Patterns of Lone-Actor Terrorist Radicalization," *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward Terrorism and Genocide*, 12(1), pp. 20–41.
- [81] Ducol, B. (2015): "A Radical Sociability: In Defense of an Online/Offline Multidimensional Approach to Radicalization"; in: Bouchard, M. (ed.) *Social Networks, Terrorism, and Counter-Terrorism: Radical and Connected.* London: Routledge, pp. 82–104.
- [82] Valentini, D., Lorusso, A. M. and Stephan, A. (2020): "Onlife Extremism: Dynamic Integration of Digital and Physical Spaces in Radicalization," *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(March), p. 12.
- [83] Cohen, J. N. (2018): "Exploring Echo-Systems: How Algorithms Shape Immersive Media Environments," *Journal of Media Literacy Education*. Vol. 10, pp. 139–151.
- [84] Gentzkow, M. and Shapiro, J. M. (2011): "Ideological Segregation Online and Offline," Quarterly Journal of Economics,

- 126(4), pp. 1799-1839.
- [85] Pattie, C. and Johnston, R. (2016): "Talking With One Voice? Conversation Networks and Political Polarisation," *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 18(2), pp. 482–497.
- [86] Baugut, P. and Neumann, K. (2020): "Online Propaganda Use During Islamist Radicalization," *Information Communication and Society*, 23(11), pp. 1570–1592.
- [87] Koerner, B. I. (2017): "Can You Turn a Terrorist Back into a Citizen?" *Wired*, 24 January. URL: https://www.wired.com/2017/01/can-you-turn-terrorist-back-into-citizen/.
- [88] Temple-Raston, D. (2015): "He Wanted Jihad. He Got Foucault," *New York Magazine*, 27 November. URL: http://nymag.com/intelligencer/2017/11/abdullahiyusuf-isis-syria.html?gtm=bottom.
- [89] USA v. Abdul Malik Abdul Kareem, Government's Sentencing Memorandum, Case: 2:15- cr-00707-SRB, United States District Court for the District of Arizona, 2016.
- [90] Green, E. (2017): "How Two Mississippi College Students Fell in Love and Decided to Join a Terrorist Group," *The Atlantic*, 1 May. URL: https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2017/05/mississippi-youngdakhlalla/524751/.
- [91] USA v. Munther Omar Saleh and Fareed Mumuni, Government's Sentencing Memorandum, Case: 1:15-cr00393-MKB, United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, 2018.
- [92] USA v. Mahmoud Amin Mohamed Elhassan, Government's Sentencing Memorandum, Case: 1:16-cr-0064- AJT, 2017.
- [93] Goldman, A. (2015): "An American Family Saved Their Son from Joining the Islamic State. Now He Might Go to Prison," *Washington Post*, 6 September.
- [94] USA v. Arafat: M. Nagi, Criminal Complaint, Case 1:15-cr-00148, United States District Court for the Western District of New York, 2015.
- [95] USA v. Terrence Joseph McNeil, Affidavit, Case: 5:15-mj-01176-KBB, United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, 2015.
- [96] USA v. Islam Said Natsheh, Government's Sentencing Memorandum, Case: 3:16-cr-00166-RS, United States District Court for the Northern District of California, 2016.
- [97] Hughes, S. Meleagrou-Hitchens, A. and Clifford, B. (2018): "A New American Leader Rises in ISIS," *The Atlantic*, 13 January. URL: https://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2018/01/isis-americahoxha/550508/.
- [98] USA v. Khalil Abu Rayyan, Criminal Complaint, Case: 2:16-mj-30039-DUTY, United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan, 2016.
- [99] *USA v. Alaa Saadeh*, Criminal Complaint, [Unknown case #], United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, 2015. URL: https://extremism.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2191/f/Saadeh%2C%20A.%20Criminal%20Complaint.pdf.
- [100] USA v. Laith Waleed Alebbini, Motion to Revoke Detention Order, United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio, Case: 317-cr-00071-WHR, 2017.
- [101] USA v. Ahmed Mohammed el Gammel, Criminal Complaint, Case: 1:15-cr-00588-ER, United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, 2015.
- [102] Conway, M. (2017): "Determining the Role of the Internet in Violent Extremism and Terrorism: Six Suggestions for Progressing Research," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 40(1), pp. 77–98.
- [103] *USA v. Jalil ibn Ameer Aziz*, Government's Sentencing Memorandum, Case: 1:15-cr-00309-CCC, United States District Court for the Middle District of Pennsylvania, 2017.
- [104] USA v. Gregory Lepsky, Criminal Complaint, Case: 3:18-cr-00114, United States District Court, District of New Jersey, 2017.
- [105] USA v. Harlem Suarez, Government's Sentencing Memorandum, Case: 4:15-cr-10009-JEM, United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, 2017.
- [106] USA v. Sajmir Alimehmeti, Criminal Complaint, Case: 1:16-cr-00398, United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, 2016.
- [107] USA v. Joseph Jones and Edward Schimenti, Criminal Complaint, Case: 1:17-cr-00236, United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, 2017.

- [108] USA v. Haris Qamar, Statement of Facts, Case: 1:16-cr-00227-LMB, United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, 2016, p. 10.
- [109] USA v. Zakaryia Abdin, Criminal Complaint, Case: 2:17-mj-00081-MCRI, United States District Court for the District of South Carolina, 2017.
- [110] USA v. Munir Abdulkader, Sentencing Proceedings, Case: 1:16-CR-019, United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio, Western Division, 2016.
- [111] USA v. John T. Booker Jr. Criminal Complaint, Case: 5:15-mj-05039-KGS, United States District Court for the District of Kansas, Topeka Docket, 2015.
- [112] Jensen, M. et al. (2018); "The Use of Social Media by United States Extremists," National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism. URL: https://www.start.umd.edu/publication/use-social-media-united-states-extremists.
- [113] Whittaker, J. (2021): "The Online Behaviors of Islamic State Terrorists in the United States," op. cit.
- [114] Thorseth, M. (2015): "Commentary of the Manifesto," op. cit.
- [115] Ess, C. (2015): "The Onlife Manifesto: Philosophical Backgrounds, Media Usages, and the Futures of Democracy and Equality"; in: Floridi, L.[Ed.] *The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyperconnected Era*, London: SpringerOpen, pp. 89–110.
- [116] Hildebrandt, M. (2015): "Dualism is Dead. Long Live Plurality (Instead of Duality)"; in: Floridi, L.[Ed.] *The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyperconnected Era*, London: SpringerOpen, pp. 27–30.
- [117] Uimonen, P. (2013): "Visual identity in Facebook," *Visual Studies*, 28(2), pp. 122–135. DOI: 10.1080/1472586X.2013.801634.
- [118] Brachman, J. M. and Levine, A. N. (2011): "You Too Can Be Awlaki," op. cit.
- [119] Jurgenson, N. (2012): "When Atoms Meet Bits," op. cit.
- [120] Gill, P. et al. (2017): "Terrorist Use of the Internet by the Numbers," op. cit. p. 114.
- [121] Reynolds, S. C. and Hafez, M. M. (2019): "Social Network Analysis of German Foreign Fighters in Syria and Iraq," *Terrorism and Political Violence*, Vol. 31 (4), pp. 661–686.
- [122] Valentini, D., Lorusso, A. M. and Stephan, A. (2020): "Onlife Extremism," op. cit.
- [123] Wikström, P. O. H. and Bouhana, N. (2017): "Analyzing Radicalization and Terrorism," op. cit.
- [124] Bouhana, N. (2019): "The Moral Ecology of Extremism: A Systemic Perspective," *Commission for Countering Extremism*. URL: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-moral-ecology-of-extremism-a-systemic-perspective.
- [125] Halpern, D. and Gibbs, J. (2013): "Social Media as a Catalyst for Online Deliberation? Exploring the Affordances of Face-
- book and YouTube for Political Expression," *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(3), pp. 1159–1168.

 [126] Conway, M. (2017): "Determining the Role of the Internet in Violent Extremism and Terrorism," op. cit.
- [127] Conway, M. (2016): "Violent Extremism and Terrorism Online in 2016: The Year in Review," *Vox Pol.* URL: https://www.voxpol.eu/download/vox-pol_publication/Year-In-Review-WEB.pdf
- [128] Suler, J. (2004): "The Online Disinhibition Effect," CyberPsychology & Behavior, 7(3), pp. 321–326
- [129] Neumann, P. (2013): "Options and Strategies for Countering Online Radicalization in the United States," op. cit.
- [130] Whittaker, J. et al. (2021): "Recommender Systems and the Amplification of Extremist Content," *Internet Policy Review*, 10(2).

Terrorism Experts' Predictions Regarding the Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Activities of Violent Non-State Actors

by Yannick Veilleux-Lepage, Tommy van Steen, and Maria-Elena Kisyova

Abstract

This article seeks to systematically collate the assessments and predictions of terrorism experts through a survey of 142 terrorism experts' evaluations. In light of the recent emergence of a growing number of policy and peer-reviewed publications dealing with the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the activities of violent non-state actors—whether in terms of propaganda, radicalization, violent action, or recruitment and mobilization—this article seeks to evaluate the degree of consensus within the field of terrorism studies on these effects. Because terrorism experts play an important role in the formulation of national security decisions and the shaping of public debates, and their analyses of current and future threats frequently influence policy considerations, this study provides insight into the prevalent attitudes among terrorism experts in the midst of the pandemic. This is important as these prevailing attitudes may shape future research in the field of terrorism studies and subsequently impact governmental policies.

Keywords: COVID-19, Pandemic, prediction, terrorism experts.

Introduction

As the world continues to grapple with the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, it is abundantly clear that this crisis will have long-lasting and multifaceted consequences. Following the declaration of a global pandemic in mid-March 2020,[1] and as governments around the world adopted various measures to reduce COVID-19 transmission in their communities, scholars and pundits alike began to contemplate how this unprecedented public health crisis would impact their respective fields of expertise.[2]

Within the field of terrorism studies, a growing number of policy and peer-reviewed publications—along with countless webinars, online symposia, conferences, and discussions on social media—soon emerged. These publications and events revealed perspectives and assumptions regarding the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the activities of violent non-state actors, whether in terms of propaganda, radicalization, violent action, or recruitment and mobilization. Some scholars suggested that extremists may seek to capitalize on the crisis to boost recruitment and mobilization,[3] while others warned about the possibility that COVID-19 and similar biological agents could be weaponized.[4] Experts also described how both far-right extremists and jihadists had taken or would seek to take advantage of lockdown measures and the corresponding increased use of the Internet in order to promote their ideologies.[5] Also postulated was that these actors might employ the COVID-19 pandemic as part of accelerationist and apocalyptic narratives to create a new ideational background for their ongoing ideological struggles.[6] Furthermore, scholars warned of extremist groups utilizing the pandemic to incite violence against ideological enemies.[7] In addition to the existing security concerns posed by far-right extremists and jihadists in North America and Europe, scholars have warned that the reallocation of resources to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic may impede international cooperation against terrorist groups as well as reducing military presence in conflict zones. This by-product of the pandemic, scholars argue, may lead to the establishment of new 'safe havens' in which terrorists can plan and direct attacks against the West with impunity.[8] Others, however, have warned against exaggerating the impact of COVID-19 on violent non-state actors' abilities and motivations. [9]

Considering these wide-ranging debates, and the increased scholarly attention upon the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the activities of violent non-state actors, this study has a dual aim: to systematical-

ly collate the assessments and predictions of terrorism experts, and to measure the degree to which there is consensus within the field of terrorism studies. In order to achieve this aim, we conducted a survey of 142 terrorism experts. A summary of the results of this survey is as follows:

- Far-right terror in Europe and North America and the proliferation of far-right propaganda is—at this time—generally deemed to pose a bigger threat than Islamist extremism;
- Violent non-state actors in the Middle East and North Africa (henceforth MENA) and Sahel region are generally seen as having leveraged the crisis through pro-social activities rather than violence;
- The threat of bioweapons continues to be deemed rather low compared to conventional attacks, despite the increased scholarly attention paid to the subject.

Terrorism experts play an important role in the formulation of national security decisions and the shaping of public debates, and their analyses of current and future threats are frequently incorporated into policy considerations.[10] As such, this study seeks to capture prevalent attitudes among terrorism experts in the midst of the pandemic, given that these might not only shape future research within the field of terrorism studies, but also influence governmental policies.

The approach adopted in this study builds on similar work on knowledge production in the aftermath of catalytic changes. For example, in the aftermath of the September 11 (henceforth 9/11) attacks, Czwarno sought to identify the prevalent postulates in pre-9/11 terrorism literature in order to better understand why the academic community failed to warn policy-makers about the possibility of an event on the scale of the attacks.[11] Czwarno points toward ontological, methodological, and conceptual problems, as well as a skewed focus on potential threats posed by China's economic and military rise, and suggests that these created a gap in knowledge about jihadist terrorist groups like al-Qaeda. Similarly, Schuurman[12] and Phillips[13] have argued that terrorism scholarship post-9/11 was largely characterized by a new singular focus on jihadist terrorism, which in turn de-emphasized the threat posed by far-right extremism and terrorism.

Unlike the aforementioned studies, which attempted to identify influential postulates retrospectively, in this study we seek to capture a contemporary snapshot of how the field of terrorism studies has responded to the current public health crisis. Our hope is that this survey will serve as a sort of 'intellectual time capsule' that will capture prevalent assumptions, expectations, predictions and assessments during this public health crisis, which in turn can be used in subsequent studies to trace the evolution of academic thought, research, and public policy concerning terrorism and non-state violence.

COVID-19 and Violent Non-State Actors

A survey of the growing literature on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic reveals the emergence of important debates within the academic community as to how the current pandemic would impact the behavior of violent non-state actors. Broadly speaking, four—at times overlapping—prevailing postulates can be distilled from the published literature; these four postulates in turn serve as the basis for our survey. These postulates focus on both short-term and long-term impacts, with short-term impact mostly occurring during the course of the COVID-19 pandemic and long-term impact emerging in the aftermath of the pandemic. These postulates appear within the literature—often without significant attention given to counter-arguments—as commonly held beliefs amongst scholars writing about the impact of the pandemic on terrorism, which in itself is important. Our study sought to test to what degree these beliefs were in fact commonly held amongst terrorism scholars at large.

Postulate 1: In the short term, COVID-19 pandemic mitigation/containment measures have restricted the activities of violent non-state actors.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, governments worldwide have adopted various—and at times, highly restrictive and intrusive—non-pharmaceutical interventions to reduce transmission of the disease. These

ISSN 2334-3745 42 August 2022

range from social distancing measures, school closures, and bans on public events, to the use of security services and technologies to assist in contact tracing.[14] As these non-pharmaceutical interventions were introduced, several scholars suggested that these measures would have the unintended effect of constraining the activities of violent non-state actors.[15]

In the short term, some measures such as social distancing and the increased presence of law enforcement were posited as possibly reducing the likelihood of violent non-state actors being able to successfully carry out mass casualty attacks (such as bombing or vehicle ramming attacks) within crowded and public spaces. [16] Similarly, as a result of reductions in cross-border traffic and the introduction of tighter border controls between states, violent non-state actors would ostensibly face even more difficulties and scrutiny when traveling across international boundaries. [17] Experts have also pointed to the application of domestic terrorism and criminal offenses to sanction individuals found to be intentionally spreading the virus or threatening to do so, as a deterrent measure. [18] While some of these constraints might have a limited impact in dissuading those intent on perpetrating small-scale attacks, [19] the notion that measures to contain the pandemic have a dual effect—both curbing the spread of the disease and reducing the likelihood of an attack by violent non-state actors—is widespread in the literature surveyed.

Alongside more general statements assessing the overall impact on the activity of violent non-state actors, the literature also deals with the specific impact of the pandemic on the ability of these actors to conduct attacks. In this context, there was a tendency to focus on discrete case studies, concentrating on a particular group, region, type, and time of attack.[20] With respect to such studies, several intersecting trends emerge. Considering security risks arising in North America and Europe, experts caution that far-right and far-left extremists, single-issue extremists (anti-vaxxers, racially motivated groups, anti-globalization groups, etc.), and lone actors encouraged by terrorists may exploit the overburdened security context to launch attacks against vulnerable targets.[21] Other risks within the region include Salafi-jihadist organized groups, who may initiate plans for future attacks in the West from terrorist hotspots.[22] In addition, experts have put forward hypotheses regarding the type of attacks that may occur during the pandemic. A survey of the literature on this point[23] mentions the following: the risk of a conventional attack against the general public during the pandemic, especially on medical facilities; the risk of an attack using a biological agent; the risk of an attack using emerging technologies; the risk of a cyberattack on critical infrastructure; and the risk of a conventional attack targeting security officials.

Particular assumptions are made with respect to the activity of violent non-state actors in the Middle East, North Africa, and the Sahel. In the short term, the risk of a terrorist attack is frequently tied to existing terrorist groups in the region, where there is a reduction in the ability of security services to combat terrorism as international partners recall troops back home, an issue which has been widely discussed.[24] Long-term risks are tied to the social and economic consequences of the pandemic, which lead to increased recruiting potential of COVID-19 propaganda and of pro-social services offered by terrorist groups in areas of poor governance.[25]

Postulate 2: Violent non-state actors have taken or may take advantage of the uncertainty and confusion caused by the pandemic by adapting their activities to the changing security context.

A considerable body of literature proposes that terrorist groups operate in environments which are inherently hostile to them and must therefore adapt and innovate rapidly to survive.[26] Similarly, observers of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on non-state actors have detailed various ways in which these actors might adapt and take advantage of the uncertainty and confusion caused by this crisis.[27]

Focusing on the threat posed by violent non-state actors outside of North America and Europe, several scenarios have been envisaged by those experts concerned that governments would shift priorities and resources away from counter-terrorism during the pandemic. In particular, experts noted that violent non-state actors operating in the MENA region may seek to establish 'safe havens' by reclaiming land,[28] may perpetrate large-scale attacks domestically,[29] or may plan future attacks against the West.[30]

Experts also noted that violent non-state actors may take advantage of security lapses at important facilities; for example, at prisons housing terrorists, where governments may struggle with reduced manpower as guards become ill and the virus spreads among inmate populations, leading to riots and potentially jail-breaks.[31] In addition, Ackerman proposes that terrorists may attack facilities with reduced security such as "chemical plants, and facilities that store nuclear, radiological or other hazardous materials" in order to steal raw materials that could be used to produce explosive devices, as well as using the time to improve their technical skills such as bomb-making or cyberattack capabilities.[32]

Experts have also warned that violent non-state actors might seek to increase their perceived legitimacy in areas of poor governance by engaging in pro-social activities in place of local governments, such as community-focused COVID-19 services in the social, health care, and humanitarian sectors.[33] These scholars have cautioned that such actions provide an opportunity for extremist groups to highlight the inadequacies of local government, acquire political legitimacy and, ultimately, increase recruitment and funding.[34] For instance, Coleman argued that in the Sahel region, "support for groups such as JNIM [the al-Qaeda umbrel-la-affiliate] and ISGS [the recognized Islamic State affiliate] is often separated from the groups' ideological outlooks" and instead tied to "factors such as the groups' ability to provide financial or security incentives for membership."[35]

Postulate 3: The dissemination of extremist content/propaganda during the pandemic is a pressing security concern.

Scholars focusing on the digital realm have suggested that violent non-state actors have also adapted their online activities, in terms of both frequency and content. Several experts have reported a noticeable increase in activity on online extremist platforms, which suggests that extremist groups have successfully drawn greater attention to their ideological propaganda during the pandemic.[36] Research also suggests that extremists have repurposed preexisting prejudices and narratives to fit the crisis, which they use to justify violent aims and opposition toward ideological enemies,[37] thus both facilitating recruitment[38] and inspiring followers to commit attacks.[39]

Most of the literature dealing with the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on violent non-state actors is concerned with the increased presence and reach of extremist content online. In the United States, for example, online engagement with far-right extremist content is believed to have increased by an average of 13% following the introduction of lockdown measures. [40] Similarly, another study found that a particular white supremacist channel on Telegram had experienced an 800% increase in users during the pandemic. [41] Moreover, Davies and colleagues found that the official declaration of COVID-19 as a pandemic by the World Health Organization contributed to significant increases in posting behavior on far-right extremist and incel forums, but had a negligible effect on user behavior on English-language jihadi forums and leftwing forums. [42] When considering the amplified engagement with extremist content, experts allude to the numerous radicalization 'push factors' exacerbated by the pandemic, including distress and uncertainty, increased psychological trauma, increased poverty and school closures, and more (unsupervised) screen time during lockdowns. [43]

Scholars have also pointed to the evolving nature of extremist content, examining the ways extremists and jihadists have used conspiracy theories and misinformation in order to project their belief systems through the lens of COVID-19[44] and to reach new audiences.[45] Research on the impact of COVID-19 on farright extremist propaganda suggests the existence of three prominent themes. Firstly, ethnic minorities—particularly Muslim, East Asian and Black communities—are commonly blamed for spreading the virus, or accused of doing so intentionally. Examples of this narrative have included the use of the hashtag #corona-jihad on Twitter, which began following the distribution of a fake video showing a Muslim man spitting at police officers. It has been estimated that more than 300,000 people engaged with this hashtag and that it has reached upwards of 135 million users on Twitter.[46] This form of propaganda has also included the dissemination of fake news and disinformation showing Muslims licking fruit or coughing at people. Ironically, this

narrative was, at times, coupled with calls to retaliate, such as encouraging supporters to engage in activities which would in turn facilitate the spread of the virus among these ethnic minorities.[47]

The second prominent theme framed non-pharmaceutical interventions such as lockdowns and strict social distancing rules as proof of government overreach and infringement of civil liberties. This theme was generally coupled with conspiracy theories. While no particular conspiracy theory appears to dominate, scholars have remarked that the most widespread theories include that COVID-19 is a plot to decimate or control the world population (attributed to various actors, including Bill Gates, the United Nations, or George Soros),[48] that the virus was caused by the proliferation of 5G telecommunication masts,[49] or that the pandemic was caused by a Chinese or Israeli bioweapon which was deliberately released for geostrategic or financial reasons.[50]

The third prominent theme relates to the notion of accelerationism: apocalyptic ideas are projected through the lens of the pandemic in order to create a new ideational background for ongoing ideological struggles. [51] Commenting on the proliferation of neo-Nazi propaganda on one far-right extremist platform, Kingdon notes that "the COVID-19 pandemic provides accelerationists with the argument that as conflict resulting from the virus is inevitable, potential recruits should be inspired to seize this as an opportunity for them to make the first move in the fight for a total Aryan victory." [52]

The literature focusing on jihadist propaganda relating to COVID-19 has similarly suggested that groups like Islamic State have sought to co-opt the pandemic as an ally in fighting their enemies, and have encouraged Muslims and non-Muslims alike to adhere to their stricter interpretation of Islam as a form of protection from the virus.[53] Scholars have also remarked that, in addition to calling for ideological adherence, jihadist propaganda has routinely called on followers to take advantage of overburdened security capabilities to launch attacks.[54]

Postulate 4: Counter-Terrorism/Counter Violent Extremism (CT/CVE) sector de-prioritization will produce security gaps with regards to violent non-state actors.

The fourth postulate that can be distilled from the literature on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on violent non-state actors relates to the extent of counter-terrorism and counter violent extremism initiatives, measures, and programs. Indeed, several scholars have raised concerns that the pandemic and efforts to contain it may hamper the ability of states to disrupt emerging plots and tactics.[55] In Europe and North America, in light of the diversion of security forces, law enforcement, and intelligence services to help enforce non-pharmaceutical interventions, some experts have warned that the state may be left underprepared to deal with the threat posed by violent non-state actors.[56] This argument is possibly best articulated by Ackerman and Peterson, who remark that "[the] ongoing situation will reduce capabilities and introduce friction into the counter-terrorism process (e.g., with analysts teleworking or suffering personal stresses), thus making it more likely that a crucial warning indicator or piece of intelligence could fall through the cracks."[57] Similarly, some scholars have expressed concerns that potential substantial cuts in national counter-terrorism and counter violent extremism budgets may result in reduced funding for capacity building and long-term programming.[58]

Experts focusing on counter-terrorism outside of North America and Europe have also raised concerns about the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the ability of states to counteract and respond to terrorism. Such concerns seem to focus largely on the MENA and Sahel region, where Western states are heavily involved in training initiatives and international security assistance missions, which may be scaled back due to limited resources (including lack of healthy troops due to infection with/quarantine due to exposure to COVID-19) or changing political priorities in the face of the crisis.[59] The potential scaling back of Western involvement is often feared as detrimental to the stability of the MENA and Sahel region (which depends on continuing international cooperation, training of local security forces, and leadership in military contributions) and is therefore often viewed as potentially paving the way for either a resurgence of violent non-state actors or the establishment of safe havens for them to operate in.[60] It is also feared by experts

that this would, in turn, allow terrorist groups operating in the region to "better prepare spectacular terror attacks and escalate campaigns of insurgent battlefields worldwide," and to recruit more adherents to realize their aims.[61]

Methodology

Building upon the four overarching postulates presented above, we set out to examine the degree to which terrorism experts agree with these postulates and to better understand how these viewpoints might shape the wider security field. In order to achieve these aims, we set up a large-scale expert survey. The survey comprised 29 questions, split into four sections: I. General Impact of the Pandemic on the Practices of Violent Non-State Actors (4 questions); II. Security Risks: Europe and North America (13 questions); III. Security Risks: Middle East, North Africa and the Sahel Region (9 questions); IV. Demographic Questions (3 questions).

Dissemination and Participants

Our target population for the survey were individuals who had published between 1997 and 2020 in three leading terrorism journals: *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *Perspectives on Terrorism*, and *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism*. Of the 1,691 individual authors who met these criteria, we were able to find the email addresses of 1,497 individuals.[62] We were unable to find the email addresses for 194 individuals; the most common reasons for this were that the individual had retired (and thus no longer had an institutional email address), had passed away, or was now working outside academia and had a minimal digital footprint.

On March 30, 2021, the survey was sent by email to the 1,497 aforementioned individuals. Of these emails, 73 bounced or failed to send due to outdated contact details. In addition, six individuals responded directly to decline participation in the survey. The most common reason given for this was that, although the individual had previously published in a terrorism studies journal, they felt their expertise lay outside this field of study. The survey was open for completion during the period of March 30, 2021–May 7, 2021. During this time, three reminder emails were sent to potential respondents encouraging them to participate.

In total, 218 individuals responded to the survey. Of these, 76 were excluded from the data for one of two reasons. The primary reason for exclusion was that a respondent had begun the survey but failed to complete it. The survey required respondents to answer all substantive questions and did not allow questions to be skipped, with the exception of questions related to respondent demographics (i.e., gender, location, employment). The second reason for exclusion, which accounted for 13 cases, was that the respondent failed an attention check question. The goal of attention check items is to ensure that people who complete a survey are paying attention to the questions when answering them, as a potential danger of survey research is that respondents give random answers to the questions in order to get through the survey, rather than providing genuine answers. By adding an attention check, we sought to quickly gauge whether respondents might have stopped paying attention. The attention check consisted of an item in a matrix question which stated "Please select 'Disagree' on this line." Any participant who did not select "Disagree" was considered to have failed the attention check and was removed from the sample before analysis.

After accounting for incomplete responses and failed attention checks, the data set comprised 142 completed surveys. Of these 142 participants, 99 were male, 40 were female, and 3 did not indicate their gender. In terms of geographic spread, 47.2% were employed in North America, 38.7% in Europe, 7.7% in Australia and Oceania, 2.8% in the Middle East, 2.1% in Africa, and 1.4% in Asia. Given that all participants had authored at least one article in a leading terrorism and violent extremism journal in the last 24 years, it is not surprising that most of the participants selected "academia" as their current place of employment (N=112). However, a small number of participants came from think tanks (10), government (5), law enforcement (3), industry (1), and other organizations (11). The median completion time of the survey was 13 minutes.

Note that, compared to previous surveys that systematically collected expert opinions and assumptions on

ISSN 2334-3745 46 August 2022

other topics within the field of terrorism studies, our survey has a larger sample size. For instance, a similar survey was published by the International Centre for Counter-Terrorism, which gathered inferences regarding counter-terrorism professionals' views on the usefulness of academic insights for their work; this survey had a total of 59 responses.[63] Another similar inquiry conducted to investigate the state of terrorism research in 2011 gathered 66 responses.[64]

Results

Postulate 1: In the short term, COVID-19 pandemic mitigation/containment measures have restricted the activities of violent non-state actors.

To determine how respondents felt about opportunities for attacks by violent non-state actors during the pandemic, we asked: "To what extent do you agree with the following statement: Generally speaking, the measures taken to restrict the spread of the virus (for example lockdowns, mandatory quarantines, social distancing) have constrained the activities of violent non-state actors." There was a lack of clear agreement on this statement: only half of experts tended to somewhat agree (N=65, or 45.8%) or strongly agreed (N=6, or 4.2%) that containment measures have had a constraining effect. Those who agreed to any extent (N=71, or 50%) were asked a follow-up question where they had to distribute 100 points among several given measures, allocating more points to those they considered to be more restrictive. This approach allowed respondents to weigh the impact of several different measures taken to restrict the spread of the virus. The most points were awarded to restrictive travel regulations (average 37 points), closely followed by social distancing measures (average 35 points), with smaller effects attributed to the increased presence of law enforcement (average 21 points). The new pandemic-related offenses intended to deter violent non-state actors from mounting attacks were seen as the least restrictive (average 8 points).

When asked which type of violent non-state actor would pose the greatest threat to Europe and North America during the pandemic, the participants responded as shown in Table 1.

Table 1: Which of the following violent types of non-state actors pose the greatest threat to Europe and North America during the pandemic?

Type of violent non-state actor	% of respondents
Violent right-wing organized groups	50.7%
Nonaffiliated right-wing/left-wing extremists	19%
Single-issue extremists (anti-vaxxers, racially motivated crimes, antiabortionist groups, anti-globalization groups, etc.)	13.4%
Salafi-jihadist organized groups	8.5%
Violent left-wing organized groups	3.5%
Nonaffiliated Islamist extremist	3.5%
Other forms of existing violent non-state actor violence	1.4%

Following this question, participants were asked to allocate 100 points between five types of possible attacks in North America and Europe, allocating more points to those they viewed as more likely to happen. The most points were allocated to a conventional attack against the general public (average 35 points) followed by a conventional attack targeting security officials (average 27 points). Substantially fewer points were allocated to a cyberattack (average 20 points), followed by an attack using emerging technologies (average 12 points). Surprisingly, the fewest points were allocated to an attack using a biological agent (average 6 points). Overall, the responses to these questions indicate that most of the experts consider containment measures to have restricted violent right-wing groups the least, as well as having the least impact on those who seek

to conduct conventional attacks. The fact that these two groups are often one and the same reinforces that there is consensus that violent right-wing groups conducting conventional attacks are those least restricted by COVID-19 measures. An alternative interpretation of these results is that experts have generally assessed far-right extremism as posing the greatest security risk at this point in time, and that the COVID-19 crisis may not have had a bearing on this assessment.

In addition, about 43% of participants agreed with the statement "While ISIS has called on followers in the West to exploit the chaos and conduct attacks, jihadists are likely to wait until after the pandemic ends to do so." Taking into account that half of the respondents agreed that violent right-wing organized groups are the main security threat to North America and Europe during the pandemic, it appears that participants may consider COVID-19-related measures as impacting the modus operandi of jihadists in the West specifically. As such, the results in this section demonstrate that support for Postulate 1 is found only with regard to the impact of pandemic mitigation and containment measures on jihadists and their ability to conduct attacks in North America and Europe in the short term, perhaps due to the restrictive measures placed on international travel at the time of the survey.

Postulate 2: Violent non-state actors have taken or may take advantage of the uncertainty and confusion caused by the pandemic by adapting their activities to the changing security context.

Postulate 2 suggests violent non-state actors are adapting to the changing security context. To examine this, respondents were first asked to indicate their level of agreement with the following statement: "Generally speaking, violent non-state actors have taken advantage of the uncertainty and confusion caused by the pandemic." Around 60% of participants tended to agree with this statement, while 25% disagreed and 15% did not have an opinion.

As with Postulate 1, those who agreed with the statement (N=85, 59.8%) were asked further clarification questions. These respondents were presented with several extremist activities and were asked to distribute 100 points among them, allocating more points to those they considered more successful. Participants allocated the most points to the ability of violent non-state actors to draw greater attention to their ideological propaganda (average 45 points), then to recruiting more adherents (average 36 points); the fewest points were allocated to mobilizing adherents to commit violent attacks (average 20 points).

Another common theme in the literature are extremist and terrorist tactics which make use of the local and global upheaval in order to achieve certain gains. All participants (N=142) were asked to distribute 100 points among common terrorist tactics which they believe will have the most success in the long term. Table 2 shows the average points allocated per activity.

In line with the previous result, 74% of participants agreed with the proposition that terrorist groups in the MENA region would effectively mobilize followers by conducting pro-social activities. Such legitimacy-building activities are also considered to be somewhat—but considerably less—effective when conducted by extremist groups in North America and Europe: while 43% of participants agree that "some extremist groups have been effective in mobilizing followers by engaging in pro-social activities (e.g., providing medical or social services) during the COVID-19 pandemic," 35% neither agreed nor disagreed and 22% disagreed.

The results in this section demonstrate that there is a higher consensus for Postulate 2 than for Postulate 1. On average, more agreement can be found for the proposition that violent non-state actors have taken advantage of the uncertainty and confusion by the pandemic than for the idea that their activities have been restricted. Results for Postulate 2 also demonstrate that there is support for the idea that extremists and terrorists have adapted to the pandemic by engaging in pro-social activities, with experts perceiving that groups in the MENA region have been more effective than those operating in the West.

Table 2: Which of the following activities might be undertaken by violent non-state actors within the Sahel and MENA region during the pandemic?

Type of extremist activity	Average points allocated
Terrorists will try to increase their perceived legitimacy in areas of poor governance by engaging in pro-social activities (i.e., providing medical services).	22
Terrorists will take the time to regroup and learn new skills.	17
Terrorists will take advantage of weakening international coalitions to reclaim land.	16
Terrorists will exploit the disruption caused by the pandemic to perpetrate attacks within the MENA/Sahel region.	16
Terrorists will exploit the disruption caused by the pandemic to launch attacks against the West.	10
Terrorists will use the compromised security of prisons and detention centers to free fighters and followers.	10
Terrorists will use compromised security as an opportunity to loot weapons bases.	9

Postulate 3: The dissemination of extremist content/propaganda during the pandemic is a pressing security concern.

The third postulate relates to the expert consensus regarding the dissemination of extremist content linked to the COVID-19 pandemic. In this respect, questions were split between narratives likely to prompt change by extremists in North America and Europe on the one hand, and by terrorists in the MENA and Sahel region on the other hand. Of the questions concerning the impact of extremist narratives in North America and Europe, most agreement was found for the statement that "narratives blaming the spread of COVID-19 on specific minority groups have contributed to a rise in racially motivated hate crimes in North America/Europe" and the notion that the dissemination of COVID-19 misinformation and conspiracy theories has led to a wider endorsement of violent extremist narratives in the region (for each statement, 84% of experts agreed). Seventy-two percent of experts lean toward agreeing with the statement that "the high exposure to extremist content during lockdown(s) has contributed to a higher number of people undergoing a process of cognitive radicalization in North America/Europe." Lastly, there was no agreement as to whether the rise in online extremist content has led to an increased incidence of violent attacks.

The survey further prompted participants to distribute 100 points among a set of far-right extremist narratives, allocating more points to those they viewed as having been more effective in motivating individuals to take concrete action. Table 3 displays the average number of points allocated to each far-right narrative. These results are congruent with the current prevailing focus on narratives spread by far-right individuals online. However, it is important to note that while these narratives are frequently espoused by far-right extremists, they are not unique to them.

Table 3: Which of the following right-wing extremist narratives have been most effective in mobilizing individuals?

Type of far-right extremist narrative	Average points allocated
The state is using the pandemic as an opportunity to infringe on civil	43
liberties.	
Migrants and minorities are spreading the virus.	27
The virus is an opportunity to further the demise of the economic and	18
political system through violence, in line with an accelerationist agenda.	
5G communication technology is to blame for the spread of the virus.	12

In addition, the survey queried participants about their opinion on the effectiveness of various jihadist narratives. Respondents were asked to assess the potential of jihadist narratives by again distributing 100 points, allocating more to those which particularly prompted individuals to plan and/or carry out attacks. The results in Table 4 show the average points that were allocated to each jihadist narrative.

Table 4: Which of the following jihadist narratives have been most effective in mobilizing individuals?

Type of jihadist narrative	Average points allocated
Terrorist groups have called on followers to wage global jihad and take	31
advantage of overburdened security capabilities to launch attacks.	
Terrorist groups have used the pandemic to justify their apocalyptic and	27
end-of-time narratives.	
Terrorist groups have labeled the virus the 'invisible soldier' of God and	24
called on practicing Muslims to adhere to their stricter interpretation of	
Islam.	
Terrorist groups have accused the Western world of angering God and	18
called on non-Muslims to convert to Islam.	

While most experts would agree that narratives calling for violence are the most effective, there is no consensus on whether there is a connection between the ideological propaganda of jihadi groups and their level of violence. Overall, this contributes to a diluted consensus with regard to jihadist narratives, in contrast to a higher overall agreement on far-right extremist narratives and their impact. Therefore, there is on average more support for Postulate 3 when far-right extremist narratives and the corresponding security concerns are considered.

Postulate 4: Counter-Terrorism/Counter Violent Extremism (CT/CVE) sector de-prioritization will produce security gaps in responses to violent non-state actors.

The fourth and final postulate covers whether the de-prioritization of CT/CVE programs as a result of the focus on COVID-19 containment may produce security gaps which extremists can exploit. Prompted by the literature review, the questions in this section address security gaps in the MENA and Sahel region and their implications for long-term security, both of the region itself and for that of North America and Europe. One potential factor in the creation of security gaps in relation to COVID-19 is the hampered international military cooperation across the MENA and Sahel region. About two-thirds (63%) of the experts agree that the pandemic has been a cause for the declining counter-terrorism cooperation across the region. In connection with this statement, the survey explored several implications. First, we queried participants on whether they think the gains made against terrorist groups prior to the pandemic will be lost due to shifting national priorities in the MENA and Sahel regions, respectively. The results indicate a trend toward agreeing that gains will be lost across the region. Furthermore, the survey explored whether the reduction of foreign military presence in the MENA and Sahel region as a result of the pandemic will increase the security threat

to North America and Europe. The data suggest that the experts are split into two camps: those who believe that there will be a change, and those who do not. Table 5 demonstrates this segmentation, as well as the view of participants that, if the level of threat does increase, it will only be in the long run.

Table 5: Expected change in threat level in North America and Europe as a result of the reduction of foreign military presence in the MENA and Sahel region

Yes, in the short run (pending containment of COVID-19).	5.6%
Yes, in the long run (after all restrictions are lifted in North America and Europe).	46.5%
No, there will be no change in the level of threat.	37.3%
The threat will be reduced, rather than increased.	10.6%

To further understand the factors behind these perceptions, participants were asked to rank several security implications encountered in the MENA and Sahel region according to which of them pose the greatest threat to North America and Europe. The results of this categorization indicate that **the highest threat is posed by the declining international cooperation against foreign terrorist groups in the MENA region**, followed by the shift of law enforcement and intelligence agencies' attention away from threats emerging from the MENA region and toward the domestic COVID-19 situation. Less importance was attributed to the exposure of Western security forces to COVID-19 or their redeployment to undertake auxiliary tasks at home (e.g., assisting law enforcement and/or medical staff).

In conclusion, there is support for the proposition that CT/CVE de-prioritization will pose security threats as far as the response to terrorist actors in the MENA and Sahel region is concerned. It is evident that experts consider the declining international cooperation to represent a security concern for both the West and for regions with terrorist hotspots, with potentially negative consequences for the battle against terrorism in general.

Concluding Remarks

The value of examining the expert consensus on COVID-19 and violent non-state actor activity lies in understanding the ways expert opinions shape future academic research, government policy, and public discussions in this area. In this respect, the results reveal several interesting trends in relation to the impact the pandemic has had on violent non-state actors, which hinge on the particular region in question, the type of actor, and the nature of the risk.

First, the results suggest that there is an emerging consensus that violent right-wing organized groups represent the greatest threat to Europe and North America during the pandemic. In addition, some experts consider the activities of Salafi-jihadist organized groups to be particularly restricted by COVID-19 measures within the region, as indicated by the partial agreement that jihadists are unlikely to stage an attack in the West until after the pandemic ends. In connection with this finding, the results further confirm existing expert claims that travel restrictions will impede terrorist mobility across international boundaries. [65] Along these lines, reports have suggested that terrorists may choose to alter their operational methods and/or increase violent extremist activities in states of origin, [66] suggesting a dual effect of COVID-19 restrictions which depends on the type of actor involved.

Different results emerge when considering terrorist groups across the MENA and Sahel region. When probed about the ways in which terrorists will adapt to the pandemic, experts predominantly agree that terrorists will be most successful in recruiting more followers in the long term by conducting pro-social activities. Support for this hypothesis is present even when experts are asked to compare pro-social activities with other types of terrorist activity, such as attacking the West, reclaiming land, or freeing fighters and followers from prisons in the region. While several authors have cautioned against overestimating this threat, arguing that health care provision is a difficult task even for the best groups, [67] the results highlight the danger of public

health campaigns launched by jihadi groups. As Clarke notes, these activities have been used by terrorists to at least "highlight the ineptitude of Western governments' responses, suggesting deliberate negligence and a lack of concern for their own citizens." [68] In sum, the results of the survey indicate that experts consider health care provision to be one successful pandemic-related activity of Salafi-jihadists in areas which exhibit poor governance and scarce health infrastructure.

In some regards, the results of this survey differ from scholars' assessments in the existing literature on the risks that may arise from violent non-state actor activity in North America and Europe during the pandemic. While the survey respondents have corroborated assessments of the ability of violent non-state actors to draw greater attention to their ideological propaganda,[69] an interesting revelation pertains to the perceived dangers of weaponizing biological agents.[70] Compared to the risk of a conventional attack, a cyberattack, or an attack using emerging technologies, experts continue to consider the risk of an attack using a biological agent to be the lowest.[71]. This reflects previous thinking about the low likelihood of such attacks. This implies that the pandemic has, perhaps surprisingly, given the mayhem caused by the spread of COVID-19, had little impact on experts' fears about biological agents being used by terrorists. Meanwhile, the risk of a conventional attack against the general public was found to be most plausible. This result shows that, despite increased scholarly attention upon the subject, experts continue to consider more traditional means of inflicting physical and psychological damage on societies to represent a higher threat during the pandemic.

Despite the valuable insights highlighted in this study, several limitations must be mentioned, which in turn present opportunities for further research. First, more than 80% of the participants in this survey are employed within North America and Europe. While the study seeks to address this challenge by centering the majority of inferences on this region, further investigation of opinions of experts working in the MENA and Sahel region may highlight a different range of perspectives. Second, in the survey questions, regions and countries are grouped together that may in fact no longer share a common perspective on rising violent nonstate actor threats. The latest reports suggest a split between the threat perception of policy-makers in North America versus Europe: while the Office of the Director of National Intelligence in the United States advises that "racially or ethnically motivated violent extremists and militia violent extremists present the most lethal domestic violent extremist threats",[72] the European Union law enforcement agency, Europol, finds that EU Member states "assess that jihadist terrorism [is still] the greatest terrorist threat in the EU." [73] Subsequent studies may therefore choose to treat the pandemic-related violent non-state actor threats separately for each geographical region, and thereby also better understand how this divergence affects international cooperation against terrorism. Related to this, while the survey sought to understand experts' opinions on the consequences of the pandemic for counter-terrorism efforts, including for global coalitions against international terrorism, it did not examine external considerations which may have affected the CT/CVE sector. Further research may therefore probe the implications of pandemic-related political and socioeconomic impacts that will affect violent non-state actor activity both during and after the COVID-19 pandemic.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada award number 895-2015-1000 and the Canadian Network for Research on Terrorism, Security and Society (TSAS). All opinions are exclusively those of the authors and do not represent those of the funders.

About the Authors:

Yannick Veilleux-Lepage is an assistant professor of terrorism and political violence at the Institute of Security and Global Affairs at Leiden University. Dr. Veilleux-Lepage's research interests include the creation of online narratives and propaganda which fosters or normalizes terrorism; historical antecedents to terrorism; far-right extremism and the transnational links of far-right groups; ideological and technical diffusion, and

the application of evolutionary approaches to social sciences. Dr Veilleux-Lepage is also an associate fellow of the Higher Education Academy, a fellow of the Royal Historical Society, and a senior research associate of the Canadian Network for Research on Terrorism, Security and Society.

Tommy van Steen is an assistant professor in cybersecurity governance at the Institute of Security and Global Affairs. His research interests include: cybersecurity behavior of end-users, behavioral change, cyberpsychology, and organizational cybersecurity behavior. He holds a BSc and MSc in psychology from Radboud University Nijmegen, and a PhD in behavioral change from the University of the West of England.

Maria-Elena Kisyova obtained her master's in International Relations and Diplomacy from Leiden University. Previously she worked for women's rights bodies at the United Nations and the Council of Europe. She obtained her English and European law degree from Queen Mary University of London.

Notes

- [1] "WHO Announces COVID-19 Outbreak a Pandemic," World Health Organization, March 12, 2020. URL: https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/news/news/2020/3/who-announces-covid-19-outbreak-a-pandemic
- [2] Marinko Škare, Domingo Riberio Soriano, and Małgorzata Porada-Rochoń, "Impact of COVID-19 on the Travel and Tourism Industry," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 163 (February 1, 2021): 120469. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120469; Sumitra Pokhrel and Roshan Chhetri, "A Literature Review on Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Teaching and Learning," *Higher Education for the Future* 8, no. 1 (January 1, 2021): 133–41. URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/2347631120983481; Seshadri Sekhar Chatterjee, Malathesh Barikar C, and Abir Mukherjee, "Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Pre-Existing Mental Health Problems," *Asian Journal of Psychiatry* 51 (June 2020): 102071. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102071; Diana Nadine Moreira and Mariana Pinto da Costa, "The Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic in the Precipitation of Intimate Partner Violence," *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry* 71 (July 2020): 101606. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2020.101606; Richard E Baldwin et al., eds., "The Economic Impact of COVID-19," in *Economics in the Time of COVID-19* (London: CEPR Press, 2020).
- [3] William Avis, "The COVID-19 Pandemic and Response on Violent Extremist Recruitment and Radicalisation" (Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies, 2020). URL: https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/han-dle/20.500.12413/15322/808 COVID19%20 and Violent Extremism.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y; Raffaello Pantucci, "Don't Lose Sight of the Enduring Global Terrorist Threat" (RUSI, March 30, 2020). URL: https://commentary/dont-lose-sight-enduring-global-terrorist-threat; Abdul Basit, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: An Opportunity for Terrorist Groups?," *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses* 12, no. 3 (2020): 7–12. URL: https://doi.org/10.2307/26915444.
- [4] Kyler Ong and Nur Aziemah Azman, "Distinguishing Between the Extreme Farright and Islamic State's (IS) Calls to Exploit COVID-19," *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses* 12, no. 3 (2020): 18–21; Regan F Lyon, "The COVID-19 Response Has Uncovered and Increased Our Vulnerability to Biological Warfare," *Military Medicine*, February 15, 2021, usab061. URL: https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usab061; Obeta Uchejeso et al., "Coronavirus: The Biological Threat of Our Time," *Journal of Current Emergency Medicine Reports* 1, no. 1 (April 1, 2021): 1–7.
- [5] Ivano di Carlo, "In Chaos, They Thrive: The Resurgence of Extremist and Terrorist Groups during the COVID-19 Pandemic," European Policy Centre, May 5, 2020. URL: https://www.epc.eu/en/Publications/In-chaos-they-thrive-The-resurgence-of-extremist-and-terrorist-group~32c800.
- [6] Milo Comerford and Jacob Davey, "Comparing Jihadist and Far-Right Extremist Narratives on COVID-19," 2020. URL: https://gnet-research.org/2020/04/27/comparing-jihadist-and-far-right-extremist-narratives-on-covid-19/.
- [7] Andrew Silke, "COVID-19 and Terrorism: Assessing the Short-and Long-Term Impacts," May 5, 2020, 8.
- [8] Julie Coleman, "The Impact of Coronavirus on Terrorism in the Sahel," April 16, 2020. URL: https://icct.nl/publication/the-impact-of-coronavirus-on-terrorism-in-the-sahel/.
- [9] Gary Ackerman and Hayley Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts" 14, no. 3 (2020): 15; Sam Mullins, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Are We Over-Estimating the Threat?," June 25, 2020. URL: https://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/terrorism-and-covid-19-are-we-over-estimating-threat; James Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States" (George C. Marshall European Center for Security Studies, 2020). URL: https://www.marshallcenter.org/en/publications/occasional-papers/covid-19-pandemic-preliminary-assessment.
- [10] Lisa Stampnitzky, Disciplining Terror: How Experts Invented "Terrorism" (Cambridge; New York: Cambridge Uni-

versity Press, 2013); David Miller and Tom Mills, "The Terror Experts and the Mainstream Media: The Expert Nexus and Its Dominance in the News Media," *Critical Studies on Terrorism* 2, no. 3 (November 16, 2009): 414–37. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/17539150903306113.

- [11] Monica Czwarno, "Misjudging Islamic Terrorism: The Academic Community's Failure to Predict 9/11," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 29, no. 7 (October 2006): 657–78. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/10576100600702014.
- [2] Bart Schuurman, "Counterterrorism Professionals on Terrorism Research: An End-User Assessment," December 5, 2019. URL: https://icct.nl/publication/counterterrorism-professionals-on-terrorism-research-an-end-user-assessment/.
- [3] Brian J. Phillips, "How Did 9/11 Affect Terrorism Research? Examining Articles and Authors, 1970–2019," *Terrorism and Political Violence* (July 26, 2021): 1–24. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2021.1935889; R. Jackson, "The Core Commitments of Critical Terrorism Studies," *European Political Science* 6, no. 3 (2007): 244–51; Jeroen Gunning, "A Case for Critical Terrorism Studies?," *Government and Opposition* 42, no. 3 (June 2007): 363–93. URL: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-7053.2007.00228.x; Stampnitzky, *Disciplining Terror*.
- [14] Tehilla Shwartz Altshuler and Rachel Aridor Hershkowitz, "How Israel's COVID-19 Mass Surveillance Operation Works," *Brookings* (blog), July 6, 2020. URL: https://www.brookings.edu/techstream/how-israels-covid-19-mass-surveillance-operation-works/; Ido Efrati, "Israel's Security Service to Monitor Families of COVID-19 Carriers Suspected of Violating Quarantine Israel News Haaretz.Com," *Haaretz*, October 15, 2020. URL: https://www.haaretz.com/israel-news/.premium-shin-bet-to-mon-itor-families-of-covid-19-carriers-suspected-of-violating-quarantine-1.9235925. URL: Chas Kissick, Elliot Setzer, and Jacob Schulz, "What Ever Happened to Digital Contact Tracing?," *Lawfare*, July 21, 2020. URL: https://www.lawfareblog.com/what-ever-happened-digital-contact-tracing.
- [15] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; CTED, "The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism and Countering Violent Extremism" (Geneva: United Nations Security Council Counter-Terrorism Committee Executive Directorate, June 2020); Francesco Marone, "Hate in the Time of Coronavirus: Exploring the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Violent Extremism and Terrorism in the West," *Security Journal*, January 7, 2021. URL: https://doi.org/10.1057/s41284-020-00274-y; Mullins, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Are We Over-Estimating the Threat?"; UNITAR, "Impact of COVID-19 on Violent Extremism and Terrorism" (Geneva: United Nations Institute for Training and Research, 2020). URL: https://www.unitar.org/sites/default/files/media/file/Factsheet%20CT%20Printed.pdf; Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States."
- [16] CTED, "The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism and Countering Violent Extremism"; UNITAR, "Impact of COVID-19 on Violent Extremism and Terrorism."
- [17] Mullins, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Are We Over-Estimating the Threat?"
- [18] Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States"; Audrey Alexander, "The Security Threat COVID-19 Poses to the Northern Syria Detention Camps Holding Islamic State Members," *CTC Sentinel* 13, no. 6 (June 2020): 16–25.
- [19] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Marone, "Hate in the Time of Coronavirus."
- [20] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Basit, "The COVID-19 Pandemic"; Harald G. De Cauwer and Francis Somville, "Health Care Organizations: Soft Target during COVID-19 Pandemic," *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine* 36, no. 3 (June 2021): 344–47. URL: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X2100025X; Arie W. Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic: Exploiting Mayhem," *Global Security: Health, Science and Policy* 5, no. 1 (January 1, 2020): 121–32. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/23779497.2020.1832903; Marone, "Hate in the Time of Coronavirus"; Mullins, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Are We Over-Estimating the Threat?"; Silke, "COVID-19 and Terrorism: Assessing the Short-and Long-Term Impacts"; James Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States" (George C. Marshall European Center for Security Studies, April 2020). URL: http://www.marshallcenter.org/en/publications/occasional-papers/covid-19-pandemic-preliminary-assessment-impact-terrorism-western-states.</code>
- [21] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Silke, "COVID-19 and Terrorism: Assessing the Short-and Long-Term Impacts"; Marone, "Hate in the Time of Coronavirus"; De Cauwer and Somville, "Health Care Organizations."
- [22] Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States."
- [23] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Basit, "The COVID-19 Pandemic"; Marone, "Hate in the Time of Coronavirus"; Silke, "COVID-19 and Terrorism: Assessing the Short-and Long-Term Impacts"; Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States."
- [24] Coleman, "The Impact of Coronavirus on Terrorism in the Sahel"; Crisis Group, "Contending with ISIS in the Time of Coronavirus," Crisis Group, 2020. URL: https://www.crisisgroup.org/global/contending-isis-time-coronavirus.
- [25] Colin Clarke, "Yesterday's Terrorists and Insurgents in Afghanistan, Syria, and Somalia Are Today's Public Health Pro-

viders," April 8, 2020. URL: https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/04/08/terrorists-nonstate-ungoverned-health-providers-coronavi-rus-pandemic/; Coleman, "The Impact of Coronavirus on Terrorism in the Sahel"; Shweta Desai and Amarnath Amarasingam, "#CoronaJihad COVID-19, Misinformation, and Anti-Muslim Violence in India" (Institute for Strategic Dialogue, 2020). URL: https://strongcitiesnetwork.org/en/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2020/05/CoronaJihad.pdf; Silke, "COVID-19 and Terrorism: Assessing the Short-and Long-Term Impacts."

[26] Victor Asal and R. Karl Rethemeyer, "The Nature of the Beast: Organizational Structures and the Lethality of Terrorist Attacks," *The Journal of Politics* 70, no. 2 (April 2008): 437–49. URL: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022381608080419; Dominic Johnson, "Darwinian Selection in Asymetric Warfare: The Natural Advantage of Insurgents and Terrorists," *Journal of the Washington Academy of Sciences* 95, no. 3 (2009): 89–112; Yannick Veilleux-Lepage, *How Terror Evolves: The Emergence and Spread of Terrorist Techniques* (Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 2020); Yannick Veilleux-Lepage, "Paradigmatic Shifts in Jihadism in Cyberspace: The Emerging Role of Unaffiliated Sympathizers in Islamic State's Social Media Strategy," *Journal of Terrorism Research* 7, no. 1 (February 5, 2016): 36. URL: https://doi.org/10.15664/jtr.1183.

[27] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Avis, "The COVID-19 Pandemic and Response on Violent Extremist Recruitment and Radicalisation"; Tobias Ide, "COVID-19 and Armed Conflict," World Development 140 (April 1, 2021): 105355. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105355; Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic," January 1, 2020; Mariyam Shahuneeza Naseer, "COVID 19: Incubator for Online Extremism" 38 (2020): 5; Silke, "COVID-19 and Terrorism: Assessing the Short-and Long-Term Impacts." While not specifically dealing with the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, detailed discussions of this processes can also be found in the literature on extremist ideologies' foundations in crisis-solution ideational constructs. For example, see J. M. Berger, Extremism (Cambridge, MA, USA: MIT Press, 2018); J. M. Berger, 'Extremist Construction of Identity: How Escalating Demands for Legitimacy Shape and Define In-Group and Out-Group Dynamics,' The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism – The Hague 8, no. 7 (April 2017). URL: https://icct.nl/publication/extremist-construction-of-identity-how-escalating-demands-for-legitimacy-shape-and-define-in-group-and-out-group-dynamics/; and Haroro J. Ingram, 'A Linkage-Based" Approach to Combating Militant Islamist Propaganda: A Two-Tiered Framework for Practitioners,' The International Centre for Counter-Terrorism – The Hague 8, no. 6 (2016). URL: https://icct.nl/publication/the-strategic-logic-of-the-linkage-based-approach-to-combating-militant-islamist-propaganda-conceptual-and-empirical-foundations/.

- [28] Basit, "The COVID-19 Pandemic."
- [29] Crisis Group, "Contending with ISIS in the Time of Coronavirus."
- [30] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States."
- [31] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Coleman, "The Impact of Coronavirus on Terrorism in the Sahel"; di Carlo, "In Chaos, They Thrive: The Resurgence of Extremist and Terrorist Groups during the COVID-19 Pandemic"; Alexandra Phelan et al., "How Extremists Are Leveraging the COVID-19 Crisis," Monash University, April 28, 2020. URL: https://lens.monash.edu/@politics-society/2020/04/28/1380103?slug=covid-19-and-non-state-armed-groups-adapting-to-an-evolving-crisis.
- [32] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts," 66.
- [33] Marone, "Hate in the Time of Coronavirus"; Richard McNeil-Willson, "Framing in Times of Crisis: Responses to COVID-19 amongst Far Right Movements and Organisations," June 25, 2020, https://doi.org/10.19165/2020.1.04; Raffaello Pantucci and Kabir Taneja, "Beware of Terrorists Offering COVID19 Aid," Observer Research Foundation, 2020. URL: https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/beware-of-terrorists-offering-covid19-aid-64731/; Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic"; Christopher Hockey and Michael Jones, "The Limits of 'Shabaab-CARE': Militant Governance amid COVID-19," *CTC Sentinel* 13, no. 6 (June 2020): 33–39.
- [34] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; di Carlo, "In Chaos, They Thrive: The Resurgence of Extremist and Terrorist Groups during the COVID-19 Pandemic"; Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic," January 1, 2020; McNeil-Willson, "Framing in Times of Crisis"; Pantucci and Taneja, "Beware of Terrorists Offering COVID19 Aid."
- [35] Coleman, "The Impact of Coronavirus on Terrorism in the Sahel."
- [36] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Garth Davies, Edith Wu, and Richard Frank, "A Witch's Brew of Grievances: The Potential Effects of COVID-19 on Radicalization to Violent Extremism," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, May 10, 2021, 1–24, https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2021.1923188; Billy Perrigo, "White Supremacist Groups Are Recruiting With Help From Coronavirus and a Popular Messaging App," Time, August 4, 2020, https://time.com/5817665/coronavirus-conspiracy-theories-white-supremacist-groups/.
- [37] Comerford and Davey, "Comparing Jihadist and Far-Right Extremist Narratives on COVID-19."
- [38] Raffaello Pantucci, "Mapping the One-Year Impact of COVID-19 on Violent Extremism," Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses 13, no. 2 (2021): 1–9; Avis, "The COVID-19 Pandemic and Response on Violent Extremist Recruitment and Radical-

isation"; Tova C. Norlen, "The Impact of COVID-19 on Salafi-Jihadi Terrorism," *Connections* 19, no. 2 (2020): 11–24; Abdul Basit, "COVID-19: A Challenge or Opportunity for Terrorist Groups?," *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism* 15, no. 3 (September 1, 2020): 263–75. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/18335330.2020.1828603.

- [39] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Silke, "COVID-19 and Terrorism: Assessing the Short-and Long-Term Impacts"; Marone, "Hate in the Time of Coronavirus"; Georgy G. Machitidze, "Comparative Analyses of Terrorist Threats under Conditions of COVID-19," *Mirovaia Ekonomika i Mezhdunarodnye Otnosheniia* 64, no. 11 (December 29, 2020): 5–12. URL: https://doi.org/10.20542/0131-2227-2020-64-11-5-12; Sebastian Wojciechowski, "The Terrorist Bomb Is Still Ticking' Even in the Shadow of COVID-19," *Przegląd Strategiczny* X, no. 13 (2020): 9–18.
- [40] Moonshot, "The Impact of Social Distancing on Engagement with Violent Extremist Content Online in the United States" (Moonshot, April 2020). URL: http://moonshotcve.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Social-Distancing-and-White-Supremacist-Content_Moonshot.pdf.
- [41] Perrigo, "White Supremacist Groups Are Recruiting with Help From Coronavirus and a Popular Messaging App."
- [42] Davies, Wu, and Frank, "A Witch's Brew of Grievances."
- [43] Avis, "The COVID-19 Pandemic and Response on Violent Extremist Recruitment and Radicalisation"; Davies, Wu, and Frank, "A Witch's Brew of Grievances"; Marone, "Hate in the Time of Coronavirus"; Naseer, "COVID 19: Incubator for Online Extremism."
- [44] Mina al-Lami, "Jihadists See COVID-19 as an Opportunity," *GNET* (blog), June 1, 2020. URL: https://gnet-research.org/2020/06/01/jihadists-see-covid-19-as-an-opportunity/; Comerford and Davey, "Comparing Jihadist and Far-Right Extremist Narratives on COVID-19"; Davies, Wu, and Frank, "A Witch's Brew of Grievances"; di Carlo, "In Chaos, They Thrive: The Resurgence of Extremist and Terrorist Groups during the COVID-19 Pandemic"; Angie Gad, "The Coronavirus Isn't Immune From the Far-Right," *GNET* (blog), 2020. URL: https://gnet-research.org/2020/05/28/the-coronavirus-isnt-immune-from-the-far-right/; Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic," January 1, 2020; Peita Richards, "Call to Arms: Social Media and Far-Right Narratives of COVID-19," *GNET* (blog), May 18, 2020. URL: https://gnet-research.org/2020/05/18/call-to-arms-social-media-and-far-right-narratives-of-covid-19/.
- [45] Philipp Darius and Fabian Stephany, 'Hijacking Hashtags in Times of COVID-19: How the Far-Right Polarises Twitter', *Oxford Internet Institute* (blog), 21 October 2020. URL: https://www.oii.ox.ac.uk/news-events/news/hijacking-hashtags-in-times-of-covid-19-how-the-far-right-polarises-twitter.
- [46] Eviane Leidig, "#CoronaJihad': How the Far-Right in India Is Responding to the Pandemic," *GNET* (blog), April 15, 2020. URL: https://gnet-research.org/2020/04/15/coronajihad-how-the-far-right-in-india-is-responding-to-the-pandemic/.
- [47] Comerford and Davey, "Comparing Jihadist and Far-Right Extremist Narratives on COVID-19"; Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic," January 1, 2020; Gad, "The Coronavirus Isn't Immune From the Far-Right"; Richards, "Call to Arms."
- [48] Comerford and Davey, "Comparing Jihadist and Far-Right Extremist Narratives on COVID-19"; Cristina Ariza, "From the Fringes to the Forefront: How Far-Right Movements across the Globe Have Reacted to Covid-19" (Tony Blair Institute for Global Change, July 2020); Alexis Chapelan, "Swallowing the Red Pill': The Coronavirus Pandemic and the Political Imaginary of Stigmatized Knowledge in the Discourse of the Far-Right," *Journal of Transatlantic Studies* 19, no. 3 (September 1, 2021): 282–312. URL: https://doi.org/10.1057/s42738-021-00073-2; Arie W. Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic: Exploiting Mayhem," *Global Security: Health, Science and Policy* 5, no. 1 (January 1, 2020): 121–32, https://doi.org/10.1080/23779497.2020.1832903; "White Supremacists and the Weaponization of the Coronavirus (COVID-19)," *The Soufan Center* (blog), March 25, 2020. URL: https://thesoufancenter.org/intelbrief-white-supremacists-and-the-weaponization-of-the-coronavirus-covid-19/; Davies, Wu, and Frank, "A Witch's Brew of Grievances."
- [49] Todd K. Hartman et al., "Different Conspiracy Theories Have Different Psychological and Social Determinants: Comparison of Three Theories About the Origins of the COVID-19 Virus in a Representative Sample of the UK Population," *Frontiers in Political Science* 3 (2021): 44. URL: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpos.2021.642510; Axel Bruns, Stephen Harrington, and Edward Hurcombe, "Corona? 5G? Or Both?': The Dynamics of COVID-19/5G Conspiracy Theories on Facebook," *Media International Australia* 177, no. 1 (November 1, 2020): 12–29, https://doi.org/10.1177/1329878X20946113; McNeil-Willson, "Framing in Times of Crisis"; Alexander Meleagrou-Hitchens and Blyth Crawford, "5G and the Far Right: How Extremists Capitalise on Coronavirus Conspiracies," *GNET* (blog), accessed November 6, 2021. URL: https://gnet-research.org/2020/04/21/5g-and-the-far-right-how-extremists-capitalise-on-coronavirus-conspiracies/.
- [50] Rakib Ehsan, "Weaponising COVID-19: Far-Right Antisemitism in the United Kingdom and United States" (Henry Jackson Society, May 2020). URL: https://www.novahtrp.com/uploads/1/2/5/9/125988329/weaponising_covid-19_far-right_antisemitism_in_the_uk_and_us.pdf; Mark Lynas, "COVID: Top 10 Current Conspiracy Theories," Alliance for Science, April 20, 2020. URL: https://allianceforscience.cornell.edu/blog/2020/04/covid-top-10-current-conspiracy-theories/; "Coronavirus Crisis Elevates Antisemitic, Racist Tropes," Anti-Defamation League, March 17, 2020. URL: https://www.adl.org/blog/coronavirus-crisis-elevates-antisemitic-racist-tropes.

- [51] Comerford and Davey, "Comparing Jihadist and Far-Right Extremist Narratives on COVID-19"; Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic," January 1, 2020.
- [52] Ashton Kingdon, "The Gift of the Gab: The Utilisation of COVID-19 for Neo-Nazi Recruitment," *GNET* (blog), July 5, 2020. URL: https://gnet-research.org/2020/05/07/the-gift-of-the-gab-the-utilisation-of-covid-19-for-neo-nazi-recruitment/.
- [53] Basit, "The COVID-19 Pandemic"; Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic," January 1, 2020; Crisis Group, "Contending with ISIS in the Time of Coronavirus"; Chelsea Daymon and Meili Criezis, "Pandemic Narratives: Pro-Islamic State Media and the Coronavirus," *CTC Sentinel* 13, no. 6 (June 2020): 26–32.
- [54] Basit, "The COVID-19 Pandemic"; Comerford and Davey, "Comparing Jihadist and Far-Right Extremist Narratives on COVID-19"; di Carlo, "In Chaos, They Thrive: The Resurgence of Extremist and Terrorist Groups during the COVID-19 Pandemic"; Kruglanski et al., "Terrorism in Time of the Pandemic," January 1, 2020; Daymon and Criezis, "Pandemic Narratives: Pro-Islamic State Media and the Coronavirus." Mina al-Lami, "Jihadists See COVID-19 as an Opportunity," *GNET* (blog), 2020. URL: https://gnet-research.org/2020/06/01/jihadists-see-covid-19-as-an-opportunity/; Basit, "The COVID-19 Pandemic"; di Carlo, "In Chaos, They Thrive: The Resurgence of Extremist and Terrorist Groups during the COVID-19 Pandemic."
- [55] CTED, "The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism and Countering Violent Extremism"; Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic."
- [56] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Susan E. Marshall, *Splintered Sisterhood: Gender and Class in the Campaign against Woman Suffrage* (Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 1997). URL: https://networks.h-net.org/node/2289/links/805075/marshall-susan-e-splintered-sisterhood-gender-and-class-campaign-against.
- [57] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts," 66.
- [58] Coleman, "The Impact of Coronavirus on Terrorism in the Sahel"; CTED, "The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism and Countering VIolent Extremism"; Pantucci and Taneja, "Beware of Terrorists Offering COVID19 Aid."
- [59] Coleman, "The Impact of Coronavirus on Terrorism in the Sahel"; Crisis Group, "Contending with ISIS in the Time of Coronavirus"; UNITAR, "Impact of COVID-19 on Violent Extremism and Terrorism."
- [60] Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States"; Avis, "The COVID-19 Pandemic and Response on Violent Extremist Recruitment and Radicalisation."
- [61] Crisis Group, "Contending with ISIS in the Time of Coronavirus."
- [62] The authors would like to thank Eden Mesfun, Menso Hartgers, Robert Look, and Alexander de Jong for their diligent work collecting the email addresses of potential respondents.
- [63] Schuurman, "Counterterrorism Professionals on Terrorism Research."
- [64] Andrew Swift, "The FP Survey: Terrorism," *Foreign Policy* (blog), February 2011. URL: https://foreignpolicy.com/2010/12/17/the-fp-survey-terrorism/.
- [65] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Wither, "The COVID-19 Pandemic: A Preliminary Assessment of the Impact on Terrorism in Western States"; Mullins, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Are We Over-Estimating the Threat?"
- [66] CTED, "Update on the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism and Countering Violent Extremism" (Geneva: United Nations Security Council Counter-Terrorism Committee Executive Directorate, June 2021).
- [67] Mullins, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Are We Over-Estimating the Threat?"; Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Pantucci and Taneja, "Beware of Terrorists Offering COVID19 Aid."
- [68] Clarke, "Yesterday's Terrorists and Insurgents in Afghanistan, Syria, and Somalia Are Today's Public Health Providers."
- [69] Ackerman and Peterson, "Terrorism and COVID-19: Actual and Potential Impacts"; Davies, Wu, and Frank, "A Witch's Brew of Grievances"; Perrigo, "White Supremacist Groups Are Recruiting With Help From Coronavirus and a Popular Messaging App"; Moonshot, "The Impact of Social Distancing on Engagement with Violent Extremist Content Online in the United States."
- [70] Lyon, "The COVID-19 Response Has Uncovered and Increased Our Vulnerability to Biological Warfare"; Uchejeso et al., "Coronavirus."
- [71] Gregory D. Koblentz, 'Predicting Peril or the Peril of Prediction? Assessing the Risk of CBRN Terrorism', Terrorism and Political Violence 23, no. 4 (1 September 2011): 501–20; and Daniel Koehler and Peter Popella, 'Mapping Far-Right Chemical, Biological, Radiological, and Nuclear (CBRN) Terrorism Efforts in the West: Characteristics of Plots and Perpetrators for Future Threat Assessment', *Terrorism and Political Violence* 32, no. 8 (16 November 2020): 1666–90.
- [72] Office of the Director of National Intelligence, "Domestic Violent Extremism Poses Heightened Threat in 2021," March

2021. URL: https://www.dni.gov/files/ODNI/documents/assessments/UnclassSummaryofDVEAssessment-17MAR21.pdf.

 $[73] \ EUROPOL, "The \ EU \ Terrorism \ Situation \ and \ Trend \ Report \ (TE-SAT) \ 2021" \ (Luxembourg, June \ 2021) \ . \ URL: \ \underline{https://www.europol.europa.eu/activities-services/main-reports/european-union-terrorism-situation-and-trend-report-2021-tesat.$

Resources

Counterterrorism Bookshelf: 11 Books on Terrorism & Counter- Terrorism-Related Subjects

Reviewed by Joshua Sinai

So many books are published on terrorism- and counterterrorism-related subjects that it is difficult to catch up on a large backlog of monographs and volumes received for review. In order to deal with this backlog, this column consists of capsule reviews and tables of contents of eleven recently published books.

Terrorism - General

Mia Bloom and Sophia Moskalenko, *Pastels and Pedophiles: Inside the Mind of QAnon* (Stanford, CA: Redwood Press/An Imprint of Stanford University Press, 2021), 256 pp., US \$ 20.00 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-1-5036-3029-1.

This is an excellently analyzed account of QAnon, the leading Internet-based far-right conspiracy movement which first emerged in the United States in October 2017, but now has extended world-wide. As the authors explain, QAnon is "a baseless conspiracy theory from the darkest underbelly of the Internet" (p 1), which "conceives that former President Trump is fighting a battle against a 'deep-state' cabal of Democratic saboteurs who worship Satan and traffic children for sex or for their blood" (p. 2). It is a dangerous terrorism-linked movement, the authors observe, with "1 out of 10 people arrested at the Capitol [on January 6, 2021 – JS]...connected to the QAnon conspiracy theory" (p. 172). The authors wisely conclude that "Whatever happens to QAnon in the United States, as long as the Republican Party does not disavow it, it will not completely disappear. QAnon has seeped into the religious sphere, the political sphere, and the international sphere; we will be dealing with the challenges associated with QAnon for years to come" (p. 174). Mia Bloom is professor at Georgia State University. Sophia Moskalenko is a psychologist studying mass identity, inter-group conflict, and conspiracy theories.

Table of Contents: Loony Lies and Conspiracies: Making Sense of QAnon; January 6, 2021: Capitol Hill, the Failed Insurrection; Red-Pilling, Right-Wing Conspiracies, and Radicalization; Life After Q; Contagion; FaQs.

Daveed Gartenstein-Ross and Thomas Joscelyn, *Enemies Near & Far: How Jihadist Groups Strategize*, *Plot and Learn* (New York, NY: Columbia University Press, 2022), 512 pp., US \$ 120.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 30.00 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-0-2311-9525-6.

Utilizing primary sources from al Qaida and ISIS, the authors argue that jihadist terrorist groups are 'learning organizations' at both strategic and tactical levels of asymmetric warfare against their more powerful adversaries. They are also technologically innovative in their warfare, such as in utilizing the internet to radicalize lone actor adherents into conducting terrorist operations on their own. Much of the book is a comprehensive, and detailed account of terrorist operations by al Qaida and ISIS, which is a major contribution to the literature on these organizations' warfare methods. Regarding future trends, the authors conclude that AQ's and IS' evolution will depend on three factors: where they will operate geographically, how they will "present themselves to the outside world", and how "the competition between al-Qaeda and ISIS" will evolve (p. 385). Technologically, the two organizations are likely to embark on weaponized drones and artificial intelligence (AI) algorithms in their Internet communications and messaging (pp. 390-394). With the rise of the Taliban to power in Afghanistan, its continued closeness to al Qaida, and the internecine conflict between the Taliban and ISIS, it will be interesting to observe how the relationship between these jihadist organizations will play out and affect their capability to continue to exert themselves against their 'near' and 'far' state adversaries. This book is recommended as an excellent resource to understand evolv-

ing terrorist warfare trends. Daveed Gartenstein-Ross is the founder of Valens Global and a senior adviser at the Foundation for Defense of Democracies. Thomas Joscelyn is a senior fellow at the Foundation for Defense of Democracies, where he is also senior editor of the *Long War Journal*.

Table of Contents: The Fire Next Time; Learning to Win; The Far-Enemy Strategy; The Unfriendly Skies: Plots Against Aviation; The Early Adopter: Anwar al-Awlaki in the Digital Space; Strategic Learning: Al-Qaeda and Jihadism in the Arab Spring; The Islamic State's Rise and Rule; The Fitna: ISIS versus al-Qaeda; How al-Qaeda Survived the War in Afghanistan; ISIS's External Operations: A Study in Innovation; The Past and Future of Jihadist Organizational Learning.

Mark Juergensmeyer, *When God Stops Fighting: How Religious Violence Ends* (Oakland, CA: University of California Press, 2022), 196 pp., US \$ 85.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 21.95 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-0-5203-8473-6.

This is an interesting, although brief, account about the mindsets and ideologies of religiously motivated violent militants associated with the Islamic State (ISIS) in Iraq, the Sikh Khalistan movement in India's Punjab, and the Moro movement for a Muslim Mindanao in the Philippines. As the author explains, he is especially interested in understanding the internal and external conditions driving such violent religious movements to "terminate, or [how they – JS] are transformed into more peaceful elements within the broader society" (p. viii). The internal conditions, he argues, "can be clustered around three categories: a loss of faith in the movement's vision; fractures in the communal consensus of the organization, and the awareness of alternative opportunities that provide new hope" (p. 120). The external conditions are driven by "How authorities respond to militant movements...." (p. 130). The three case studies that form the book's account yield important generalizations that might also apply to other violent religious movements around the world, making this an important contribution to the literature on this subject. The author is Distinguished Professor Emeritus of Sociology and Global Studies at the University of California, Santa Barbara and William F. Podlich Distinguished Fellow at Claremont McKenna College.

Table of Contents: Preface; The Trajectory of Imagined Wars; The Apocalyptic War of the Islamic State; The Militant Struggle of Mindanao Muslims; The Fight for Khalistan in India's Punjab; How Imagined Wars End.

Costantino Pischedda, *Conflict Among Rebels: Why Insurgent Groups Fight Each Other* (New York, NY: Columbia University Press, 2020), 264 pp., US \$ 140.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 35.00 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-0-2311-9867-7.

This is a conceptually innovative, empirically-based account of why insurgent groups fighting a common state adversary tend to clash against each other rather than cooperate in their struggle against their common enemy. This phenomenon is examined in the cases of civil wars in Iraq, Ethiopia, Lebanon, Sri Lanka, and Syria. Some of the author's findings are that insurgent groups that consider themselves to be stronger than their rivals decide it might be an opportune time to eliminate their weaker rivals. Some findings can be challenged, such as a conclusion that "when inter-rebel war is ongoing, it is in the interest of counterinsurgents not to increase military pressure on the rebels lest they stop squabbling against each other, due to the threat posed by government forces" (p. 173). Overall, the book's empirically generated evidence presents valuable data for further application and testing of cases where several insurgent groups are fighting each other as well as the. The author is assistant professor of political science at the University of Miami.

Table of Contents: Wars Within Wars; Windows of Opportunity, Windows of Vulnerability, and Inter-rebel War; Inter-rebel War in the Shadow of Genocide: The Kurdish Insurgencies in Iraq; Parallel Paths to Ethnic Hegemony: Insurgencies in Ethiopia's Eritrea and Tigray; Inter-rebel War in Lebanon, Sri Lanka, and Syria; Are Co-ethnic Rebel Groups More Likely to Fight Each Other? A Statistical Test; Conclusions.

David C. Rapoport, *Waves of Global Terrorism: From 1879 to the Present* (New York, NY: Columbia University Press, 2022), 449 pp., US \$ 140.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 35.00 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-0-2311-3303-6.

When the author's article on the four historical waves of modern terrorism first appeared around 2003, it quickly became one of the preeminent conceptual frameworks in the academic field to understand how distinct historical waves shaped the evolution of terrorism from the 1880s to the early 2000s. In this long-awaited book, the author examines in greater detail the dynamics of each historical wave in terms of their causes, tactics, weapons, targets, and objectives. Readers will appreciate David C. Rapoport's updated timeframe for the fifth historical wave, which he argues emerged around 2020, consisting of far-right-wing white supremacist terrorism. It is also noteworthy, as he had observed earlier, that each historical wave might stretch into its next wave; such is the case with the religious fundamentalist fourth wave, which continues to express itself to this day. The author is distinguished professor emeritus of political science at the University of California, Los Angeles and the founding editor of the journal *Terrorism and Political Violence*.

Table of Contents: Introduction; Terrorism Before the Global Form: From the First Century to the Twentieth; The First Wave: Anarchist, 1879–1920s; The Second Wave: Anticolonial, 1919–1960s; The Third Wave: New Left, 1960s–1990s; The Fourth Wave: Religious, 1979–2020s?; Conclusion: The Fifth Wave?

Terrorism - Psychology

Neil Shortland, *The Psychology of Terrorism* (New York, NY: Routledge, 2021), 126 pp., US \$ 124.00 [Hardcover], US \$ 11.96 [Paperback], ISBN: 978-0-3673-5331-5.

This short book is a terrific examination of the psychology of terrorism, especially why some individuals might be more susceptible than others to becoming violent militants - whether as members of a terrorist group or as lone actors. As the author explains, "instead of a linear radicalization process governing involvement in terrorism," one needs to examine "processes that govern general behavior," which are "based on the individuals' social and environmental experiences and influences and leads them to believe that terrorist behavior satisfies a psychological need" (p. 54). Also worthy is the author's examination of the factors that might influence individuals to disengage from terrorism, and his discussion of the Terrorist Radicalization Assessment Protocol-18 (TRAP-18) to assess the warning signs that might indicate that a susceptible individual might be transitioning along a pathway to terrorist violence, which is applied to the case of Dylann S. Roof, the lone actor terrorist who killed nine Black people in the Charleston church shooting in South Carolina on June 17, 2015. The author is Director of the Center for Terrorism and Security Studies, University of Massachusetts Lowell, USA.

Table of Contents: What is terrorism?; Who is a terrorist?; Why do people become terrorists?; Can people stop being terrorists?; Can we stop terrorism?; Conclusion.

Terrorism - Root Causes

Christopher Blattman, *Why We Fight: The Roots of War and the Paths to Peace* (New York, NY: Viking/ An Imprint of Penguin Random House, 2022), 400 pp., US \$ 32.00 [Hardcover], ISBN: 978-1-9848-8157-1.

This is an interesting account of the causes of starting wars, whether between ethnic and religious communities in civil wars, or between states. Applying the principles of game theory – the study of mathematical models of strategic interactions among rational actors – the author, an economist, formulates five reasons for initiating wars: unchecked interests, intangible incentives, the collapse of bargains due to uncertainty about the other side's intentions, a commitment problem in accepting a possible compromise, and misconceptions that lead to demonizing one's adversary (pp. 14-15). While the author is correct in noting that "Things like poverty, scarcity, natural resources, climate change, ethnic fragmentation, polarization,

injustices, and arms" do not "ignite fighting in the first place" (p. 16), at least in the case of the root causes underlying terrorist insurgencies, this view requires some modification since terrorist leaders capitalize on such underlying conditions. The author is the Ramalee E. Pearson Professor of Global Conflict Studies at the University of Chicago, where he co-leads the Development Economics Center and directs the Obama Foundation Scholars program.

Table of Contents: Introduction; Part I: The Roots of War; Why We Don't Fight; Unchecked Interests; Intangible Incentives; Uncertainty; Commitment Problems; Misperceptions; Part II: The Paths to Peace; Interdependence; Checks and Balances; Rules of Enforcement; Interventions; Wayward Paths to War and Peace; Conclusion: The Peacemeal Engineer.

Steven Levitsky and Daniel Ziblatt, *How Democracies Die* (New York, NY: Broadway Books, 2019), 320 pp, US \$ 17.00 [Paperback], 978-1-52476294-0.

This is an important account of how democracies become threatened by internal authoritarian subversions that can potentially cause their decline and collapse. This subject is especially important today in countries such as the United States, where former President Donald Trump's refusal to accept his electoral defeat in the November 2020 elections have led his supporters to challenge the legitimacy of the country's electoral and judicial systems. Other countries that have tried to maintain their democratic political systems, such as Venezuela, Thailand, Turkey, Hungary, Poland, among others, are also discussed in this book. What are some of the indicators of anti-democratic authoritarian behaviors? The authors point to four key indicators: rejection of (or weak commitment to) democratic rules of the game, denial of the legitimacy of political opponents, toleration or encouragement of violence, and readiness to curtail civil liberties of opponents, including media (pp. 23-24). The authors conclude with two central lesson, namely that when democracy works "it has relied upon two norms that we often take for granted - mutual tolerance and institutional forbearance" (p. 212). This account's indicators of democratic breakdown and the solutions required to fix them are important insights because political breakdowns are generally accompanied by a rise of terrorist insurgencies – which is the case in the United States today – making this book a valuable contribution to the literature on the root causes of terrorism as well. Steven Levitsky and Daniel Ziblatt are professors of government at Harvard University.

Table of Contents: Introduction; Fateful Alliances; Gatekeeping in America; The Great Republican Abdication; Subverting Democracy; The Guardrails of Democracy; The Unwritten Rules of American Politics; The Unraveling; Trump Against the Guardrails; Saving Democracy.

Barbara F. Walter, *How Civil Wars Start – and How to Stop Them* (New York, NY: Crown/An Imprint of Random House, 2022), 320 pp., US \$ 27.00 [Hardcover], ISBN: 97-0-5931-3778-9.

This is an empirically-based account of how civil wars start in a variety of political systems, ranging from authoritarian to democratic. Focusing on the subject of civil wars is significant, the author points out, because over the past three decades the number of active civil wars around the world has almost doubled (pp. 10-11). To examine these issues, the author examines "the conditions that give rise to, and define, modern civil war" (p. xviii). One finding is that in democratic systems, the risk of civil war becomes possible "the moment it becomes less democratic," which is marked by "fewer executive restraints, weaker rule of law, diminished voting rights" (p. 22). In the conclusion, the author recommends that, at least in the case of the United States, "The best way to neutralize a budding insurgency is to reform a degraded government, bolster the rule of law, give all citizens equal access to the vote, and improve the quality of government services" (p. 209). The author is Professor of International Relations at the School of Global Policy and Strategy at the University of California, San Diego.

Table of Contents: Introduction; The Danger of Anocracy; The Rise of Factions; The Dark Consequences of Losing Status; When Hope Dies; The Accelerant; How Close Are We?; What a War Would Look Like; Preventing a Civil War.

Terrorism - Canada

Phil Gurski, *The Peaceable Kingdom: A History of Terrorism in Canada from Confederation to the Present* (Ottawa, Canada: Borealis Threat and Risk Consulting Ltd., 2021), 262 pp., US \$ 20.00 [Paperback], ISBN: 1-7-7748-431-6.

This is the only up-to-date comprehensive and detailed account of Canada's experience with terrorism, which began following the country's independence in 1867. The book's chapters discuss how terrorism is treated in Canadian law, the government agencies tasked with investigating and preventing terrorism, the types of nationalist and ethnic terrorism threatening the country (including the no longer active militant Quebec independence groups), the threats presented by current Islamist and far-right terrorism, and future trends. What makes this book so indispensable is the author's extensive practitioner experience as a retired senior analyst in the Canadian government's intelligence service, which gives the book an insider's perspective on the details of the terrorist threat and how the government's counterterrorism campaigns have been conducted. In the chapter on "Counterterrorism Challenges," Phil Gursky discusses the Canadian counterterrorism agencies' relationships with foreign partners, the use of human sources and agents, how to utilize intelligence, how to handle large data volumes and encryption, how to allocate intelligence resources in investigating and preventing terrorism, and the need to obtain public – and especially local community - support in implementing counterterrorism measures. The author concludes this excellent account with the observation that while terrorism in Canada is "infrequent," the government and the population still need to be vigilant in ensuring that it does not become more severe. The author is President and CEO of Borealis Threat and Risk Consulting. He worked as a senior strategic analyst at CSIS (Canadian Security Intelligence Service) from 2001 to 2015, specializing in violent Islamist-inspired homegrown terrorism and radicalization.

Table of Contents: Foreword by Ward Elcock, former Director of CSIS; Introduction; The Canadian Counterterrorism Landscape; Ethno-Nationalist Terrorism in Canada; Islamist Terrorism; Other Forms of Terrorism; Counterterrorism Challenges; Conclusion: Final Thoughts.

Andrew Kirsch, *I Was Never Here: My True Canadian Spy Story of Coffees, Code Names and Covert Operations in the Age of Terrorism* (Vancouver, BC, Canada: Page Two, 2022), 240 pp., US \$ 26.00 [Hardcover]; ISBN: 978-1-7745-8133-9.

This is a fascinating and dramatic insider's account by a former intelligence operative in the Canadian Security Intelligence Service (CSIS) recalling his career as a counterterrorism operations officer. As a young intelligence officer, he learned how to utilize code names for sources, how to use an alias in public during investigations, and how to deploy special operations teams and surveillance technologies to investigate terrorism-related cases. This is followed by his account of terrorism cases he worked on involving Canadian Islamists who plotted to carry out attacks in Canada or became foreign fighters on behalf of jihadist groups in Syria. After leaving CSIS, the author worked as a Department Security Officer (DSO) in the Ontario Office of the Provincial Security Advisor. Currently he is a security consultant in Toronto.

Table of Contents: Introduction; The World's Second-Oldest Profession; The Long Road of Recruitment; Spy University; Analyst Life; In the Field; New to the Community; My Guy; Back of the Van; Wait, I'm in Charge? The Best Job in the World; A Delicate Imbalance; In from the Cold.

About the Reviewer: Dr. Joshua Sinai is the Book Reviews Editor of 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. He can be reached at: Joshua.sinai@comcast.net.

A Resources List for Terrorism Research: Journals, Websites, Bibliographies (2022 Edition)

Compiled and selected by Judith Tinnes

Abstract

This resources list aims to provide the Terrorism Research community with an entry point to important resources in the field of Terrorism Studies. It is subdivided into three sections: The first section lists open-access and subscription-based scholarly and professional journals, most of them peer-reviewed. The second assembles websites run by academic, non-/governmental, or private institutes, organisations, think tanks, companies, groups, and individual experts. The third provides a meta-bibliography of subject bibliographies on a broad spectrum of field-relevant topics. The resource list is based on the bibliographic work which the author has been conducting for "Perspectives on Terrorism" since 2013. Like every hand-searched resource collection, this one reflects subjective choices and does not claim to be exhaustive.

Keywords: Resources list; terrorism research; terrorism studies; journals; websites; bibliographies, meta-bibliography

NB: All websites were last visited on 24.07.2022. For a guide on how to retrieve Terrorism Research literature see: Tinnes, Judith (2013, August): The Art of Searching: How to Find Terrorism Literature in the Digital Age. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 7(4), 79-111. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-4/the-art-of-searching-how-to-find-terrorism-literature-in-the-digital-age--judith-tinnes.pdf

Journals

Open-Access Journals

Combating Terrorism Exchange (CTX)

https://nps.edu/web/ecco/ctx-journal-home

conflict & communication online

https://regener-online.de/journalcco/

Contemporary Voices: The St Andrews Journal of International Relations (CVIR) (formerly: Journal of Terrorism Research [JTR])

https://cvir.st-andrews.ac.uk

Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses (CTTA)

https://www.rsis.edu.sg/ctta

CREST Security Review (CSR)

https://crestresearch.ac.uk/magazine

CTC Sentinel

https://ctc.usma.edu/ctc-sentinel

Current Trends in Islamist Ideology

https://www.hudson.org/policycenters/6-current-trends-in-islamist-ideology

CyberOrient

https://cyberorient.net

Defence Against Terrorism Review (DATR)

https://www.coedat.nato.int/datrvolumes.html

Fletcher Forum of World Affairs, The

http://www.fletcherforum.org

Georgetown Security Studies Review (GSSR)

https://georgetownsecuritystudiesreview.org

Harvard National Security Journal (NSJ)

https://harvardnsj.org

Homeland Security Affairs

https://www.hsaj.org

International Counter-Terrorism Review (ICTR)

https://ict.org.il/category/ictr

International Journal of Conflict and Violence (IJCV)

https://www.ijcv.org

International Journal of Safety and Security in Tourism/Hospitality (IJSSTH)

https://www.palermo.edu/negocios/cbrs/ijssth.html

Islamophobia Studies Journal (ISJ)

https://www.jstor.org/journal/islastudj

Journal EXIT-Deutschland (JEX): Journal for Deradicalization and Democratic Culture

https://journal-exit.de

Journal for Deradicalization (JD)

https://journals.sfu.ca/jd

Journal of 9/11 Studies

http://www.journalof911studies.com

Journal of Human Security (JoHS)

http://www.librelloph.com/journalofhumansecurity

Journal of Intelligence, Conflict, and Warfare (JICW), The

https://journals.lib.sfu.ca/index.php/jicw/index

Journal of International Security Affairs, The

https://security-affairs.com

Journal of National Security Law and Policy (JNSLP)

https://jnslp.com

Journal of Social and Political Psychology (JSPP)

https://jspp.psychopen.eu

Journal of Strategic Security (JSS)

https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/jss

Journal of Terrorism & Cyber Insurance, The (JTCI)

https://www.terrorismcyberinsurance.com

Journal on Terrorism and Security Analysis, The (JTSA)

https://satsa.syr.edu/satsa-archive/journal

Kriminalpolizei, Die

https://www.kriminalpolizei.de

Middle East Quarterly (MEQ)

https://www.meforum.org/meq

Military Review (MR)

https://www.armyupress.army.mil/Military-Review

Pakistan Journal of Criminology (PJC)

http://www.pjcriminology.com

Parameters

https://press.armywarcollege.edu/parameters

Peace and Security Review

https://bipss.org.bd/bipss-journal

per Concordiam

https://perconcordiam.com

Perspectives on Terrorism (PT)

https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/perspectives-on-terrorism

PRISM

https://ndupress.ndu.edu/Journals/PRISM

Radices: Interdisciplinary Journal for the Study of Terrorism and Extremism

https://openjournals.ugent.be/radices

Sicurezza, Terrorismo e Società (Security, Terrorism and Society)

https://www.sicurezzaterrorismosocieta.it

Small Wars Journal (SWJ)

https://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl

Stability

https://www.stabilityjournal.org

Syria Studies

https://ojs.st-andrews.ac.uk/index.php/syria

Terrorism: An Electronic Journal and Knowledge Base

https://www.terrorismelectronicjournal.org

Terrorism Monitor (TM)

https://jamestown.org/programs/tm

ZRex - Zeitschrift für Rechtsextremismusforschung

https://www.budrich-journals.de/index.php/zrex

Subscription-Based Journals

African Security

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/uafs20

Behavioral Sciences of Terrorism and Political Aggression

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rirt20

Caucasus Survey

https://brill.com/view/journals/casu/casu-overview.xml

Conflict Management and Peace Science (CMPS)

https://journals.sagepub.com/home/cmp

Counter Terrorist, The

http://www.thecounterterroristmag.com

Critical Studies on Security

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rcss20

Critical Studies on Terrorism

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rter20

Democracy and Security

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/fdas20

Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict: Pathways toward terrorism and genocide (DAC)

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rdac20

European Journal of International Security (EJIS)

https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/european-journal-of-international-security

Foreign Affairs

https://www.foreignaffairs.com

Foreign Policy (FP)

https://foreignpolicy.com

Global Crime

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/fglc20

Health Security

https://www.liebertpub.com/loi/hs

Intelligence and National Security

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/fint20

International Affairs

https://academic.oup.com/ia

International Interactions

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/gini20

International Journal of Cyber Warfare and Terrorism (IJCWT)

https://www.igi-global.com/journal/international-journal-cyber-warfare-terrorism

International Security (IS)

https://direct.mit.edu/isec

Janes Defence and Intelligence Review

https://www.janes.com/publications/janes-defence-intelligence-magazines

Journal for Intelligence, Propaganda and Security Studies (JIPSS)

https://acipss.org/publikationen/#journal

Journal for the Study of Radicalism (JSR)

https://msupress.org/journals/journal-for-the-study-of-radicalism

Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research (JACPR)

https://www.emerald.com/insight/publication/issn/1759-6599

Journal of Applied Security Research: Prevention and Response in Asset Protection, Terrorism and Violence

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/wasr20

Journal of Arab & Muslim Media Research (JAMMR)

https://www.intellectbooks.com/journal-of-arab-muslim-media-research

Journal of Conflict Resolution (JCR)

https://journals.sagepub.com/home/jcr

Journal of Contemporary Iraq & the Arab World (JCI&AW)

https://www.intellectbooks.com/journal-of-contemporary-iraq-the-arab-world

Journal of Counter Terrorism & Homeland Security International, The

https://www.iacsp.com/publications.php [Older volumes are open-access and can be retrieved from https://issuu.com/fusteros]

•

Journal of Democracy

https://www.journalofdemocracy.org

Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management (JHSEM)

https://www.degruyter.com/journal/key/jhsem/html

Journal of Military Ethics (JME)

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/smil20

Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/cjmm20

Journal of Peace Research (JPR)

https://journals.sagepub.com/home/jpr

Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism (JPICT)

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rpic20

Journal of Religion and Violence (JRV)

https://www.pdcnet.org/jrv/Journal-of-Religion-and-Violence

Journal of Threat Assessment and Management

https://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/tam

Journal on the Use of Force and International Law (JUFIL)

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rjuf20

Media, War & Conflict

https://journals.sagepub.com/home/mwc

Middle East Journal, The (MEJ)

https://muse.jhu.edu/journal/459

Middle East Policy

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/14754967

Militant Leadership Monitor (MLM)

https://jamestown.org/programs/mlm

Orbis

https://www.sciencedirect.com/journal/orbis

Political Psychology

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/14679221

Politics, Religion & Ideology

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/ftmp21

RUSI Journal, The

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/rusi20

Security Dialogue

https://journals.sagepub.com/home/sdi

Security Journal

https://www.palgrave.com/gp/journal/41284

Security Studies

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/fsst20

Small Wars & Insurgencies

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/fswi20

Studies in Conflict & Terrorism

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/uter20

Studies in Ethnicity and Nationalism (SEN)

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/17549469

Survival

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/tsur20

Terrorism and Political Violence

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/ftpv20

Third World Quarterly (TWQ)

https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/ctwq20

Violence

https://journals.sagepub.com/home/vio

Washington Quarterly, The (TWQ)

https://tandfonline.com/loi/rwaq20

Websites

Accelerationism Research Consortium (ARC), The

https://www.accresearch.org

Afghanistan Analysts Network (AAN)

https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org

Aljazeera Centre for Studies

https://studies.aljazeera.net/en

Amnesty International

https://www.amnesty.org

Arab Center for Research and Policy Studies (ACRPS)

https://www.dohainstitute.org/en

Atlantic Council

https://www.atlanticcouncil.org

Australian Strategic Policy Institute (ASPI)

https://www.aspi.org.au

Aymenn Jawad Al-Tamimi

https://www.aymennjawad.org

Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs

https://www.belfercenter.org

Bellingcat

https://www.bellingcat.com

Berkeley Center for Right-Wing Studies (CRWS)

https://crws.berkeley.edu

Bin Laden's Bookshelf

https://www.dni.gov/index.php/features/bin-laden-s-bookshelf

Bipartisan Policy Center (BPC)

https://bipartisanpolicy.org

Bored Jihadi, The

https://boredjihadi.net

Brookings Institution, The

https://www.brookings.edu

C²BRNE Diary

https://www.cbrne-terrorism-newsletter.com

Canadian Network for Research on Terrorism, Security and Society (TSAS)

https://www.tsas.ca

Canadian Security Intelligence Service (CSIS)

https://www.canada.ca/en/security-intelligence-service.html

Carter Center, The

https://www.cartercenter.org

Cato Institute - Defense and Foreign Policy

https://www.cato.org/defense-foreign-policy

Center for a New American Security (CNAS)

https://www.cnas.org

Center for Research on Extremism (C-REX)

https://www.sv.uio.no/c-rex/english

Center for Risk and Economic Analysis of Threats and Emergencies (CREATE)

https://create.usc.edu

Center for Security Studies (CSS) – Digital Library

https://css.ethz.ch/en/services/digital-library.html

Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS)

https://www.csis.org

Center for Terrorism and Security Studies (CTSS)

https://www.uml.edu/Research/CTSS

Center for the Analysis of Terrorism (CAT)

https://www.cat-int.org

Center for the Study of Hate and Extremism

https://www.csusb.edu/hate-and-extremism-center

Center on National Security at Fordham Law (CNS)

https://www.centeronnationalsecurity.org

Center on Terrorism, Extremism, and Counterterrorism (CTEC)

https://www.middlebury.edu/institute/academics/centers-initiatives/ctec

Centre for Analysis of the Radical Right (CARR)

https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com

Centre for Conflict and Peace Studies Afghanistan (CAPS)

http://www.caps.af

Centre for Research and Evidence on Security Threats (CREST)

https://crestresearch.ac.uk

Centre for Societal Security (CTSS)

https://www.fhs.se/en/centre-for-societal-security.html

Centre for the Prevention of Radicalization Leading to Violence (CPRLV)

https://info-radical.org/en

Centre of Excellence – Defence Against Terrorism (COE-DAT)

https://www.coedat.nato.int

Chatham House

https://www.chathamhouse.org

Chicago Project on Security and Threats (CPOST)

https://cpost.uchicago.edu

CNA

https://www.cna.org

Combating Terrorism Center (CTC)

https://ctc.westpoint.edu

Conflict Armament Research (CAR)

https://www.conflictarm.com

Conflict Barometer

https://hiik.de/conflict-barometer/?lang=en

Conflict, Violence, and Terrorism Research Centre (CVTRC)

http://cvtrc.org

Consortium for Mathematical and Computational Methods in Counterterrorism – Mathematical and Computational Methods in Counterterrorism

https://www.rit.edu/cos/sms/cmmc/index.php

Council on Foreign Relations (CFR)

https://www.cfr.org

Counter Extremism Group (CEG)

https://counterextremism.org.uk

Counter Extremism Project (CEP)

https://www.counterextremism.com

counterideology 2

https://counterideology2.wordpress.com

Country Reports on Terrorism

https://www.state.gov/country-reports-on-terrorism-2

Crown Center for Middle East Studies

https://www.brandeis.edu/crown

Cyberterrorism Project, The

https://www.cyberterrorism-project.org

Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS)

https://www.diis.dk/en

Deutsche Arbeitsgemeinschaft Vorderer Orient für gegenwartsbezogene Forschung und Dokumentation e.V. (DAVO)

https://davo1.de

emmejihad

https://emmejihad.wordpress.com

Empirical Studies of Conflict Project (ESOC)

https://esoc.princeton.edu

Esri StoryMaps - Terrorist Attacks

https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/dcbb5c9e009442b99944bd1ef6158bda

European Consortium for Political Research (ECPR) Standing Group on Extremism & Democracy https://standinggroups.ecpr.eu/extremismanddemocracy

European Eye on Radicalization (EER)

https://eeradicalization.com

European Institute for Counter Terrorism and Conflict Prevention (EICTP)

https://www.eictp.eu/en/

Europol - Crime Areas: Terrorism

https://www.europol.europa.eu/crime-areas-and-statistics/crime-areas/terrorism

Eye on ISIS

https://eyeonisis.com

FATA Research Centre (FRC)

http://frc.org.pk

FDD's Long War Journal

https://www.longwarjournal.org

Federation of American Scientists (FAS) – Congressional Research Service Reports on Terrorism https://sgp.fas.org/crs/terror/index.html

Foreign Policy Research Institute (FPRI)

https://www.fpri.org

Foundation for Defense of Democracies (FDD)

https://www.fdd.org

From Chechnya To Syria

http://www.chechensinsyria.com

General Intelligence and Security Service of the Netherlands (AIVD)

https://english.aivd.nl

German Institute for Global and Area Studies (GIGA)

https://www.giga-hamburg.de/en

German Institute for International and Security Affairs (SWP)

https://www.swp-berlin.org/en

German Institute on Radicalization and De-radicalization Studies (GIRDS)

http://girds.org

German Jihad, The

https://germanjihad.wordpress.com

Global Center on Cooperative Security

https://www.globalcenter.org

Global Community Engagement and Resilience Fund (GCERF)

https://www.gcerf.org

Global Counterterrorism Forum (GCTF)

https://www.thegctf.org

Global Internet Forum to Counter Terrorism (GIFCT)

https://gifct.org

Global Muslim Brotherhood Daily Watch (GMBDW), The

https://www.globalmbwatch.com

Global Network on Extremism and Technology (GNET)

https://gnet-research.org

Global Terrorism Research Project (GTRP)

http://gtrp.haverford.edu

Governance and Social Development Resource Centre (GSDRC)

https://gsdrc.org

GW Program on Extremism

https://extremism.gwu.edu

Handa Centre for the Study of Terrorism and Political Violence (CSTPV), The

https://cstpv.wp.st-andrews.ac.uk

Hate Speech International (HSI)

https://www.hate-speech.org

Hedayah

https://hedayah.com

Henry Jackson Society, The (HJS)

https://henryjacksonsociety.org

Hiraal Institute

https://hiraalinstitute.org

House Committee on Homeland Security, Subcommittee on Intelligence and Counterterrorism

https://homeland.house.gov/subcommittees

Hudson Institute

https://www.hudson.org

Human Cognition

https://www.humancognition.co.uk

Human Rights Data Analysis Group (HRDAG)

https://hrdag.org

Human Rights Watch (HRW)

https://www.hrw.org

Institute for Peace Research and Security Policy (IFSH)

https://ifsh.de/en

Institute for Policy Analysis of Conflict (IPAC)

http://www.understandingconflict.org

Institute for Security Policy and Law (SPL)

https://securitypolicylaw.syr.edu

Institute for Strategic Dialogue (ISD)

https://www.isdglobal.org

Institute for Strategic, Political, Security and Economic Consultancy (ISPSW)

https://www.ispsw.com/en

Institute for the Study of War (ISW)

https://www.understandingwar.org

Institute of Security and Global Affairs (ISGA)

https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/en/governance-and-global-affairs/institute-of-security-and-global-affairs

IntelCenter

https://www.intelcenter.com

INTELWIRE

https://www.intelwire.com

International Center for the Study of Violent Extremism (ICSVE)

https://www.icsve.org

International Centre for Counter-Terrorism (ICCT)

https://icct.nl

International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation (ICSR)

https://icsr.info

International Counter-Terrorism Academic Community (ICTAC)

https://www.ictac.uni-kiel.de

International Crisis Group (ICG)

https://www.crisisgroup.org

International Institute for Counter-Terrorism (ICT)

https://ict.org.il

Investigative Project on Terrorism (IPT), The

https://www.investigativeproject.org

Islamic State Archives, The

https://islamicstatearchives.com

Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI)

https://www.iai.it/en

Italian Institute for International Political Studies (ISPI)

https://www.ispionline.it/en

James J.F. Forest

https://www.jamesforest.com

Jamestown Foundation, The

https://jamestown.org

Jih@d

https://ojihad.wordpress.com

Jihadica

https://www.jihadica.com

Jihadi Document Repository

https://www.hf.uio.no/ikos/english/research/jihadi-document-repository/index.html

Jihadismstudies.net

https://sites.google.com/site/jihadismstudiesnet

Jihadology

https://jihadology.net

ISTOR Security Studies collection

https://www.jstor.org/security-studies

Lawfare

https://www.lawfareblog.com

(George C.) Marshall European Center for Security Studies (GCMC)

https://www.marshallcenter.org

Middle East Institute (MEI)

https://www.mei.edu

Middle East Media Research Institute (MEMRI), The

https://www.memri.org

Murphy Raid, The

https://andrewzammit.org

Musings On Iraq

http://musingsoniraq.blogspot.com

National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism (START)

https://www.start.umd.edu

National Coordinator for Counterterrorism and Security (NCTV)

https://english.nctv.nl

NATO Library

https://natolibguides.info/library

Netzwerk Terrorismusforschung e. V. (NTF)

http://www.netzwerk-terrorismusforschung.org

New America

https://www.newamerica.org

Newlines Institute for Strategy and Policy

https://newlinesinstitute.org

Norwegian Centre for Conflict Resolution (NOREF)

https://noref.no

Norwegian Defence Research Establishment (FFI)

https://www.ffi.no/en

November 2017 Release of Abbottabad Compound Material https://www.cia.gov/library/abbottabad-com-

pound/index.html

NSI

https://nsiteam.com

Online Jihad

https://onlinejihad.net

Online-Propagandaforschung

https://www.online-propagandaforschung.de

Pak Institute for Peace Studies (PIPS)

https://www.pakpips.com

Peace Research Institute Oslo (PRIO)

https://www.prio.org

Pieter Van Ostaeyen

https://pietervanostaeyen.com

Polarization and Extremism Research Innovation Lab (PERIL)

https://www.american.edu/spa/peril

Political Violence @ a Glance

https://politicalviolenceataglance.org

Project on Violent Conflict (PVC)

https://www.albany.edu/pvc/index.shtml

PROTON

https://www.projectproton.eu

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN)

https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/networks/radicalisation-awareness-network-ran_en

Radicalisation Research

https://www.radicalisationresearch.org

Radicalisations

https://radical.hypotheses.org

RAND Corporation

https://www.rand.org

Research Institute for European and American Studies (RIEAS) - Terrorism Studies

https://www.rieas.gr/researchareas/terrorism-studies

RESOLVE Network

https://www.resolvenet.org

Rice University's Baker Institute for Public Policy

https://www.bakerinstitute.org

Royal Danish Defence College (RDDC)

https://www.fak.dk/en

Royal United Services Institute (RUSI)

https://rusi.org

Saferworld

https://www.saferworld.org.uk

Science of P/CVE, The

https://thescienceofpcve.org

September 11 Digital Archive, The

https://911digitalarchive.org

SITE Intelligence Group

https://ent.siteintelgroup.com

Small Arms Survey

https://www.smallarmssurvey.org

Society for Terrorism Research (STR)

https://societyforterrorismresearch.org

Soufan Center, The (TSC)

https://thesoufancenter.org

South Asia Terrorism Portal (SATP)

https://www.satp.org

Southeast Asia Regional Centre for Counter-Terrorism (SEARCTT)

https://www.searcct.gov.my/en_gb

S. Rajaratnam School of International Studies (RSIS)

https://www.rsis.edu.sg

Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI)

https://www.sipri.org

Strategic Studies Institute (SSI)

https://ssi.armywarcollege.edu

Taliban Sources Repository

https://www.hf.uio.no/ikos/english/research/taliban-sources-repository

Tech Against Terrorism (TAT)

https://www.techagainstterrorism.org

Terrorism & Radicalisation Research Dashboard

https://start.me/p/OmExgb/terrorism-radicalisation-research-dashboard

Terrorism Prevention Literature Library

https://www.dhs.gov/science-and-technology/accessing-terrorism-prevention-literature-library

Terrorism Research & Analysis Consortium (TRAC)

https://www.trackingterrorism.org

Terrorism, Transnational Crime and Corruption Center (TraCCC)

https://traccc.gmu.edu

Terrorist Content Analytics Platform (TCAP)

https://www.terrorismanalytics.org

Threat Intel Blog

https://flashpoint.io/blog

TRENDS Research and Advisory

https://trendsresearch.org

Triangle Center on Terrorism and Homeland Security (TCTHS)

https://tcths.sanford.duke.edu

United Nations Security Council – Counter-Terrorism Committee (CTC)

https://www.un.org/securitycouncil/ctc

United States Institute of Peace (USIP)

https://www.usip.org

VOX-Pol Network of Excellence (NoE)

https://www.voxpol.eu

War on the Rocks (WOTR)

https://warontherocks.com

Washington Institute for Near East Policy, The (TWI)

https://www.washingtoninstitute.org

World Almanac of Islamism

https://almanac.afpc.org

Bibliographies

Alali, Andy Odasuo; Byrd, Gary W. (1994): *Terrorism and the News Media: A Selected, Annotated Bibliography*. Jefferson: McFarland.

Al-Arian, Abdullah (2019, June): Hasan al-Banna. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780195390155-0006

Alava, Séraphin (2021, January): *Bibliography "Studies of the Process of Digital Radicalization"*. (Selective Bibliography; Militants des savoirs). Zenodo. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4410934

Alexander, Yonah (1991): Terrorism: An International Resource File: 1970-1989. Ann Arbor: UMI.

Andrusyszyn, Greta H. (2009, December): *Terrorism: A Selected Bibliography*. (U.S. Army War College Library Bibliography). URL: https://www.hsdl.org/?view&did=28031

Anzalone, Christopher; Warner, Jason (2021, June): Al-Shabaab. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199743292-0303

Archives Library Information Center (ALIC) (2002, October): *Bibliography on Terrorism*. (ALIC Reading List). URL: https://www.archives.gov/research/alic/reference/terrorism.html

Atkins, Stephen E. (2011): Annotated Bibliography. In: Stephen E. Atkins (Ed.): *The 9/11 Encyclopedia*. (2nd ed., Vol. 1). Santa Barbara: ABC-CLIO, 481-508.

Axelsen, Jørgen Eikvar (2018, December): Bibliography of Works on the Extreme Right Cited in this Special Issue. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(6), 177-191. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-6/raxelsen.pdf

Babkina, A. M. (2005): Terrorism: A Bibliography with Indexes. (3rd ed.). Hauppauge: Nova Science.

Bazian, Hatem et al. (n.d.): *Islamophobia Bibliography and Existing Academic Research on the Subject*. URL: https://www.academia.edu/9419339/Islamophobia Bibliography and Existing Academic Research on https://www.academia.edu/9419339/Islamophobia Bibliography and Existing Academic Research on https://www.academia.edu/9419339/Islamophobia Bibliography and Existing Academic Research on https://www.academia.edu/9419339/ and https://www.academia.edu/941939/ and https://www.academia.edu/

Bergema, Reinier; Kearney, Olivia (2021, February): Inventory of 200+ Institutions and Centers in the Field of Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism Research. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(1), 93-150. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-1/bergema-and-kearney.pdf

Berry, LaVerle; Curtis, Glenn; Hudson, Rex (1998, September): *Bibliography on Future Trends in Terrorism*. (Report Prepared under an Interagency Agreement by the Federal Research Division, Library of Congress). URL: https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA439620

Bhan, Susheela et al. (1989): *Terrorism: An Annotated Bibliography*. (Concepts in Communication, Informatics & Librarianship, Vol. 9). New Delhi: Institute of Peace Research and Action.

Bleuer, Christian (2012, February): *The Afghanistan Analyst Conflict Bibliography*. (Special Edition). URL: https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/conflictbibliography2012.pdf

Bott, Catherine (Task Lead) et al. (2006, December): *Radicalization: An Overview and Annotated Bibliography of Open-Source Literature*. (Homeland Security Institute; Final Report). URL: https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA497263

Boulby, Marion (2019, July): Muslim Brotherhood. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/OBO/9780195390155-0137

Bowie, Neil G. (2017, August): Terrorism Events Data: An Inventory of Databases and Data Sets, 1968-2017. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 11(4), 50-72. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-4/0620174-terrorism-events-data-an-inventory-of-databases-and-data-sets-1968-2017-by-neil-g.-bowie.pdf

Bowie, Neil G. (2018, October): 30 Terrorism Databases and Data Sets: A New Inventory. Perspectives on

Terrorism, 12(5), 51-61. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-5/bowie.pdf

Bowie, Neil G. (2020, February): A New Inventory of 30 Terrorism Databases and Data Sets. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 14(1), 54-66. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-1/bowie.pdf

Bowie, Neil G. (2021, April): 40 Terrorism Databases and Data Sets: A New Inventory. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2), 147-161. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/bowie.pdf

Bowie, Neil G.; Schmid, Alex P. (2011): Databases on Terrorism. In: Alex P. Schmid (Ed.): *The Routledge Handbook of Terrorism Research*. (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge, 294-340.

Braden, Andrew; Cobb, Matthew; Braithwaite, Alex (2020, January): Geography of Terrorism. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199743292-0229

Burns, Vincent; Peterson, Kate Dempsey (2005): *Terrorism: A Documentary and Reference Guide*. Westport: Greenwood Press.

Centre de ressources documentaires – INSET Angers / Pôle de compétences Lutte contre les Exclusions, Centre national de la fonction publique territoriale (CNFPT) (2021, June): *Prévention de la radicalisation: Bilan et enjeux de demain sur les territoires.* [Annotated Bibliography]. URL: https://www.cnfpt.fr/sites/default/files/biblio-prevention-de-la-radicalisation-06-2021.pdf

Centre for Analysis of the Radical Right (CARR) (2013-): CARR Bibliography. [Ongoing Series].

- 2013. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2013
- 2014. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2014
- 2015. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2015
- 2016. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2016
- 2017. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2017
- 2018. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography-2018
- 2019. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2019
- 2020. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2020
- 2021. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2021
- 2022. URL: https://www.radicalrightanalysis.com/bibliography/bibliography-2022

Centre for the Prevention of Radicalization Leading to Violence (CPRLV) (2016, September-): *Research Digest.* [Ongoing Series]. URL: https://info-radical.org/en/research/publications

David Davies Memorial Institute of International Studies (DDMI) (2009): *Responsibility to Protect Bibliography*. URL: https://www.aber.ac.uk/en/media/departmental/interpol/ddmi/bibliography - responsibility to protect.pdf

DeLong-Bas, Natana (2014, September): Al-Qaeda. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780195390155-0065

Douse, Diana (2013, April): *Select Bibliography of Terrorism Resources*. (House of Commons Library Research Briefing SN/HA/5866). URL: https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn05866

Dowty, Alan (2020, January): The Arab-Israel Conflict. Oxford Bibliographies Online. DOI: https://doi.

org/10.1093/obo/9780199756223-0124

Duncan, Gillian (2009, September): New Literature on Terrorism and Political Violence. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *3*(3), 50-54. URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/26298417

Duncan, Gillian; Schmid, Alex P. (2011): Bibliography of Terrorism. In: Alex P. Schmid (Ed.): *The Routledge Handbook of Terrorism Research*. (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge, 475-597. [ca. 4,600 Titles]

Elden, Stuart (2014, June): Boko Haram – An Annotated Bibliography. *Progressive Geographies*. URL: https://progressivegeographies.com/resources/boko-haram-annotated-bibliography

Forest, James J. F. et al. (2004, March-2006, September): *Terrorism and Counterterrorism: An Annotated Bibliography*. (CTC Bibliography). [2-Part Series].

- Vol. 1. 2004, March. URL: http://www.teachingterror.com/bibliography/CTC Bibliography 2004.pdf
- Vol. 2. 2006, September. URL: http://www.teachingterror.com/bibliography/CTC Bibliography 2006. pdf

Fossum, Lori (2013, September): *Cyber Conflict Bibliography*. (GW Law School Public Law Research Paper). DOI: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2320598

Freedman, Benjamin (2010, November): Terrorism Research Centres: 100 Institutes, Programs and Organisations in the Field of Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism, Radicalisation and Asymmetric Warfare Studies. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 4(5), 48-56. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2010/issue-5/terrorism-research-centres-100-institutes...--benjamin-freedman.pdf

Gardeazabal, Javier (2020, November): Terrorism and Poverty. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199743292-0296

Godefroidt, Amélie (n.d.): *Terrorism and Political/Intergroup Attitudes: A Bibliography*. URL: https://rstud-io-pubs-static.s3.amazonaws.com/570038_96eee00421d74075aa0f26f6238c10ae.html

Grossman, Andrew (2017, September-October): *A Research Guide to Cases and Materials on Terrorism*. (GlobaLex Bibliography). URL: https://www.nyulawglobal.org/globalex/Terrorism1.html

Guerette, Rob T.; Headley, Andrea (2019, June): Kidnapping. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780195396607-0195

Harmon, Christopher C. (2020, May): Terrorism. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199791279-0062

Hegghammer, Thomas (2018, November 7): *Bibliography on jihadism in Scandinavia v1.2*. URL: https://hegghammer.files.wordpress.com/2020/04/bibliography-on-jihadism-in-scandinavia-v1.2.pdf

Hofmann, David C. (2012, December): Review Essay: Twenty Important Journal Articles on Radicalisation to, and De-Radicalisation from, Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *6*(6), 104-113. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2012/issue-6/review-essay.pdf

Hofmann, David C.; Schmid, Alex P. (2012, December): Selected Literature on (i) Radicalization and Recruitment, (ii) De-Radicalization and Dis-Engagement, and (iii) Counter-Radicalization and Countering Violent Extremism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 6(6), 114-143. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2012/issue-6/selected-literature-on-radicalization-and-dis-engagement...---hofmann-and-schmid.pdf

Homo, Kira et al. (2004): *Terrorism: A Guide to Selected Resources*. (Bibliography Compiled for the Center for the Study of Global Change). [e-Book]. Bloomington: Indiana University. URL: https://hdl.handle.net/2022/27085

Huet, Esther et al. (2017, October): Bibliographie « radicalisation » et « terrorisme ». *Radicalisations*. URL: https://f-origin.hypotheses.org/wp-content/blogs.dir/2725/files/2017/10/Bibliographie radicalisation 4oct2017e. https://f-origin.hypotheses.org/wp-content/blogs.dir/2725/files/2017/10/Bibliographie

International Counter-Terrorism Academic Community (ICTAC) (n.d.-): *Resources*. URL: http://www.ictac.uni-kiel.de/?page_id=124

Janke, Peter; with Richard Sim (1983): *Guerrilla and Terrorist Organisations: A World Directory and Bibliography*. Brighton: The Harvester Press.

Jongman, Albert J. (Berto) (2011, March): Internet Websites and Links for (Counter-) Terrorism Research. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 5(1), 22-37. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2011/issue-1/internet-websites-and-links-for-counter-terrorism-research--berto-jongman.pdf

Jongman, Albert J. (Berto) (2017, February-): Recent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects. [Ongoing Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Period: December 2016-January 2017. *PT*, 11(1), 2017, February, 124-158. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-1/1020171-online-resources-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-related-subjects-by-berto-jongman.pdf
- Period: January-April 2017. *PT*, 11(2), 2017, April, 108-135. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-2/0820172-online-resourc-es-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-related-subjects-compiled-and-selected-by-berto-jongman.pdf
- Period: April-June 2017. *PT*, 11(3), 2017, June, 150-181. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-3/1020173-recent-online-resources-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-related-subjects-compiled-and-selected-by-berto-jongman.pdf
- Period: June-July 2017. *PT*, 11(4), 2017, August, 143-175. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-4/1220174-recent-online-resources-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-related-subjects-compiled-and-selected-by-berto-jongman.pdf
- Period: August-September 2017. *PT*, 11(5), 2017, October, 152-178. URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-5/recent-on-line-resources-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-related-subjects-compiled-and-selected-by-ber-to-jongman.pdf
- Period: September-November 2017. *PT*, 11(6), 2017, December, 215-239. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-6/1820176-recent-online-resources-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-related-subjects-by-berto-jongman.pdf
- Period: January-February 2018. *PT*, *12*(1), 2018, February, 186-215. URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/09-recent-online-resources-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-related-subjects---compiled-and-selected-by-berto-jongman.pdf
- Period: March-April 2018. *PT*, *12*(2), 2018, April, 176-202. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/2018-02/12-recent-online-resources-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-related-subjects-by-berto-jongman.pdf

- Period: May-June 2018. *PT*, *12*(3), 2018, June, 159-185. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/bina-ries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-3/09---recent-online-resourc-es-for-the-analysis-of-terrorism-and-r.pdf
- Period: July-August 2018. *PT*, *12*(4), 2018, August, 143-171. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-4/09---jongman.pdf
- Period: September-October 2018. *PT*, *12*(5), 2018, October, 170-199. URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-5/jongman-2.pdf
- Period: December 2018-February 2019. *PT*, *13*(1), 2019, February, 230-261. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-1/jongman.pdf
- Period: February-April 2019. *PT*, *13*(2), 2019, April, 156-189. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-2/jongman.pdf
- Period: April-June 2019. *PT*, *13*(3), 2019, June, 185-232. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-3/11---jongman.pdf
- Period: July-August 2019. *PT*, 13(4), 2019, August, 158-185. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-4/jongman.pdf
- Period: August-October 2019. *PT*, *13*(5), 2019, October, 189-228. URL: https://www.universiteitle-iden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-5/16--jongman.pdf
- Period: October-December 2019. *PT*, *13*(6), 2019, December, 193-228. URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-6/12-jongman.pdf
- Period: December 2019-February 2020. PT, 14(1), 2020, February, 155-190. URL: https://www.uni-versiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-1/jong-man.pdf
- Period: February-April 2020. *PT*, *14*(2), 2020, April, 202-220. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-2/13.-jongman.pdf
- Period: April-June 2020. *PT*, 14(3), 2020, June, 201-221. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-3/jongman.pdf
- Period: June-August 2020. *PT*, *14*(4), 2020, August, 219-245. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-4/jongman.pdf
- Period: August-October 2020. *PT*, *14*(5), 2020, October, 203-233. URL: https://www.universiteitle-iden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-5/jongman.pdf
- Period: October-December 2020. *PT*, 14(6), 2020, December, 237-265. URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-6/jongman.pdf
- Period: December 2020-February 2021. *PT*, *15*(1), 2021, February, 233-264. URL: https://www.uni-versiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-1/jong-man.pdf
- Period: February-April 2021. *PT*, *15*(2), 2021, April, 292-325. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/jongman.pdf
- Period: May-June 2021. PT, 15(3), 2021, June, 207-246. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/bina-

ries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-3/jongman.pdf

- Period: July-August 2021. *PT*, 15(4), 2021, August, 258-296. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-4/jongman.pdf
- Period: August-October 2021. *PT*, *15*(5), 2021, October, 166-216. URL: https://www.universiteitle-iden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-5/jongman.pdf
- Period: November-December 2021. *PT*, *15*(6), 2021, December, 160-192. URL: https://www.univer-siteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-6/jongman.pdf
- Period: January-February 2022. *PT*, *16*(1), 2022, February, 145-179. URL: https://www.universiteitle-iden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-1/jongman.pdf
- Period: March-April 2022. *PT*, *16*(2), 2022, April, 91-131. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-2/jongman.pdf
- Period: May-June 2022. *PT*, *16*(3), 2022, June, 143-179. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/bina-ries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-3/jongman.pdf

Kula, Sedat (2021, April): Bibliography: Fear and Terror. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(2), 274-286. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/kula.pdf

Lakos, Amos (1986): *International Terrorism: A Bibliography.* (Westview Special Studies in National and International Terrorism). Boulder: Westview Press.

Lakos, Amos (1991): Terrorism, 1980-1990: A Bibliography. Boulder: Westview Press.

Lazar, Ernie (2020, September): *Bibliography of Academic Theses and Dissertations on the American Right.* URL: https://crws.berkeley.edu/theses-and-dissertations

Lehr, Peter; Duncan, Gillian (2015, May): Terrorism. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780195389678-0142

Lutz, Robert E.; Streiker, Susan L.; Johnson-Champ, Debra S. (1986, Summer): International Terrorism: A Legal Bibliography of Selected Issues and Sources. *The International Lawyer*, 20(3), 1083-1100. URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/40705789

Marlatt, Greta E. (2015, March): *Boko Haram: A Brief Bibliography of Open Source Information*. (Dudley Knox Library Bibliography). URL: https://www.hsdl.org/?view&did=753034

Marlatt, Greta E. (2015, June): *Suicide Terrorism: A Brief Bibliography of Scholarly Resources*. (Dudley Knox Library Bibliography). URL: https://www.hsdl.org/?view&did=233590

Marlatt, Greta E. (2019, August): *Lone Wolf Terrorism – A Brief Bibliography*. (HSDL Bibliography). URL: https://www.hsdl.org/?view&did=727224

Marlatt, Greta E.; Boerlage, Candice; Koue, Glen (2003, September): *Chemical, Biological and Nuclear Terrorism/Warfare*: *A Bibliography*. (Dudley Knox Library Bibliography). URL: https://calhoun.nps.edu/handle/10945/6982

McDonald, Brody (2020, February-): Full-Text Academic Theses on Terrorism, Violent Extremism, and Nationalism. [Ongoing Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

• 60+ Theses in English (2000-2020) on Terrorism, Violent Extremism, and Nationalism. *PT*, *14*(1), 2020, February, 191-195. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-1/mcdonald.pdf

ISSN 2334-3745 84 August 2022

- 60+ Theses in English (2000-2020) on Preparedness for, and Resilience to, Terrorism. *PT*, *15*(1), 2021, February, 228-232. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-1/mcdonald.pdf
- 60+ Theses in English (2011-2021) on Rebel Governance by Non-State Actors. *PT*, *15*(2), 2021, April, 287-291. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/mcdonald-.pdf
- 40+ Theses in English (2003-2021) on Victims of Terrorism. PT, 16(2), 2022, April, 88-90. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terror-ism/2022/issue-2/mcdonald.pdf

Mcneice, Dervla (2021, May): Researcher Resources That No One Told Me About: Resources for (Very) Early-Career Researchers, Project Assistants, Students, and Interns in Security, Extremism, and Counter-Terrorism. [Resources List]. URL: https://derv-la.medium.com/research-resources-that-no-one-told-me-about-d0f9d939c838

Melaugh, Martin (1996-): *CAIN Web Service: Bibliographies, Databases, Electronic Services.* [Meta-Bibliography, Subject: Northern Ireland Conflict]. URL: https://cain.ulster.ac.uk/bibdbs/index.html

Mickolus, Edward F.; with Susan L. Simmons (1997): *Terrorism*, 1992-1995: A Chronology of Events and a Selectively Annotated Bibliography. (Bibliographies and Indexes in Military Studies, No. 9). Westport: Greenwood Press.

Motes, Kevin D. (2004, May): Annotated Bibliography of Government Documents Related to the Threat of Terrorism and the Attacks of September 11, 2001. (Oklahoma Department of Libraries Bibliography). URL: https://libraries.ok.gov/us-gov/bibliography-of-documents-related-to-911

Muftić, Armin (2016, July): *Islamophobia Studies – Islamophobieforschung: Bibliographie – Bibliography.* URL: https://sites.google.com/site/islamophobiastudies/islamophobieforschung---literaturliste

Musgrave, Nina (2021-2022): Homegrown Radicalisation and Counter-Radicalisation in Western Europe and North America. (King's College London Reading List, 7SSWM053). URL: https://kcl.rl.talis.com/mod-ules/7sswm053.html

NATO Library (2009, March): *The Taliban*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 4/09). URL: https://www.nato.int/ nato static/assets/pdf/pdf library bibref/20100511 them0409.pdf

NATO Library (2009, June): *Irregular Warfare*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 6/09). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato-static/assets/pdf/pdf library bibref/20100511 them0609.pdf

NATO Library (2010, January): *Failing and Failed States*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 3/10). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato-static/assets/pdf/pdf library-bibref/20100511 them0310.pdf

NATO Library (2010, May): *Private Military and Security Companies (PMSCs)*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 6/10). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato static/assets/pdf/pdf library bibref/20100511 them0610.pdf

NATO Library (2010, September): *Intelligence since September 11.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 9/10). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato_static/assets/pdf/pdf_library_them/20100922_them0910.pdf

NATO Library (2010, October): *Asymmetric Warfare*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 10/10). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato-static/assets/pdf/pdf library them/20101026 them1010.pdf

NATO Library (2010, December): *Human Security.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 1/11). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato-static/assets/pdf/pdf library them/20101217 them0111.pdf

NATO Library (2011, March): *The Responsibility to Protect.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 4/11). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato static/assets/pdf/pdf library them/20110330 <a href="https://www.nato.int/nato.in

ISSN 2334-3745 85 August 2022

NATO Library (2011, May): *Bin Laden and Al Qaeda*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 5/11). URL: https://www.nato.int/natostatic/assets/pdf/pdf library them/20110503 them0511.pdf

NATO Library (2011, August): *The September 11 Attacks and the War on Terror.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 8/11). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato-static/assets/pdf/pdf library them/20110831 them0811.pdf

NATO Library (2011, September): *Understanding the Arab Revolutions*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 9/11). URL: https://www.nato.int/nato-static/assets/pdf/pdf library them/20110927 them0911.pdf

NATO Library (2012): *The Arab-Israeli Conflict since the Oslo Agreement*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 2/12). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701682

NATO Library (2012): *Deterrence Strategy.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 5/12). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701679

NATO Library (2012, October): *The Iraq War, 2003-2011: Books.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 8/12). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701676

NATO Library (2012, November): *US Middle East Policy after the September 11 Attacks.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 9/12). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701675

NATO Library (2013, January): *Counterinsurgency*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 1/13). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701673

NATO Library (2013, February): *The Arab Spring Two Years on.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 2/13). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701672

NATO Library (2013, March): *Africa: Conflicts and Crises of the Last Five Years.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 3/13). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701671

NATO Library (2013, October): *Islamist Challenges*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 7/13). URL: http://www.natolibguides.info/ld.php?content id=10701667

NATO Library (2014, February): *Drone Aircrafts*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 1/14). URL: https://natolib-guides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701664

NATO Library (2014, June): *The Moral and Ethical Aspects of War.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 3/14). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701662

NATO Library (2014, August): *Humanitarian Intervention*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 4/14). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701661

NATO Library (2014, September): *The Kurds*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 5/14). URL: https://natolib-guides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701660

NATO Library (2014, October): *The Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE)*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 6/14). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701659

NATO Library (2014, December): *Exit Strategy and Military Disengagement*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 7/14). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701658

NATO Library (2015, April): *The Syrian Civil War.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 2/15). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701655

NATO Library (2015, April): *A Century of Chemical Weapons*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 3/15). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=10701654

NATO Library (2015, July): *Terrorism: An Overview of the Last Two Years*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 4/15). URL: http://www.natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=13067274

NATO Library (2015, October): *A History of United Nations Peacekeeping*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 6/15). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=17019682

NATO Library (2016, February): *From Al Qaida to ISIS: The Evolution of Terrorism.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 1/16). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=19411574

NATO Library (2016, March): *Nuclear Deterrence in the 21st Century.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 2/16). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=20574510

NATO Library (2016, June): *Intelligence*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 3/16). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=22222408

NATO Library (2018, October): *The Syrian Civil War.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 5/18). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=32017936

NATO Library (2019, February): *From Asymmetric Warfare to Hybrid Conflicts*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 1/19). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=32156529

NATO Library (2019, July): *Information Warfare*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 4/19). URL: https://natolib-guides.info/ld.php?content_id=32392610

NATO Library (2019, September): *Women, Peace and Security.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 5/19). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=32520506

NATO Library (2019, October): *The Evolution of Nuclear Weapons since 2010.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 6/19). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=32566147

NATO Library (2020, January): *The US and the Middle East.* (Thematic Bibliography No. 1/20). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=32665503

NATO Library (2020, August): *Jihadism*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 3/20). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=33085501

NATO Library (2021, January): *Peacebuilding*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 2/21). URL: https://natolib-guides.info/ld.php?content_id=33390729

NATO Library (2021, March): *The Iraq War and its Aftermath*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 3/21). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=33463558

NATO Library (2021, May): *NATO in Afghanistan*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 5/21). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=33565062

NATO Library (2021, June): *Refugees and Migration Policies*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 6/21). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=33623267

NATO Library (2021, August): *Fake News, Disinformation and Information Warfare*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 7/21). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=33766115

NATO Library (2022, February): *Military Interventions*. (Thematic Bibliography No. 2/22). URL: https://natolibguides.info/ld.php?content_id=34014032

Newton, Leon (2006): *Terrorism 101: A Library Reference and Selected Annotated Bibliography.* Denver: Outskirts Press.

Norton, Augustus R.; Greenberg, Martin H. (1980): *International Terrorism: An Annotated Bibliography and Research Guide*. Boulder: Westview Press.

O'Donnell, Patrick S. (2021): *The Israeli-Palestinian Conflict: A Bibliography*. URL: https://www.academia.edu/4844077/Israeli-Palestinian Conflict bibliography

ISSN 2334-3745 87 August 2022

Ontiveros, Suzanne Robitaille (1986): *Global Terrorism: A Historical Bibliography.* (ABC-CLIO Research Guides). Santa Barbara: ABC-CLIO.

Palestinian American Research Center (PARC) (2008, October): *Resources: A Bibliography of Books on Palestine and the Palestinians*. URL: http://parc-us-pal.org/resources/bibliography.htm

Pawella, Jeanne (2016, April-): Rapports sur la radicalisation. *Radicalisations*. URL: https://radical.hypoth-eses.org/681

Perliger, Arie (2010, October): *Counterterrorism Reading List*. (CTC Annotated Bibliography). URL: https://ctc.usma.edu/counterterrorism-reading-list

Peterson, Jaclyn A. (2012, August): Three Bibliographies: (i) Drones and Targeted Killing, (ii) Prosecuting Terrorism, and (iii) Enhanced Interrogation Techniques v. Torture. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *6*(3), 91-105. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2012/issue-3/three.pdf

Peterson, Jaclyn A. et al. (2016): Literature on Terrorism Trials—A Selective Bibliography. In: Beatrice de Graaf; Alex P. Schmid (Eds.): *Terrorists on Trial: A Performative Perspective*. Leiden: Leiden University Press, 529-576.

Peterson, Mark Allen (2012, May-): Bibliography of the Egyptian Uprisings. *Connected in Cairo*. URL: https://connectedincairo.com/resources/bibliography-of-the-egyptian-uprisings

Picard, Robert G.; Sheets, Rhonda S. (1987): Terrorism and the News Media: A Research Bibliography. [4-Part Series]. *Political Communication* [PC]

- Part I. PC, 4(1), 65-69. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.1987.9962808
- Part II. PC, 4(2), 141-152. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.1987.9962816
- Part III. PC, 4(3), 217-221. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.1987.9962824
- Part IV. PC, 4(4), 325-326. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.1987.9962832

Pittson, Cynthia (2001): *Bibliography on Terrorism and International Law.* (Pace Law School Library Bibliography). URL: http://www.law.nyu.edu/sites/default/files/ECM_PRO_073065.pdf

Pode, Adam (n.d.): A Bibliography of Academic Theses on Terrorism and Related Forms of Violence – 1960 to 1998. URL: https://www.academia.edu/6070869/A Bibliography of Academic Theses on Terrorism and Related Forms of Violence for 1960 to 1998 Compiled by Adam Pode

Price, Eric (2010, March): New Literature on Terrorism and Political Violence. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *4*(1), 77-83. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2010/issue-1/new-literature-on-terrorism-and-political-violence--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2010, July): Dissertations and Theses on (Counter-)Terrorism and Political Violence (1980-2010). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 4(3), 58-63. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2010/issue-3/dissertations-and-theses-on-counter-terrorism-and-political-violence-1980-2010--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2010, October): Selected Literature on Human Rights and Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 4(4), 88-101. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2010/issue-4/selected-literature-on-human-rights-and-terrorism-eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2010, November): Selected Literature on Terrorism and CBRN Threats. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 4(5), 57-68. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2010/issue-5/selected-literature-on-terrorism-and-cbrn-threats--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2010, December): Selected Literature on Terrorism and Organized Crime. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 4(6), 44-54. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2010/issue-6/selected-literature-on-terrorism-and-organized-crime-eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2011): Library and Internet Resources for Research on Terrorism. In: Alex P. Schmid (Ed.): *The Routledge Handbook of Terrorism Research*. (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge, 443-456.

Price, Eric (2011, March): Selected Literature on Terrorism and Religion. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 5(1), 64-75. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2011/issue-1/selected-literature-on-terrorism-and-religion--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2011, May): Selected Literature on Conflict Prevention, Crime Prevention, Terrorism Prevention and Violence Prevention. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 5(2), 85-100. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2011/issue-2/selected.pdf

Price, Eric (2011, September): Selected Literature on Terrorism and Political Violence/Conflict in Africa since the Second World War. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 5(3-4), 118-133. URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2011/issue-3-4/selected-litera-ture-on-terrorism-and-political-violence-conflict-in-africa-since-the-second-world-war--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2011, December): Literature on Right-Wing and Vigilante Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *5*(5-6), 168-179. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2011/issue-5-6/literature-on-right-wing-and-vigilante-terrorism--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2012, March): Literature on Terrorism, Media, Propaganda and Cyber-Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *6*(1), 92-103. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ perspectives-on-terrorism-eric-price.pdf perspectives-on-terrorism-eric-price.pdf <a href="pers

Price, Eric (2012, May): Bibliography: Literature on Terrorism in History. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 6(2), 160-180. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2012/issue-2/bibliography-literature-on-terrorism-in-history--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2012, August): Bibliography: Literature on the Future of Terrorism (including Trends). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 6(3), 78-90. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2012/issue-3/literature-on-the-future-of-terrorism-including-trends--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2012, October): Bibliography: Inside Terrorist Organisations. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 6(4-5), 160-168. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2012/issue-4/bibliography-inside-terrorist-organisations--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2012, December): Literature on Victims of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *6*(6), 144-166. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2012/issue-6/literature-on-victims-of-terrorism.pdf

Price, Eric (2013, February): Literature on Al-Qaeda since 2001. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 7(1), 114-144. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-1/literature-on-al-qaeda-since-2001-eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2013, April): Literature on Kidnapping for Ransom and for Political Concessions. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 7(2), 104-118. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-2/literature-on-kidnapping-for-ransom-and-for-political-concessions--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2013, June): Literature on Refugee Situations (including Internally Displaced Persons) and Terrorism (incl. other Forms of Political Violence and Armed Conflict). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 7(3),

99-113. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/governance-and-global-affairs/isga/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013-3.pdf

Price, Eric (2013, August): Literature on the Financing of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 7(4), 112-130. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-4/literature-on-the-financing-of-terrorism--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2013, October): Literature on Diasporas and Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 7(5), 186-197. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-5/literature-on-diasporas-and-terrorism--eric-pree.pdf

Price, Eric (2013, December): Selected Dissertations and Theses on Terrorism, Counterterrorism and Political Violence, 1980-2013 (available in Full-Text). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *7*(6), 166-202. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-6/selected-dissertations-and-theses-on-terrorism.pdf

Price, Eric (2014, February): Bibliography: Non-English Academic Dissertations on Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *8*(1), 84-98. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-1/bibliography-non-english-academic-dissertations-on-terrorism-and-counter-terrorism-eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2014, April): Bibliography: (Countering) Violent Extremism and Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 8(2), 92-102. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-2/bibliograph-countering-violent-extremism-and-terrorism-eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2014, June): Terrorists, Extremists, Militants: Selected Biographies, Autobiographies and Related Documents and Writings. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 8(3), 126-134. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-3/perspectives-on-terrorism-volume-8-issue-3.pdf

Price, Eric (2014, August): Bibliography on State Sponsored Terrorism and Assassinations Abroad; with Special Emphasis on the Assassination of 28 July 1914 that Triggered World War I. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 8(4), 146-152. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-4/bibliography-on-state-sponsored-terrorism-and-assassinations-abroad...-eric-prce.pdf

Price, Eric (2014, October): Bibliography: Domestic State (or Regime) Terrorism and Repression. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 8(5), 117-126. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/custom-sites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-5/bibliography-domestic-state-or-regime-terrorism-and-repression--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2014, December): Bibliography on Single Issue Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 8(6), 123-129. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-6/bibliography-on-single-issue-terrorism--eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2015, February): Bibliography: Foreign Fighters of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *9*(1), 157-163. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-1/13-bibliography-foreign-fighters-of-terrorism-compiled-by-eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric (2015, June): Bibliography: Lone Wolves/Actors of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 9(3), 113-119. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-3/10-bibliography-lone-wolves-actors-of-terrorism-compiled-by-eric-price.pdf

Price, Eric; Schmid, Alex P. (2010, May): Selected Literature on Radicalization and De-Radicalization from Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 4(2), 58-76. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/

 $\underline{content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2010/issue-2/selected-literature-on-radicalization-and-de-radicalization-from-terrorism-eric-price-and-alex-scmihd.pdf}$

Prunckun, Henry W., Jr. (1995): Shadow of Death: An Analytic Bibliography on Political Violence, Terrorism, and Low-Intensity Conflict. Lanham: Scarecrow Press.

Rassler, Don (2010, July): Afghanistan-Pakistan Reading File: An Overview of Actors, their Interests, Key Challenges and Security Dynamics. (CTC Reading List). URL: https://ctc.usma.edu/afghanistan-paki-stan-reading-file

Schmid, Alex P. (2011): The Literature on Terrorism. In: Alex P. Schmid (Ed.): *The Routledge Handbook of Terrorism Research*. (Routledge Handbooks). Abingdon: Routledge, 457-474.

Schmid, Alex P.; Jongman, Albert J. (Berto) (2017): *Political Terrorism: A New Guide to Actors, Authors, Concepts, Data Bases, Theories, and Literature.* Abingdon: Routledge. (Original work published 1988)

Schmid, Alex P.; Price, Eric (2011, May): Selected Literature on Radicalization and De-Radicalization of Terrorists: Monographs, Edited Volumes, Grey Literature and Prime Articles Published since the 1960s. *Crime, Law and Social Change*, 55(4), 337-348. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10611-011-9287-4

Schmid, Alex P. (Author); Tinnes, Judith (Bibliographer) (2015, December): *Foreign (Terrorist) Fighters with IS: A European Perspective.* (ICCT Research Paper). DOI: https://doi.org/10.19165/2015.1.08

Scrivens, Ryan (2017, August-2019, October): Academic Theses on Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism Related Issues. [7-Part Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- 238 Theses in English (2013-2017). *PT*, *11*(4), 2017, August, 176-192. URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-4/1320174-ac-ademic-theses-ph.d.-and-ma-on-terrorism-and-counterterrorism-related-issues-written-in-english-between-2013-and-2017-ompiled-and-selected-by-ryan-scrivens.pdf">https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-4/1320174-ac-ademic-theses-ph.d.-and-ma-on-terrorism-and-counterterrorism-related-issues-written-in-english-between-2013-and-2017-ompiled-and-selected-by-ryan-scrivens.pdf
- 152 Theses in English (2013-2017). *PT*, *11*(5), 2017, October, 141-151. URL: https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-5/0920175-ac-ademic-theses-ph.d.-and-ma-on-terrorism-and-counterterrorism-related-issues-written-in-english-between-2013-and-2017-compiled-and-selected-by-ryan-scrivens.pdf">https://www.universite-itleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-5/0920175-ac-ademic-theses-ph.d.-and-ma-on-terrorism-and-counterterrorism-related-issues-written-in-english-between-2013-and-2017-compiled-and-selected-by-ryan-scrivens.pdf
- 200+ Theses in French, Spanish, Italian, German, Dutch, and Norwegian. *PT*, *12*(1), 2018, February, 216-230. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/10-209-academic-theses-ph.d.-and-ma-on-terrorism-and-counter-terrorism-related.pdf
- 130 Theses in English by Authors with Arab and/or Muslim Backgrounds (1973-2018). *PT*, *12*(5), 2018, October, 160-169. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-5/scrivens.pdf
- 475 Theses in Dutch, English, French, German, Italian, Norwegian, and Spanish on Countering Violent Extremism (CVE), Preventing Violent Extremism (PVE) and Terrorism Prevention. *PT*, *13*(1), 2019, February, 198-229. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-1/scrivens.pdf
- 115+ Theses in English on the Role of the Internet in Facilitating and Combating Radicalization, Extremism, Terrorism and Cyber-Terrorism (1995-2019). *PT*, 13(3), 2019, June, 233-240. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-3/11.5---scrivens.pdf
- 60+ Theses in English on Victims of Terrorism, Violent Extremism, and Political Violence (2003-2019). *PT*, *13*(5), 2019, October, 184-188. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/

assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-5/15--scrivens.pdf

Seib, Philip (2017): Select Bibliography. In: *As Terrorism Evolves: Media, Religion, and Governance*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 144-178. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108303996.008

Shepard, William (2019, June): Sayyid Qutb. *Oxford Bibliographies Online*. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/OBO/9780195390155-0072

Signorielli, Nancy; Gerbner, George (1988): *Violence and Terror in the Mass Media: An Annotated Bibliography.* (Bibliographies and Indexes in Sociology, No. 13). Westport: Greenwood Press.

Sinai, Joshua (2008, August): Review Essay: Top 50 Books on Terrorism and Counterterrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *2*(11), 15-23. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/custom-sites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2008/issue-11/57-353-1-pb.pdf

Sinai, Joshua (2012, May): Terrorism Bookshelf: Top 150 Books on Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 6(2), 74-116. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2012/issue-2/terrorism-bookshelf-top-150-books-on-terrorism-and-counter-terrorism--joshua-sinai.pdf

Sinai, Joshua (2013, June-): "Counterterrorism Bookshelf": Capsule Reviews of Books on Terrorism and Counterterrorism Related Subjects. [Ongoing Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- 29 Books. PT, 7(3), 2013, June, 114-124. URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/e26296933
- 13 Books. *PT*, 7(4), 2013, August, 131-137. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-4/counterterrorism-bookshelf-capsule-re-views-of-13-books--joshua-sinai.pdf
- 36 Books, Subject: Intelligence and Terrorism. *PT*, *7*(5), 2013, October, 127-141. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-5/%E2%80%9Ccounterterrorism-bookshelf%E2%80%9D-literature-on-intelligence-and-terrorism-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 20 Books. PT, 7(6), 2013, December, 203-209. URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/e26297058
- 23 Books. *PT*, *8*(1), 2014, February, 133-141. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-1/%E2%80%9Ccounterter-rorism-bookshelf%E2%80%9D-%E2%80%93-23-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects--joshua-sinai.pdf
- 27 Books. *PT*, 8(2), 2014, April, 103-112. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-2/%E2%80%9Ccounterterrorism-bookshelf%">https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-2/%E2%80%9Ccounterterrorism-bookshelf% https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-2/%E2%80%9Ccounterterrorism-bookshelf% https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism-counterterrorism-related-subjects--joshua-sinai.pdf
- 8 Books. *PT*, 8(3), 2014, June, 135-139. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-3/counterterrorism-book-shelf-eight-books-on-terrorism-and-counter-terrorism-related-subjects--sinai.pdf
- 47 Books. *PT*, 8(4), 2014, August, 158-170. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-4/%E2%80%9Ccounterterrorism-book-shelf%E2%80%9D-47-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects--joshua-sinai.pdf
- 17 Books. *PT*, *8*(5), 2014, October, 78-83. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-5/%E2%80%9Ccounterterrorism-book-shelf%E2%80%9D-17-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects--joshua-sinai.pdf

- 22 Books. *PT*, 8(6), 2014, December, 114-122. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-6/counterterrorism-book-shelf-22-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects--joshua-sinai.pdf
- 16 Books. *PT*, 9(1), 2015, February, 115-121. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-1/11-counterterrorism-book-shelf-16-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects-reviewed-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 9 Books. *PT*, 9(2), 2015, April, 115-119. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-2/9-counterterrorism-book-shelf-nine-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 20 Books. *PT*, *9*(3), 2015, June, 73-81. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-3/8-counterterrorism-bookshelf-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects-reviewed-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 16 Books. *PT*, 9(5), 2015, October, 111-117. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-5/10-counterterrorism-book-shelf-16-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects.-reviewed-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 40 Books. *PT*, 9(6), 2015, December, 154-166. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-6/10-counterterrorism-book-shelf-40-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects.-reviewed-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 20 Books, Subject: Israeli and Palestinian Issues. *PT*, *10*(1), 2016, February, 114-125. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terror-ism/2016/011-counterterrorism-bookshelf-twenty-new-publications-on-israeli-palestinian-issues.pdf
- 30 Books. *PT*, 10(2), 2016, April, 103-117. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/209-counterterrorism-book-shelf-30-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 7 Books. *PT*, *10*(3), 2016, June, 99-104. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-3/310-counterterrorism-book-shelf-7-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 21 Books. *PT*, *10*(4), 2016, August, 99-107. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-4/409-counterterrorism-book-shelf-21-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 36 Books. *PT*, *10*(5), 2016, October, 156-169. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-5/513-counterterrorism-book-shelf-36-books-on-terrorism-counterterrorism-related-subjects-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 12 Books, Subject: Al-Qaida and ISIS, *PT*, 10(6), 2016, December, 207-212. URL: https://www.uni-versiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-6/617-counterterrorism-bookshelf-12-books-on-al-qaida-and-isis-related-subjects-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 23 Books. *PT*, *11*(1), 2017, February, 162-173. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-1/1220171-capsule-book-reviews-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 50 Books. *PT*, *11*(2), 2017, April, 139-162. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-2/1120172-terrorism-bookshelf-capsule-reviews-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 40 Books. PT, 11(3), 2017, June, 79-95. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/

- $\underline{assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-3/0820173-terrorism-bookshelf-capsule-re-\underline{views-by-joshua-sinai.pdf}$
- 15 Books. *PT*, *11*(4), 2017, August, 200-207. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-4/1720174-counterterrorism-book-shelf-15-books-on-terrorism-counterterrorism-related-subjects-capsule-reviews-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 30 Books. *PT*, *11*(5), 2017, October, 51-67. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-5/0620175-terrorism-bookshelf-capsule-reviews-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 18 Books. *PT*, *12*(1), 2018, February, 100-111. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/bina-ries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/06-terrorism-bookshelf.-cap-sule-reviews-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 20 Books. *PT*, *12*(2), 2018, April, 129-139. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/bina-ries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/2018-02/10-counterterrorism-bookshelf-20-books-on-terrorism-counter-terrorism-related-subjects-reviewed-by-joshua-sinai.pdf
- 50 Books. *PT*, *12*(3), 2018, June, 92-118. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-3/07---resources-counterterrorism-book-shelf-50-books-on-terrorism-and-counterterrorism-related-subjects.pdf
- 15 Books. *PT*, *12*(4), 2018, August, 77-84. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-4/06---sinai.pdf
- 30 Books. *PT*, *12*(5), 2018, October, 62-74. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-5/sinai.pdf
- 14 Books. *PT*, *13*(1), 2019, February, 124-130. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-1/sinai_bookshelf.pdf
- 40 Books. *PT*, *13*(2), 2019, April, 142-154. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-2/sinai.pdf
- 62 Books. *PT*, *13*(3), 2019, June, 168-182. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-3/09---sinai.pdf
- 60 Books. *PT*, *13*(4), 2019, August, 67-82. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-4/sinai.pdf
- 12 Books. *PT*, *13*(5), 2019, October, 143-145. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-5/10--sinai.pdf
- 20 Books. *PT*, *13*(6), 2019, December, 111-115. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-6/09-sinai-books.pdf
- 62 Books. *PT*, *14*(1), 2020, February, 76-91. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-1/sinai.pdf
- 51 Books. *PT*, 14(2), 2020, April, 142-153. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-2/10.-sinai.pdf
- 17 Books. *PT*, *14*(3), 2020, June, 190-196. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-3/sinai.pdf
- 28 Books. PT, 14(4), 2020, August, 155-168. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/

assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-4/sinai.pdf

- 19 Books. *PT*, *14*(5), 2020, October, 148-157. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-5/sinai.pdf
- 20 Books. *PT*, *14*(6), 2020, December, 193-203. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-6/sinai.pdf
- 8 Books. *PT*, *15*(1), 2021, February, 151-154. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-1/sinai.pdf
- 5 Books. *PT*, 15(2), 2021, April, 176-178. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/sinai.pdf
- 21 Books. *PT*, *15*(3), 2021, June, 153-162. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-3/sinai.pdf
- 5 Books. *PT*, *15*(4), 2021, August, 184-186. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-4/sinai.pdf
- 5 Books. *PT*, *15*(5), 2021, October, 93-95. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-5/sinai.pdf
- 8 Books. *PT*, *15*(6), 2021, December, 97-101. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-6/sinai-bookshelf.pdf
- 7 Books. *PT*, *16*(1), 2022, February, 101-104. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-1/sinai.pdf
- 8 Books. *PT*, *16*(2), 2022, April, 39-42. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-2/sinai.pdf
- 10 Books. *PT*, *16*(3), 2022, June, 62-67. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-3/sinai.pdf

Sinai, Joshua (in press): *Bibliography of Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism*. Abingdon: Routledge. [ca. 2,000 titles]

Singh, Ishaansh (2021): General Bibliography on Terrorism Prevention and Preparedness. In: Alex P. Schmid (Ed.): *Handbook of Terrorism Prevention and Preparedness*. The Hague: ICCT Press, 1159-1259. URL: https://icct.nl/handbook-of-terrorism-prevention-and-preparedness

Singh, Ishaansh (2021, April): 20 Databases on (Violent and Armed) Conflicts. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2), 162-171. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/sighn.pdf

Steed, Brian L. (2020, October): Comprehensive Bibliography [on ISIS and the situation in the Middle East]. *Maneuver in the Narrative Space*. URL: https://www.narrativespace.net/uploads/1/1/7/9/117904861/bibliography_comprehensive_220318.pdf

Stone, Amie (2014, July): *Homeland Security: A Selected Bibliography*. (U.S. Army War College Library Bibliography). URL: https://www.armywarcollege.edu/library/bibs/Homeland_Security_2014.pdf

Tehan, Rita (2015, April): *Cybersecurity: Authoritative Reports and Resources, by Topic.* (CRS Report for Congress R42507). URL: https://sgp.fas.org/crs/misc/R42507.pdf

Teiner, David (2019, December): Bibliography: Terrorism by Country – Mali. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 13(6), 167-192. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-6/11-teiner.pdf

Teiner, David (2020, August): Bibliography: Terrorism and Organized Crime in Latin America. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 14(4), 118-154. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/custom-sites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-4/teiner-bibliog.pdf

Teiner, David (2021, February): Bibliography: Civilian Casualties of Terrorism and Counter-Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(1), 202-227. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-1/teiner.pdf

Teiner, David (2021, April): Bibliography: Al-Shabaab. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(2), 240-273. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/teiner.pdf

Teiner, David (2021, August): Bibliography: Hamas. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(4), 240-257. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-4/teiner.pdf

Teiner, David (2022, February): Bibliography: The Conflict in Libya. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(1), 105-144. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-1/teiner.pdf

Teiner, David (2022, June): Bibliography: The Conflict in Yemen. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(3), 117-142. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-3/teiner.pdf

Teiner, David et al. (2021, October): Bibliography: Rebel Governance. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(5), 145-165. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-5/teiner-et-al.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2014, April-): Bibliography: Muslim Brotherhood. [Ongoing Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

• Part 1. *PT*, 8(2), 2014, April, 66-91. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-2/bibliography-muslim-brotherhood-part-1--judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2013, October-2014, June): Bibliography: Arab Spring. [2-Part Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 7(5), 2013, October, 155-185. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-5/literature-on-the-arab-spring--judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, 8(3), 2014, June, 92-125. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-3/bibliography-arab-spring-part-2--judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2015, October): Bibliography: Muslims and the West. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 9(5), 73-108. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-5/8-bibliography-muslims-and-the-west-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2015, December): Bibliography: Homegrown Terrorism and Radicalisation. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 9(6), 119-153. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/ perspectives-on-terrorism-and-radicalisation-com-piled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

 spectives-on-terrorism/2016/009-bibliography-northern-ireland-conflict-the-troubles.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2016, August): Bibliography: Legal Aspects of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 10(4), 67-98. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-4/408-bibliography-on-legal-aspects-of-terrorism-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2016, December): Bibliography: Islamist Terrorism in Europe. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *10*(6), 171-206. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-6/616-bibliography-islamist-terrorism-in-europe-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2014, August-2017, February): Bibliography on Islamist Narratives and Western Counter-Narratives. [2-Part Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 8(4), 2014, August, 111-145. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-4/bibliography-on-islamist-narratives-and-western-counter-narratives--judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, 11(1), 2017, February, 80-123. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-1/0920171-bibliography-on-islamist-narratives-and-western-counter-narratives-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2017, August): Bibliography: Root Causes of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *11*(4), 102-142. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-4/1120174-bibliography-root-causes-of-terrorism-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2017, October): Bibliography: Life Cycles of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *11*(5), 108-140. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-5/0820175-bibliography-life-cycles-of-terrorism-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2017, October): Bibliography: Terrorist Organizations: Cells, Networks, Affiliations, Splits. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *11*(5), 68-107. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-5/0720175-bibliography-terrorist-organizations-cells-networks-affiliations-splits-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2018, February): Bibliography: Social Aspects of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(1), 112-151. URL: tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2014, October-2018, February): Bibliography: Israeli-Palestinian Conflict. [2-Part Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 8(5), 2014, October, 84-116. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-5/bibliography-israeli-palestinian-conflict-part-1--judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, *12*(1), 2018, February, 152-185. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/08-bibliography---israeli-palestinian-conflict-part-2-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2018, June): Bibliography: Terrorism and Ideology. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(3), 119-158. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-3/08---bibliography-terrorism-and-ideology.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2014, February-): Bibliography: Terrorism Research Literature. [Ongoing Series]. Perspec-

tives on Terrorism [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 8(1), 2014, February, 99-132. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-1/bibliography-terrorism-research-literature-part-1--judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, 10(2), 2016, April, 73-102. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/208-bibliography-terrorism-research-literature-part-2-by-judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 3. *PT*, 12(4), 2018, August, 85-114. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-4/07---tinnes-part-3-nog-link-invoegen.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2018, October): Bibliography: Foreign Terrorist Fighters. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(5), 121-159. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-5/tinnes-2.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2018, October): Bibliography: Terrorist Tactics and Strategies. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(5), 78-120. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/issue-5/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2019, February): Bibliography: Humanitarian Intervention, Responsibility to Protect, Peacekeeping. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(1), 135-163. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-1/tinnes-1.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2015, April-2019, February): Bibliography: Genocide (since 1980). [2-Part Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 9(2), 2015, April, 80-114. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-2/8-bibliography-genocide-since-1980-part-1-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, *13*(1), 2019, February, 164-197. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-1/tinnes-2.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2019, June): Bibliography: Boko Haram. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(3), 134-167. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-3/08---tinnes-bibliog2-boko-haram.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2019, August): Bibliography: Terrorism by Country – Pakistan. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(4), 83-114. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-4/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2013, December-): Bibliography: Conflict in Syria. [Ongoing Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 7(6), 2013, December, 137-165. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2013/issue-6/literature-on-the-conflict-in-syria-2011-%E2%80%93-november-2013.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, 9(3), 2015, June, 82-112. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-3/9-bibliography-conflict-in-syria-part-2-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 3. *PT*, 11(2), 2017, April, 65-107. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-2/0720172-bibliography-conflict-in-syria-part-3-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf

• Part 4. *PT*, 13(4), 2019, August, 115-157. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-4/tinnes-2.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2019, October): Bibliography: Terrorism by Region – Indian Subcontinent. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *13*(5), 153-183. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-5/14--tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2019, December): Bibliography: Terrorism Prevention. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 13(6), 116-166. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-6/10-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2020, February): Bibliography: Deradicalization. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(1), 92-131. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-1/tinnes-1.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2020, February): Bibliography: Terrorism by Country – Iran. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(1), 132-154. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-1/tinnes-2.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2020, April): Bibliography: Women and Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(2), 155-201. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-2/12.-tinnes-2.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2015, February-2020, April): Bibliography: Terrorism in, or Originating from the Caucasus, Central Asia, and Russia. [2-Part Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 9(1), 2015, February, 122-156. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-1/12-bibliography-terrorism-in-or-originating-from-the-caucasus-central-asia-and-russia-part-1-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, *14*(2), 2020, April, 112-141. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-2/9.-tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2020, June): Bibliography: Children, Youth, and Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 14(3), 125-167. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-3/tinnes-1.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2020, June): Bibliography: Internet-Driven Right-Wing Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(3), 168-189. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-3/tinnes-2.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2015, August-): Bibliography: Islamic State. [Ongoing Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 9(4), 2015, August, 165-212. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2015/volume-4/16-bibliography-islamic-state-part-1-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, 10(3), 2016, June, 59-98. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-3/309-bibliography-islamic-state-part-2-by-juditch-tinnes.pdf
- Part 3. *PT*, 11(3), 2017, June, 96-149. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-3/0920173-bibliography-islamic-state-part-3-compiled-and-selected-by-judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 4. PT, 12(2), 2018, April, 140-175. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/

 $\underline{assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/2018-02/11-bibliography-islamic-state-is-isis-isil-\underline{daesh-part-4-by-judith-tinnes.pdf}$

- Part 5. *PT*, 13(3), 2019, June, 90-133. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-3/07--tinnes-bibliog1-islamic-state.pdf
- Part 6. *PT*, 14(4), 2020, August, 169-214. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-4/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2020, October): Bibliography: Democracy and Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 14(5), 162-202. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-5/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2020, December): Bibliography: Defining and Conceptualizing Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *14*(6), 204-236. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2020/issue-6/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2021, February): Bibliography: Terrorism by Region – Southeast Asia. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(1), 155-201. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-1/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2013, February-): Bibliography: Terrorism and the Media (including the Internet). [Ongoing Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 7(1, Suppl.), 2013, February, S1-S295. URL: https://ia803003.us.archive.org/1/items/terrorism-research-bibliographies/Media and Internet 01.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, 8(6), 2014, December, 82-113. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2014/issue-6/bibliography-terrorism-and-the-media-in-cluding-the-internet-part-2--judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 3. *PT*, 10(5), 2016, October, 112-155. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2016/issue-5/512-bibliography-terrorism-and-the-media-including-the-internet-part-3-by-judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 4. *PT*, *13*(2), 2019, April, 79-141. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2019/issue-2/tinnes.pdf
- Part 5. *PT*, *15*(2), 2021, April, 179-239. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-2/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2021, June): Bibliography: Economic Aspects of Terrorism. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 15(3), 164-206. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-3/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2021, August): Bibliography: Terrorism by Country – United States. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(4), 187-239. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-4/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2017, December-): Bibliography: Al-Qaeda and its Affiliated Organizations. [Ongoing Series]. *Perspectives on Terrorism* [PT]

- Part 1. *PT*, 11(6), 2017, December, 168-214. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2017/issue-6/1720176-bibliography-al-qaeda-and-its-affiliated-organizations-part-1-by-judith-tinnes.pdf
- Part 2. *PT*, *15*(5), 2021, October, 98-144. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-5/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2021, December): Bibliography: Hostage Takings and Extrajudicial Executions (Part 1). *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *15*(6), 104-159. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2021/issue-6/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2022, April): Bibliography: The Kurds and Security in the Middle East. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *16*(2), 45-87. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-2/tinnes.pdf

Tinnes, Judith (2022, June): Bibliography: Islamophobia. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, 16(3), 71-116. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2022/issue-3/tinnes.pdf

van den Heuvel, Annelies (2015, December): *Islamitische Staat (IS)*. [NLDA Libguide]. URL: https://vdoc-uments.pub/islamitische-staat-is-islamitische-staat-is-libguide-samengesteld-door.html

van Dongen, Teun (2018, April): 130+ (Counter-) Terrorism Research Centres – An Inventory. *Perspectives on Terrorism*, *12*(2), 86-124. URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/binaries/content/assets/customsites/perspectives-on-terrorism/2018/2018-02/07-130-counter--terrorism-research-centres-%E2%80%93-an-inventory-compiled-and-selected-by-teun-van-dongen.pdf

Wahner, Ute (2015, November): *Psychologie des Terrorismus – Theoretische und empirische Studien*. (ZPID Bibliography). (2nd, revised and expanded ed.). URL: https://www.psyndex.de/pub/info/zpid news Psychologie-Terrorismus.pdf

About the Compiler: Judith Tinnes, Ph.D., is a Professional Information Specialist. Since 2011, she works for the Leibniz Institute for Psychology (ZPID). Additionally, she serves as Information Resources Editor to 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. In her editorial role, she regularly compiles bibliographies and other resources for Terrorism Research (for an inventory, visit: https://archive.org/details/terrorism-research-bibliographies). Judith Tinnes also runs the execution monitoring project 'Counting Lives Lost' (CLL). She wrote her doctoral thesis on Internet usage of Islamist terrorists and insurgents (focus: media-oriented hostage takings). E-mail: j.tinnes@gmx.de , Twitter: @CountingLivesPT

Recent Online Resources for the Analysis of Terrorism and Related Subjects

Compiled and selected by Berto Jongman

Most of the clickable items included below became available online between June and August 2022. They are categorized under 13 headings (as well as sub-headings, not listed below).

- 1. Non-Religious Terrorism
- 2. Religious Terrorism
- 3. Terrorist Strategies and Tactics
- 4. Conflict, Crime and Political Violence other than Terrorism
- 5. Extremism, Radicalization
- 6. Counterterrorism General
- 7. Counterterrorism: Specific Operations and/or Specific Policy Measures
- 8. Prevention, Preparedness and Resilience and Rehabilitation Studies
- 9. State Repression, Civil War and Clandestine Warfare
- 10. Intelligence Operations
- 11. Cyber Operations
- 12. Risk and Threat Assessments, Forecasts and Analytical Studies
- 13. Also Worth to Read/Listen and Watch

1. Non-Religious Terrorism

K. Watson. Colombia peace deal failing as violent gangs recruit vulnerable children. *BBC*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-latin-america-62413672?

Uday. 'We have the right to be independent...': exclusive interview with the West Papua National Liberation Army. *Militant Wire*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.militantwire.com/p/we-have-the-right-to-be-independent?r=8utdx&s=w&utm_campaign=post&utm_medium=web

PKK blocking return of Ezidi community to Iraq's Sinjar region: senior official. *Anadolu Agency*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkish-forces-neutralize-5-ypg-pkk-terrorists-in-northern-syria/2651349

YPG/PKK terror group detains 16 media workers in Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, July 31, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/middle-east/ypg-pkk-terror-group-detains-16-media-workers-in-syria/2650092

Myanmar's anti-junta forces rely on homemade weapons. *Xtra*, July 31, 2022. URL: https://www.xtra.net/news/world/myanmars-anti-junta-forces-rely-homemade-weapons

Intelbrief: grinding war of attrition in Ukraine as both sides suffer heavy losses. *The Soufan Center*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://thesoufancenter.org/intelbrief-2022-july-25/

H. Isaac, B. Ellsworth. Anger grows in Haiti over weapons trafficking from US after guns shipped as church donations. *Reuters*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/anger-grows-haiti-over-weapons-trafficking-us-after-guns-shipped-church-2022-07-28/

E. Sanon. Haiti gang wars intensify as armed men set church on fire. *Associated Press*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/violence-caribbean-port-au-prince-haiti-gangs-4b6544b16028ae332a403118c-5b0c815

K. Lindijer. Het schrijnend arme Oost-Congo wordt langzaam maar zeker ontdaan van zijn goud. *NRC*, July 26, 2022 URL: <a href="https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2022/07/26/het-schrijnend-arme-oost-congo-wordt-lang-page-4-2022/07/26/het-schrijnend-arme-oost-congo-wordt-lang-4-2022/07/26/het-sc

zaam-maar-zeker-ontdaan-van-zijn-goud-a4137457 - /krant/2022/07/27/

K. Baloch. Pakistani counter-insurgency measures risk fueling further unrest in Baluchistan province. *Terrorism Monitor*, 20(14), July 15, 2022 URL: https://jamestown.org/program/pakistani-counter-insurgency-measures-risk-fueling-rebellion-in-restive-baluchistan-province/

Iranian dissident summit in Albania postponed over security threat. *Rudaw*, July 23, 2022. URL: https://www.rudaw.net/english/middleeast/iran/23072022

- J. Bechocha. Fate of PJAK member remains unknown a year after disappearance. *Rudaw*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.rudaw.net/english/middleeast/iran/26072022
- P. Huon. The humanitarian fallout of DR Congo's M23 rebellion. *The New Humanitarian*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/news-feature/2022/07/21/DRC-M23-Rutshuru-displace-ment-aid

Civilian deaths surge in eastern DRC as attacks escalate. *Xtra*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.xtra.net/news/africa/civilian-deaths-surge-eastern-drc-attacks-escalate

Somalia President meets controversial army recruits sent to Eritrea. *The East African*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://www.theeastafrican.co.ke/tea/news/east-africa/somalia-president-meets-controversial-army-recruits-eritrea-3875950

- G. Ruhumuliza Nyiringabo. The M23 demon: could Rwanda ultimately invade eastern Congo? *The East African*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://www.theeastafrican.co.ke/tea/news/east-africa/the-m23-demon-could-rwanda-ultimately-invade-congo-3884842
- J. Garside. Saif Gaddafi: London life of former playboy who could lead Libya revealed. *The Guardian*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/20/saif-gaddafi-the-london-life-of-the-for-mer-playboy-who-could-lead-libya
- R. Maxwell Bone. Why the spoils of war may outweigh incentives for peace in Cameroon. *The New Humanitarian*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/analysis/2022/07/19/Cameroon-anglophone-crisis-separatism-secession-elusive-peace
- J. Head. She treated Myanmar's resistance and paid with her life. *BBC*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-62047569
- C. Victor. After IPOB members threatened his life, his only choice was to run. *HumAngle*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://humanglemedia.com/zamfara-monarch-to-confer-traditional-title-on-terror-leader/
- A. Abubakar. Zamfara monarch to confer traditional title on terror leader. *HumAngle*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://humanglemedia.com/zamfara-monarch-to-confer-traditional-title-on-terror-leader/
- B. Nur Cakmak. PKK terror group continues fundraising activities in Europe: Europol report. *Anadolu Agency*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/world/pkk-terror-group-continues-fundraising-activities-in-europe-europol-report/2636249
- K. Makoye. Indigenous groups in Tanzania become victims of land grabbing. *Anadolu Agency*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/africa/indigenous-groups-in-tanzania-become-victims-of-land-grabbing/2635793

Terrorists paid over N700 million as ransom to free seven abducted Abuja-Kaduna train passengers – source. *Sahara Reporters*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://saharareporters.com/2022/07/11/terrorists-paid-over-n700million-ransom-free-7-abducted-abuja-kaduna-train-passengers-

J.Y. Kamale, I. Suuna. Congo and Rwanda agree to reduce tensions over M23 rebels. *Associated Press*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/africa-rwanda-kinshasa-luanda-angola-34725598aaa0b36e4195c-

175e3a85814

E. Sanon, D. Coto. Haiti's struggle worsened in year since slaying of president. *Associated Press*, July 7, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/caribbean-arrests-port-au-prince-haiti-5a8917d2caa9f174ac94d-7f40a5fa5c2

Congo and Rwanda to begin talks amid tensions over insurgency. *Reuters*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/congo-rwanda-begin-talks-amid-tensions-over-insurgency-2022-07-06/

R. Ebbighausen. Who is winning Myanmar's civil war? *Deutsche Welle*, July 1, 2022. YRL: https://www.dw.com/en/who-is-winning-myanmars-civil-war/a-62326822

J. Zenn. Papuan insurgency escalates in Indonesia. *Terrorism Monitor*, 20(13), July 1, 2022. URL: https://jamestown.org/program/briefs-368/

2. Religious Terrorism

2.1. Al-Qaeda and Affiliates

P.R. Pillar. The US killing of Zawahiri was more retribution than prevention. *Responsible Statecraft*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://responsiblestatecraft.org/2022/08/02/the-us-killing-of-zawahiri-was-more-retribution-than-prevention/

The death of al-Qaeda's leader may not halt a jihadist resurgence. *The Economist*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.economist.com/asia/2022/08/02/the-death-of-al-qaedas-leader-may-not-halt-a-jihadist-resurgence

P. Constable. Taliban denies knowing of al-Qaeda presence after Zawahiri killed in Kabul. *The Washington Post*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/08/04/taliban-qaeda-zawahi-ri-kabul/?tid=ss_tw

Zawahiri: Taliban say investigating US 'claim' of killing al-Qaida leader. *The New Arab*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/taliban-say-probing-us-claim-killing-al-qaedas-zawahiri

C. Tawil. Ties between al-Qaeda and the Taliban ...will ISIS benefit from the rupture? *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3795766/ties-between-al-qaeda-and-taliban-will-isis-benefit-rupture

B. Roggio. Biden sold America the false narrative that al-Qaeda was 'gone' from Afghanistan. Zawahiri's death proves he was dangerously wrong. *Daily Mail Online*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11073421/Biden-sold-America-false-narrative-Al-Qaeda-gone-Afghanistan-BILL-ROGGIO.html

M. Phillips, J. Warren. So, how many al-Qaeda are left in Afghanistan? White House insist there is a 'small number' after al-Zawahiri strike and US didn't have a 'feel' on terror presence when troops pulled out. *Daily Mail Online*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11077955/White-House-insist-small-number-al-Zawahiri-strike.html

S. Maher. Death of al-Qaeda leader in Kabul puts the Taliban on notice. *New Statesman*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.newstatesman.com/world/2022/08/ayman-al-zawahiri-death-kabul-taliban?

B. Hoffman. What Zawahiri's killing means for al-Qaeda. *Council on Foreign Relations*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.cfr.org/in-brief/what-zawahiris-killing-means-al-qaeda?

P. Pundir. This 9/11 mastermind was living 'comfortably' in Afghanistan before he was killed. *Vice*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.vice.com/en/article/3add5k/al-zawahiri-911-mastermind-living-comfort-10.2

ably-in-afghanistan-before-he-was-killed

M. Levitt, A.Y. Zelin. What Zawahiri's death means for al-Qaeda and its branches. The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, *Policy Watch* #3636, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/what-zawahiris-death-means-al-qaeda-and-its-branches

M. Brest. White House hit on al-Qaeda presence in Afghanistan after al-Zawahiri strike. *The Washington Examiner*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/policy/defense-national-security/white-house-hit-al-qaeda-presence-in-afghanistan

How could al Qaeda respond after US kills top leader? *NBC News*, YouTube, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gxCCp6r3RVc

P. Bergen. Opinion: the rise and fall of Osama bin Laden's uncharismatic successor. *CNN*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/2022/08/02/opinions/al-zawahiri-al-qaeda-death-osama-bin-laden-bergen?

Ex-deputy leader of al-Qaeda affiliate in Somalia becomes minister. *Garowe Online*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.garoweonline.com/en/news/somalia/ex-deputy-leader-of-al-qaeda-affiliate-becomes-minister-in-somalia

- L. Keath. Bin Laden right-hand man al-Zawahiri's path from Cairo clinic to top of al-Qaeda. *The Times of Israel*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/bin-laden-right-hand-man-al-zawahiris-path-from-cairo-clinic-to-top-of-al-qaeda/
- Z. Miller, A. Madhani. Months of efforts to track al-Qaeda chief's 'pattern of life' key to assassination. *The Times of Israel*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/months-of-efforts-to-track-al-qaeda-chiefs-pattern-of-life-key-to-assassination/

Saudi Arabia welcomes killing of leader of terrorist al-Qaeda. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3793426/saudi-arabia-welcomes-killing-leader-terrorist-al-qaeda

J. Warren. Fanatical ideologue whose new brand of terror prized massacring innocents: Ayman al-Zawahiri inspired Bin Laden to attack the US and wanted al-Qaeda to get nuclear weapons to incinerate infidels. *Daily Mail Online*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11070901/Ayman-al-Zawahiri-inspired-Bin-Ladens-Al-Qaeda-attack-new-brand-terror.html

Is this al-Qaeda's next terror chief? Secretive heir apparent who oversaw Black hawk Down operation' and helped carry out 9/11 attack is poised to take over Ayman al-Zawahiri was killed in Afghanistan. *Daily Mail Online*, August 2, 2022 URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11070971/Is-Al-Qaedas-chief-Heir-apparent-oversaw-Black-Hawk-helped-carry-9-11.html?

- T. Bacon, E. Grimm. What leadership type will succeed al-Qaeda's al-Zawahiri. The Hague: *ICCT*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://icct.nl/publication/what-leadership-type-will-succeed-al-qaedas-al-zawahiri/
- D. Byman, A. Mir. How strong is al-Qaeda? A debate. *War on the Rocks*, May 20, 2022. URL: https://warontherocks.com/2022/05/how-strong-is-al-qaeda-a-debate/

Amnesty: Taliban crackdown on rights is 'suffocating' women. *The New Arab*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/amnesty-taliban-crackdown-rights-suffocating-women

L. Obafemi. '645 people killed in Kaduna in six months.' *Xtra*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.xtra.net/news/nigeria/645-people-killed-kaduna-months

UNDP official in Afghanistan to Asharq al-Awsat; Taliban, ISIS locked in brutal war. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 21, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3770971/undp-official-afghanistan-asharq-al-aw-sat-taliban-isis-locked-brutal-war

E. Graham-Harrison. Taliban presiding over extensive rights abuses in Afghanistan, says UN. The Guard-

ISSN 2334-3745 105 August 2022

ian, July 21, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/21/taliban-overseeing-extensive-rights-abuses-afghanistan-says-un

Toxic mix of bandits, arms, drugs and terrorism is alarming Nigerians. *Nation*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://nation.africa/africa/news/toxic-mix-of-bandits-arms-drugs-is-alarming-nigerians-3883370

T. Hussein. On London, the 'sons' of Bin Laden took root. *New Lines Magazine*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://newlinesmag.com/review/in-london-sons-of-bin-laden-took-root/

Somalia: boats carrying arms heading to al-Shabaab run aground in Puntland. *Garowe Online*, July 4, 2022. URL: https://www.garoweonline.com/en/news/puntland/somalia-boats-carrying-arms-heading-to-al-shabaab-run-ground-in-puntland

Al-Shabaab financing al-Qaeda groups in Mozambique and Nigeria – president. Garowe Online, July 7, 2022. URL: https://www.garoweonline.com/en/news/somalia/al-shabaab-financing-a-qaeda-groups-in-mozambique-and-nigeria-president

A. Dahiru. The al-Qaeda-linked terror group is testing the waters by prohibiting political activities in its regional strongholds, much like Boko Haram and ISWAP did in 2015 and 2019. *HumAngle*, July 3, 2022. URL: https://humanglemedia.com/jihadists-trying-to-disrupt-2023-elections-in-nigerias-northwest/

2.2. IS/ISIS/Daesh and Affiliates

Spotlight on global jihad (July 28- August 3, 2022). *The Meir Amit Intelligence and Terrorism Information Center*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/spotlight-on-global-jihad-july-28-august-3-2022/

Spotlight on global jihad (July 14-20, 2022). *The Meir Amit Intelligence & Terrorism Information Center*, July 21, 2022. URL: https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/spotlight-on-global-jihad-july-14-20-2022/

Spotlight on global jihad (July 7-13, 2022). *The Meir Amit Intelligence & Terrorism Information Center*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/spotlight-on-global-jihad-july-7-13-2022/

Spotlight on global jihad (June 30-July 6, 2022). *The Meir Amit Intelligence & Terrorism Information Center*, July 7, 2022. URL: https://www.terrorism-info.org.il/en/spotlight-on-global-jihad-june-30-july-6-2022/

A.Y. Zelin. New video message from the Islamic State: 'Upon the path of the conquerors –Wilayat al-Sumal.' *Jihadology*, July 30, 2012. URL: https://jihadology.net/2022/07/30/new-video-message-from-the-islam-ic-state-upon-the-path-of-the-conquerors-wilayat-al-umal/

L. Webber. Islamic State in Khorasan province exploits Tajik martyrs for online recruitment in Central Asia. *Terrorism Monitor*, 20(14), July 15, 2022. URL: https://jamestown.org/program/islamic-state-in-khorasan-province-exploits-tajik-martyrs-for-online-recruitment-in-central-asia/

D. Garofalo. Islamic State propaganda renews focus on Africa, but a 'jihadist monopoly' remains elusive. *Terrorism Monitor*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://jamestown.org/program/islamic-state-propaganda-re-news-focus-on-africa-but-a-jihadist-monopoly-remains-elusive/

ISKP criticizes Taliban's acceptance of foreign aid in expansive new book. *Military Wire*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.militantwire.com/p/iskp-criticizes-talibans-acceptance?utm_source=substack&utm_medium=email

Islamic State Khurasan (ISK possible expansion into Central Asia with the launch of a new Tajik propaganda network called Al-Azaim Tajiki, Afghanistan. *TRAC*, *Weekly Briefing*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://track-ingterrorism.org/analysts-briefing/

President Barzani warns of ISIS threat after series of deadly attacks. *Rudaw*, July 25 2022. URL: https://

www.rudaw.net/english/middleeast/iraq/250720221

- R. Pantucci. Jihadist terrorism in Europe. Jihadism in the United Kingdom. #KAS4 Security, *Konrad Adenauer Stiftung*, 2022. URL: https://www.kas.de/documents/252038/16166715/Jihadism+in+the+United+Kingdom.pdf/d97a98c5-48b2-9911-c90e-f0df6d1e2bff?version=1.1&t=1658491669719
- M. Pugliese. The relentless terrorist: a profile of Muaz al-Fizani. *CTC Sentinel*, 15(7), July 2022. URL: https://ctc.westpoint.edu/the-relentless-terrorist-a-profile-of-muaz-al-fizani/
- N. Harley. UN experts warn of 'alarming' trend of terrorists profiting from natural resources. *The National Interest*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.thenationalnews.com/world/uk-news/2022/07/15/un-experts-warn-of-alarming-trend-of-terrorists-profiting-off-natural-resources/?
- H.J. Schindler, J. Fisher-Birch. Afghanistan terrorism report: June 2022. *Counter Extremism Project*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.counterextremism.com/blog/afghanistan-terrorism-report-june-2022
- A. Dahiru. The Islamic State campaign that led to Kuje prison attack. *HumAngle*, July 16, 2022. URL: https://humanglemedia.com/the-islamic-state-campaign-that-led-to-kuje-prison-attack/
- C. Reuter. The terror strategist secret files reveal the structure of Islamic State. *Der Spiegel Online*, April 18, 2014. URL: https://www.spiegel.de/international/world/islamic-state-files-show-structure-of-islamist-ter-ror-group-a-1029274.html
- L. Mylroie. Peshmerga helped thwart ISIS chemical attacks in Europe. *K24*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.kurdistan24.net/en/story/28933-Peshmerga-helped-thwart-ISIS-chemical-attacks-in-Europe

Session II: confronting an evolving threat from Islamic State: European perspectives. *Middle East Institute*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Az-ga2QxuGw

Terrorists rehearsing how to take over Nigeria after attacks on Buhari's advance team, Kuje prison – South-East Youth leaders. *Sahara Reporters*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://saharareporters.com/2022/07/11/terrorists-rehearsing-how-take-over-nigeria-after-attacks-buharis-advance-team-kuje

- J. Warrick. ISIS planned chemical attacks in Europe, new details on weapons program reveal. The Washington Post, July 11, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/2022/07/11/isis-chemical-biological-weapons/?
- A. Dahiru. What power cut by terrorists could mean for businesses in Northwest Nigeria. *HumAngle*, July 10, 2022. URL: https://humanglemedia.com/what-power-cut-by-terrorists-could-mean-for-businesses-in-northwest-nigeria/

2.3. Other Groups and Organizations

UN envoy to Yemen urges exchange of detainee lists. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3797321/un-envoy-yemen-urges-exchange-detainee-lists

- W. Abdulrahman. Media war deepens division among Muslim Brotherhood's foreign fronts. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 30, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3788471/media-war-deepens-division-among-muslim-brotherhood's-foreign-fronts
- E. Fabian. IDF exposes 'Hamas sites' in Gaza civilian areas, in bid to explain future strikes. *The Times of Israel*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-exposes-hamas-sites-in-gaza-civilian-areas-in-bid-to-explain-future-strikes/
- S. S. McNeil. Israeli army says Hamas is rebuilding capabilities in Gaza. *Associated Press*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/middle-east-israel-united-nations-gaza-strip-79082101781713a45cb27fc-c993aef66

T. Durden. Hezbollah threatens to strike Israeli gas production facilities. *ZeroHedge*, July 27, 2022 URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/geopolitical/hezbollah-threatens-strike-israeli-gas-production-facilities

A. Ahronheim. Would Nasrallah really risk war with Israel over the Karish gas rig? – analysis. *The Jerusalem Post*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.jpost.com/middle-east/article-713086

Nasrallah: no Israeli target, on land or sea, is beyond range of Hezbollah missiles. *The Times of Israel*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/nasrallah-no-israeli-target-on-land-or-sea-is-beyond-range-of-hezbollah-missiles/

Syrian Brotherhood: Hamas insists on reviving ties with Assad regime. *Middle East Monitor*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220725-syrian-brotherhood-hamas-insists-on-reviving-ties-with-assad-regime/

Hamas official calls for allowing resistance to defend Palestinian people in the West Bank. *Middle East Monitor*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220725-hamas-official-calls-for-allowing-resistance-to-defend-palestinian-people-in-the-west-bank/

J. Shure. Why did BBC ignore 99% of attacks on Israelis? *The Jewish Chronicle*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.thejc.com/lets-talk/all/why-did-bbc-ignore-99-of-attacks-on-israelis-5qoGMuPW0saCP2CwZeGd6L

N. Ezzedine, H. Azizi. Iran's increasingly decentralized axis of resistance. *War on the Rocks*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://warontherocks.com/2022/07/irans-increasingly-decentralized-axis-of-resistance/

Iraq prosecution to probe 'Maliki Wikileaks'. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3764181/iraq-prosecution-probe-maliki-wikileaks

Hezbollah shifts strategy from 'defense' to threatening Israel with escalation. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3759026/hezbollah-shifts-strategy-defense-threatening-israel-escalation

l. Bassam, M. Gebeily. Hezbollah chief vows 'no one' will extract gas, oil from maritime zones if Lebanon unable to do so. *Reuters*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/hezbollah-chief-vows-no-one-will-extract-gas-oil-maritime-zones-if-lebanon-2022-07-13/

M. Levitt. Tehran's proxy army: Iran's regional role. *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy*, May 29, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/tehrans-proxy-army-irans-regional-role

Q. Muaddi. Palestinian factions slam Abbas over meeting with Gantz. *The New Arab*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/palestinian-factions-slam-abbas-meeting-gantz

Abbas and Hamas chief hold rare meeting. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3743471/abbas-and-hamas-chief-hold-rare-meeting

A. Basit. The Majeed Brigade: the Baluch Liberation Army's suicide squad. *Terrorism Monitor*, 20(13), July 1, 2022. URL: https://jamestown.org/program/the-majeed-brigade-the-baluch-liberation-armys-suicide-squad/?mc_cid=f07851626c&mc_eid=9942bc67e0

3. Terrorist Strategies and Tactics

L. Strickler, S. Gosk, R. Shapiro. How easy is it to get material to make a dirty bomb? Very, report says. *NBC News*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.nbcnews.com/news/easy-get-materials-build-dirty-bomb-re-port-says-rcna39085

M. Parrikar. The role of women in terrorism in Africa – analysis. *Eurasia Review*, July 17, 2022. URL: https://www.eurasiareview.com/17072022-the-role-of-women-in-terrorism-in-africa-analysis/

- T. Durden. YouTuber 3D prints 'world's first' rocket launcher and fires at target. *ZeroHedge*, June 8, 2022. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/military/youtuber-3d-prints-world-first-rocket-launcher-and-fires-target
- J.V. Parachini, R. Gunaratna. Implications of the pandemic for terrorist interest in biological weapons. Islamic State and al-Qaeda pandemic case studies. *RAND*, RR-A612-1, 2022, 68p. URL: https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA612-1.html?
- D. Gartenstein-Ross, T. Joscelyn. Enemies near & far. How jihadist groups strategize, plot and learn. 2022. URL: https://play.google.com/store/books/details/Enemies Near and Far How Jihadist Groups Strategiz?id=INYuEAAAQBAJ&gl=US

4. Conflict, Crime, and Political Violence other than Terrorism

4.1. Crime Groups

- C. Sutton. Inside the bikie family feud tearing apart Australia's biggest gang with cops fearing a full-scale war after extraordinary rebels' defection. *Daily Mail Online*, July 31, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11048261/Rebels-bikie-family-feud-tearing-apart-Australias-biggest-gang.html
- C. McLaughlin. Britain's Pablo Escobar is set for release after 29 years behind bars: Liverpool's notorious drug baron Curtis 'Cocky' Warren, 59, who was linked to Colombia's feared Cali cartel and earned £200m fortune will be freed in November. *Daily Mail Online*, July 24, 2022 URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11043481/Britains-Pablo-Escobar-Curtis-Cocky-Warren-59-linked-Cali-cartel-freed.html
- D. Jones. Costa Del gangsters: Marbella has been hijacked by gangs of sadistic criminals from 59 countries bringing torture and mayhem to British holidaymakers in the popular hotspot. *Daily Mail Online*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11040403/Costa-Del-Gangsters-Marbella-hijacked-gangs-criminals-bringing-torture-mayhem.html
- A. Theis. Mexican cartel ordered to pay over \$4 billion for killing nine people from Mormon offshoot group. *Washington Examiner*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/news/mexican-cartel-ordered-pay-over-billion-killing-nine
- A. Torres. Notorious drug lord who murdered American DEA agent in 1985 and who was featured in Netflix's 'Narcos' is arrested after 10 years on the run. *Daily Mail Online*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11018973/Mexico-captures-infamous-drug-lord-Rafael-Caro-Quintero.html
- M.B. Sheridan. Mexico arrests drug lord wanted by US in death of DEA agent. *The Washington Post*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/07/15/mexico-caro-quintero-arrest/
- A. Ford. Lake Itaipu The smugglers' paradise between Brazil and Paraguay. *InSight Crime*, July 8, 2022. URL: https://insightcrime.org/news/lake-itaipu-the-smugglers-paradise-between-brazil-and-paraguay/
- K. Stevens, S. McPhee. Fugitive Comanchero bikie boss Mark Buddle is deported from Cyprus to Turkey after 'fake FBI sting'- where he'll be handed over to Australian authorities. *Daily Mail Online*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11005633/Fugitive-Comanchero-bikie-boss-Mark-Buddle-deported-Northern-Cyprus-Turkey.html
- El Faro English. Just how powerful are Guatemalan drug rings? July 8, 2022. URL: https://www.latinorebels.com/2022/07/08/guatemaladrugrings/
- Mexican cartel urges that innocents be kept out of drug war in video message. *Reuters*, July 9, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/mexican-cartel-urges-that-innocents-be-kept-out-drug-war-video-message-2022-07-08/

Italy's second most wanted arrives in Rome after 28 years on the run. *The Guardian*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/06/italy-second-most-wanted-mobster-rocco-morabito-extradited-28-years

S. Boztas. Mob-style killings shock Netherlands into fighting descent into 'narco state' *The Guardian*, July 3, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/03/mob-style-killings-shock-netherlands-into-fighting-descent-into-narco-state

4.2. Anti-Crime Strategies & Tactics, Operations

- J. Newman. British drug smugglers are jailed for more than 20 years each for bungled attempt to bring £570m of narcotics into Australia that resulted in a grounded yacht and being captured by a giant seal. *Daily Mail Online*, July 29, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11062119/British-drug-smugglers-jailed-bungled-attempt-bring-570m-narcotics-Australia.html
- S. Scherer, A. Mehler Paperny. Infighting gun crime, Canada has an `American problem.' *Reuters*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/fighting-gun-crime-canada-has-an-american-problem-2022-07-27/
- K. Koram. British drugs policy is punitive and contradictory. And now it'll go backwards. *The Guardian*, July 21, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2022/jul/21/british-drugs-policy-failed-war-on-drugs-boris-johnson
- M. Matza, A. Zucher. What comes next for US gun control? *BBC*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-62157480

Nigeria's banditry: why five government strategies have failed. *Nation*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://nation.africa/africa/news/nigeria-s-banditry-why-5-government-strategies-have-failed-3883366

- J. Phillips. Britons who use cocaine on holiday have their passports confiscated under government's tough crackdown. *Daily Mail Online*, July 16, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11019217/ <a href="https://www.dailymail.c
- J. Burke. Calls for crackdown on gangs in South Africa after spate of gun attacks. *The Guardian*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/11/calls-for-crackdown-on-gangs-in-south-africa-after-spate-of-gun-attacks?
- A. Charlton. 39 suspects arrested over migrant smuggling on boats to UK. Associated Press, July 6, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/middle-east-france-crime-0b08431806bd25ed3554b1bb5ed09603

US to reward tips on illicit cargos in the Middle East. *Reuters*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/us/us-offer-rewards-tips-illegal-maritime-activity-middle-east-2022-07-05/

- J. Silk. German police carry out raids in international operation against people smuggling. *Deutsche Welle*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/german-police-carry-out-raids-in-international-operation-against-people-smuggling/a-62361810
- J. Rose. 'Britain's most wanted cocaine baron' is arrested in Benidorm after police raided his hotel. *Daily Mail Online*, July 4, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10981571/Britains-wanted-co-caine-baron-arrested-Benidorm-police-raided-hotel.html
- G. Odling. Police let 22,000 suspects roam free: fugitives accused of murder, rape and violence fail to attend court, but officers 'are too busy' to arrest them. *Daily Mail Online*, July 3, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10978527/Police-let-22-000-suspects-roam-fail-attend-court.html

4.3. Hate Crimes, Anti-Semitism, Islamophobia, Xenophobia

- C. Quinn. Recording on-crime 'hate incidents' makes people question if police 'know what they are doing', senior chief constable says. *Daily Mail Online*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11067677/Recording-non-crime-hate-incidents-makes-people-question-police-police-chief-says.html
- S. Ain. Report: 1 of 118 anti-Jewish hate crimes in NYC resulted in significant prison term. *Forward*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://forward.com/news/511930/antisemitism-hate-crimes-against-jews-new-york-city-dov-hikind/
- J. Mortimer. New Met police chief Sir Mark Rowley slammed by Muslim groups after saying Islamophobia was 'not racism.' *My London*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.mylondon.news/news/east-london-news/news/east-london-news/news-new-met-police-chief-sir-24470893

Norwegian anti-Islam extremist group leader's car rammed after burning Quran. *The New Arab*, July 2, 2022. UR: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/norwegian-anti-islam-extremist-group-leaders-car-rammed

- M. Brenner. Russia's anti-Semitism aimed at Zelensky is a variant of a very old European virus. *The Times of Israel*, July 1, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/russias-antisemitism-aimed-at-zelensky-is-a-variant-of-a-very-old-european-virus/
- M. Powell. Germany records 'frightening' tally of 2,700 anti-Semitic incidents in one year including 63 attacks and six cases of extreme violence. *Daily Mail Online*, June 28, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10961697/Germany-records-frightening-tally-2-700-anti-Semitic-incidents-one-year-including-63-attacks.html

5. Extremism, Radicalization

- M. Townsend. Growing 'culture of extremism' among UK and European police forces, report warns. *The Guardian*, July 10, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2022/jul/10/growing-culture-of-extremism-among-uk-and-european-police-forces-report-warns
- B. Johnson. Fifteen ways social media fuels violent extremism. *Homeland Security Today*, June 9, 2022. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/featured/15-ways-social-media-fuels-violent-extremism/
- R. Coolsaet. Theorizing radicalization and violent extremism. *Egmont Institute*, June 14, 2022. URL: https://www.egmontinstitute.be/theorizing-radicalization-and-violent-extremism/

Domestic extremism: no one-size-fits-all approach to disengagement from extremism activity or beliefs, study finds. *National Institute of Justice*, April 18, 2022. URL: https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/domes-tic-extremism-no-one-size-fits-all-approach-disengagement-extremism-activity

5.1. Right-wing Extremism

- S. Weale. 'It felt so powerful': how I was seduced by the UK's far right. *The Guardian*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2022/aug/03/it-felt-so-powerful-how-i-was-seduced-by-the-uk-far-right
- R. Adams, S. Weale. Revealed: UK children being ensnared by 'far-right ecosystem' online, *The Guardian*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2022/aug/03/revealed-uk-children-ensnared-far-right-ecosystem-online
- S. Cox. Three tons of fascism: angry white guys in big-ass pickups. *Common Dreams*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.commondreams.org/views/2022/08/02/three-tons-fascism-angry-white-guys-big-ass-pickups?
- R.K. Sherwin. America's dangerous descent into violence. The Japan Times, July 31, 2022. URL: https://

ISSN 2334-3745 111 August 2022

www.japantimes.co.jp/opinion/2022/07/31/commentary/world-commentary/american-violence/?

IntelBrief: lack of unity on the threat posed by racially and ethnically motivated violent extremism. *The Soufan Center*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://thesoufancenter.org/intelbrief-2022-july-28/

Inside the global fight for White Power. *Reveal*, July 23, 2022. URL: https://revealnews.org/podcast/inside-global-fight-for-white-power/?

J. Sharpe. 'Dudes I offed a fed': Inside a far-right militia member's plan to start civil war from the Bay area. *San Francisco Chronicle*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://www.sfchronicle.com/bayarea/article/Air-Force-murder-boogaloo-militia-BLM-Oakland-17313380.php

So1Eo1 –Episode 1: women on the far right. *Bellingcat* Monitoring Podcast by Michael Colborne. July 15, 2022. URL: https://rss.com/podcasts/bellingcatmonitoring/553242/

A. Amarasingam, M.A. Argentino, G. Macklin. The Buffalo-attack: the cumulative momentum of far-right terror. *CTC Sentinel*, 15(7), July 2022. URL: https://ctc.westpoint.edu/the-buffalo-attack-the-cumula-tive-momentum-of-far-right-terror/

Ideological nihilism and aesthetic violence: mass shooters and online antisocial subcultures. *Homeland Security Today*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/subject-matter-areas/counterterrorism/ideological-nihilism-and-aesthetic-violence-mass-shooters-and-online-antisocial-subcultures/

- B. Johnson. 'Crusius-style' mass attacks on migrants urged as 'final solution' in accelerationist guide. *Homeland Security Today*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/featured/crusius-style-mass-attacks-on-migrants-urged-as-final-solution-in-accelerationist-guide/
- P. Hermansson. Transphobia and the far right. *Hope not Fear*, March 16, 2022. URL: https://hopenothate.org.uk/2022/03/16/transphobia-and-the-far-right/
- F. Barber. How a small Spanish beach town became a haven for Nazis. *Haaretz*, June 25, 2022. URL: https://www.haaretz.com/world-news/2022-06-25/ty-article-magazine/.highlight/how-a-spanish-beach-town-became-a-haven-for-nazis/00000181-97a4-dca5-a5c1-97a67f530000
- B. Borrachera, A. Nabert, C. Brause. 'I mean you no harm': from troubled teen to neo-Nazi foot soldier. *Politico*, July 16, 2022. URL: https://www.politico.com/news/2022/07/16/neo-nazi-white-supremacist-teen-agers-00045589?
- T. Stening. Are there far-right extremist groups in your neighborhood? *Northeastern*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://news.northeastern.edu/2022/07/13/far-right-extremist-groups-survey/?

Mordfall Yeboah – Doku über de späte Verfolgung rechter Gewalt. *ARD*, July 10, 2022. URL: https://www.ardaudiothek.de/episode/das-ard-radiofeature/mordfall-yeboah-doku-ueber-die-spaete-verfolgung-rechter-gewalt/ard/10634343/

M. Nance. They want to kill Americans. The Militias, terrorists, and deranged ideology of the Trump insurgency. 2022. URL: https://www.amazon.com/They-Want-Kill-Americans-Terrorists/dp/1250279003

Nouveaux documents sur les bandéristes. *Reseau International*, July 2, 2022. URL: https://reseauinternational.net/nouveaux-documents-sur-les-banderistes/

- C. Daymon, D. Margolin. Women in American violent extremism: an examination of far-right and Salafi jihadist movements. *Program on Extremism*, *NCITE*, June 2022. URL: https://extremism.gwu.edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2191/f/Women-in-American-Violent-Extremism_Daymon-and-Margolin_June-2022.pdf
- D. Holbrook, J. Hopkins, G. Macklin. Violence, risk & rightwing extremism.: temporal, perpetrator, geographical, & victims patterns in Western & Central Europe. *RESOLVE*, June 29, 2022. URL: https://resolvenet.org/research/violence-risk-rightwing-extremism-temporal-perpetrator-geographical-victim-patterns

ISSN 2334-3745 112 August 2022

- B. Bartee. In defense of the West: 'White Supremacy' and 'Anti-Asian attacks' debunked. *Blacklisted News*, June 26, 2022. URL: https://www.blacklistednews.com/article/82816/in-defense-of-the-west-white-su-premacy-and-antiasian-attacks.html?
- H.J. Williams, L.J. Mathews, P. Moore, M.A. DeNardo, J.V. Marrone, B.A. Jackson, W. Marcellino, T.C. Helmus. Mapping white identity terrorism and racially or ethnically motivated violent extremism. *RAND*, RR-A184-1, 2022. URL: https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA1841-1.html?

5.2. Left-wing Extremism

T. Durden. Antifa summer camp in Portland teaches anarchy to children. *ZeroHedge*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/political/antifa-summer-camp-portland-teaches-anarchy-children

5.3. Islamism

- C. Garcia-Calvo, F. Reinares. How members of the Islamic State-linked Ripoll cell grouped, radicalized and plotted mass casualty terrorist attacks in Barcelona. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, June 22, 2022. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1057610X.2022.2097585
- A. R. Esman. In Belgium, jihadists, guns, and (drug) money. *The Allgemeiner*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://www.algemeiner.com/2022/07/11/in-belgium-jihadists-guns-and-drug-money/
- A. Hirsi Ali. The new war on Islamism. *UnHerd*, June 14, 2022. URL: https://unherd.com/2022/06/thenew-war-on-islamism/?
- J. Molony. How Lisa Smith was shaped by toxic masculinity. *Independent*, June 5, 2022. URL: https://www.independent.ie/opinion/comment/how-lisa-smith-was-shaped-by-toxic-masculinity-41721038.html?

5.4. Single Issue Extremism

- K. Terry, A. Solomons. Why do British police refuse to deal with eco-protesters like this? Italian security are praised for ripping protesters' superglued hands off priceless Botticelli and dragging them away. *Daily Mail Online*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11043367/Why-British-police-Moment-security-staff-ripped-protesters-superglued-hands.html
- S. Churchwell. Body politics: the secret history of the US anti-abortion movement. *The Guardian*, July 23, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/books/2022/jul/23/body-politics
- K. Jaffer. Don't encourage them! Environment Minister Lord Goldsmith says eco zealots' stunts do work. *Daily Mail Online*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11040713/Dont-encourage-Environment-Minister-Lord-Goldsmith-says-eco-zealots-stunts-work.html
- J. Waterson. XR protesters smash windows of News UK over coverage of Britain's heatwave. *The Guardian*, July 19, 2022 URL: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2022/jul/19/xr-protesters-smash-windows-of-news-uk-over-coverage-of-britains-heatwave
- J. Fielding, M. Duell, M. Robinson, J. Thorburn. Just Stop Oil eco-vandals behind latest gallery stunt include 'community organizer' who moaned that attending meetings to claim benefits was getting in way of his 'activism', an ex teacher, a bushcraft instructor and an art student. *Daily Mail Online*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10984533/The-Just-Stop-Oil-protestors-Leonardo-da-Vinci-painting-stunt.html

Police arrest seven eco-zealots after Just Stop Oil protesters risk their lives and the drivers storming the Silverstone track in idiotic and dangerous protest at British Grand Prix. *Daily Mail Online*, July 3, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10978331/Police-arrest-seven-protesters-risk-lives-storming-Sil-

ISSN 2334-3745 113 August 2022

verstone-track-idiotic-protest.html

K. Terry. Just Stop Oil eco-zealots risk ten years in prison after targeting Van Gogh's Peach Trees in Blossom in latest superglue stunt. *Daily Mail Online*, June 30, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10971071/Just-Stop-Oil-eco-zealots-risk-ten-years-prison-targeting-Van-Goghs-Peach-Trees-Blossom.html

6. Counterterrorism - General

- K. Osborn. What the Zawahiri strike means for the future of drone warfare. *The National Interest*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://nationalinterest.org/blog/buzz/what-zawahiri-strike-means-future-drone-warfare-203990
- A. Weinstein. Al-Zawahiri killing shows 'over-the-horizon' counterterrorism can work. *Responsible Statecraft*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://responsiblestatecraft.org/2022/08/01/al-zawahiri-killing-shows-over-the-horizon-counterterrorism-can-work/
- D. Pappalardo. 'Win the war before the war?': a French perspective on cognitive warfare. *War on the Rocks*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://warontherocks.com/2022/08/win-the-war-before-the-war-a-french-perspective-on-cognitive-warfare/
- M. Nicol. Army cuts and recruitment crash 'have left the UK unable to tackle crisis', ministers warned. *Daily Mail Online*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11055923/Army-cuts-re-cruitment-crash-left-UK-unable-tackle-crises-ministers-warned.html
- S. Weinberg. CTC-ICT focus on Israel: a view from the CT foxhole: Brigadier General (Reserves) Nitzan Nuriel, former Director of the Counter-terrorism Bureau in the Prime Minister's Office of Israel. *CTC Sentinel*, 15(7), July 2022. URL: https://ctc.westpoint.edu/ctc-ict-focus-on-israel-a-view-from-the-ct-foxhole-brigadier-general-reserves-nitzan-nuriel-former-director-of-the-counter-terrorism-bureau-in-the-prime-ministers-office-of-israel/">https://ctc.westpoint.edu/ctc-ict-focus-on-israel-a-view-from-the-ct-foxhole-brigadier-general-reserves-nitzan-nuriel-former-director-of-the-counter-terrorism-bureau-in-the-prime-ministers-office-of-israel/">https://ctc.westpoint.edu/ctc-ict-focus-on-israel-a-view-from-the-ct-foxhole-brigadier-general-reserves-nitzan-nuriel-former-director-of-the-counter-terrorism-bureau-in-the-prime-ministers-office-of-israel/">https://ctc.westpoint.edu/ctc-ict-focus-on-israel-a-view-from-the-ct-foxhole-brigadier-general-reserves-nitzan-nuriel-former-director-of-the-counter-terrorism-bureau-in-the-prime-ministers-office-of-israel/
- A. Lucey. Lessons from Africa: 20 years of UN Security Council counter-terrorism policy. *Resolve Network*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://resolvenet.org/research/lessons-africa-20-years-un-security-council-count-er-terrorism-policy
- On anniversary of AMIA and Burgas bombings, US urges global front against Hezbollah. *The Times of Israel*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/on-anniversary-of-amia-and-burgas-bombings-us-urges-global-front-against-hezbollah/
- B. Dag. Türkiye maintains fight against FETO terror group at home, abroad: Foreign Minister. *Anadolu Agency*, July 16,2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkiye-maintains-fight-against-feto-terror-group-at-home-abroad-foreign-minister/2638122
- D. Johnson. A modern-day Frederick the Great? The end of short, sharp wars. *War on the Rocks*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://warontherocks.com/2022/07/a-modern-day-frederick-the-great-the-end-of-short-sharp-wars/
- N. Bivan. Ten ways Nigeria's Northwestern states have tackled terrorism without much success. *HumAngle*, July 8, 2022. URL: https://humanglemedia.com/10-ways-nigerias-northwestern-states-have-tackled-ter-rorism-without-much-success/
- R. Camber. MI5 and FBI warn it is getting harder to catch 'lone wolf' terrorists in time. *Daily Mail Online*, July 9, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10996919/MI5-FBI-warn-getting-harder-catch-lone-wolf-terrorists-time.html
- B.L. McQuade. Not a suicide pact: urgent strategic recommendations for reducing domestic terror-

ism in the United States. *Texas National Security Review*, 5(2), Spring 2022, pp. 109-122. URL: https://tnsr.org/2022/02/not-a-suicide-pact-urgent-strategic-recommendations-for-reducing-domestic-terror-ism-in-the-united-states/

J. Dobbins, A. Radin, L.E. Miller. Engage, isolate, or oppose. American policy toward the Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan. *RAND*, PE-A1540-1, 2022, 28 pp. URL: https://www.rand.org/pubs/perspectives/PEA1540-1.html?

UN Global Counter-terrorism Strategy. 7th Review of the Strategy. URL: https://www.un.org/counterterrorism/strategy

Terrorist groups 'exploiting power vacuums', UN chief warns. *Homeland Security Today*, June 12, 2022. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/subject-matter-areas/counterterrorism/terrorist-groups-exploiting-power-vacuums-un-chief-warns/

7. Counterterrorism: Specific Operations and/or Specific Policy Measures

7.1. Military: Kinetic Operations, Military Assistance & Training

Justice by Hellfire: the killing of Ayman al-Zawahiri. *The Cipher Brief*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.thecipherbrief.com/justice-by-hellfire-the-killing-of-ayman-al-zawahiri

T. Ndiaga. Burkina Faso army admits killing civilians in counterterrorist strike. *Reuters*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/burkina-faso-army-admits-killing-civilians-counter-terrorist-strike-2022-08-03/

N. Peyton, H. Holland. UN experts say Rwanda has intervened militarily in eastern Congo. *Reuters*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/un-experts-say-rwanda-has-intervened-militarily-eastern-congo-2022-08-04/

Nigeria's military to use 'maximum firepower' against armed groups. *The New Arab*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/nigerias-military-use-maximum-firepower-against-armed-groups

M. Boot. Do targeted killings weaken terrorist groups? *Council of Foreign Relations*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.cfr.org/in-brief/do-targeted-killings-weaken-terrorist-groups?

Eight terror leaders narrowly escaped Israeli raid in West Bank last month – report. *The Times of Israel*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/terror-leaders-narrowly-escaped-israeli-raid-in-west-bank-last-month-report/

Israel demolishes Palestinian home in East Jerusalem's Silwan. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3797081/israel-demolishes-palestinian-home-east-jerusalems-silwan

Little-known modified Hellfire likely killed al-Qaeda's Zawahiri. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 2, 2022 URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3794376/little-known-modified-hellfire-likely-killed-al-qae-da's-zawahiri

The assassination of Ayman al-Zawahiri: CIA drone kills al-Qaeda leader at safe house in Kabul. *Democracy Now*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=di-29ciaLKI

T. ul Hasnain. Assessing the outcome of Pakistan's support for Afghan Taliban. *Militant Wire*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.militantwire.com/p/assessing-the-outcome-of-pakistans?

E. Fabian. IDF bolsters troops to secure Gaza-area roads amid fears of Islamic Jihad attack. *The Times of Israel*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-bolsters-troops-to-secure-gaza-area-roads-

ISSN 2334-3745 115 August 2022

amid-fears-of-islamic-jihad-attack/

How CIA located al-Qaeda leader Ayman al-Zawahiri and killed him in Kabul. *Garowe Online*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.garoweonline.com/en/news/somalia/how-cia-located-al-qaeda-leader-ayman-al-zawahiri-and-killed-him-in-kabul

Former CIA director explains what it takes for targeted drone strikes. *CNN*, YouTube, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UOQfKTiXmvM

- P. Farrell. How Ayman al-Zawahiri's family led CIA to world's most wanted terrorist: agents spotted his wife, daughter and grandkids at Kabul safehouse months before he 'lingered' on balcony in a 'pattern of behavior' like Bin Laden. *Daily Mail Online*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11074605/How-Ayman-al-Zawahiris-FAMILY-led-CIA-worlds-wanted-terrorist.html
- Z. Schonfeld. Kirby: US has 'visual confirmation' of al-Qaeda leader's death in missile strike. *The Hill*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://thehill.com/policy/defense/3584212-kirby-us-has-visual-confirmation-of-al-qaeda-leaders-death-in-missile-strike/
- R. Crilly. White House confirms it does not have DNA confirmation of al-Zawahiri's death and got it through 'other sources' as questions swirl over whether US had any foreign help. *Daily Mail Online*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11073343/White-House-confirms-does-NOT-DNA-confirmation-al-Zawahiris-death.html

Ethiopian forces face new front from al-Shabaab in Somalia. *Garowe Online*, July 31, 2022. URL: https://www.garoweonline.com/en/world/africa/ethiopian-forces-face-new-front-from-al-shabaab-in-somalia

- H.J. Ingram, A.Mines, D. Milton. The death of Ayman al-Zawahiri and what it says about US counter-terrorism. *Independent*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.independent.co.uk/voices/ayman-al-zawahi-ri-death-biden-america-counter-terrorism-b2136519.html
- M. Lee, N. Merchant, A. Madhani. Biden hails killing of al-Qaeda head al-Zawahiri: if you're a threat, we'll find you. *The Times of Israel*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/no-matter-how-long-it-takes-well-find-you-biden-hails-killing-of-al-qaeda-chief/

Turkey announces killing of prominent Kurdish leader in North Syria. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3793501/turkey-announces-killing-prominent-kurdish-leader-n-syria

- M. Aydogan. Turkish forces 'neutralize' five YPG/PKK terrorists in northern Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkish-forces-neutralize-5-ypg-pkk-terrorists-in-northern-syria/2651349
- E. Goodin, C, Pleasance, A. Hammer, N. Anderson. Biden in the situation room on July 1 planning CIA drone strike that killed 9/11 mastermind al-Zawahiri with a boxed-up model of his Kabul safehouse. *Daily Mail Online*, August 2, 2022 URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11072905/Biden-Situation-Room-July-1-planning-CIA-drone-strike-killed-al-Zawahiri.html
- R. Plummer, M. Murphy. Ayman al-Zawahiri: al-Qaeda leader killed in US drone strike. *BBC*, August 2, 2022 URL: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-62387167?

Watch live: Biden delivers remarks after reported killing of al-Qaida leader al-Zawahiri. PBS News Hour, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=58BA1C1YgGo

US drone strike said to have killed Ayman al-Zawahiri, top al-Qaeda leader. The New York Times, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/08/01/us/politics/al-qaeda-strike-afghanistan.html

R. Meitav. Al-Qaeda leader Zawahiri killed in CIA drone strike. The Jerusalem Post, August 2, 2022 URL: https://www.jpost.com/breaking-news/article-713680

ISSN 2334-3745 116 August 2022

US strike in Afghanistan kills al-Qaida leader Ayman al-Zawahiri – reports. The Guardian, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/aug/01/us-strike-afghanistan-kills-al-qaida-leader-ayman-al-zawahiri

D. Lamothe, S. Harris, O. Knox. US kills al-Qaeda leader Ayman al-Zawahiri, official sources say. *The Washington Post*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/2022/08/01/zawahiri-al-qaeda-killed/

Turkey sends new military reinforcements to Aleppo. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://en-glish.aawsat.com/home/article/3791431/turkey-sends-new-military-reinforcements-aleppo

Regime forces ramp up attacks in Syria's north. *Asharq al-Awsat*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://english.aaw-sat.com/home/article/3791631/regime-forces-ramp-attacks-syria's-north

M. Berker. Another PKK terrorist surrenders to Turkish security forces. *Anadolu Agency*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/another-pkk-terrorist-surrenders-to-turkish-security-forces/2650721

F. Tukten. Turkish intelligence 'neutralizes' senior PKK/YPG terrorist in northern Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkish-intelligence-neutralizes-se-nior-pkk-ypg-terrorist-in-northern-syria/2650560

J, Tasamba, A. Bonny. DR Congo opens probe after UN mission admits its troops killed two civilians. *Anadolu Agency*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/africa/dr-congo-opens-probe-after-unmission-admits-its-troops-killed-2-civilians/2650175

Y. Soykan Bal. Türkiye 'neutralizes' PKK terrorist involved in 2008 Istanbul terror attack. *Anadolu Agency*, July 30, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkiye-neutralizes-pkk-terrorist-in-volved-in-2008-istanbul-terror-attack/2649100

J. Bechocha. Turkey claims death of PKK 'senior executive' in Sulamani. *Rudaw*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.rudaw.net/english/kurdistan/28072022

Ethiopia says over 209 al-Shabab fighters killed after failed incursion. *Garowe Online*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.garoweonline.com/en/world/africa/ethiopia-says-over-209-al-shabab-fighters-killed-after-failed-incursion

France could deliver drones to help Benin battle militants. *Reuters*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/france-help-benin-gulf-guinea-states-battle-militants-2022-07-27/

Rights group concerned about Burundi's 'secret' mission in DRC. *Al Jazeera*, July 2022. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/7/27/rights-group-concerned-about-burundis-secret-mission-in-drc

Has the UN's peacekeeping mission in Congo failed? *Al Jazeera*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/program/inside-story/2022/7/28/has-the-uns-peacekeeping-mission-in-dr-congo-failed

Largest 'international coalition' base fires missiles on positions of Iranian militias. *SOHR*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.syriahr.com/en/261509/

T. Pierce. Cognitive warfare: Israel targets journalists who threaten its reality-creation tactics. *Mint Press*, June 23, 2022. URL: https://www.mintpressnews.com/cognitive-warfare-israel-targets-journalists-threat-en-reality/281178/

Ethiopia forces kill 85 al-Shabaab fighters near Somalia, state TV and commander say. *Reuters*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/ethiopia-forces-kill-85-al-shabaab-fighters-near-soma-lia-state-tv-commander-2022-07-26/

A. Ahronheim. IDF demolishes homes of terrorists behind deadly Ariel attack. The Jerusalem Post, July 26,

ISSN 2334-3745 117 August 2022

2022. URL: https://www.jpost.com/breaking-news/article-713054

K. Faighi Dri. Kurdish commander says ISIS plans to attack key IDP camp in Rojava. *Rudaw*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.rudaw.net/english/middleeast/syria/15072022

E. Fabian. IDF: Palestinian man detained with loaded homemade gun in Gush Etzion. The Times of Israel, July 25, 2022 URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-palestinian-man-detained-with-loaded-homemade-gun-in-gush-etzion/

E. Fabian. IDF demolishes West Bank homes of Palestinians who gunned down Ariel guard in April. *The Times of Israel*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-demolishes-west-bank-homes-of-palestinians-who-gunned-down-ariel-guard-in-april/

S. Sahin. Turkish intelligence deals heavy blow to Daesh/ISIS terror group. *Anadolu Agency*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkish-intelligence-deals-heavy-blow-to-daesh-isis-terror-group/2646157

O. Koparan. YPG/PKK terrorists' infiltration attempt foiled in Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/middle-east/ypg-pkk-terrorists-infiltration-attempt-foiled-in-syria/2645999

Chief Bisong Etahoben. Central African Republic Forces arrest former UPC rebel 'general.' *HumAngle*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://humanglemedia.com/central-african-republic-forces-arrest-former-upc-rebel-general/

Regime forces clash with National army. Turkish forces shell five villages in Aleppo countryside. *SOHR*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.syriahr.com/en/261046/

US Central Command praises PKK/YPG terrorist killed in Northern Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/us-central-command-praises-pkk-ypg-terrorist-killed-in-nsyria/2644755

M. Berker. Turkish forces 'neutralize' 15 YPG/PKK terrorists in northern Syria. *Anadolu Agency*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkish-forces-neutralize-15-ypg-pkk-terrorists-in-north-ern-syria/2645054

Israeli general warns Air Force not ready for multi-front war. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3778021/israeli-general-warns-air-force-not-ready-multi-front-war

Two Palestinians killed in Israeli raid on occupied West Bank. *Al Jazeera*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/7/24/two-palestinians-killed-in-israeli-raid-on-occupied-west-bank

Masafr Yatta: Israeli troops attack activists during protest against apartheid, colonization. *The Arab News*, July 23, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/masafer-yatta-israel-troops-attack-activ-ists-during-protest

Turkish drone attacks in 48 hours. Nearly 15 people killed and injured in four attacks on SDF-held areas. *SOHR*, July 23, 2022. URL: https://www.syriahr.com/en/260641/

A. Gençtürk. Israel air raid on Syria's capital kills three soldiers. *Anadolu Agency*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/middle-east/israeli-air-raid-on-syria-s-capital-kills-3-soldiers/2642954

B. Binnur Donmez. Türkiye 'neutralizes' two YPG/PKK terrorist in northern Syria, *Anadolu Agency*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkiye-neutralizes-2-ypg-pkk-terrorists-in-north-ern-syria/2643164

Iraqi PM condemns Turkey after Kurdistan strike kills nine civilians. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3769476/iraq-pm-condemns-turkey-after-kurdistan-strike-kills-9-civilians

Syrian soldiers killed in Israeli strike over Damascus – report. *i24 News*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.i24news.tv/en/news/middle-east/levant-turkey/1658441973-syrian-air-defenses-respond-to-is-raeli-strike-over-damascus-reports?

Israeli military admits it uses armed drones. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 21, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3770526/israel-military-admits-it-uses-armed-drones

G. Wright. Iraq accuses Turkey of attack that killed nine in Kurdistan. *BBC*, July 21, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-62246911

US forces must leave areas of Syria east of Euphrates River: Turkish president. *Anadolu Agency*, July 20, 2022 URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/us-forces-must-leave-areas-of-syria-east-of-euphrates-river-turkish-president/2641610

K. Kazungu. Suspected al-Shabaab terrorist arrested in Boni forest. *Nation*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://nation.africa/kenya/counties/lamu/suspected-al-shabaab-terrorist-arrested-in-boni-forest-3885836

Turkey arrests five ISIS members who were active in Syria, Iraq. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 20, 2022 URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3768731/turkey-arrests-5-isis-members-who-were-active-syria-iraq

R. Michaelson. Erdogan asks Russia and Iran to back Turkey's incursion into Syria. *The Guardian*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/20/erdogan-russia-iran-syria-putin-khamenei

E. Fabian. Lapid, Gantz warn that Hezbollah drones, threats could lead region to 'escalation'. *The Times of Israel*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/lapid-gantz-warn-that-hezbollah-drones-threats-could-lead-region-to-escalation/

SDF announces general mobilization in anticipation of Turkish attack. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 19, 2022. URL; https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3766516/sdf-announces-general-mobilization-anticipation-turkish-attack

Mali Tuaregs accuse junta-led regime of ditching peace pact. *The New Arab*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://en-glish.alaraby.co.uk/news/mali-tuaregs-accuse-junta-led-regime-ditching-peace-pact

Khamenei tells Erdogan offensive in Syria would be 'detrimental.' *The New Arab*, July 19, 2022 URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/khamenei-tells-erdogan-offensive-syria-would-be-detrimental

Israel could be 'blacklisted' over killings of Palestinian children, says UN chef. *Middle East Eye*, July 16, 2022. URL: https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/israel-palestinian-blacklisted-killing-children-un-chief

Israel strikes Gaza targets following rocket fire from besieged strip. *Middle East Eye*, July 16, 2022. URL: https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/israel-gaza-strikes-following-rocket-fire-besieged-strip

Chief Bisong Etahoben. Cameroon troops kill separatist leader, Leke Olivier. *HumAngle*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://humanglemedia.com/cameroon-troops-kill-separatist-leader-leke-olivier/

Colombia military kills FARC dissident leader Mordisco. *Reuters*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/colombia-military-kills-farc-dissident-leader-mordisco-2022-07-15/

Togo's army says civilians killed by airstrike, mistaken for jihadists. *Reuters*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/togos-army-says-civilians-were-killed-by-airstrike-mistaken-jihadists-2022-07-14/

Egypt to suspend activities of its contingent in Mali UN mission. *Reuters*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/egypt-suspend-activities-its-contingent-mali-un-mission-2022-07-15/

W. van Wilgenburg. SDF arrests 12 ISIS suspects in a large operation in Hasakah province. K24, July 12,

ISSN 2334-3745 119 August 2022

2022. URL: https://www.kurdistan24.net/en/story/28928-SDF-arrests-12-ISIS-suspects-in-a-large-operation-in-Hasakah-province

60 Palestinians killed by Israeli forces in first half of 2022, nearly as many as all of 2021. *Haaretz*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.haaretz.com/israel-news/2022-07-13/ty-article/.premium/60-palestinians-shot-dead-by-security-forces-in-2022-200-increase-on-2019/00000181-f79f-d16e-af91-f7bfe0790000?

E. Schmitt. US military says senior ISIS leader in Syria killed in drone strike. *The New York Times*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/07/12/us/politics/isis-drone-strike-syria.html?smid=tw-share

IRGC says it neutralized terrorist cell, four of its members killed. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 9, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3748811/irgc-says-it-neutralized-terrorist-cell-4-its-members-killed

UK reveals Royal Navy seizure of smuggled Iranian missiles. *Royal Navy*, July 7, 2022. URL: https://www.royalnavy.mod.uk/news-and-latest-activity/news/2022/july/07/20220707-montrose-arms-cache

US drone strike kills leader of Islamic State in Syria. *The Times of Israel*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/us-drone-strike-kills-leader-of-islamic-state-in-syria/

A. Gabbatt. US military kills Islamic State leader in Syria airstrike. *The Guardian*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/12/us-kills-islamic-state-leader-syria-maher-al-agal

SAS killings: how a scandal was uncovered. *BBC*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-62083197

J. Feldscher. US drone strike kills leader of ISIS in Syria. *Defense One*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.defenseone.com/threats/2022/07/us-drone-strike-kills-leader-isis-syria/374117/

US military kills ISIS leader in Syria drone strike. *Washington Examiner*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/policy/defense-national-security/isis-leader-al-agal-drone-strike-killed

Biden falsely claims US troops aren't engaged in combat in the Middle East. *ZeroHedge*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/political/biden-falsely-claims-us-troops-arent-engaged-combat-middle-east

H. O'Grady, J. Gunter. SAS unit repeatedly killed Afghan detainees, BBC finds. *BBC*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-62083196

Can Nigeria defeat armed groups alone? Inside Story, *Al Jazeera*, July 8, 2022. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/program/inside-story/2022/7/8/can-nigeria-alone-defeat-armed-groups

M. Durmaz. Burkina Faso's military government struggles to contain violence. *Al Jazeera*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/features/2022/7/11/burkina-fasos-military-government-struggles-to-contain-violence

Syrian regime forces deploy quality weapons in SDF areas. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 8, 2022. URL: https://en-glish.aawsat.com/home/article/3747521/syrian-regime-forces-deploy-quality-weapons-sdf-areas

IRGC says it neutralized terrorist cell, 4 of its members killed. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 9, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3748811/irgc-says-it-neutralized-terrorist-cell-4-its-members-killed

S. Ozer. Türkiye neutralized nearly 2,000 terrorists in cross-border operations so far this year: defense chief. *Anadolu Agency*, July 9, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/turkiye/turkiye-neutralized-nearly-2-000-terrorists-in-cross-border-terror-operations-so-far-this-year-defense-chief/2633930

I. Debre. UK warship seizes advanced Iranian missiles bound for Yemen. *Associated Press*, July 7, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/middle-east-iran-dubai-united-arab-emirates-e9b6c596efac7cdcec-

79fa71849b9520

At least 16 al-Shabaab terrorists killed in Somalia as troops foil attack. *Garowe Online*, June 17, 2022 URL: https://www.garoweonline.com/en/news/somalia/at-least-16-al-shabaab-terrorists-killed-in-somalia-as-troops-foil-attack?

Al-Shabaab terrorists detained near Somalia's capital. *Garowe Online*, July 7, 2022. URL: https://www.ga-roweonline.com/en/news/somalia/al-shabaab-terrorists-detained-near-somalia-s-capital

Palestinian shot dead near Jenin; IDF: terror suspect targeted trying to escape. *The Times of Israel*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/palestinian-shot-dead-near-jenin-idf-terror-suspect-targeted-trying-to-escape/

E. Fabian. IDF chef of staff candidate suggests ramping up assassinations of IRGC leaders. *The Times of Israel*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-chief-of-staff-candidate-suggests-ramping-up-assassinations-of-iranian-officials/

Israeli soldiers kill Palestinian in West Bank arrest raid. *Reuters*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.techdirt.com/2022/07/06/google-deletes-abortion-location-data-as-attack-on-roe-completely-realigns-the-privacy-debate/

- I. Garb Shuaibu. President Muhammdu Buhari vows to obliterate terrorists after 43 people killed in north-central Nigeria. *Anadolu Agency*, July 2, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/africa/president-muhamma-du-buhari-vows-to-obliterate-terrorists-after-43-people-killed-in-northcentral-nigeria/2628481
- E. Fabian. Syria says Israeli jet conducts rare daytime airstrike on southern coast. *The Times of Israel*, July 2, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/syria-says-israeli-jets-conduct-rare-daytime-airstrike-on-southern-coast/
- E. Fabian. IDF shoots down three Hezbollah drones heading for Karish gas field. *The Times of Israel*, June 2, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/idf-says-it-shot-down-3-hezbollah-drones-heading-for-karish-gas-field/
- F. Powelton. Mali: Départ de la force européenne Takuba. *Research International*, July 2, 2022. URL: https://reseauinternational.net/mali-depart-de-la-force-europeenne-takuba/
- J. Lees Weiss. Can the Egyptian military and tribal militias curb Islamic State in Sinai Province's eleven rear insurgency? *Terrorism Monitor*, 20(13), July 1, 2022. URL: https://jamestown.org/program/can-the-egyptian-military-and-tribal-militias-curb-islamic-state-in-sinai-provinces-eleven-year-insurgency/

7.2. Foreign Fighters & Their Families

C. Jewers. Shamima Begum makes another plea to be allowed to return to Britain, saying she should be 'used as an example' against extremism but admits she expects to spend the rest of her life in Syria. *Daily Mail Online*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11049687/Shamima-Begum-makes-plea-allowed-return-Britain.html

A. Tabac. Neo-Nazi foreign fighters returning from Ukraine could pose threat – report. *The Jerusalem Post*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.jpost.com/international/article-713109

L. Shakir. Hanging on a thread of normalcy at vetting camp, ISIS-linked families await to return home. *Rudaw*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.rudaw.net/english/middleeast/iraq/26072022

Syria's Kurds repatriate nearly 150 Daesh-linked Tajiki women, children. *Arab News*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.arabnews.com/node/2129071/middle-east

ISIS fighters' children are growing up in a desert camp. What will they become? The New York Times, July

ISSN 2334-3745 121 August 2022

20, 2022. URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/07/19/us/politics/syria-isis-women-children.html

Western extremists and the Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2022. All talk, but not a lot of walk. *Counter Extremism Project*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.counterextremism.com/content/western-extremists-and-russian-invasion-ukraine-2022

Turkey resumes transfer of Syrian mercenaries in Libya. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://en-glish.aawsat.com/home/article/3757366/turkey-resumes-transfer-syrian-mercenaries-libya

France repatriates 35 children, 16 mothers from northern Syria. *Deutsche Welle*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://www.dw.com/en/france-repatriates-35-children-16-mothers-from-northern-syria/a-62362103

7.3. Prosecution: Sentences

Jihadi jailed for bomb plot on London Stock Exchange could be free within months: one of UK's most dangerous terrorists who is friends with London bridge killed Usman Khan is granted parole hearing after 10 years in prison. *Daily Mail Online*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11077215/Jihadi-jailed-bomb-plot-London-Stock-Exchange-FREE-months.html

S.S. Hsu, T. Jackman. First Jan.6 defendant convicted at trial to more than seven years. *The Washington Post*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonpost.com/dc-md-va/2022/08/01/reffitt-sentence-jan6/

Mohammed Khalifa, the English-language narrator in ISIS propaganda videos sentenced to life. *Breaking 911*, July 31, 2022. URL: https://breaking911.com/mohammed-khalifa-the-english-language-narrator-in-isis-propaganda-videos-sentenced-to-life/

O. Oshin. DC man who assaulted police on Jan.6 sentenced to five-year prison. *The Hill*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://thehill.com/policy/national-security/3575009-dc-man-who-assaulted-police-on-jan-6-sentenced-to-five-year-prison-term/

Canadian was 'prolific propagandist' in ISIS, US prosecutors say. *Qudach*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.qudach.ca/canadian-was-prolific-propagandist-in-isis-u-s-prosecutors-say-870636.html

Irish-ex-soldier jailed for 15 months for joining IS in Syria. *Rudaw*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.rudaw.net/english/world/22072022

Irish court to sentence former soldier Lisa Smith for joining Islamic State in Syria. *The New Arab*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/irish-court-sentence-lisa-smith-joining-syria

S. M. Brech, D. Cole. German court sentences ex-soldier to 5 and half years for far-right terror plot. *The Times of Israel*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/german-court-sentences-ex-soldier-to-5-and-a-half-years-for-far-right-terror-plot/

Celstraf voor Duitse militair die vermomd als asielzoeker aanslag wilde plegen. *NOS.nl*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://nos.nl/artikel/2436818-celstraf-voor-duitse-militair-die-vermomd-als-asielzoeker-aanslag-wilde-plegen

Iran: conviction of former Iranian official over involvement in 1988 prison massacres landmark step towards justice. *Amnesty International*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2022/07/iran-conviction-of-former-iranian-official-over-involvement-in-1988-prison-massacres-landmark-step-to-wards-justice/

Five former Gambian intelligence officials convicted of murdering opposition activist. *Reuters*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/five-former-gambian-intelligence-officials-convict-ed-murdering-opposition-2022-07-14/

I. Ssuuna. Genocide survivors welcome Rwandan's conviction in France. Associated Press, July 13, 2022.

ISSN 2334-3745 122 August 2022

URL: https://apnews.com/article/africa-genocides-france-rwanda-026945251a3531fb49d7d13d34db3789

Paris 2015 attacker's sentence stands after no appeal filed. *The New Arab*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/paris-2015-attackers-sentence-stands-after-no-appeal-filed

Turkey convicts 14 accused of killing Iranian dissident. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 8, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3747461/turkey-convicts-14-accused-killing-iranian-dissident

T. Salün, C. Archi, I. Melander. Main suspect handed life sentence for 2015 Islamist attacks on Paris. *Reuters*, June 29, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/verdict-expected-wednesday-paris-islamist-attacks-2022-06-29/

Procès des attentats du 13-Novembre: Ce process a été une Odyssée don't aucun acteur ou observateur assidu ne resortira indemne. *Le Monde*, June 29, 2022 URL: <a href="https://www.lemonde.fr/societe/live/2022/06/29/proces-des-attentats-du-13-novembre-ce-proces-surnomme-v13-a-ete-une-odyssee-dont-aucun-acteur-ou-observateur-assidu-ne-ressortira-indemne 6132485 3224.html - Echobox=1656490007-1

8. Prevention, Preparedness and Resilience & Rehabilitation Studies

K. Aprilia. Terrorist turned filmmaker wants to draw youths away from extremist groups. *Benar News*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.benarnews.org/english/news/indonesian/courier-movie-07252022152816.html

US leadership in atrocity prevention. *USIP*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=V60t-52vXzIw&t=10580s

A. Speckhard, M. Ellenberg. The disengagement and deradicalization debate: both are needed for true rehabilitation. *Homeland Security Today*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/subject-matter-areas/counterterrorism/the-disengagement-and-deradicalization-debate-both-are-needed-for-true-rehabilitation/

Deradicalization. Term of the month. *National Institute of Justice*, July 2022. URL: https://nij.ojp.gov/term-month?

Democratization and UN Peacebuilding. An ESRC-funded project, November 2018 – October 2022. URL: https://democratizationandpeacebuilding.org/

E. Aben. Philippines' autonomous Muslim region builds deradicalization center for former militants. *Arab News*, June 13, 2022. URL: https://www.arabnews.com/node/2102576/world

The EU's work to tackle terrorism. June 2022. URL: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/eu-re-sponse-to-terrorism/?

9. State Repression, Civil War and Clandestine Warfare

9.1. (Arbitrary) Arrest/Detention, Prison Systems

J. Smith. Brittney Griner is expected to be swapped with 'Merchant of Death' arms dealer within weeks as Biden slams Russia for her 'wrongful detention' on nine-year sentence for smuggling cannabis vape. *Daily Mail Online*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11082147/Brittney-Griner-swapped-Merchant-Death-arms-dealer-WEEKS.html

L. Tress. Baha'i UN envoy: Iran carrying out 'systematic onslaught' against minority community. *The Times of Israel*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/bahai-un-envoy-iran-carrying-out-systematic-onslaught-against-minority-community/

Iran arrests Baha'i community members, alleges they spied for Israel. The Times of Israel, August 1, 2022.

ISSN 2334-3745 123 August 2022

URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-arrests-bahai-community-members-alleges-they-spied-for-israel/

A. Sarat. Parkland shooter's death penalty trial poses severe test for opponents of capital punishment. *The Hill*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://thehill.com/opinion/criminal-justice/3575614-parkland-shooters-death-penalty-trial-poses-severe-test-for-opponents-of-capital-punishment/

J. Baker. How I survived a Syrian Gulag. *New Lines Magazine*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://newlinesmag.com/essays/how-i-survived-a-syrian-gulag/

Dozens of Palestinian prisoners to hunger strike in solidarity with Raed Rayan, Khalil Awahdeh. *The New Arab*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/palestinian-prisoners-go-mass-hunger-strike

J. Ryan. Dangerous terrorists to be sent straight to new high-risk prison wings under new government rules. *Daily Mail Online*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11042757/Dangerous-terrorists-sent-straight-new-high-risk-prison-wings-new-Government-rules.html

T. Mansour. Egypt had at least 60,000 political prisoners since Sisi took power: NYT. *The New Arab*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/egypt-had-least-60000-political-prisoners-nyt

Ailing journalist begins hunger strike in northeast Syria prison: regime media. *The New Arab*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/ailing-journalist-begins-hunger-strike-ne-syria-prison

Iran pardons, commutes sentences for more than 2,200 convicts. *Middle East Monitor*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220718-iran-pardons-commutes-sentences-for-more-than-2200-convicts/

Palestine ex-prisoner recalls his 33 years of struggle in Israeli jails. *Middle East Monitor*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220718-palestine-ex-prisoner-recalls-his-33-years-of-struggle-in-israeli-jails/

Shin Bet seeks exclusion from ruling to provide minimum cell space to Palestinian prisoners. *Middle East Monitor*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20220718-shin-bet-seeks-exclusion-from-ruling-to-provide-minimum-cell-space-to-palestinian-prisoners/

- J. Warren, K. Griffith. Lawyer of murdered journalist Jamal Khashoggi is sentenced to three years in prison by the UAE for money laundering and tax evasion. *Daily Mail Online*, July 17, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11022127/Lawyer-murdered-journalist-Jamal-Khashoggi-sentenced-three-years-prison-UAE.html
- S. Carr. Prisoner who murdered arsonist cellmate by battering him to death with wooden table leg in Belmarsh is jailed for at least 17 years. *Daily Mail Online*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11024909/Prisoner-battered-cellmate-death-wooden-table-leg-jailed-17-years.html
- K. Terry. Russian journalist who protested invasion of Ukraine by holding up banner in TV broadcast has been detained by the country's police, lawyer reveals. *Daily Mail Online*, July 17, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11022861/Russian-journalist-protested-invasion-Ukraine-detained-countrys-police-lawyer-reveals.html
- J. Heintz, L. Neumeister. Reviled and revered Russian arms dealer is back in the spotlight. *Associated Press*, July 14, 2022 URL: https://apnews.com/article/russia-ukraine-entertainment-moscow-paul-whelan-prisoner-exchange-054f3cc0a8895e1ce1d7c632b46f2fe9
- F. Flade. Belgiens Deal mit den Mullahs. *Jih@d*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://ojihad.wordpress.com/2022/07/13/belgiens-deal-mit-den-mullahs/
- P. Sauer. Moscow councillor jailed for seven years after criticizing Ukraine war. *The Guardian*, July 8, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/08/moscow-councillor-jailed-seven-years-criticis-

ing-ukraine-war-alexei-gorinov

Iran arrests two filmmakers over posting on social media. *Associated Press*, July 9, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/entertainment-iran-middle-east-91d64352d78882823adcee6cc7904856

El Salvador woman's 50-year jail sentence outrages abortion rights group. *Reuters*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/americas/high-school-fire-violent-protests-by-kids-rock-chile-2022-07-05/

Egypt sentences researcher to 3 years in prison for 'spreading fake news': rights groups. *The New Arab*, July 4, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/egypt-sentences-student-3-years-prison-rights-groups

PA demands international probe into death of oldest female detainee. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 3, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3737781/pa-demands-int'l-probe-death-oldest-female-detainee

Russian scientist dies two days after arrest for state treason. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 3, 2022. URL: https://en-glish.aawsat.com/home/article/3738371/russian-scientist-dies-2-days-after-arrest-state-treason

9.2. Extra-judicial Killings, Executions and Death Sentences

Egypt court calls for femicide execution to be broadcast live on television. *The New Arab*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/egypt-calls-femicide-execution-be-broadcast-live

Rights groups denounce 'execution spree' in Iran. *The New Arab*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://english.alara-by.co.uk/news/rights-groups-denounce-execution-spree-iran

Japan executes man over 2008 stabbing rampage. *Al Jazeera*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/7/26/japan-executes-man-over-2008-stabbing-rampage-reports

Singapore carries out fifth execution since March. *Al Jazeera*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/7/22/singapore-carries-out-fifth-execution-since-march

V. Mambor, A. Prasetyo. Researchers warn of potential for mass killings in Indonesia's Papua region. *Benar News*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.benarnews.org/english/news/indonesian/us-holocaust-muse-um-warns-of-future-mass-killings-papua-indonesia-07222022144046.html

M. Supriatma. 'Don't abandon us': preventing mass atrocities in Papua, Indonesia. *Holocaust Museum*, 2022. URL: https://www.ushmm.org/genocide-prevention/countries/indonesia/preventing-mass-atrocities-in-papua-indonesia

R. Bunyan. Myanmar's junta hangs ex-lawmaker and three other political prisoners in country's first executions for nearly 50 years. *Daily Mail Online*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11045607/Myanmars-junta-hangs-four-pro-democracy-activists-execution-50-years.html

Iran carries out first public execution in two years: NGO. *The New Arab*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/iran-carries-out-first-public-execution-two-years-ngo-0

M. Scollon. Dead message: rise in Iranian executions sends warning against dissent. *RFE/RL*, June 29, 2022. URL: https://www.rferl.org/a/iran-executions-warning-dissent/31921336.html

K. Kilner. Execution site being prepared for captured British fighters, claim Russian separatists. *The Telegraph*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://news.yahoo.com/execution-being-prepared-foreign-mercenaries-181227644.html

Z. Mohammed Salih. Sudan woman faces death by stoning for adultery in first case for a decade. *The Guardian*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2022/jul/13/sudan-woman-faces-death-by-stoning-for-adultery-in-first-case-for-a-decade?

R. Bhattacharyya. Decapitation video points to increasing military atrocities in Myanmar. The Diplo-

ISSN 2334-3745 125 August 2022

mat, July 6, 2022. URL: https://thediplomat.com/2022/07/decapitation-video-points-to-increasing-military-atrocities-in-myanmar/

- E. Farge, A. McDowall. UN rights mission finds 'probable' mass graves in Libya. *Reuters*, July 4, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/africa/un-rights-mission-finds-probable-mass-graves-libya-2022-07-04/
- S. Williams. Iran executions more than double in 1st half of 2022, with 251 hanged through June. *The Times of Israel*, July 1, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-executions-more-than-double-in-1st-half-of-2022-with-251-hanged-through-june/

Executions in Iran soar in protest crackdown. *Arab News*, July 2, 2022. URL: https://www.arabnews.com/node/2115026/middle-east

9.3. Forced Disappearances

Iran says it's still looking for four diplomats whose disappearance it blames on Israel. *The Times of Israel*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-says-its-still-looking-for-4-diplomats-whose-disappearance-it-blames-on-israel/

N. Kumar, F. Faizi. What it means to 'be disappeared' in the Taliban's Afghanistan. *GRID*, June 7, 2022. URL: https://www.grid.news/story/global/2022/06/07/what-it-means-to-be-disappeared-in-the-talibans-afghanistan/

9.4. Torture

- T. Brown. Russian soldiers torture military and civilian prisoners with baseball bats, electric shocks and kneecappings in brutal campaign intended to make them submit to occupation, report reveals. *Daily Mail Online*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11049949/Russian-soldiers-tor-ture-military-civilian-prisoners-report-reveals.html
- R. Bunyan. Iranian mother faces 100 lashes after she was convicted for protesting against the death of her son who was shot during fuel price demonstration. *Daily Mail Online*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11050171/Iranian-mother-faces-100-lashes-convicted-protest-ing-against-death-son.html
- S. Williams. My name is Brian: the prisoner whose treatment put Switzerland on trial. *The Guardian*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/19/brian-keller-switzerland-prisoner-isolation-racism

Torture in the UAE 'widespread and often unpunished', survivors and experts tell UN. *The New Arab*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/torture-uae-widespread-and-often-unpunished

Rights groups say probe into Egypt economists' death flawed. *Associated Press*, July 7, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/middle-east-africa-egypt-cairo-bc8c078ec6199531f6e3cbc182b54104

Rights group: Palestinian authority and Hamas systematically torture critics in jail. *The Times of Israel*, July 1, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/rights-group-palestinian-authorities-systematically-tor-ture-detainees-with-impunity/

Haroon: US forces tortured me during 15 years at Guantanamo. *Tolo News*, June 28, 2022. URL: https://tolonews.com/afghanistan-178695

Amnesty, HRW urge Lebanon to protect people from torture on international victims' day. *The New Arab*, June 27, 2022 URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/amnesty-hrw-urge-lebanon-protect-people-torture

Y. Jeremy Bob. Man suspected of murdering a Palestinian accuses Shin Bet of torture. The Jerusalem Post,

ISSN 2334-3745 126 August 2022

June 27, 2022. URL: https://www.jpost.com/middle-east/article-710534

9.5. Genocide, Crimes against Humanity, Mass Atrocities

D. Taib Menmy. Iraq government not doing enough to heal wounds of Yazidi genocide, says community leader. *The New Arab*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/iraqs-government-not-doing-enough-heal-yazidi-genocide

Y. Demir. Analysis – France still not paid for humanitarian crimes committed in Africa. *Anadolu Agency*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/analysis/analysis-france-still-not-paid-for-humanitari-an-crimes-committed-in-africa/2647914

Pope says treatment of Canada indigenous people was genocide. *The Times of Israel*, July 30, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/pope-says-treatment-of-canada-indigenous-people-was-genocide/

M. Lebovic. As the Holocaust raged, US newspapers buried reports on Hitler's final solution. The Times of Israel, July 29, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/as-the-holocaust-raged-us-newspapers-buried-reports-on-hitlers-final-solution/

IntelBrief: violence in Myanmar: executions, genocide, and protests leave junta undeterred. *The Soufan Center*, July 29, 2022. URL: https://thesoufancenter.org/intelbrief-2022-july-29/

Colombia peace tribunal charges 19 soldiers for 300 murders. *Al Jazeera*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/7/26/colombia-peace-tribunal-charges-19-soldiers-for-300-murders

R. Ratcliffe. Genocide case against Myanmar over Rohingya atrocities cleared to proceed. *The Guardian*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/22/genocide-case-against-myanmar-over-rohingya-atrocities-cleared-to-proceed

'Stereotiep beeld Jodentransport Westerbork klopt niet: veewagons niet de norm.' *NOS.nl*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://nos.nl/artikel/2436690-stereotiep-beeld-jodentransport-westerbork-klopt-niet-veewagons-niet-de-norm

A. Applebaum. Russia's war against Ukraine has turned into terrorism. *The Atlantic*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2022/07/russia-war-crimes-terrorism-definition/670500/

P. Rehov. Sudan: the genocide no one talks about. *The Gatestone Institute*, June 24, 2022. URL: https://www.gatestoneinstitute.org/18632/sudan-genocide

R. Pilkington. The West and the birth of Bangladesh. Foreign policy in the face of mass atrocity. *UBC Press*, 2022. URL: https://www.ubcpress.ca/the-west-and-the-birth-of-bangladesh

S. Kirchgaessner. US has not fully investigated own role in Yemen rights abuses, watchdog finds. *The Guardian*, June 15, 2022 URL: https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2022/jun/15/us-yemen-human-rights-abuses-gao-watchdog

9.6. State Surveillance, Digital Authoritarianism, Privacy Issues

Hoe Chinese denkdwang ook in Duitsland populair wordt: voor het klimaat! *Wynia's Week*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.wyniasweek.nl/hoe-chinese-denkdwang-ook-in-duitsland-populair-wordt-voor-het-klimaat/

The AI-surveillance symbiosis in China: a big data China event. *CSIS*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qdQt0VGAjd0

K. O'Flaherty. It's time to ditch Chrome. *WIRED*, June 6, 2022. URL: https://www.wired.co.uk/article/google-chrome-browser-data?

ISSN 2334-3745 127 August 2022

V. Serna. 'The US is an authoritarian state': Joe Rogan claims Edward Snowden's exile to Russia for exposing the 'underlying surveillance system' is proof America is 'violating our constitutional rights.' *Daily Mail Online*, July 202, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11032143/The-authoritari-an-state-Joe-Rogan-claims-regards-Edward-Snowdens-exile-Russia.html

G. Grossman. Emotion AI: a possible path to thought policing. *Venture Beat*, July 17, 2022. URL: https://venturebeat.com/2022/07/17/emotion-ai-a-possible-path-to-thought-policing/?

The Good Guys scraps facial recognition in its stores after massive customer backlash – so will Kmart and Bunnings follow in its footsteps? *Daily Mail Online*, June 29, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10963193/The-Good-Guys-scrap-facial-recognition-Kmart-Bunnings-wait-privacy-watch-dog-backlash.html

10. Intelligence Operations

A. Gencturk. Greek intelligence confesses wiretapping of journalist: report. *Anadolu Agency*. August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/europe/greek-intelligence-confesses-wiretapping-of-journalist-report/2653232

First top Kremlin official to quit over Ukraine war lies in hospital partially paralysed and unable to close his eyes. *Daily Mail Online*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11077423/Pictured-Kremlin-official-quit-Ukraine-war-lies-hospital-partially-paralysed.html

- J. Dutton. Who is Anatoly Chubais? Ex Putin aide's sudden sickness sparks speculation. *Newsweek*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.newsweek.com/anatoliy-chubais-ex-putin-aides-sudden-sickness-speculation-1729586
- S. Walker. Arms dealer '100% sure' Russian agents behind blast at Bulgarian depot. *The Guardian*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/aug/01/arms-dealer-100-sure-russian-agents-blast-bulgarian-depot
- P. Farrell. Russian spy is charged with supplying cash to US activists including black rights group to spread Kremlin propaganda and meddle in elections. *Daily Mail Online*, July 29, 2022. URL: https://www.daily-mail.co.uk/news/article-11062621/Russian-charged-using-US-groups-spread-propaganda.html

EU says it found evidence that senior officials were targeted with NSO spyware. *The Times of Israel*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/eu-says-it-found-evidence-that-senior-officials-were-targeted-with-nso-spyware/

- S. Sinnot, L. Jones. Spies, lies and algorithms: US intelligence in a changing world. *Modern War Institute*, July 29, 2022. URL: https://mwi.usma.edu/spies-lies-and-algorithms-us-intelligence-in-a-changing-world/
- E. James. 'KGB spies' stole identities of a three-month-old boy who choked on his own vomit and three-week-old girl who died of birth defect as her father, 91, says it has brought back 'really sad memories.' *Daily Mail Online*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11059351/KGB-spies-stole-identities-baby-boy-girl-dad-says-brought-sad-memories.html
- J. Sharon. Damning report finds systemic intelligence, operational failures in May 2021 riots. *The Times of Israel*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/damning-report-finds-systemic-intelligence-operational-failures-in-may-2021-riots/

Iran claims arrested Israel-linked agents were Kurdish rebels. *The Times of Israel*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-claims-arrested-israel-linked-agents-were-kurdish-rebels/

For 2nd time in a week, Iran announces arrest of alleged Israeli spy network. *The Times of Israel*, July 28, 2022. URL: <a href="https://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-for-2nd-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alleged-israeli-spy-network-decom/iran-announces-arrest-of-alle

ISSN 2334-3745 128 August 2022

time-in-a-week/

- N. Merchant. Victims of NSO's Pegasus spyware warn it could be used to target US. *The Times of Israel*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/victims-of-nsos-pegasus-spyware-warn-it-could-be-used-to-target-us/
- J. Sharon. Damning report finds system intelligence, operational failures in May 2021 riots. *The Times of Israel*, July 27, 2022 URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/damning-report-finds-systemic-intelligence-operational-failures-in-may-2021-riots/
- A. Macleod. National security search engine: Google's ranks are filled with CIA agents. *Mint Press*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.mintpressnews.com/national-security-search-engine-google-ranks-cia-agents/281490/
- R. Satter. EU found evidence employee phones compromised with spyware letter. *Reuters*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/technology/exclusive-eu-found-evidence-employee-phones-compromised-with-spyware-letter-2022-07-27/
- T. Joffre. Iran claims Mossad agents were caught trying to blow up 'sensitive site'. *The Jerusalem Post*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://www.jpost.com/middle-east/article-712944

Iranian IRGC senior missile engineer killed – report. *The Jerusalem Post*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://www.jpost.com/middle-east/iran-news/article-712903

Israeli-made surveillance malware targeted my phone – Greek politician. *The Jerusalem Post*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.jpost.com/international/article-713107

Iranian media: Israeli spy cell caught laying bombs at 'sensitive site' in Isfahan. *The Times of Israel*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/iranian-media-israeli-spy-cell-caught-laying-bombs-at-sensitive-site-in-isfahan/

- T. Durden. China tried to build spy network inside the Fed, threatened to kidnap Fed economist. *ZeroHedge*, July 26, 2022 URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/markets/risk-clear-congressional-investigation-finds-china-tried-place-network-informants-fed
- K.B. Lillis. CNN exclusive: FBI investigation determined Chinese-made Huawei equipment could disrupt US nuclear arsenal communications. *CNN*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/2022/07/23/politics/fbi-investigation-huawei-china-defense-department-communications-nuclear/index.html

Russia steps up subversive activities against post-Soviet countries – Ukraine intelligence. *Ukrinform*, July 26, 2022. URL: https://www.ukrinform.net/rubric-polytics/3536902-russia-steps-up-subversive-activities-against-postsoviet-countries-ukraine-intelligence.html

- S. Rai Bhandari. Investigators: Pegasus spyware targeted dozens of Thai activists, academics. *Benar News*, July 18, 2022 URL: https://www.benarnews.org/english/news/thai/spyware-claims-07182022142648.html
- J. Mordock. Whistleblower reveals FBI wrongly labeled Hunter Biden evidence as disinformation. *Washington Times*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2022/jul/25/whistleblower-reveals-fbi-wrongly-labeled-hunter-b/?
- R. A. Vargas. Reality Winner says she leaked file on Russia election hacking because 'public was being lied to.' *The Guardian*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2022/jul/25/reality-winner-leaked-file-on-russia-election-hacking-because-public-was-being-lied-to
- A. Oliveira. How China sunk its teeth into US farmland: firms tied to communist regime own 192,000 agricultural acres across America worth \$1.9bn and purchased 300 aces I North Dakota 20 minutes from military base. *Daily Mail Online*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11044615/ China-purchased-300-acres-North-Dakota-20-minutes-military-base-causing-security-concerns.html?

T. Durden. The talented Mr. Pottinger: the US intelligence agent who pushed lockdowns. *Zero-Hedge*, July 24, 2022. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/political/talented-mr-pottinger-us-intelligence-agent-who-pushed-lockdowns

MI6 chief: Russia's ability to spy in Europe cut in half since invasion of Ukraine. *Ukrinform*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.ukrinform.net/rubric-ato/3534324-mi6-chief-russias-ability-to-spy-in-europe-cut-in-half-since-invasion-of-ukraine.html

DoD announces the establishment of the all-domain anomaly resolution office. *Homeland Security Today*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/subject-matter-areas/intelligence/dod-announces-the-establishment-of-the-all-domain-anomaly-resolution-office/

- S. Tessema. Former Ethiopian military officer reveals plot to kill Mandela during military training. *Anadolu Agency*, July 17, 2022. URL: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/africa/former-ethiopian-military-officer-reveals-plot-to-kill-mandela-during-military-training/2638725
- G. Corera. Why did MI5 name Christine Lee as 'agent of influence.'? *BBC*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-62179004
- F. Flade. Operation 'Pamir'. *Jih@d*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://ojihad.wordpress.com/2022/07/18/operation-pamir/
- J.R. Bradley. Death of a dissident. What the media aren't saying about Jamal Khashoggi. *The Spectator*, October 13, 2018. URL: https://www.spectator.co.uk/article/death-of-a-dissident
- T. Turnbull. Bernard Collaery: the spy case that ignited an Australian secrecy row. *BBC*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-australia-61836078
- R. Lawler. Ex-CIA engineer convicted for being Wikileaks source in 'Vault 7' hacking tools leak. *The Verge*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.theverge.com/2022/7/13/23208635/cia-wikileaks-vault-7-joshua-schulte-conviction

The Israeli perspective on strategic intelligence. *JHU Advanced Academic Programs*, June 29, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=J3Q2XBPZtxM

T. Durden. John Bolton admits he helped plan foreign coup attempts. *ZeroHedge*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.zerohedge.com/political/john-bolton-admits-he-helped-plan-foreign-coup-attempts

F. Flade. Die Master-Spione sind da. *Jih@d*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://ojihad.wordpress.com/2022/07/06/die-master-spione-sind-da/

Israel's shadow war with Iran and the Iranian nuclear threat. *UCLA Y&S Nazirian Center for Israel Studies*, June 30, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Gm79RO1UI7M

Iran agent who was helped by Israelis contacted another 20 citizens – report. *The Times of Israel*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-agent-who-was-helped-by-israelis-contacted-another-20-citizens-report/

Report: US intelligence officials backed contractor's purchase of scandal-ridden NSO. *The Times of Israel*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/report-us-intelligence-officials-backed-contractors-purchase-of-scandal-ridden-nso/

China lashes out at US, British intelligence services. *Associated Press*, July 7, 2022. URL: https://apnews.com/article/nato-g-20-summit-technology-china-united-states-4199c8d318234390e7cd6767eb2135bd

South Korean spy agency files complaints against ex-chiefs over North Korea cases. *Reuters*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/south-korean-spy-agency-files-complaints-against-ex-chiefs-over-nkorea-cases-2022-07-06/?

A. Fatima Zaidi. MBS has blood on his hands, and Western leaders are complicit. *The New Arab*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/opinion/mbs-has-blood-his-hands-western-leaders-are-complicit

IRGC commander in charge of deploying air defences in Lebanon, Syria identified. *The New Arab*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/irgc-man-directing-syria-air-defence-deployment-identified

The BelTel: Stakeknife – Freddie Scappaticci, IRA executioner and British agent. *Belfast Telegraph*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://www.belfasttelegraph.co.uk/podcasts/the-beltel-stakeknife-freddie-scappatic-ci-ira-executioner-and-british-agent-41811803.html

B. Cole. Putin spies 'killed my father', says son of scientist arrested on deathbed. *Newsweek*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://www.newsweek.com/russia-fsb-scientist-cancer-died-novosibirsk-dmitry-kolker-putin-1721608?

Mystery shrouds Iran's downplaying of Israeli assassinations. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 3, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3737621/mystery-shrouds-iran's-downplaying-israeli-assassinations

N. Bar. Large blast reported at guard corps base in Iran. *Israel Hayom*, July 3, 2022. URL: https://www.israelhayom.com/2022/07/03/large-blast-reported-at-guard-corps-base-in-iran/

Iran reportedly arrests an IRGC general on charges of spying for Israel. *The Times of Israel*, June 29, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/iran-reportedly-arrests-an-irgc-general-on-charges-of-spying-for-is-rael/

11. Cyber Operations

11.1. Cyber Crime

- S. Wu, E. Baptista. From 7-11s to train stations, cyber attacks plague Taiwan over Pelosi visit. *Reuters*, August 4, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/technology/7-11s-train-stations-cyber-attacks-plague-taiwan-over-pelosi-visit-2022-08-04/
- J. Dutton. Solana attack hits over 7,200 wallets in hack –every affected platform. *Newsweek*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.newsweek.com/solana-attack-affects-over-7000-wallets-hack-1730316
- R. Klar, I. Kagubare. Hillicon valley: cyber attack hits Taiwan's presidential office. *The Hill*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://thehill.com/policy/cybersecurity/overnights/3585264-hillicon-valley-cyberattack-hits-tai-wans-presidential-office/
- B. Toulas. Spain arrests suspected hackers who sabotaged radiation alert system. *Bleeping Computer*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.bleepingcomputer.com/news/security/spain-arrests-suspected-hackers-who-sabotaged-radiation-alert-system/
- S. Shukla. Crypto firm Nomad loses nearly \$200 million in bridge hack. *Bloomberg*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-08-02/crypto-bridge-nomad-drained-of-nearly-200-million-in-exploit?
- Z. Whittaker. Hackers stole passwords for accessing 140,000 payment terminals. *Techcrunch*, August 1, 2022. URL: https://techcrunch.com/2022/08/01/wiseasy-android-payment-passwords/?
- R. Lakshmanan. North Korean hackers using malicious browser extension to spy on email accounts. *The Hacker News*, July 29, 2022. URL: https://thehackernews.com/2022/07/north-korean-hackers-using-malicious.html

Ghanaian national arrested in US over \$5 million romance scam. *Xtra*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://www.xtra.net/news/africa/ghanaian-national-arrested-5-romance-scam

- P. Tucker. Senators take aim at future quantum-enabled hacking with new bill. *Defense One*, July 21, 2022. URL: https://www.defenseone.com/technology/2022/07/senators-take-aim-future-quantum-enabled-hacking-new-bill/374748/
- S. Sjouwerman. Ransomware groups get smaller and more social. *KnowBe4*, July 25, 2022 URL: https://blog.knowbe4.com/ransomware-groups-get-smaller-and-more-social?
- P. Paganini. EU warns of risks of spillover effects associated with the ongoing war in Ukraine. *Security Affairs*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://securityaffairs.co/wordpress/133436/cyber-warfare-2/eu-warns-ukraine-spillover.html
- Russian hacking unit Cozy Bear adds Google Drive to its arsenal, researchers say. *Cyberscoop*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://www.cyberscoop.com/apt29-google-drive-malware-spearphishing/
- C. Pernet. Cyberespionage: new Mustang Panda campaign targets Europe. *Techrepublic*, May 7, 2022. URL; https://www.techrepublic.com/article/cyberespionage-new-mustang-panda-campaign-targets-europe/
- S. Pritchard. Falling cryptocurrency market stalling cybercrime activity. *Infosecurity*, July 15, 2022. URL: https://www.infosecurity-magazine.com/news/cryptocurrency-market-cybercrime/ .YtWPWgyhflI.twitter
- B.N. Hackers pose as journalists and media organizations to deploy malware. *Cybersecurity News*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://cybersecuritynews.com/hackers-pose-as-journalists-and-media-organizations-to-deploy-malware/
- P. Oltermann. 'Europol ploy': mass phone scam defrauds Germans of millions of euros. *The Guardian*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jul/12/europol-phone-scam-defrauding-germans
- S. Lyngaas. US journalists targeted by foreign hackers who show sophisticated understanding of American politics. *CNN*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/2022/07/14/media/hacking-journalists-january-6/index.html
- Chinese hackers targeted US political reporters just ahead of Jan. 6 attack, researchers say. *CyberScoop*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://www.cyberscoop.com/china-iran-north-korea-turkey-hackers-journalists-media-malware-phishing/
- Z. Whittacker. A ransomware attack on a debt collection firm could be one of 2022's biggest health data breaches. *Yahoo News*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://news.yahoo.com/ransomware-attack-debt-collection-firm-145715015.html
- S. Chandler. Bandai Namco allegedly hacked by ransomware group. *Shack News*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://www.shacknews.com/article/131302/bandai-namco-ransomware-alphy
- D. Southwell. Major Australian university is hacked with personal details of past and present students used to send malicious text messages. *Daily Mail Online*, July 13, 2022 URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-11008173/Deakin-University-students-sent-scam-text-messages-hacker-steals-personal-details. https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/ <a href="https://www.dailym
- Report launch: securing the energy transition against cyber threats. *Atlantic Council*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=uCIM6vMy IM
- Hacker wollten über Merkels Handynummer EZB-Chefin Lagarde ausspähen. *Die Welt*, July 12, 2022. URL: <a href="https://www.welt.de/politik/deutschland/article239883089/Hacker-wollten-ueber-Merkels-Handynummer-Lagarde-ausspaehen.html?wtrid=socialmedia.socialflow....socialflow_twitter
- D. Bradbury. Ransomware attacks on education on the rise. *Infosecurity Magazine*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://www.infosecurity-magazine.com/news/ransomware-attacks-education-rise/?

- J. Tidy. Predatory Sparrow: who are the hackers who say they started a fire in Iran? *BBC*, July 11, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-62072480
- E. Magnus. Crypto scams rocketed 56% to £226m in the last year as fraudsters cash in: Here's how to keep yourself protected from bitcoin bandits. *Daily Mail Online*, July 9, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/money/beatthescammers/article-10995207/Fraudsters-cash-crypto-returns-investment-scams-jump-58.
- J.P. Mello Jr. Smart factories unprepared for cyberattacks. *CSO*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.csoonline.com/article/3665875/smart-factories-unprepared-for-cyberattacks.html
- L. Abrams. Ransomware, hacking groups move from Cobalt Strike to Brute Ratel. *Bleeping Computer*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.bleepingcomputer.com/news/security/ransomware-hacking-groups-move-from-cobalt-strike-to-brute-ratel/
- R, Lakshmanan. New 'SessionManager' backdoor targeting Microsoft IIS servers in the wild. *The Hacker News*, July 1, 2022. URL: https://thehackernews.com/2022/07/new-sessionmanager-backdoor-targeting. https://thehackernews.com/2022/07/new-sessionmanager-backdoor-targeting.
- S. Silber. Digital raid: North Korea blamed for \$100 million crypto hack. *The National Interest*, July 5, 2022. URL: https://nationalinterest.org/blog/techland-when-great-power-competition-meets-digital-world/digital-raid-north-korea-blamed-100?
- D. Goodin. The cryptocalypse is nigh! NIST rolls out new encryption stands to prepare. *Ars Technica*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://arstechnica.com/information-technology/2022/07/nist-selects-quantum-proof-algorithms-to-head-off-the-coming-cryptopocalypse/?
- S. Sharwood. Near-undetectable malware linked to Russia's Cozy bear. *The Register*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.theregister.com/2022/07/06/brc4 state sponsored apt29/?
- Hacker claims to have stolen one billion records of Chinese citizens from police. *Reuters*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/china/hacker-claims-have-stolen-1-bln-records-chinese-citizens-police-2022-07-04/
- E. Fabian. 'Mess with Israel, you pay a price', PM warns Iran, after steel plant cyberattack. *The Times of Israel*, June 28, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/mess-with-israel-youll-pay-a-price-pm-warns-after-iran-steel-plant-cyberattack/
- T. Siegal. Info of over 300,000 Israelis leaked as Iranian hackers target travel booking site. *The Times of Israel*, July 1, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/info-of-over-300000-israelis-leaked-as-iranian-hackers-target-travel-booking-sites/
- J. Bartlett. Why I believe the Cryptoqueen fraudster who vanished with £3.3billion is hiding on a luxury yacht in the Med: BBC investigator who spent years hunting glamorous Bulgarian Ruja Ignatova reveals his theory as she becomes only woman on FBI's most wanted list. *Daily Mail Online*, July 2, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-10976211/Why-believe-Cryptoqueen-fraudster-vanished-3-3billion-hiding-luxury-yacht-Med.html
- DRPK hacking for profit. MedusaLocker warning. C2C market notes. Cyber conflict in the Middle East and in Russia's war. *The Cyber Wire*, July 1, 2022. URL: https://thecyberwire.com/newsletters/daily-briefing/11/126
- E. Fabian. Gantz orders probe after TV reports hint IDF behind Iran steel plant cyber attack. *The Times of Israel*, July 1, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/gantz-orders-probe-after-tv-reports-hint-idf-be-hind-iran-steel-plant-cyberattack/

11.2. Cyber Warfare & Espionage

Russian hackers behind SolarWinds breach continue to scour US and European organizations for intel, researchers say. *CNN*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/2022/07/19/politics/russia-solar-winds-hackers/?fbclid=IwAR14pP7miiLQ8k6tAIEE8EPnZLxYce4CbQHYcb5KrErdflIcOQ86zMgmUBk

K. Osborn. How the USA army is preparing for cyber Armageddon. *The National Interest*, July 4, 2022. URL: https://nationalinterest.org/blog/buzz/how-us-army-preparing-cyber-armageddon-203315

J. Richberg. US must prepare for proliferation of cyber warfare. *C4ISRNet*, June 24, 2022. URL: https://www.c4isrnet.com/it-networks/2022/06/24/us-must-prepare-for-proliferation-of-cyber-warfare/?

Online seminar. Cyber offence: introducing the cyber arms watch. *The Hague Center for Strategic Studies*, June 7, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RkOfkQLTPfc

11.3. Internet Regulation, Censorship, Removal of Harmful Content

A. Macleod. Most of the 'fact-checking' organizations Facebook uses in Ukraine are directly funded by Washington. *Mint Press*, August 2, 2022. URL: https://www.mintpressnews.com/facebook-fact-checking-organizations-ukraine-funded-washington/281618/

B. Dress. Reporter: Facebook using ex-CIA to decide misinformation policy is 'very, very worrying'. *The Hill*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://thehill.com/hilltv/3566225-reporter-facebook-using-ex-cia-to-decide-misinformation-policy-is-very-worrying/

D. Loucaides. How Telegram became the anti-Facebook. *WIRED*, February 8, 2022. URL: https://www.wired.com/story/how-telegram-became-anti-facebook/?

Twitter's failure to enforce its policy against anti-Semitism. *Homeland Security Today*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.hstoday.us/subject-matter-areas/counterterrorism/twitters-failure-to-enforce-its-policy-against-antisemitism/

Russia hits Google with fine for 'illegal content.' *BBC*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/business-62214564

M. Sachetti. Homeland Security advisers say no need for disinformation board. *The Washington Post*, July 18, 2022. URL: https://wapo.st/3yMHfXq

W. Oremus. Ukraine says Big Tech is dropping the ball on Russian propaganda. *The Washington Post*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2022/07/14/ukraine-takedown-requests-russia-propaganda/?

L. Gordon Crovitz. The European Commission's disinformation fail. *Politico*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.politico.eu/article/european-commission-disinformation-fail/

Google deletes abortion location data as attack on Roe completely realigns the privacy debate. *Techdirt*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.techdirt.com/2022/07/06/google-deletes-abortion-location-data-as-at-tack-on-roe-completely-realigns-the-privacy-debate/

M. Vengattil. Twitter seeks judicial review of Indian orders to take down content – source. *Reuters*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.reuters.com/world/india/twitter-pursues-judicial-review-indian-content-take-down-orders-source-2022-07-05/

Sudan's internet access disrupted ahead of anti-coup rallies. *The New Arab*, June 30, 2022. URL: https://en-glish.alaraby.co.uk/news/sudans-internet-access-disrupted-ahead-anti-coup-rallies

J. Kollewe. Amazon bows to UAE pressure to restrict LGTBQ+ search results. *The Guardian*, June 30, 2022.

ISSN 2334-3745 134 August 2022

URL: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2022/jun/30/amazon-bows-to-uae-pressure-to-restrict-lgbt-search-results

11.4. Strategic Communication, Information Warfare, Influence Operations, Psyops

T. Kent. Striking back. Overt and covert options to combat Russian disinformation, September 2020, 297p. *Jamestown Foundation*, 2022. URL: https://jamestown.org/product/striking-back/?mc_cid=b6b68e-9b0a&mc_eid=9942bc67e0

Treadstone 71, LLC releases details of hybrid operations and cognitive warfare actions by Iran. July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.send2press.com/wire/treadstone-71-llc-releases-details-of-hybrid-operations-and-cognitive-warfare-actions-by-iran/

- S. Pieczenik. American warrior in crisis. Tales of a political psychiatrist. 2022. URL: https://stevepieczenik.com/shop/
- D. Mastrangelo. Former DHS official: right 'recognizes' disinformation as a way to whip up people'. *The Hill*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://thehill.com/homenews/ap/ap-international/jihadis-attack-jail-in-nige-rias-capital-600-inmates-escape/

Twitter censors writer C.J.Werleman for highlighting anti-Muslim violence in India. *The New Arab*, June 2022, URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/twitter-censors-cj-werleman-covering-india-islamophobia

B. Lilly. Russian information warfare. Assault on democracies in the Wild West. *Naval War Institute*, 2022. URL: https://www.amazon.com/Russian-Information-Warfare-Assault-Democracies/dp/1682477193

Russian-backed campaign fueling disinformation revealed in Syria. *Asharq al-Awsat*, June 20, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3713461/russian-backed-campaign-fueling-disinformation-revealed-syria

M. Townsend. Network of Syria conspiracy theorists identified. *The Guardian*, June 19, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jun/19/russia-backed-network-of-syria-conspiracy-theorists-identified?CMP=share btn tw

12. Risk and Threat Assessments, Forecasts and Analytic Studies

12.1. Analytical Studies

E. Glasberg. A philosopher considers the power of social movements in effecting change. *Columbia News*, July 12, 2022. URL: https://news.columbia.edu/news/philosopher-considers-power-social-movements-effecting-change

- M. Sadiq, I. Ali. Non-state actors, sub-conventional warfare, and India-Pakistan nuclear crisis stability/instability. *Journal of Asian and African Studies*, June 30, 2022. URL: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/00219096221108736
- R. Shanahan. Real or imagined: evidence concerning the mental health-terrorism nexus from Australian terrorism trials. *CTC Sentinel*, 15(7), July 2022. URL: https://ctc.westpoint.edu/real-or-imagined-evidence-concerning-the-mental-health-terrorism-nexus-from-australian-terrorism-trials/
- M. Vasseur, C.C.Serena, C.P. Clarke, I.A. Chindea, E.E. Mueller, N. Vest. Understanding and reducing the ability of violent non-state actors to adapt to change. *RAND*, RR-A324-1, 2022. URL: https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA324-1.html?

12.2. Terrorism and other Data and Databases

Fragile states index 20922. *Fund for Peace*, 2022. URL: https://fragilestatesindex.org/wp-content/up-loads/2022/07/22-FSI-Report-Final.pdf

A. Satria. Collective violence in Indonesia: trending upward. *Benar News*, June 21, 2022. URL: https://www.benarnews.org/english/commentaries/collective-violence-06212022170653.html

Terrorism, Research, Analysis Consortium (TRAC) Incident Report. URL: https://trackingterrorism.org/ incidents/

Terrorism in Ireland: decline in dissident republican arrests but jihadist activity on the increase. *Irish Examiner*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://www.irishexaminer.com/news/arid-40917551.html

Conflict change map. *ACLED*, 2022. URL: https://acleddata.com/early-warning-research-hub/conflict-change-map/

Guterres says shocked by number of children killed by Israel. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3755451/guterres-says-shocked-number-children-killed-israel

S. Davies, T. Petterson, M. Öberg. Organized violence 1989-2021 and drone warfare. *Journal of Peace Research*, 59(4), June 27, 2022. URL: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/00223433221108428

Crisis updates. ACAPS, June 22, 2022. URL: https://www.acaps.org/weekly-picks/2022-06-22

Regional overview: Mexico, Central America and the Caribbean, 4-10 June, 2022. *ACLED*, June 16, 2022. URL: https://acleddata.com/2022/06/16/regional-overview-mexico-central-america-and-the-caribbe-an-4-10-june-2022/

Global Peace Index 2022. Measuring peace in a complex world. *IEP*, June 15, 2022. URL: https://www.visionofhumanity.org/peacefulness-declines-to-lowest-level-in-15-years/

12.3. Special and National Threat Assessments/ Warnings & Alerts

T. Willasey-Wilsey. Today's terrorist threat. *The Cipher Brief*, July 29, 2022. URL: https://www.thecipher-brief.com/todays-terrorist-threat

US travelers warned of increased violence risk after Zawahiri killing. *The Times of Israel*, August 3, 2022. URL: https://www.timesofisrael.com/us-travelers-warned-of-increased-violence-risk-after-zawahiri-killing/

S. Opejobi. Terrorism: 'Nigerians haven't seen anything, more coming' – Primate Ayodele. *Daily Post*, July 31, 2022. URL: https://dailypost.ng/2022/07/31/terrorism-nigerians-havent-seen-anything-more-coming-primate-ayodele/

Nigeria shuts schools in Abuja over fears of attack. *BBC*, July 28, 2022. URL: https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-62333783?

Atrocity alert No.310: Myanmar (Burma), Afghanistan and Libya. *Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect*, July 27, 2022. URL: https://www.globalr2p.org/publications/atrocity-alert-no-310-myanmar-burma-afghanistan-and-libya/

C.P. Clarke, T.R. Hamming. Al Qaeda and ISIS still want to attack America – what can we expect? *The Hill*, July 25, 2022. URL: https://thehill.com/opinion/national-security/3572418-al-qaeda-and-isis-still-want-to-attack-america-what-can-we-expect/

Given all the threats to the US, how significant a threat is ISIS right now? NPR, July 22, 2022. URL:

https://www.npr.org/2022/07/22/1112878889/how-significant-a-threat-is-isis-right-now?

How bad will the developing world crisis get? *Project Syndicate*, July 19, 2022. URL: https://www.project-syndicate.org/bigpicture/how-bad-will-the-developing-world-crisis-get?barrier=accesspaylog

Europol report: latest situational analysis on terrorism in the EU. *EUROPOL*, July 14, 2022. URL: https://www.europol.europa.eu/media-press/newsroom/news/europol-report-latest-situational-analysis-terrorism-in-eu

Terror threat in EU member states remains high despite drop in attacks. *Asharq al-Awsat*, July 14, 2022 URL: https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/3757136/terror-threat-eu-member-states-remains-high-despite-drop-attacks

J. Winter. US government warns that Iran may try to kill American officials as revenge for killing top general. *Yahoo*, July 13, 2022 URL: https://news.yahoo.com/exclusive-us-government-warns-iran-may-try-to-kill-american-officials-in-revenge-for-killing-top-general-162641423.html?

Social unrest is step 1 – then war & famine. *Peak Prosperity*, July 13, 2022. URL: https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=c9PoX7nRcGY

M. C. Patton. Security alert issued for Jewish community in San Antonio. *KSAT.com*, July 9, 2022 URL: https://www.ksat.com/news/local/2022/07/09/temple-beth-el-cancels-services-saturday-due-to-safety-concerns-for-jewish-synagogues-in-san-antonio/? vfz=medium=sharebar

Atrocity Alert No. 307: Ukraine, Sudan and Syria. *Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect*, July 6, 2022. URL: https://www.globalr2p.org/publications/atrocity-alert-no-307/

UK proposes new internet law to fight Russian disinformation. *The New Arab*, July 4, 2022. URL: https://english.alaraby.co.uk/news/uk-proposes-new-internet-law-fight-russian-disinformation

Annual Threat Assessment. Intelligence Community Assessment. *DNI*, March 8, 2022. URL: https://www.dni.gov/index.php/newsroom/reports-publications/reports-publications-2022/item/2279-2022-annual-threat-assessment-of-the-u-s-intelligence-community

J. Henley. Norway on highest terror alert after two killed in mass shootings. *The Guardian*, June 25, 2022. URL: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/jun/25/mass-shooting-at-oslo-pub-leaves-two-dead?C-MP=share btn tw

MIVD kijkt bij jubileum naar dreiging van de toekomst. *Defensie.nl*, June 23, 2022. URL: https://www.defensie.nl/actueel/nieuws/2022/06/23/mivd-kijkt-bij-jubileum-naar-dreiging-van-de-toekomst

12.4. Forecasts and Trend Studies

Software developers aspire to forecast who will win a battle. *The Economist*, July 22, 2022. URL: https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/2022/07/20/software-developers-aspire-to-forecast-who-will-win-a-battle?

H. McRae. Don't despair! The world will get healthier, wealthier and less dangerous in the next three decades. *Daily Mail Online*, July 20, 2022. URL: https://www.dailymail.co.uk/money/comment/article-10976289/Dont-despair-world-healthier-three-decades-HAMISH-MCRAE-shares-why.html

13. Also Worth to Read/Listen and Watch

World-class peace education for anyone, anywhere. 100% free. *Institute for Economics & Peace*, 2022. URL: https://www.positivepeace.academy/

About the Compiler: Berto Jongman is Associate Editor of 'Perspectives on Terrorism'. He is a former senior Military Intelligence Analyst and currently serves as an International Consultant on CBRN issues. A sociologist by training, he previously worked for Swedish and Dutch civilian research institutes. Drs. Jongman was the recipient of the Golden Candle Award for his World Conflict & Human Rights Maps, published by PIOOM. He is editor of the volume 'Contemporary Genocides' (1996) and has also contributed to various editions of 'Political Terrorism', the award-winning handbook of terrorism research edited by Alex P. Schmid.

Announcements

Conference Monitor/Calendar of Events (August 2022 and beyond)

Compiled by Olivia Kearney

The Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI), in its mission to provide a platform for academics and practitioners in the field of terrorism and counter-terrorism, compiles an online calendar, listing recent and upcoming academic and professional conferences, symposia and similar events that are directly or indirectly relevant to the readers of Perspectives on Terrorism. The calendar includes academic and (inter-) governmental conferences, professional expert meetings, civil society events and educational programs organised between August and October 2022 (with a few shortly thereafter). The listed events are organised by a wide variety of governmental and non-governmental institutions, including several key (counter) terrorism research centres and institutes listed in the February 2021 issue of this journal.

We encourage readers to contact the journal's Associate Editor for Conference Monitoring, Olivia Kearney, and provide her with relevant information, preferably in the same format as the items listed below. Olivia Kearney can be reached at <<u>oliviaj.kearney@gmail.com</u>> or via Twitter: <u>@oliviajkearney</u>.

August 2022

The Emergence of Hybrid Warfare in Afghanistan: Taliban and Islamic State

Royal United Services Institute (RUSI), Online

11 August, London, United Kingdom

Website: visit | Twitter: @RUSI terrorism

Afghanistan One Year Later: Consequences & Responsibilities

Center for Strategic & International Studies (CSIS), Online

15 August, Washington DC, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @CSIS

ICPVTR Webinar Series on Evolving Dynamics and Strategies in the Rehabilitation of Radical Extremists by Dr Zora A. Sukabdi and Dr Nafees Hamid

International Center for Political Violence and Terrorism Research (ICPVTR), Online

16 August, *Singapore*, *Singapore*Website: visit | Twitter: @RSIS_NTU

TAT & GIFCT E-Learning Webinar Series

Global Internet Forum to Counter-Terrorism, Online

18 August, Washington DC, United States Website: visit | Twitter: @GIFCT_official

One year later: Reflecting on America's Departure from Afghanistan

Atlantic Council, Online

23 August, *Washington DC*, *United States* Website: visit | Twitter: @AtlanticCouncil

Terrorism, Counterterrorism, and the Rule of Law

Asser Institute

29 August - 2 September, The Hague, Netherlands

Website: visit | Twitter: @TMCAsser

Lowy Institute Paper Launch: Rise of the Extreme Right by Lydia Khalil

Lowy Institute

31 August, Sydney, Australia

Website: visit | Twitter: @LowyInstitute

September 2022

West Africa Workshop: Countering Terrorism & Violent Extremism Online

Global Internet Forum to Counter-Terrorism, Online 7 September, Washington DC, United States

Website: visit | Twitter: @GIFCT_official

World Summit on Counter-Terrorism

International Institute for Counter-Terrorism (ICT),

11 - 15 September, *Herzliya*, *Israel* Website: <u>visit</u> | Twitter: <u>@ICT_org</u>

Facing Radicalization and Extremism in Times of Societal Unrest

Security in Open Societies,

14 September, *Utrecht*, *Netherlands* Website: visit | Twitter: @UniUtrecht

Shaky Foundations? Problems of Existing Datasets on Far-Right Violence

Center for Research on Extremism (C-REX), Online

15 September, Oslo, Norway

Website: visit | Twitter: @CrexUiO

City-led Action in Preventing Violent Extremism, Hate and Polarisation: Local-level Approaches, Needs and Priorities

Strong Cities Network, UNGA 77 Side Event

22 September, *New York, United States* Website: visit | Twitter: @Strong Cities

Radicalisation, Secularism and the Governance of Religion

European University Institute

22-23 September, *Brussels*, *Belgium* Website: visit | Twitter: @EUI_EU

Rehabilitation and Reintegration: Good Practices and Key Successes

Hedayah, UNGA 77 Side Event

23 September, *New York*, *United States* Website: visit | Twitter: @Hedayah CVE

Security and Defence 2022

Chatham House, Online

28 – 29 September, *London*, *United Kingdom* Website: visit | Twitter: @ChathamHouse

Creating a Guideline for Involving Victims/Survivors of Terrorism in P/CVE

Radicalisation Awareness Network (RAN), Online

29-30 September, Nice, France

Website: visit | Twitter: @RANEurope

October 2022 & Beyond

Dangerous Incentives: Challenges Facing Emerging Scholars of Far-Right

Center for Research on Extremism (C-REX), Online

13 October, Oslo, Norway

Website: visit | Twitter: @CrexUiO

Cannes International Resilience Forum 2022

Cannes International Resilience Forum

23-26 October, Cannes, France

Website: visit | Twitter: @cirforum

Old Threats, New Theatres: Security and Intelligence in the Digital Age

CASIS-ACERS, Hybrid

4 November, Vancouver, Canada

Website: visit | Twitter: @CASIS ACERS

Formers: A Challenge to the Discipline

Center for Research on Extremism (C-REX), Online

10 November, Oslo, Norway

Website: visit | Twitter: @CrexUiO

Reassessing the Financing of Terrorism in 2022 (RAFT22)

Project CRAAFT/RUSI Europe, Hybrid

15 November, Brussels, Belgium

Website: visit | Twitter: @projectcraaft

Acknowledgment

Special thanks go to Alex Schmid and Berto Jongman for their suggestions and contributions to this conference calendar.

About the Compiler: Olivia Kearney is the Insights and Digital Engagement Manager at Plenitude Consulting, a niche financial crime consulting firm. Prior to joining Plenitude, Olivia worked as the Community Engagement Officer for Project CRAAFT led by RUSI Europe and the Centre for Financial Crime and Security Studies (CFCS) at RUSI, a security and defence think tank based in London.

Vacancy: Position of Associate Editor for Conference Monitoring

Due to the impending departure of Ms. Olivia Kearney, *Perspectives on Terrorism* has a vacancy for the position of a Conference Monitor.

Her/his task is to compile every two months a list of recent and upcoming academic and (inter-) governmental conferences, symposia, professional expert meetings, seminars and workshops as well as civil society events on terrorism and counter-terrorism that are relevant to the readers of *Perspectives on Terrorism*.

Like all other positions at our free open access journal, this position is unremunerated.

Applications with a motivational letter, a CV and a publication list should be sent before September 30, 2022 to the Editor-in-Chief, Alex P. Schmid [apschmid@terrorismanalysts.com].

About Perspectives on Terrorism

Perspectives on Terrorism (PoT) is a joint publication of the Terrorism Research Initiative (TRI), headquartered in Vienna, Austria, and the Institute of Security and Global Affairs (ISGA) of Leiden University, Campus The Hague. Now in its 16th year, PoT is published six times annually as a free, independent, scholarly peer-reviewed online journal available at the URL: https://www.universiteitleiden.nl/perspectives-on-terrorism.

Perspectives on Terrorism has recently been ranked by Google Scholars again as No. 3 in 'Terrorism Studies' (as well as No. 5 in "Military Studies"). Jouroscope™, a directory of scientific journals, has just listed PoT as one of the top ten journals in the category free open access journals in social sciences, with a Q1 ranking. PoT has almost 8,000 registered subscribers and many more occasional readers.

Our journal seeks to provide a platform for established scholars as well as academics and professionals entering the interdisciplinary fields of (Counter-)Terrorism, Political Violence and Conflict Studies.

The editors invite researchers and readers to:

- use the journal as a forum for debate and commentary on issues related to the above.
- present their perspectives on the prevention of, and response to, terrorism and related forms of violent conflict; and
- submit to the journal accounts of evidence-based, empirical scientific research and analyses on terrorism.

Perspectives on Terrorism has sometimes been characterised as 'non-traditional' in that it dispenses with some of the rigidities associated with commercial print journals. Topical articles can be published at short notice and reach, through the Internet, a much larger audience than subscription-fee based paper journals. Our online journal also offers contributors a higher degree of flexibility in terms of content, style and length of articles – but without compromising professional scholarly standards. The journal's Research Notes, Special Correspondence, Op-Eds and other content are reviewed by members of the Editorial Team, while its Articles are peer-reviewed (double-blind) by members of the Editorial Board and outside academic experts and professionals. Due to the hundreds of submissions we receive every year, only the most promising and original ones can be sent for external peer-review.

While aiming to be policy-relevant, PoT does not support any partisan policies regarding (counter-) terrorism and waging conflicts. Impartiality, objectivity and accuracy are guiding principles that we require contributors to adhere to. They are responsible for the content of their contributions and retain the copyright of their publication.

The Editorial Team of Perspectives on Terrorism consists of:

Prof. em. Alex P. Schmid, Editor-in-Chief	Ms. Audrey J. Vrolijk, Associate Editor IT
Prof. James J.F. Forest, Co-Editor	Dr. Joshua Sinai, Books Reviews Editor
Dr. Tricia Bacon, Associate Editor	Dr. Judith Tinnes, Information Resources Editor
Dr. Tore Bjørgo, Associate Editor	Drs. Berto Jongman, Associate Editor for Web
Dr. Jeffrey Kaplan, Associate Editor	Resources
Dr. John Morrison, Associate Editor	Ms. Olivia Kearney, Associate Editor for Conference
Prof. Kumar Ramakrishna, Associate Editor	Monitoring
Dr. Jeanine de Roy van Zuijdewijn, Associate Editor	Mr. David Teiner, Assistant Information Resources
Dr. Rashmi Singh, Associate Editor	Editor
Dr. Craig Whiteside, Associate Editor	Mr. Brody McDonald, Assistant Editor for Theses
Dr. Aaron Y. Zelin, Associate Editor	Mrs. Jodi Moore, Editorial Assistant for Proofreading